

Welfare assessment of cows in cow shelters (gaushalas) in India

Arvind Sharma

BVSc & AH, MVSc

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at

The University of Queensland in 2019

School of Veterinary Science

Abstract

Cow shelters (gaushalas) are unique traditional institutions in India, where aged, infertile, diseased, rescued, and abandoned cows are sheltered for the rest of their life, until they die of natural causes. These institutions owe their existence to the reverence for the cow as a holy mother goddess for Hindus, the majority religion in India. There is a religious and legal prohibition on cow slaughter in most Indian states. A cross-sectional study was conducted to assess the welfare of cows in these shelters, which included the development of a welfare assessment protocol, based on direct animalbased measurements, indirect resource-based assessments, and description of the herd characteristics by the manager. A total of 54 cow shelters in 6 states of India were studied and 1620 animals were clinically examined, based on 37 health, welfare, and behaviour parameters. Thirty resources provided to the cows were also measured. Descriptive statistics and multivariable analysis were used to identify welfare issues in these shelters and risk factors associated with these issues. The major issues found in the shelters were — the low space allowance per cow, poor quality of the floors, lack of bedding, little freedom of movement, and a lack of pasture grazing. Some shelters also had compromised biosecurity and risks of zoonosis. The frictional characteristics of floors was measured by a novel technique that I developed and was least for concrete and greatest for earth floors. The proportion of cows with dirty hind limbs declined with increasing friction of the floor, probably reflecting the fact that they felt more confident to stand rather than lie on high friction floors. The overall lameness prevalence was 4.2% and it was positively correlated with udder dirtiness, the ulceration of the hock joint, carpal joint injuries and claw overgrowth. Lame cows were associated with a low body condition score (BCS). Addressing the principle risk factors identified for lameness in the sheltered cows may help to reduce this serious animal welfare problem. The distance that a cow can be approached by a person before fleeing (the avoidance distance) provided a measure of cows' nervousness of people, which increased with a number of health problems - the proportion of cows with dirty hind limbs, hock joint swellings, and hair loss. There was also evidence of reduced avoidance distances in cows with moving difficulties, those with high levels of body condition score (BCS), dirty flanks, joint ulceration, carpal joint injuries, diarrhoea, hampered respiration, lesions on the body due to traumatic injuries, and body coat condition. Cows aggregated stress levels were measured as hair cortisol concentration, which was increased if there was dung accumulated in the lying area of the cowshed, also if the location was in a cold place and if the cows had little access to yards, dirty flanks, hock joint ulceration, carpal joint injuries, body lesions, dehydration, an empty rumen, or were old aged. Hair cortisol level promises to be an effective biomarker of stress in cows in shelters. A managers' survey revealed adequate vaccination of cows against endemic diseases and paraciticidal treatments. Cows were not screened for brucellosis and tuberculosis and biosecurity measures were very limited; in addition, animal

waste disposable was not properly managed in many shelters. Indiscriminate breeding of cows with no separation of the sexes was observed in most shelters. Only one half of the shelters maintained management records. The majority of the managers thought that welfare of cows under their care was important and it was adequate. They also claimed possessing adequate knowledge about cow welfare. Engagement of shelters mangers in decision making is vital for the effective management of the welfare of cows. A survey of the attitudes of 825 members of the public in the vicinity of the shelters revealed general support for the shelter and identified demographic differences. Public donations were the largest source of income to run the shelters. Financial audits were regularly conducted in most shelters. The issues identified in this study will point the way in ensuring the sustainability of these institutions. This welfare assessment protocol has identified the key welfare issues in the shelters, which can be used when providing feedback for improvement to the shelter managers and to government.

Declaration by author

This thesis *is composed of my original work, and contains* no material previously published or written by another person except where due reference has been made in the text. I have clearly stated the contribution by others to jointly-authored works that I have included in my thesis.

I have clearly stated the contribution of others to my thesis as a whole, including statistical assistance, survey design, data analysis, significant technical procedures, professional editorial advice, financial support and any other original research work used or reported in my thesis. The content of my thesis is the result of work I have carried out since the commencement of my higher degree by research candidature and does not include a substantial part of work that has been submitted *to qualify for the award of any* other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution. I have clearly stated which parts of my thesis, if any, have been submitted to qualify for another award.

I acknowledge that an electronic copy of my thesis must be lodged with the University Library and, subject to the policy and procedures of The University of Queensland, the thesis be made available for research and study in accordance with the Copyright Act 1968 unless a period of embargo has been approved by the Dean of the Graduate School.

I acknowledge that copyright of all material contained in my thesis resides with the copyright holder(s) of that material. Where appropriate I have obtained copyright permission from the copyright holder to reproduce material in this thesis and have sought permission from co-authors for any jointly authored works included in the thesis.

Publications included in this thesis

- 1. Sharma, A.; Kennedy, U.; Schuetze, C.; Phillips, C.J.C. 2019, 'The welfare of cows in Indian shelters', *Animals*, vol. 9, no.4,p172.doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9040172
- Sharma, A.; Kennedy, U.; Phillips, C. 2019, 'A novel method of assessing floor friction in cowsheds and its association with cow health', *Animals*, vol.9, no.4, p120.doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9040120
- Sharma, A.; Umapathy, G.; Kumar, V.; Phillips, C.J.C. 2019, 'Hair cortisol in sheltered cows and its association with other welfare indicators', *Animals*, vol.9, no.5, p 248.doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9050248
- 4. Sharma, A.; Phillips, C.J.C. 2019, 'Lameness in sheltered cows and its association with cow and shelter attributes', *Animals*, vol.9, no.6, p 360.doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9060360
- Sharma, A.; Phillips, C.J.C. 2019, 'Avoidance distance in sheltered cows and its association with other welfare parameters', *Animals*, vol. 9, no.7, p 396.doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9070396
- Sharma, A.; Schuetze, C.; Phillips, C.J.C. 2019, 'Public attitudes towards cow welfare and cow shelters (gaushalas) in India', *Animals*, vol. 9, no.11, p 972. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9110972

Submitted manuscripts included in this thesis

1. Sharma, A.; Schuetze, C.; Phillips, C.J.C. The management of cow shelters (Gaushalas) in India, including the attitudes of shelter managers to cow welfare. (Submitted for publication in 'Animals').

Other publications during candidature

Peer reviewed papers

1. Uttara Kennedy, Arvind Sharma and Clive J C Phillips 2018, 'The sheltering of unwanted cattle, experiences in India and implications for cattle industries elsewhere', *Animals*, vol.8, no.5, p 64.doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani80500641</u>.

Conference abstracts

- Sharma, Arvind and Phillips, Clive J C 2019 Cow's avoidance and its association with health and shelters in India. In: *Proceedings of the International Society for Applied Ethology Australasia- Africa Regional Conference 'Understanding Animals'*. pp 21. Wellington, New Zealand from 21st to 22nd November 2019.
- Sharma, Arvind, Kennedy, Uttara, Schuetze, Catherine and Phillips, Clive J.C. 2018 An epidemiological survey of the health and welfare of cows in shelters (gaushalas) in India. In: *Proceedings of the 30th World Buiatrics Congress*. pp. 44. Sapporo, Japan from 28th August to 1st September 2018.

Scientific meetings

1) Sharma, Arvind, Umapathy, G, Kumar, Vinod and Phillips, Clive J C 2019. Hair cortisol analysis in sheltered cows and its association with various welfare indicators. *2019 UFAW International Animal Welfare Science Symposium*: 3rd – 4th July 2019, Bruges, Belgium.

2) Sharma, Arvind 2018 Welfare Assessment of cows in cow shelters (gaushalas) in India. *Animal Behaviour and Welfare workshop of the International Society for Applied Ethology (ISAE)*: 8th December 2018, CSIR-Institute of Genomics & Integrative Biology, New Delhi.

3) Sharma, Arvind and Phillips, Clive J.C. 2018 Space availability and avoidance distance in cows in shelters (gaushalas) in India. *52nd Congress of the International Society for Applied Ethology (ISAE):* July 30th to August 8th, 2018, University of Prince Edward Island, Charlottetown, Canada.

4) Sharma, Arvind, Phillips, C.J.C and Schuetze, Catherine (2016) Gaushalas in India – the present scenario. *India for Animals Conference:* 21st – 23rd October Mumbai, India.

Contributions by others to the thesis

The concept and design of this research, and interpretation of results were achieved through the active collaboration of my principal supervisor Professor Clive J.C Phillips. The design of the public survey and managers' questionnaires in Chapters 8 and 9, respectively, was produced through discussions and consultations with my principal supervisor Professor Clive J.C Phillips and second supervisor Dr Catherine Schuetze. The enzyme immunoassay procedure required for the hair cortisol analysis in Chapter 5 was guided by Dr G. Umapathy, Senior Scientist, Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR) - Laboratory for the Conservation of Endangered Species, Centre for Cellular and Molecular Biology, Hyderabad, 500048, India along with active support from Mr Vinod Kumar, technical officer in the same laboratory. Major General (Dr) R.M Kharb, the then Chairman of the Animal Welfare Board of India (AWBI) provided the list of registered cow shelters in India and accorded permission for the research in cow shelters in India.

Statement of parts of the thesis submitted to qualify for the award of another degree

Part of the description of the methodology on resource-based measures and data on the resourcebased measures in 12 cow shelters in Chapter 3 was used in the thesis of Mrs Uttara Kennedy to obtain her Master's Degree in International Animal Welfare, Ethics and Law from the University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom, 2017. The experimental design for the measurement of resource-based indicators and their results in 12 cow-shelters were included in her thesis, recognising that she helped in this work. Her analysis of the raw data obtained from the 12 cow-shelters was done independently from this work, for presentation in her thesis. The description of methodology, statistical analysis, discussion and conclusion included in this thesis is independent of the work included in her MSc thesis.

Research Involving Human or Animal Subjects

The ethics approval for animals involved in this research was approved by the Production and Companion Animal Ethics Committee of The University of Queensland (SVS/CAWE/314/16/INDIA, dated 4th August 2016, Appendix – 5).

The ethics approval for research on human subjects involved in this research was approved by The University of Queensland Human Research Ethics Committee B (Approval no. 2016001243, dated 7^{th} October, 2016, Appendix – 6).

In addition, permission for visiting the cow-shelters in India for this research work was granted by the Animal Welfare Board of India (Dated 22nd April, 2016, Appendix- 7).

Acknowledgements

I thank God and my reverend parents for blessing me with good health and motivation during this doctorate journey. My parents are always the encouragers for their sons to pursue higher studies and I am indebted to their immense sacrifices that enabled me to pursue my dream.

I am highly thankful to Prof. Clive Phillips, my principal supervisor for his meticulous supervision, constant encouragement and mentorship all through these years of my study. He always had an open-door policy for me to meet him any time in his chamber with my queries. I am so thankful to him. His work ethic will always remain an inspiration for me. I specifically appreciate his help in statistical analysis of my data and teaching me the nuances of scientific writing. Above all, he is a tremendous human being. It is dream of a student to have a supervisor like him.

I am thankful to my co-supervisor Dr Catherine Schuetze for her supervision and constant support throughout this study. She remained a constant source of encouragement during my stay in Australia and helped me settle down in the early months of my PhD. I appreciate her concern for my well-being in life and professional career.

I sincerely appreciate the guidance received from my esteemed milestone supervision panel members, Dr Ricardo Soares Magalhaes, Dr Gry Boe-Hansen and Dr David McNeill. Constant encouragement, valuable advice and guidance at each step of the study helped me to remain on track with my study.

I thank Dr G Umapathy, Senior Scientist, Laboratory on Conservation of Endangered Species (LaCONES), Hyderabad, India and his team for providing me the access and facilities of their laboratory for conducting the analysis of hair samples for cortisol estimation. I also thank Dr Tamara Keeley, Post-doctorate Researcher at the School of Animal and Food Science, The University of Queensland, Gatton Campus for the training on cortisol estimation.

I will always be grateful for the constant support from Mrs. Deborah McDonald, Higher Degrees by Research Liaison Officer, Graduate School. She was always there to help me with my numerous queries, administrative matters and other concerns with remarkable patience. I also thank Mrs. Annette Winter, Postgraduate Officer for her help during the admission process and in the earlier part of the studentship. I am thankful for the help, support and guidance of the UQ Librarians, Mrs. Jeanette O'shea and Mrs Maria Larkins at different stages of the study. I thank Mrs Cheryl Brugman, Manager, Student Services, Gatton Campus for help in proof reading my manuscripts, providing student support trainings and resources that proved so useful during my studentship. I also thank Mrs Sandra Strenzel, Administration Officer, Student Services, Gatton Campus for her help in numerous works of scanning and printing documents at various stages of my study. I thank Ms Christine Cowell and Ms Sally Humphreys at School of Veterinary Science office for their prompt help every time. I am thankful to UQ IT trainers Luke Gaiter and David Miles for helping me in different library trainings and related queries every time.

I am highly thankful to the University of Queensland for awarding me the University of Queensland International Scholarship (UQI) for my PhD study. I am also thankful to the School of Veterinary Science, The University of Queensland for awarding me the prestigious Fred Z Eager Research Prize in Veterinary Science 2019 and the Daniel McLeod Bursary 2018.

I sincerely thank Humane Society International, Australia, Universities Federation for Animal Welfare (UFAW), United Kingdom and Fondation Brigitte Bardot, France for partial funding of my research. I thank Animal Endeavours for the research award for my research work. I am thankful to School of Veterinary Science, The University of Queensland for the financial support to attend and present at the 30th World Buiatrics Congress held at Sapporo, Japan in June 2018. I thank the International Society for Applied Ethology (ISAE) for the travel award and for being the invited speaker for the launch workshop of ISAE in New Delhi, India in December 2018 and ISAE Australasian - African Regional Conference in Wellington, New Zealand, in November 2019. I am also thankful to Humane Society International, United States for the travel award to attend and present at the ISAE International Conference in Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island, Canada in July 2018. I thank the Universities Federation for Animal Welfare (UFAW), United Kingdom for the travel award to attend and present at the International Animal Welfare Symposium at Bruges, Belgium in June 2019. I am thankful to the Animal Welfare Board of India (AWBI) and the then Chairman Major General (Dr) R.M Kharb for granting permission for this study and providing data about the number and location of gaushalas in India.

I am highly thankful to my employers, the Department of Animal Husbandry, Government of Himachal Pradesh, India for granting me study leave for 3 years.

Words cannot express my gratitude towards the Gaushala managers, workers and field veterinarians in all the six states of India I visited for my study, for their tremendous help beyond their official duties. I can never forget the help and friendship of my friends in Australia, Michelle Sinclair, Sara Zito, Kris Descovich, Hao Yu Shih, Pei Han, Vivek Gurusamy, Yu Zhang, Grisel Ottorola, Veronica, Jashim Uddin, Liam Clay, Francesca, Karen, Emily Jones, Ravi Dissanayake, Suman Das Gupta and Musadiq Idris. Hao Yu Shih, thanks for your great friendship and help every time. I thank my respected seniors, Drs Vipin Chander Katoch and Renu Sood for being constant sources of encouragement and inspiration all through this journey. I thank my friends and colleagues, especially Drs. Madan Verma, Dalip Mehta, Kishori Lal Sharma, Sidharth Dev Thakur, Anupam Mittal, Aneesh Thakur, Hamendar Sharma and Joginder Verma for their instant help and constant support. I cherish the time-tested friendship of my childhood mates Shanti Swaroop and Aditya Kant. My neighbour in Gatton, Rose Aunty you were just like a mother to me. I am thankful to Drs Judy Seton and Rowan Seton for always welcoming me and my family into their beautiful home in Brisbane and helping me settle down in Australia in the first year. The constant encouragement of my teachers in India, Prof. Madhumeet Singh, Prof. Alok Kumar Sharma and Prof. R.K Asrani is gratefully acknowledged. My wife Shailja Sharma deserves special applause for standing as a pillar behind me during this endeavour and taking over most of the household responsibilities. She believes more in me than I do. My son Robin and daughter Devanshi deserve my hugs and kisses for being awesome children, adjusting so well in their Australian school and developing good friendships with their classmates. I hope these fond memories of living in Australia stay with them for life. I thank my mother-in -law Mrs Sarita Sharma, my aunt and uncle, Mr Ramesh Sharma and Mrs Rekha Sharma for their blessings and encouragement. Lastly, special thanks and warm hugs to my younger brother Dr Naveen Kumar Sharma for being there at every moment of need to help and taking over the responsibility of care of my parents in my absence.

Financial support

This research was supported by The University of Queensland International Scholarship (UQI). The research was also financially supported by the Graduate Student Fund form the School of Veterinary Science, The University of Queensland, Humane Society International (HSI), Australia, The Universities Federation for Animal Welfare (UFAW), United Kingdom and the Fondation Brigitte Bardot, France.

Keywords

assessment, avoidance distance, cow shelters, floor friction, gaushalas, hair cortisol, India, lameness, public survey, welfare

Australian and New Zealand Standard Research Classifications (ANZSRC)

ANZSRC code: 070704, Veterinary Epidemiology, 70 %

ANZSRC code: 070799, Veterinary Sciences not elsewhere classified, 10%

ANZSRC code: 169999, Studies in Human Society not elsewhere classified, 20%

Fields of Research (FoR) Classification

FoR code: 0707, Veterinary Sciences, 80%

FoR code: 1699, Other Studies in Human Society, 20%

Dedication

To all the animals of the world

Table of Contents

Chapter 1 Introduction1	
Chapter 2 Review of literature1	
2.1 History of Cattle Shelters in India1	
2.2 Assessment of Animal Welfare)
2.3 Epidemiology and animal welfare assessment2	•
2.4 Purpose of the Assessment of Animal welfare2)
2.4.1 Attributes of an animal welfare protocol	;
2.5 Indicators/Parameters of Animal Welfare Assessment4	Ļ
2.5.1 Resource-based parameters for animal welfare assessment	i
2.5.2 Animal-based parameters for animal welfare assessment5	i
2.5.3 Validity, reliability and feasibility of welfare indicators	,
2.6. Development of Protocols for animal welfare assessment	,
2.6.1 United Kingdom Dairy Farm Protocol9)
2.6.2 The "Delphi" technique9)
2.6.3 Exploration of Routine Herd Data (RHD)10)
2.6.4 Criterion based animal welfare assessment protocol10)
2.6.5 The RSPCA's Freedom for Food Scheme (RSPCA 2007)11	
2.6.6 The Five Domains Model for animal welfare assessment	
2.7. Indices of animal welfare11	
2.7.1 European Welfare Quality project (WQ) Index	;
2.7.2 Operational Welfare Assessment Tool15	i
2.7.3 The Bottoms up Approach16)
2.7.4 Benchmarking)
2.7.5 Adaptive Conjoint Analysis (ACA)16)
2.8 Ethical decision-making regarding animal welfare17	'
2.9 Parameters as indicators of animal welfare in cows	,
Lameness:	;

2.10. Conclusions	22
Chapter 3 Overview of the welfare of cows in Indian shelters	26
3.1 Abstract	26
3.2. Introduction	26
3.3 Materials and Methods	28
3.3.1. Interview with the Shelter Manager	29
3.3.2 Animal-Based Measures	29
3.3.3. Measures on Selected Cows	30
3.3.4. Resource-Based Measures	33
3.4 Data Handling and Statistical Analysis	34
3.5 Results	35
3.5.1 Interview with the Shelter Manager	35
3.5.2 Animal-Based Measures	37
3.5.3 Housing	38
3.5.4 Water Provision	39
3.5.5 Cleanliness	40
3.5.6 Feeding	41
3.6 Discussion	41
3.6.1 Assessment Time	41
3.6.2 Animal-Based Assessment	42
3.6.3 Assessment of Disease Status and Carcass Disposal Risks	45
3.6.4 Housing and Flooring	45
3.6.5 Access to Pastures and Yards	46
3.6.6 Noise and Luminosity Levels	47
3.6.7 Feeding and Watering Provisions	47
3.7 Conclusions	48
Chapter 4 Assessment of floor friction in cowsheds and its association with cow health	50
4.1 Abstract	50

4.2. Introduction	
4.3 Materials and Methods	51
4.4 Statistical Analysis	53
4.5 Results	
4.6 Discussion	60
4.7 Conclusions	63
Chapter 5 Hair Cortisol in sheltered cows and its association with other welfare ind	icators65
5.1 Abstract	65
5.2 Introduction	65
5.3 Materials and Methods	66
5.3.1 Welfare Measurement	67
5.3.2 Hair Cortisol	69
5.4 Statistical Analyses	71
5.5 Results	72
5.5.1 Animal and Shelter Based Measures	72
5.5.2 Correlations between Hair Cortisol and Animal and Shelter Based Measures	74
5.6 Discussion	77
5.6.1 Hair Cortisol Concentrations	77
5.6.2 Hair Cortisol and Animal-Based Measures	77
5.6.3 Hair Cortisol and Shelter-Based Measures	
5.7 Limitations of the Study	
5.8 Conclusions	
Chapter 6 Lameness in sheltered cows and its association with cow and shelter attri	butes84
6.1 Abstract	
6.2 Introduction	
6.3 Materials and Methods	
6.3.1 Animal-Based Welfare Parameters	
6.3.2 Resource-Based Welfare Parameters	

6.4 Statistical Analysis	88
6.5 Results	89
6.5.1 Animal-Based Welfare Parameters	
6.5.2 Shelter and Resource-Based Welfare Parameters at the Shelter Level	91
6.6 Discussion	93
6.7 Conclusions	96
Chapter 7 Avoidance distance in sheltered cows and its association with other welfare	
parameters	99
7.1 Abstract	99
7.1 Introduction	99
7.2 Materials and Methods	101
7.2.1 Cow-Based Measures	102
7.2.2 Health Measures	103
7.2.3 Shelter-Based Measures	104
7.3 Statistical Analysis	105
7.4 Results	105
7.4.1 Cow-Based Measures	106
7.4.2 Shelter-Based Measures	108
7.4.3 Relationship between Cow-Based Measures and Avoidance Distance	109
7.4.4 Relationship between Avoidance Distance and Shelter-Based Measures	110
7.5 Discussion	111
7.5.1 Relationship between Cow-Based Measures and AD	112
7.5.2 Relationship between Shelter-Based Resource Measures and AD	114
7.6 Conclusions	116
Chapter 8 Public attitudes towards cow welfare and cow shelters (gaushalas) in India	118
8.1 Abstract	118
8.2. Introduction	118
8.3. Material and methods	121
8.3.1 Questionnaire design	122

8.4 Statistical analysis	123
8.5 Results	124
8.5.1 Respondents demographics	124
8.5.2 Demographic Effects	131
8.5.3 Influence of attitudes towards cows to frequency of visits to gaushalas	137
8.5.4 Qualitative assessment	142
8.6 Discussion	144
8.6.1 Perceptions about shelters and abandoned cows	145
8.6.2 Demographic analysis	147
8.6.3 Influence of attitude towards cows to visiting frequency to gaushalas	151
8.6.4 Qualitative assessment	152
8.7 Limitations of the study	152
8.8. Conclusions	152
Chapter 9 The management of cow shelters in India, including the attitudes of shelter	
managers to cow welfare	155
9.1 Abstract	155
9.2. Introduction	156
9.3. Materials and Methods	158
9.3.1 Questionnaire Design	159
9.4 Statistical Analysis	160
9.5 Results	162
9.5.1 Respondent demographics	162
9.5.2 Establishment of the shelters and their financial performance	162
9.5.3 Cattle, worker and visitor demographics	163
9.5.4 Health management, breeding, housing and disaster management	164
9.5.5 Association of shelter administration, affiliation, income and financial support of	
government with various health and welfare parameters	165
9.5.6 Attitude of managers to cow welfare and support for the shelter	166

9.6. Discussion	
9.6.1 Human and cattle demographics	
9.6.2 Health Management	
9.6.3 Visitors to the shelter	
9.6.4 Cow mortality	
9.6.5 Routine management and waste disposal	
9.6.6 Disaster, human resource and financial management	
9.6.7 Associations between shelter administration, affiliation, income with health	and welfare
of cows	
9.6.8 Attitudes of shelter managers	
9.7 Limitations of the study	
9.8 Conclusions	
Chapter 10 General Discussion and conclusions	
10.1 General Discussion	
10.1.1 The relationship to published literature	
	104
10.1.2 Major limitations of the work	
10.1.2 Major limitations of the work	
10.1.2 Major limitations of the work10.1.3 Summary of the most important new findings10.1.4 Considering changes to future studies of this nature	
 10.1.2 Major limitations of the work 10.1.3 Summary of the most important new findings 10.1.4 Considering changes to future studies of this nature 10.1.5 The practical implications of the work 	
 10.1.2 Major limitations of the work 10.1.3 Summary of the most important new findings 10.1.4 Considering changes to future studies of this nature 10.1.5 The practical implications of the work 10.1.6 Future work that needs to be done and how can that build on this study 	
 10.1.2 Major limitations of the work	
 10.1.2 Major limitations of the work 10.1.3 Summary of the most important new findings 10.1.4 Considering changes to future studies of this nature 10.1.5 The practical implications of the work 10.1.6 Future work that needs to be done and how can that build on this study 10.2 General Conclusions 	

List of Figures

Figure 4-1: Relationship between the proportion of cows standing (stall standing index) a	nd
coefficient of friction (CoF) of shed floor	59
Figure 4-2: Relationship between the avoidance distance score and coefficient of friction	
(CoF) of shed floor	59
Figure 4-3: Scatter plot showing relationship between dirty hind limbs score and coefficient	ent of
friction (CoF) of shed floor	60
Figure 5-1: The parallelism between the serial dilution of pooled hair extracts of cow same	ples
and cortisol standards	71
Figure 8-1: Relationship of various attitudinal variables with the frequency of visits of th	e
public to the gaushalas	142
Figure 8-2: Word Cloud for the question' What do you understand by the term 'welfare of	of
cows'?	144
Figure 9-1: Schematic Map of India depicting states covered under the Gaushala study	159
Figure 9-2: Perceived beliefs and attitudes expressed by 54 gaushala managers	167
Figure 9-3: Word Cloud for the question 'What do you understand by the term 'welfare	of
cows'?	169

List of Tables

Table 3-1: Descriptive statistics for animal-based measures in the cow shelters, measured on			
ordinal and continuous scales			
			Table 4-3: Descriptive Statistics for animal-based measures in the cow shelters measured on
			ordinal as well as continuous scales
			Table 4-4: Median, first quartile (Q1), third quartile (Q3), and interquartile range (IQR)
			values for not normally distributed and mean, standard deviation (SD), and p-values for
			normally distributed data, for resource-based parameters for cows in shelters
Table 4-5: Spearman's rank correlations between coefficient of friction of shelter flooring and			
resource- and animal-based variables with p-values ≤ 0.05			
Table 5-1: Descriptive statistics of the resource-based welfare parameters in shelters (n = 54)			
Table 5-2: Distribution of different animal-based wehave parameters in 54 cow shelters ($n = 540$			
540 cows)			
Table 5-3: Spearman's Rank Correlation coefficients for hair cortisol concentration (pg/mg)			
with other animal-based parameters, together with a p-value for each correlation			
Table 5-4: Regression analysis of animal-based parameters significantly related ($p < 0.05$) to			
hair cortisol concentration in log ₁₀ pg/mg			
Table 5-5: Spearman's Rank Correlation coefficients with p-values for hair cortisol			
concentration (pg/mg) with resource-based parameters			
Table 5-6: Spearman's Rank Correlation coefficients with p-values for hair cortisol			
concentration (pg/mg) with animal-based and resource-based parameters which were not			
significant (p > 0.05)			
Table 5-7: Regression analysis of resource-based parameters significantly (p < 0.05) related to			
hair cortisol concentration (log ₁₀ pg/mg)			
Table 5-8: Comparative results of studies on the analysis of hair cortisol concentration in			
cattle			
Table 6-1: Lameness Scoring System used in the study to determine the prevalence of			
lameness			

Table 6-2: Percentage of cows in each category (number) of animal-based welfare parameters
in 54 shelters (n = 1620 cows), see text for details of scoring systems
Table 6-3: Significant (p < 0.05) Spearman's rank correlations between lameness (scores from
1 (not lame) to 5 (severely lame) and other animal-based variables
Table 6-4: Binary logistic regression of lameness with other animal-based welfare parameters
in shelter cows (n = 1620)
Table 6-5: Descriptive statistics of resource-based welfare parameters of cow shelters (n = 54)
Table 7-1: Distribution of different cow-based welfare parameters in 54 cow shelters (n =
1620)
Table 7-2: Descriptive statistics of shelter-based resource measures (n = 54) 109
Table 7-3: Spearman's rank correlations between avoidance distance scores for each cow (n =
1620) and cow-based welfare parameters
Table 7-4: Association of avoidance distance of shelter cows (n = 1620) with animal-based
parameters using ordinal logistic regression
Table 7-5: Spearman's rank correlations between mean shelter (n = 54) avoidance distance
scores of the selected cows and shelter-based welfare parameters
Table 7-6: Regression analysis of shelter-based measures significantly related $(p < 0.05)$ to
avoidance distance score
Table 8-1: Descriptive statistics of public survey for the assessment of attitudes towards cow
shelters and cow welfare
Table 8-2: Respondents' awareness of, and relationship with gaushalas, and their attitudes to
the welfare of cows in gaushalas
Table 8-3: Significant effects ($P < 0.05$) of age on public perception about cow welfare and
gaushalas in India
Table 8-4: Education level effects on public perception about cow welfare and gaushalas in
India (P < 0.05)
Table 8-5: Gender effects on public perception about cow welfare and gaushalas in India (P <
0.05)
Table 8-6: Religion effects on public perception about cow welfare and gaushalas in India (P <
0.05)
Table 8-7: Religiosity effects on public perception about cow welfare and gaushalas in India
(P < 0.05)
Table 8-8: Place of residence effects on public perception about cow welfare and gaushalas in
India (P < 0.05)

Table 8-9: Word frequency count of the question 'What do you mean by the te	erm welfare of
cows?'	143
Table 9-1: Mean responses to various attitudes questions posed to cow shelter	managers on a
scale of 1 strongly disagree to 5 strongly agree ($r^2 = 31.4\%$)	
Table 9-2: Word frequency count of the question 'What do you understand by	the term
'welfare of cows'?	

List of Abbreviations used in the thesis

ACA = Adaptive Conjoint Analysis	INR = Indian Rupee
A.D = Anno Domini	IQR = Inter Quartile Range
ANI = Animal Needs Index	KHz = Kilo Hertz
AWBI = Animal Welfare Board of India	Kg = Kilogram
B.C = Before Christ	Km = kilometre
BCS = Body Condition Score	km/h = kilometre per hour
BSA = Bovine Serum Albumin	L = Litre
BQ -= Black Quarter	μ L = microlitre
AD = Avoidance Distance	min = minute
ANOVA = Analysis of Variance	m = metre
CCI = Cow Comfort Index	mg = milligram
CI = Confidence Interval	mL = millilitre
°C = degree celsius	$m^2 =$ square metre
cm = centimetre	m/s = metre per second
$cm^2 = square centimetre$	N = Newton
Coeff = Coefficient	OR = Odds Ratio
CC = Correlation Coefficient	pg/mg = picogram per milligram
CoF = Coefficient of Friction	PCA = Principal Components Analysis
CV = Coefficient of Variation	PBS = Phosphate Buffered Saline
d = Day	Q1 = First Quartile
dB = Decibel	Q3 = Third Quartile
df = Degree of Freedom	QBA = Quality Behaviour Assessment
DMI = Dry Matter Intake	RFS = Rumen Fill Score
e.g. = exempli gratia	RHD = Routine Herd Data
EIA = Enzyme Immunoassay	RIA = Radioimmunoassay
ELISA = Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent	rpm = revolutions per minute
Assay	RSPCA = Royal Society for Prevention of
et al. = et alia	Cruelty to Animals
etc. = et cetera	SARA = Sub Acute Ruminal Acidosis
F = Force	SE = Standard Error
FIAPO = Federation of Indian Animal	sec = second
Protection Organisations	SEM = Standard Error of Mean
FMD = Foot and Mouth Disease	SSI = Stall Standing Index

g = gram	TGI = Tiergerechtheitsindex
GLM = General Linear Model	U.K = United Kingdom
HPA = Hypothalamus Pituitary Adrenal	US\$ = United States Dollar
HS = Haemorrhagic Septicaemia	VIF = Variance Inflation Factor
h = hour	WQ = Welfare Quality
h/d = hours per day	

Chapter 1

Introduction

Street cattle overpopulation in India is an emerging social and public health problem in India especially in the light of the prohibition of cow slaughter in most of the Indian states (Fox 1999; Ghatak and Singh 2015). Religious and strong inhibitions are carried out in animal husbandry in India and euthanasia is not permitted in the Hindu religion, even to give a mercy killing to a fatally injured cow (Olver 1942; Fox 1999). India has the world's largest cattle population of 190.9 million, out of which nearly 5.3 million are stray (Department of Animal Husbandry Dairying and Fisheries 2014). The large cattle population of India is due to the religious beliefs of the dominant Hindu population of the country and the ancient tradition of gaushalas where cows are sheltered, fed and cared for (Chhangani 2009). This tragic plight of the stray cows is a consequence of modernization and overpopulation. The rural people own cows despite having limited land to graze them; the human population pressure has encroached upon the traditional grazing lands leading to cows roaming freely in the streets, raiding crops, suffering automobile hits and causing traffic problems. In some states it has led to human-animal conflicts due to the crop-raiding by the street cattle in the farmers' fields. In the cities, these street cows survive on roadside city garbage that is contaminated with plastics that leads to health issues causing painful deaths. They are also public health and traffic hazards. There have been reports of many fatal road accidents due to automobile accidents involving cattle in the streets (Bentinck 2000; Fitzharris et al. 2009; Arnold 2012). Recent government reports have revealed an increasing trend in road accidents involving street animals, with 629 human deaths from 1604 accidents in 2016 and 1360 deaths from 3611 accidents in 2017 (Government of India 2017, 2018).

In most of the Indian states there are cow shelters or cow sanctuaries called "gaushalas" or "go sadans" where abandoned, unproductive and old cows are housed by philanthropists, animal protection organisations, religious organisations, and temple trusts. These gaushalas have played a significant role in the management of stray cattle in India, by providing shelter for hundreds of cattle (Singh et al. 2013). These cow shelters are traditional and ancient rescue homes for cows with documentary evidence of their existence since the 3rd to 4th century B.C. (Lodrick 1981, 2005b). Presently, the number of gaushalas is variously estimated at somewhere between 3000 to more than 5000 (Alavijeh 2014; Federation of Indian Animal Protection Organisations 2018b; Mandi et al. 2018), so the exact number of gaushalas in India is not known (Singh et al. 2013). According to the latest figures, 1837 gaushalas are funded by the Government of India through a central statutory body, the Animal Welfare Board of India (2016b). The AWBI annually releases funds for the feeding, health care, sheltering and infrastructure according to requests sent by affiliated gaushalas.

The AWBI also sends its Honorary Animal Welfare Officers or Inspectors to see the working of these shelters, which is mandatory for the release of financial grants to the gaushalas. The Animal Welfare Board of India (AWBI) has devised requisite proformas for use by the Honorary Animal Welfare Officers appointed by the Board for inspecting a shelter before release of funds and for auditing the ongoing grant to a gaushala (Animal Welfare Board of India 2016a). However, majority of the gaushalas are funded through donations from the general public, business communities, charitable societies and temple trusts.

These shelters are not able to fully house all cattle due to inadequate space leading to unhygienic conditions (Yadav 2007; Solanki 2010). This leads to overcrowding of shelters which is detrimental to the welfare of the cows. Nevertheless, the gaushalas have played a pivotal role in the cow protection movement for the overall welfare of cows in India. The gaushalas can be a solution to the humane management of the burgeoning stray cattle population of India. To cater to these contemporary societal needs the gaushalas have to reinvent themselves based on modern welfarebased scientific methods of humane cow management.

Some research has been conducted on cattle in gaushalas, assessing the potency of vaccines against paratuberculosis in cattle through the antigen testing on gaushala animals (Kaur et al. 2011; Singh et al. 2015b). Recent studies have been published on the operational constraints and economics of shelters that are restricted to a particular state by gathering information from the shelter management (Bijla et al. 2019; Bijla and Singh 2019; Chandra and Kamboj 2019). However, none of these studies were conducted on the animals that are vital for a valid assessment of the actual welfare of the cows in the shelters. The scientific assessment of the overall welfare of the stray and abandoned cows in these gaushalas based on welfare indicators has not yet been attempted. There has been no study on the development of welfare indicators for abandoned cows in the gaushalas through which the gaushala welfare performance can be audited. The assessment of welfare of dairy and beef cattle is based on the development and validation of specific indicators of animal welfare through an on field-based welfare measurement protocol in the developed world (Johnsen et al. 2001; Welfare Quality[®] 2009; Kelly et al. 2011; Main et al. 2014). The Welfare Quality[®] protocol has institutionalized welfare auditing as a routine assessment tool in the western dairy and beef industry. There is a lacuna in the literature and in the wider animal industry about the use of the welfare indicators to improve welfare in gaushala cows. The welfare issues faced by the cows in shelters have not been identified and the risk factors associated with these issues have not been analysed. There is no study on the assessment of long term stress faced by the cows due to the managemental and environmental conditions provided in the shelters. The general public in India due to their veneration for the cows and regular financial support to the shelters are vital

stakeholders in the sheltering of the cows. The attitudes of the general public about cow welfare and cow shelters in the contemporary context have not been assessed. Similarly, the constraints faced by the shelter managers in managing the routine working of the shelters have been scarcely documented being isolated to one state (Bijla et al. 2019). The attitudes of the shelter managers' to cow welfare and shelters have not been assessed. The involvement of these stakeholders through the assessment of their attitudes is important for policy formulation and legislation on this societal issue given its contemporary and future ramifications. Welfare based management of cows in shelters hold the promise to deal with street cow overpopulation in the country in order to minimize the conflict between modernity and tradition and ensure sustainability of these institutions.

The present research study seeks to rectify these knowledge gaps about the gaushalas in India. Based on the research gaps identified, the present study envisages the following objectives:

1. Development of welfare indicators that are relevant to cows in gaushalas and their field validation for routine welfare assessment of cows and cow shelters.

2. Assessment of welfare of cows in shelters and identification of key welfare problems.

3. Identification of risk factors associated with the welfare problems in cow shelters.

4. Assessment of long stress in sheltered cows and risk factors associated with it.

5. Assessment of human-animal relationship in the shelters and the risk factors associated with it.

6. Exploration of stakeholder opinion (public and shelter managers) about cow welfare and cow shelters in India.

Chapter 2

Review of literature

2.1 History of Cattle Shelters in India

A "gaushala" literally means a 'home for cows', especially housing bovines only, whereas "pinjrapole "refers to the housing of all animals (Singh 1946). The institution of gaushalas is an ancient Indian heritage strongly linked to the Hindu religion where the cow is worshipped as a mother, protection of which is the duty of faith for all Hindus (Simoons 1974). Ancient Hindu texts written by sages are replete with the demonstration of reverence towards the holy cow by the Kings of the Vedic times in India, as a symbol of economic prosperity and humanity (Agoramoorthy and Hsu 2012). The reverence for the cow comes from the intimate connection of the ancient Hindus to life and religion. Thus, under this religious-economic reverence of the people of the Aryan period (1500-500 B.C) the gaushalas and pinjrapoles came into existence (Singh 1946). The Hindu religion espouses the co-existence of humans and animals through the promotion of the belief of incarnations of gods and goddesses in animal forms. The emblems of the Kings and the organisation of various festivals in respect for and to honour animals respectively in the past are a testimony to these beliefs (Agoramoorthy and Hsu 2006). The Vedic hymns of the Hindus written and sung by the sages have references to the cow as the holy mother (Simoons 1974). The sacredness and high ritual status of the cow have led to the use of 'panchgavyas' or the five cow products: milk, curd, butter, urine and dung, for the maintenance of a person as free from pollution and for the purification rituals in Hindu religious ceremonies (Simoons 1974).

The presence of the gaushalas in the ancient Rig Vedic period (1500-100 B.C) with the presence of cattle rearing as an economic activity has been documented (Bharadwaj 2012). India is a home to 30% of the cattle population of the world, which was first domesticated approximately 8000-10000 years ago (Loftus et al. 1994). The existence of animal homes about 2000 years ago has been indicated by Evans (2013), though the exact origin of these in the Indian sub-continent is unknown. Lodrick (1981) has documented the existence of these institutions since at least the 3rd century B.C.). Lodrick (1981) further refers to the '*Arthashastra*', a Hindu text written by Chanakya, dating to sometime between the 4th century BCE and 4th century CE, which mentions the presence of gaushalas and describes the maintenance of useless and abandoned cattle herds. These animal homes were classified into six types: the *pinjrapole*, *vania gaushala*, temple *gaushala*, Gandhian *gaushala*, and the *Gosadans* (Lourdusamy 1983). The majority of the gaushalas existed in North India (Burgat 2004). *Gaushalas* are typically Hindu institutions encompassing a much wider Northern India than the Jain *pinjrapoles* with more prevalence of these found in Gujarat and surrounding states due to the higher influence of Hindu culture in these

regions (Lodrick 1981). The practice of the establishment of the Gaushalas was absent in South India as a culture and the ones which existed were developed by the North Indian migrant merchant communities who had migrated down South (Evans 2013).

2.2 Assessment of Animal Welfare

Animal welfare is an integrative strategy involving farmers, scientists, veterinarians, ethologists and welfare groups to deliver a key output to the animals for their wellbeing (Sejian et al. 2011) .There is a distinction between "conditionally normative "and "inherently normative" issues in risk assessment studies. The values are given importance in the conditionally normative studies as the scientific data collection is not free from bias. In the case of inherently normative studies the application of values to the variables for data collection is not possible (Brunk et al. 1995; Bracke et al. 1999a). The formal scaling systems of the welfare parameters help to collate the variables for measurement but the differing philosophies of scientists will give weight to different variables in assessment protocols. The attachment of weights to different welfare assessment variables as per the goals of assessment and weighing opposite variables are the complications of assessment of farm animal welfare (Scott et al. 2001). This assumption of values for different welfare parameters should be able to find basic differences in parameter values rather than a total focus on the objectivity of the parameters (Fraser 2003). It has been purported that animal welfare indicates the mental states of the animal due to their experiences and hence cannot be measured directly but on an indirect basis (Sandøe and Simonsen 1992). Assessment of animal welfare in dairy farms through the measurement of outcomes on the animals has been advocated to investigate the welfare standards the farms are able to achieve (Main et al. 2012b).

2.3 Epidemiology and animal welfare assessment

An interdisciplinary approach between veterinary epidemiologists and animal welfare researchers has been suggested to identify the interactions of factors of animal health and welfare on actual field situations as the basis for improved decision making on animal welfare and research (Scott et al. 2001; Main et al. 2003; Rushen 2003; Zurbrigg et al. 2005b; Millman et al. 2009). These studies indicate the type of data collection in animal welfare through an interdisciplinary approach, data analysis based on the epidemiological principles, use of data generated for animal welfare assessment and ultimately putting it to use by the stakeholders.

2.4 Purpose of the Assessment of Animal welfare

Welfare is a multidimensional concept (Mason and Mendl 1993; Fraser 1995). Judgements about animal welfare are better carried out when more knowledge about the factors affecting the welfare of a particular species within a management system is there and how these factors are integrated (Sejian et al. 2011). The critical difference between measuring welfare and disease is that in disease a comparatively smaller number of physical measures are assessed by referring to wellestablished normal parameters. In the case of assessing animal welfare, a wide range of measures are to be considered along with health parameters (Duncan and Dawkins 1983). The quantification of the welfare state of the farm herds is the real purpose of the assessment of the farms for animal welfare on scientific lines. The goals of any animal welfare index system or assessment system could be the certification of individual farms, examination of housing systems, and identification of welfare problems in the farms and to present an advisory to the farmers (Johnsen et al. 2001).

The scientific basis of animal welfare assessment has inherent problems due to the many factors affecting animal welfare, methodologies employed for assessment and the difficulty in weighing the different parameters of the assessment (Waiblinger et al. 2001). There is no comprehensive and completely validated animal welfare assessment system in the world which can be termed as an ideal (Matthews 2008). There is a need to quantify the animal welfare status in the farms through the application of assessment methods (Fraser 2003; Duncan 2006). The assessment of animal welfare has no clear single goal. The goals differ with the method of assessment and the assessment methods may lead to more than one goal. A good animal welfare assessment protocol is a direct feedback to farm owners, managers about of the strengths and weakness of the farm, to the policy makers to arrive at decisions and is also a marketing tool (Spoolder et al. 2003).

2.4.1 Attributes of an animal welfare protocol

The protocols of assessment of animal welfare should be practical and robust in case of involving animals in groups or herds (Webster 2005). It is essential in the development of an animal welfare protocol that there is a minimal amount of subjectivity and personal bias (Whay et al. 2003c). Hence, as per these views, the indicators for measurement of animal welfare will differ. Thus, due to different stakeholders in the animal welfare concept, the requirements for different methodologies for welfare assessment will be different. The farmers require indicators which will give evidence of early warning of poor welfare, the regulatory bodies will need indicators which show enforcement of legal standards of welfare and the civil society and consumers need indicators which reflect the feelings and emotional status of the animals, respectively (Manning et al. 2007). It is necessary for animal welfare science to demonstrate the abilities of the animals to experience positive or negative emotions through an evidence-based approach prior to being included in a welfare assessment protocol (Kjærnes and Miele 2007; Matthews 2008). Some attributes of an ideal animal welfare assessment system outlined are (Matthews 2008):

 The indicators must have a scientific basis to reflect their validity so that they are relevant to the needs of the stakeholders. These indicators must be outcome based though input based indicators might be sometimes relevant.

- A system should be there for giving due weight to the indicators based on the area of welfare being assessed.
- 3) A method of integrating the indicators to develop an overall welfare index must be in place.
- A method of benchmarking each welfare indicator as per each level of welfare should be there.
- 5) The indicators must be attributes of feasibility, reliability, repeatability and should serve as early warning systems for poor welfare situations so that preventative measures could be initiated.

There is a lack of explicit guidelines for integration of welfare assessment parameters and scoring scales which lead to an array of welfare assessment indicators despite these representing the concerns of the stakeholders (Fraser 1995).

2.5 Indicators/Parameters of Animal Welfare Assessment

An indicator can be any number, rate, ratio, percentage, index or any other measure that gives a summary of a subject being dealt with (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2015). The indicators, when plotted over a time period, show the change of conditions of the subject under study. As the concept of animal welfare is multi-dimensional, all its aspects have to be assessed by specific welfare indicators (Mason and Mendl 1993; Fraser 2003; Botreau et al. 2007b). The selection of welfare indicators which are of relevance has been done by evaluating them on their individual significance, their marginal welfare value and their applicability for an on-farm welfare assessment (Rousing et al. 2001). There are species differences in being able to live in different conditions and hence it is very important to identify indicators that show the needs and preferences of animals (Dawkins 2006). There have been scientific efforts all over the world for the development of indicators of welfare which signify the quality of life of the animals, are scientifically valid and are practical for use by the stakeholders (Wemelsfelder and Mullen 2014). This means sensitive animal welfare indicators need to be developed which not only identify stress levels but also reflect about the mental states of the animals. Ethological approaches are being developed through close observation of the behavioural indicators of animals, which provide the most authentic information on welfare (Christiansen and Forkman 2007).

There are many animal welfare assessment protocols that have been developed for dairy cows. All these methods of assessment of animal welfare are different to one another as they have different goals of assessment. Animal Welfare assessment at herd level is based on a range of parameters, which are known as indicators. These parameters are principally divided into divided into two categories according to Johnsen et al. (2001):

1) The resource-based parameters/ Environmental parameters

2) The animal-based parameters.

2.5.1 Resource-based parameters for animal welfare assessment

The assessment of provisions or resources is a less direct method of evaluating welfare than the results of a direct observation of the behaviour and physical condition of the animal (Webster 2005). These indirect methods of the evaluation of animal welfare are based on the measurement of the adequacy of inputs provided to the animals in the form of resources and management (Wood et al. 1998). In this method, each resource is given a weight and sum of all the weights to different resources produce a welfare score (Bartussek 1999). It is based on the measurement of the resources provided to the animals. These indicators are variables that are not measured in the animals but in their environment. The resource /environmental parameters include the design and size of the sheds where the animals are housed, the amount and quality of fodder they are provided, the ambient temperature of the shed housing systems, space allowances for each animal, management practices, length of the mangers, water troughs, quantity as well as quality of feed and water, condition of the flooring bedding etc. (Main et al. 2003). These are relatively easy measures to record being observable, less time consuming, objective and highly repeatable. One short visit to a farm is suitable to record these resource-based parameters and hence they are very convenient to assess. The reliability of these parameters, their quick assessment and economy have lead researchers to focus on these parameters for welfare assessment (Sundrum 1997; Bartussek 1999; Bracke et al. 1999b). However, these resource-based parameters are environmental parameters which lead to risk assessment and do not actually measure the welfare state of the animals (Rousing et al. 2001). A good welfare score of these parameters does not guarantee that the animals are fit, healthy and have a high standard of welfare. This may lead to overlooking of the potential risk factors. The real life expressions by the animals can be different (Winckler and Willen 2001). Studies have shown that the animal-based measures may change within the same housing systems and similar management conditions (Whay et al. 2003c; Rousing et al. 2007).

2.5.2 Animal-based parameters for animal welfare assessment

Animal-based parameters such as health and behaviour are considered as the indicators of the feelings as well as state of the animal's body (Waiblinger et al. 2001). These parameters include the health, incidence of disease, injuries, behaviour and physiological parameters. The level of stress hormones, fear, aggression and disease signs are examples of these parameters. These animal-based indicators are direct measures of the state of the animal and are regarded for their high level of validity due to their close linkage with the actual welfare level of the animal (Blokhuis et al. 2010; Dawkins 2012). These give a direct assessment of the animal welfare (Whay et al. 2003a; Barnett and Hemsworth 2009) which is quite valid (Keeling et al. 2013). The animal health parameters are

more practical and records of the data can be assessed from the farm records (De Vries et al. 2014a). However, the recording of the animal-based parameters is difficult, time-consuming and requires many resources. This especially holds true in the case of behavioural and physiological parameter recordings (Johnsen et al. 2001).

The measurements have to be robust, quantifiable and subjective to minimise observer bias. Practically the measurements have to be completed within a day (Webster 2005). This leads to the concern on the snapshot assessment of the welfare state of a farm as the long-term welfare picture will not be available. This problem is countered by selecting those animal-based measures which indicate the long-term consequences of management/ husbandry. The animal-based measurements are dependent on the monitoring and recordings of observations by the observer/assessor and hence they rely on subjective assessments (Webster 2005). However, it has been pointed out that this is not a problem if the measurements are repeatable, once the assessors are thoroughly trained and the measures can also be transferable to other animal production systems also (Whay et al. 2003c).

Health and behaviour of the animals are important considerations in the assessment of their welfare. Behaviour is the outcome of the animal's interaction with the environment on account of its perception of its surrounding influences. Behaviour assessments used in farm animals are made by using standardised tests to establish human-animal interactions such as social behaviour, comfort behaviour, rising behaviour and fear tests (Sørensen and Fraser 2010). A typical limitation with the behavioural measurements is that response of the animals differs with an unknown handler than a regular handler (de Passillé et al. 1996). Health assessments from the animal reveal about the acute as well as chronic disease conditions of the animal and provide an idea the short and long term pain and stress the animals are undergoing (Rousing et al. 2001). The direct welfare measures based on animal-based measurements do not alone indicate the causes of poor welfare in a farm as the short time of the visits for assessment and resources do not allow the collection of behaviour and health data of the animals under study (Waiblinger et al. 2001).

There are some other indicators which affect animal welfare such as management practices and human-animal interactions (Rushen and Passillé 1992; Sandøe and Simonsen 1992; Waiblinger 1996) but these are not easy to measure and hence suffer from reliability. There is evidence which shows that physical environments of the farm animals are alone not good indicators of animal welfare but genetic factors and human factors also determine the welfare of the animals in the farms (Sandøe et al. 1999; Hemsworth et al. 2002). The complex interaction of factors in animal welfare warrants a valid assessment of farm animal welfare through on-farm welfare assessment methods (Barnett and Hemsworth 2009). The welfare outcome-based approach for the assessment of animal welfare claims to promote active involvement of the farmers, assessors and the veterinarians in the
improvement in the welfare levels of the farms on a daily basis (Main et al. 2012b). This type of assessment is focussed on the improvements based on the performance of the farms in light of the resources provided.

The initial research in animal welfare focussed on the input measures of animal welfare such as management resources and physical resources (Bartussek 1999) but the recent research is on the assessment of output measures or welfare outcomes which means how the resources given to the animals actually affect the animal (Main et al. 2012b). The health and welfare of the animals can be measured in detail through direct observation of the animals in different management systems. Studies now focus on the composite welfare assessment of animals in a management situation through the assimilation of results from an array of indicators into an overall welfare index (Botreau et al. 2009). There is a need to develop smaller groups of indicators which reflect the major health and welfare issues due to the time and cost constraints (Main et al. 2012a). However, for overall validation of the protocols these indicators also need to be validated (Wemelsfelder and Mullen 2014). By conducting experiments or by referring to theoretical works it can be concluded that some indicators depict some kind of experiences of the animals due to their cognitive abilities. The emotional outcome of these experiences in the animal is referred as its welfare state (Mellor 2012). The indicators can also be selected by performing controlled experiments to find out animals' choices in given opportunities (Dawkins 2006). In case they prefer certain activities, the presence or absence of such activities can be used as an indicator of welfare (Forkman et al. 2007).

2.5.3 Validity, reliability and feasibility of welfare indicators

Validity in animal welfare assessment means to what extent we are measuring what we are supposed to measure (Knierim and Winckler 2009). Validation of animal welfare indicators is the selection of appropriate sample sizes within each subgroup so that accurate conclusions can be drawn through the extrapolation for the whole population (Mullan et al. 2009). The resource-based measures suffer in their validity aspect because of their indirect measurement of welfare and the complex interactions with other management conditions (Waiblinger et al. 2001). The reliability of assessors for measuring an indicator is another criterion of validating an indicator. The scoring scales developed for the measurement of indicators in experimental situations need to be validated through on field use to prove their practical applicability. The different assessors should be able to measure a parameter similarly after a basic training. The results should be the same on the same subjects by different evaluators (Knierim and Winckler 2009). It has been found that to ensure reliability between assessors for the development of valid welfare assessment protocols the indicators must have clarity and their scoring must be simple (Channon et al. 2009; Plesch et al. 2010). The assessment of the welfare through the measurement of the indicators must be practically

feasible in the given amount of time. This helps to reduce the cost of the assessment in terms of time and resources while at the same time the sample being kept representative (Knierim and Winckler 2009).

2.6. Development of Protocols for animal welfare assessment

It is widely accepted that for a composite and holistic animal welfare assessment of a farm, both resource-based and animal-based parameters are essential to be measured. The process of the development of animal-based protocols and their application for assessment of the welfare of dairy cattle has been deliberated upon (Main et al. 2007). The development of protocols for welfare assessment of the farms is through the evaluation and adoption of measures used in previous studies. The indicators involve examination of individual animals, observation of a group of animals, evaluating the farm records and the recording the observations of the farmers (Main et al. 2007).

The criterion for including a parameter in the study is its relevance to animal welfare (validity), reliability and its feasibility of measurement on the farm visit. A manual has been prepared which shows the pictorial representation of a parameter, its definition, how to measure it and finally its conversion into standard units of measurement (Main et al. 2007).

An on-farm animal welfare assessment tool in cattle and buffaloes has been proposed by dividing the animal-based parameters into three categories. These included the parameters which were reliable, valid and feasible in the first category (viz.lameness, injuries, body condition score, cleanliness, getting up and lying down behaviour, agonistic social behaviour, abnormal oral behaviour, animal-human relationship and stockmanship), the parameters which need more information to be reliable in the second category (viz. indicators of good welfare, housing indicators) and the third category were the parameters which were found to be important but were not reliable and feasible (viz. disease incidence and mortality rates) (Winckler et al. 2003). This was claimed as being the first index for producing a scientifically accepted animal welfare assessment tool and indicated the paucity of literature on reliability of selected indicators, the appropriate sample sizes to be selected to be being representative, procedures for assessing behaviour in a short assessment period and the acceptable level of training of the observer. Thus, a novel idea of incorporation of useful indicators of good welfare in the assessment protocols was advocated. There is a need to develop indicators for nutrition status, thermal and physical comfort and fatigue which could be validated too (Matthews 2008).

The importance of training of the assessors of animal welfare prior to welfare assessment to achieve higher repeatability of the measurement of the indicators has been emphasised. It was

further suggested to develop simpler but precise scales of scoring for welfare indicator measurement. This helps in accurate assessments to produce a reliable database through the prevention of observer bias leading to proper analysis of the animal welfare protocols (Gibbons et al. 2012).

2.6.1 The United Kingdom Dairy Farm Protocol

During the development of protocols for UK-based dairy farms, consultations were done with dairy cattle welfare experts and veterinary surgeons and each parameter to be included in the assessment protocol was deliberated upon. This helped in the evaluation of each parameter for its repeatability. Thus, a benchmarking of farm performance on the basis of these parameters was done through the analysis of the performance of each farm on the welfare parameters selected. This helped in the identification of the strengths and weaknesses of the farms in the overall welfare concept (Main et al. 2007). The purpose of this study was to develop a valid, repeatable and feasible protocol for welfare assessment of the farms. This approach has a limitation of being subjective though repeatability is the most important consideration in this approach. The repeatability of a protocol as well as of a parameter is increased by the training of the assessing personnel. A welfare assessment tool must measure parameters which are reliable, valid, easily operated by trained assessors, efficient and must reveal the causes of poor welfare in a farm (Waiblinger et al. 2001).

2.6.2 The "Delphi" technique

The process of assessment of animal welfare and ensuring quality control involves the following steps (Webster 2005):

- The "Delphi" review process of the opinion of animal welfare experts regarding the weight given to various welfare concerns in order to achieve consensus among the experts. This is done by contact with animal experts to point out their perceived animal welfare issues in dairy cows (Linstone and Turoff 1975; Whay et al. 2003c).
- 2. Development of animal welfare assessment protocols and their on-farm testing.
- 3. Selection of a statistically valid sample of farms for the on-farm assessment of the welfare of the animals housed.
- 4. Identification of the strengths and weaknesses of each tested farm on the basis of analysis of the assessment parameters.
- 5. Consultation among experts on their views about solutions to the identified and circulated welfare problems which were identified.
- 6. Advisory report to the farmers to redress specific welfare problems to ensure action is taken by the farm.

The "Delphi" technique allows to elicit opinions of experts on key welfare issues to be used as indicators and for arrival at a consensus. This leads to developing a protocol where the indicators/ measures are given appropriate weight as per the priorities established by the experts. This technique forms the foundation of the development of a welfare assessment protocol as a tool for animal-based welfare measurements on the farms. This technique can further be used to assess the impact of any improvement or addition to assisting the welfare of the animals on a farm. Different studies have included the opinion of experts in welfare assessments and have concluded that it strengthens the welfare assessment system (Bartussek 1999; Main et al. 2003; Rousing et al. 2007).

2.6.3 Exploration of Routine Herd Data (RHD)

A more novel approach for assessing the level of animal welfare in farms is the exploration of the national herd databases in developed countries. The routine herd data of a farm has an ability to measure the welfare of animals if it is combined in multivariate analysis (de Vries et al. 2011; de Vries et al. 2014b). There have been studies on the analysis of the routine herd database on the assessment of nine animal-based indicators and it was concluded that the welfare of a herd was considered to be poor if it scored less than the 10% worst scoring herds on the set indicators of the studies (Sandgren et al. 2009; Nyman et al. 2014). In both of these studies, sensitivity and probability were used for final evaluation of the welfare index of the farms being assessed. The routine herd data can serve as a prerequisite tool for identifying herds with serious welfare problems. This will reduce the numbers of farm visits for welfare assessment and hence be cost effective. This is a useful technique for continuous welfare assessment of the farms but has been found unsuitable for on the spot assessment of animal welfare in a farm (De Vries et al. 2014a).

2.6.4 Criterion based animal welfare assessment protocol

A criterion based assessment of animal welfare has been proposed for the overall measurement of animal welfare on a farm (Botreau et al. 2007b). A total of 12 criteria were initially selected for their applicability on the farm by measuring animal-based parameters as it was maintained that welfare state of animals was related to the mental state of the animal as this is what the animal perceives (Duncan 2005). The requirements were laid down for an assessment criterion to be exhaustive, minimal, independent, consensual and legible. This is a strong support for the animal-based assessment of animal welfare as during its development, the Welfare Quality Project advisors were consulted along with consumer groups in different countries. As a consequence of these consultations, the criteria were reduced to just four for easy understanding and communication with the farmers. A hierarchical level has also been set up between these criteria for bringing out greater transparency in the protocols. However some functional dependency between the indices

selected was noticed though each index was independent of interpretation (Botreau et al. 2007a; Botreau et al. 2007b).

2.6.5 The RSPCA's Freedom Food Scheme (RSPCA 2007)

This is one of the longest standing welfare assurance systems. It covers a range of species and has been implemented in many countries. Animal-based measurements and data recorded in farm records were utilised as indicators of the welfare of dairy cows based on the five freedoms (Whay et al. 2003c). The selected parameters were finalised for measurement after consultation with a panel of farm animal welfare experts. The experts were asked to weigh the importance of each measure in the form of the earlier described "Delphi "technique. It was claimed to be the largest animal welfare assessment study carried out in the UK and 15 international experts were consulted in the development of the protocol which was tested on 53 dairy farms. This study was unique as it minimised the subjective bias of the assessors and the results were based on the consensus opinion of the experts.

2.6.6 The Five Domains Model for animal welfare assessment

The model was devised to assess the compromises made on animal welfare in four physical domains and one mental domain that are reflected in terms of an animal's affective experiences (Mellor and Reid 1994). The four physical domains are nutrition, environment, health and behaviour. The affective experiences of the animal reflect the mental domain. This model initially assessed the negative experiences of animals in these domains. The model was developed to assess the compromises made in laboratory animals. Subsequently, it has been broadened to include farm animals, companion animals, captive and free ranging animals (Mellor et al. 2009). This model has been further extended to include the positive welfare states of the animals in the welfare assessments (Mellor and Beausoleil 2015). This helps in the systematic and objective assessment of positive and negative welfare effects, the causes of such effects and the interaction between these two effects. This model is in line with the contextual shift occurring in animal welfare science towards promoting positive and minimising negative welfare states. This model does not take into consideration the human-animal interactions which is an emerging aspect of animal welfare assessment.

2.7. Indices of animal welfare

There is an absence of an animal welfare assessment protocol which can be termed as "Gold Standard" for the objective measurement of the collected welfare parameters and their interpretation (Spoolder et al. 2003). There are various methods of assessments which take into consideration integration of the indicators of animal welfare through parameters of their measurement. In general, five approaches have been developed to club various indicators of welfare into one protocol of measurement of welfare parameters. Each approach has its advantages and disadvantages.

The scoring system approach is the most commonly used (Spoolder et al. 2003) and many welfare assessment schemes are structured based on this approach such as the TGI (Bartussek 1999; Horning 2001), the Animal Welfare Index (DVI) (Bokkers 1996) and Freedom Foods Scheme (Main et al. 2001). The development of an integrated animal welfare assessment system involves many steps which include a selection of the basis of the assessment (e.g. the five freedoms) and the indicators to be measured, according to due weight to each indicator and ultimately the integration of the indicators.

Five different ways of weighting and integrating welfare indicators into an overall assessment index have been proposed (Spoolder et al. 2003) which are the scoring systems (Bartussek 1999); decision support systems (Bracke et al. 2002); multivariate statistical methods (Spoolder et al. 1996), post-hoc experimental analyses and qualitative assessment (Wemelsfelder and Lawrence 2001). For the sake of objectivity of the indicators, it is highly desirable for the indicators to be calibrated independently so that an evidence approach is where animal's viewpoint is taken into consideration (Matthews 2008). The parameters which depict the linkages between animal behaviour and attributes of physical health and body functioning will be needed for an integrated animal welfare assessment (Dawkins 2004; Febrer et al. 2006). The prerequisites for the selection of parameters are their ranking and qualifications of the experts for assessment to bring about a transparent assessment in all the five methods of welfare parameter integration (Spoolder et al. 2003). However, the inevitability of human judgement in this process leading to subjectivity was also pointed out.

The various index systems developed basically investigated the impact of housing on the welfare of dairy cows. The Animal Needs Index (TGI, TGI 35L, TGI 200) (Sundrum et al. 1994; Bartussek 1999) gave an overall welfare score to the farms on the basis of assigning scores to the various aspects of the animal's environment in the farms. These indices were ultimately used for farm certification, advisory and farmer support. The management conditions and the environmental parameters formed the major part of these index systems with minimal measurement of animal-based parameters. These systems have been adjudged as being flexible as predefined minimum standards were kept. In a single visit by trained assessor, the overall welfare measurement is done. These index systems have been found to be practical and repeatable (Schatz et al. 1996).

The French Animal Welfare Index emphasised the measurement of animal behaviour and interviewing of the farm owners in addition to the assessment of the farm housing and clinical examination of the animals (Johnsen et al. 2001). The French method of on-farm assessment of dairy cows' welfare utilised the five freedoms or dimensions of animal welfare for the evaluation of 42 animal-based parameters. The overall result of the assessment was listed in terms of five freedoms of animal welfare (Capdeville and Veissier 2001). The attainment of the freedoms of animal welfare cannot be described in a quantitative manner on a common scale but they can be converted into value scales separately. But even if the qualitative values of the indices are converted into quantitative numbers, it can lead to errors as the qualitative categories are different (Scott et al. 2001).

2.7.1 European Welfare Quality project (WQ) Index

The European Welfare Quality Project (WQ) from 2004-2009 is considered the most exhaustive welfare assessment protocol for cattle, pigs and poultry as it comes from a consortium of seven European countries. It was developed to help the owners and managers for identification of the welfare problems on their farms and assess the progress of their farms. Reliable indices of welfare through on-farm monitoring techniques for dairy cows and other domesticated species have been developed (Krug et al. 2015). The WQ assessment protocol for dairy cows measures 30 indices, 12 criteria and four animal welfare freedoms for evaluating a farm. The distinguishing feature of the WQ protocol is that it emphasises the animal-based measures which are indicative of the animal's interaction with its environment (Veissier and Boissy 2007; Botreau et al. 2009). This project interlinked the social values and concerns about animal welfare in the farm production systems with the development of appropriate indicators for measurement thus highlighting the value framework system (Kjærnes and Miele 2007). The previous measures of animal welfare concentrated on indices which were resource-based (Sørensen et al. 2001; Main et al. 2007; Calamari and Bertoni 2009).

The WQ is a system of welfare assessment at herd level in cattle, pigs and poultry based on opinion of experts, who account for the measurement of five freedoms through the measurement of four welfare principles viz. health, feeding, housing and behaviour, which are finally combined into a global welfare scoring (Welfare Quality 2009). In this protocol each principle is based on the measurement of two to four criteria. The WQ fills the gap of having different assessments for different animal welfare schemes by being an overall welfare assessment system which is scientifically valid and widely accepted by all stakeholders (Blokhuis et al. 2010). This welfare project generated considerable amount of data which was later on subjected to analysis to produce an overall evaluation model for the farms being assessed. The WQ has a very dynamic process of

construction and development of welfare assessment protocols. It followed a process of development of measures by following four principles 'Good health', 'Good feeding', 'Good housing 'and 'Appropriate behaviour'. The overall assessments of farms as individual units lead to the decision making for welfare improvement by the parties concerned (Botreau et al. 2009).

The feasibility of the WQ protocol has been questioned for its implementation on the farms due to its time consumption and the expenditure involved (Knierim and Winckler 2009). The further criticism of the WQ protocol has been on the excessive importance given to the good feeding and good housing aspects of welfare principles than others which is against the goals of the protocol. Moreover, the usefulness and validity of the single welfare measures in the complete summing up of the welfare score, the bias of interpretation due to different interpreters and the treatment of missing data has also been questioned (Heath et al. 2014a). This protocol has its weaknesses as it relied on a small number of categories and it needed an expert for assessing it on the farm and further advising the farms to address welfare issues in the farms.

An improvised version of the WQ protocol has been devised to answer the feasibility aspect by using the "iceberg indicators" from animals (Heath et al. 2014b). Researchers have advocated a larger sample size of the farms to be assessed with a stronger study design and care towards the validity of the protocols for grading of on farm animal welfare (Krug et al. 2015). A convenience sample should not be used for descriptive studies which aim to represent parameters of a population (Dohoo et al. 2009a). A countrywide attempt to report the overall health of dairy cows in welfare terms, representative of French dairy herds, acknowledged the selection bias in their recruitment method of sample herds (Coignard et al. 2013).

All the contemporary welfare quality based schemes are based on animal husbandry measures i.e. the resources and records. This is due to the ease of objective assessment through records and for the regulation of the farm production methods. The end point of these assurance schemes is the welfare of the animals in the face of the stress of production. An assessment of the reduction in the time for practical application of a reduced protocol of the WQ indicators by replacing some indicators by predictions based on remaining animal and resource-based indicators has been evaluated (de Vries et al. 2013b). The reduction of the indicators of assessment in the WQ protocol does affect the assessment results and hence the use of predictions as replacements for omitted indicators is not recommended. The use of additional data, automated animal monitoring gadgetry like videos recordings, activity sensors which could replace direct measurements on animals, is not recommended as the costs involved will be a limiting factor.

Studies have also been conducted on the replacement of the animal-based indicators with more easily accessible resource-based indicators to save time and costs if a close relationship is observed between these parameters (Waiblinger et al. 2001; Winckler et al. 2003). But it was concluded that there was a wide variation in farms on these parameters and these variations could only be measured by the animal-based parameters which cannot be replaced (Johnsen et al. 2001; Mülleder et al. 2007). Consequently, a welfare assessment method based on welfare indices through the use of secondary sources of animal-based data such as farm register data has been devised (Otten et al. 2016). The researchers tried to find out the correlation of welfare assessments based on primary animal-based measures and those based on secondary data sources. A method of welfare assessment was devised for cutting cost and time of measurements by identifying alternative cheap and easily accessible indicators (de Vries et al. 2011). The lack of association between resource-based measures and animal-based measures warrants a through on form welfare assessment approach rather than the remote assessment of the farm records (Andreasen et al. 2013; Otten et al. 2016).

An assessment of animal welfare based on the animal-based observation methods in loosely housed dairy herds through the listing of welfare indicators and patterns by giving a score to each of the indicators provides a composite animal welfare assessment (Capdeville and Veissier 2001). In this study, the researchers initially consulted six experts for approval of the indices they had selected for measurement on the animals. This protocol thus developed was tested in five farms initially to check the practical possibility of recordings. Then 70 dairy farms were administered this protocol for checking and verification of the index scores. The study concluded that the indices needed to be checked for validity, repeatability and specificity. The weighting of the indices can be done by external validation of the protocol to another expert panel.

2.7.2 Operational Welfare Assessment Tool

This is a collection of risk factors, influencing factors along with the animal welfare indicators. This model takes into account the health, behavioural factors and assigns a norm value for each indicator as an operational welfare tool for assessment on the farm in dairy cows (Waiblinger et al. 2001). The emphasis has been given to the interaction of these influencing factors as a limited knowledge of this interaction has been found in literature such as the interaction between lameness and social behaviour. The examination of relationships and the quantification of the relationship between the parameters has been advocated. Logical regression and path analysis were suitable tools to quantify the interactions in this assessment model. The limitation is on defining the limits between good and bad welfare levels, determination of norm values and the differences in the perceptions of veterinarians and ethologists leading to the loss of information.

2.7.3 The Bottoms up Approach

This is a decision support system to the farmer for improvement through the combination of welfare indicators of animal behaviour and health into an aggregated system which is applicable on a farm (Rousing et al. 2001). The two indicator groups, animal behaviour and animal health are direct measurements. The behaviour measurements depict the adaptability of the animals to the current farm management system and are assessed as per the knowledge about normal behaviour patterns of the animals. The health indicators are depicted by the prevalence and incidence of the diseases in the farm which can be measured by clinical examination of the animals. This is further elaborated by the fact that each animal being measured can provide specific and contextual information to solve a welfare problem. These indicators are applied in addition to other indirect welfare indicators to construct an applicable system which takes into account the risks associated with welfare problems and the causal relations. A process of development of an animal welfare protocol in which selection of quality indicators, their relevance, informational value and suitability to the assessment protocol has been detailed and recommended. This approach is different from the Animal Needs Index (ANI) (Bartussek 1999) which focuses on the husbandry and housing aspects of management to build a protocol of welfare assessment which is a "top-down approach".

2.7.4 Benchmarking

Benchmarking has been used as a technique for assessment of dairy cow welfare by evaluating the feedback on animal-based and facility based measures (von Keyserlingk et al. 2012). The evaluation of the performance of herds in comparison to the averages from others is done and the deficiencies are highlighted. The causes of welfare outcome assessments of similar parameters can be different. The intention was to provide information about good welfare practices as well bring out changes in the existing practices for sustainable welfare practices.

2.7.5 Adaptive Conjoint Analysis (ACA)

A protocol of selection of indicators for the assessment of welfare in dairy cattle by eliciting the rankings provided by experts about the indicators to be included and assessment methods to be followed has been recently developed (Lievaart and Noordhuizen 2011). The indicators to be measured must be feasible and transparent. An Adaptive Conjoint Analysis (ACA) technique has been followed to rank the observations on indicators provided by experts through an online interview of the experts and to assess the suitability of animal welfare assessment methods used in protocols. 24 experts from 12 nations in Europe were interviewed to rank indicators for animal welfare assessment in dairy cow herds and as per the consistency of these experts, the welfare indicators were ranked for utility in an assessment protocol.

The ACA technique has been claimed to be practical as it achieved consistency among the internationally acclaimed experts as per the selection criterion even for indicators which were not considered widely applicable earlier. It is fast, objective, consistent, having quicker access to the experts and cheaper. Arbitrary values were fixed for indicators measured on a scale which could have influenced their ranking in the protocol. Less commonly followed welfare indicators in worldwide assessment protocols were not included. The other disadvantage of these ACA techniques is that once the questionnaire is sent to the participating experts it cannot be further improved which is in sharp contrast to the Delphi technique (Linstone and Turoff 1975). But Delphi can be run after this analysis and reduce the number of parameters systemically.

2.8 Ethical decision-making regarding animal welfare

Widely accepted indicators should be selected for welfare assessment which encompass the views of farmers, general public and scientists through a process of deliberation. This accommodates the sharing of views with no selfish interests in a legitimate and fair way (Sørensen and Fraser 2010). The goal should be of having a set of mutually agreed indicators. This is possible through the on-farm visits of all stakeholders for experience on the range of welfare conditions. A minimal level of acceptable welfare standards should be set up again through a process of deliberation between the stakeholders through communication and negotiation or through data collection as done in other studies (Grandin 2006). This needs fairness on the part of all parties for credibility of the assessment system. The measurement of the animal welfare indicators should be efficient in terms of time and cost. This is possible through exclusion of indicators which show duplicity and selecting that indicator among many which can be measured in a shorter time. This type of selection ensures scientific as well as social validity to the indicators of animal welfare selected for assessment (Sørensen and Fraser 2010). The ethical accounting model for welfare assessment of the farm provided detailed information of the welfare situation of a farm under study. The one and half hours assessment of a farm was based on environmental, behavioural, management and animal-based parameters measured through inspection, visualization and assessment of farm records. The welfare report was provided to the farmers delineating the various shorting comings along with advice about the improvements to be done (Jensen and Sørensen 1998).

More research is being done through the integration of behavioural and cognitive science, stress physiology, neuroscience and animal physiology to produce evidence of complex emotional intelligence capabilities of animals (Boissy et al. 2007a; Mendl et al. 2009; Green and Mellor 2011).

The monitoring of welfare of a particular given situation over a period of time is the challenge for the assessment agencies as to how the welfare outcomes vary with seasons throughout

the year. This requires time and financial costs which most of the times are constraints. There have been suggestions for referring to farm records provided they are accurate and having automated monitoring cum assessment systems (Turner and Dwyer 2007; Vanderhasselt et al. 2014). As a consequence of research in functional cognition in neuroscience (Mendl et al. 2010; Mellor 2012), emphasis is needed on the development of indicators for positive welfare and emotion which indicate the good life of animals (Farm Animal Welfare Council 2009). These include play, exploration, vocalisation, grooming and social behaviour (Boissy et al. 2007b). The problem of including these indicators in a protocol is that these behaviours are displayed too infrequently even when conditions are there to express them but still their monitoring and promotion is a step forward in the promotion of good welfare (Wemelsfelder 2007). The assessment of animal welfare through activity measurements using neck or leg sensor devices (Manson and Leaver 1988; Sprecher et al. 1997) are not useful techniques to measure animal welfare (Lievaart and Noordhuizen 2011).

The development of qualitative behaviour indicators presently suffer from validation and their practical application though they consider the whole animal as a sentient single unit of scientific observation. The rich terminologies for describing these indicators helps in assessment of the dynamic nature of the assessments for which physical indicators are difficult to be found. These qualitative welfare indicators will help in assessing the communication behaviour of the animals and ultimately improve the quality of life of animals (Wemelsfelder and Mullen 2014).

2.9 Parameters as indicators of animal welfare in cows

The selection of appropriate parameters for on-farm welfare assessment in cattle is essential for formulating a scientifically acceptable welfare assessment protocol in a single visit to the farm. As described earlier, the parameters are selected on the basis of their validity, reliability and feasibility (Winckler et al. 2003). There are interactions between indicators in a given farm situation such as the stall dimensions that can have an effect on the cattle welfare as it has associations with lameness, cleanliness and skin injuries (Zurbrigg et al. 2005b). The body condition scores, lesions on the carpal and hock and lameness interact with each other (Burow et al. 2013). However, a lack of interaction between animal-based measures and resource-based measures has been the reason for assessment of management in welfare studies (Andreasen et al. 2013). Many environmental factors are inter-related, for example, feeding regimes and walking surfaces where one may initiate a foot lesion and then a combination of the two set in motion a chain of events that worsen the condition. Improving just one of these inputs could go a long way in stemming the progress of serious foot disease (Cook et al. 2004). The various parameters which are indicators of welfare are

Lameness: It is one of the most serious welfare problems in cattle and it indicates discomfort and a painful state in animals.Lameness affects normal behaviour, locomotion and the movement of the

animals to the facilities provided for it and hence affects the welfare of the animal (Phillips 2002). Many lameness scoring scales have been formulated for cattle based on points such as a four-point scale (Breuer et al. 2000a), a nine-point scale (Manson and Leaver 1988), a five-point scale (Winckler and Willen 2001). Locomotion scoring patterns have been developed and a correlation between claw lesions and pattern of locomotion has been found (Winckler and Willen 2001; O Callaghan et al. 2003). Mobility scoring has also been used as a measure of welfare assessment (Main et al. 2012b). This condition may be caused by many factors such as unbalanced nutrition, flooring, social behaviour and time spent standing (Winckler et al. 2003).

Claw overgrowth: The percentage of animals with poor claw confirmation and claw overgrowth should be considered in the welfare assessment (Whay et al. 2003c). A four-point scale has been formulated for assessing the claws of the fore and hind feet separately (Huxley and Whay 2006c). The examination of the claws details the exact pathology of the lameness but is time-consuming and needs expertise (Winckler et al. 2003).

Injuries and swellings: The lesions and swellings on the animal body are indicative of the effects of the animals' surrounding environment on its body (Ekesbo 1984). These injuries and alterations occur due to the contact with hard floors, cubicle walls and feeders (Winckler et al. 2003). There are scoring systems developed to assess the injuries to different body parts, the severity of the injuries or lesions and their sizes (Wechsler et al. 2000; Main et al. 2012b).

Cleanliness : Unclean skin and hair coat lead to itching and make the integument vulnerable to microbial attacks leading to its inflammation (Winckler et al. 2003). Cleanliness indices for dairy cattle have been developed using point scales on different body areas (Faye and Barnouin 1985; Scott and Kelly 1989; Main et al. 2012b). A relationship of cleanliness and mastitis has also been postulated (Valde et al. 1996). The assessment of body cleanliness gives an information about the comfort levels of the animals, the attitude and behaviour of the stockmen (Rosa et al. 2005). Cow cleanliness scoring has been attempted on a four point scale which includes the cleanliness of the hind limbs, udder and the flank. Dirty cows are associated with loose faeces and inadequate bedding and environmental management. Sub acute ruminal acidosis (SARA) can also lead to loose faeces and hence affects cow cleanliness which again indirectly indicates questionable nutritional management in a herd (Hughes 2001; Huxley and Whay 2006c).

Animal –human relationship : The avoidance distance (AD) of a cow towards an known or unknown person in the usual environment (barn, herd) has a more significant correlation with with the behaviour of the milkers (Waiblinger et al. 2002) rather than other indicators like approach test and flight distance (Breuer et al. 2000a; Hemsworth et al. 2002).

Housing factors : These indicators have been well described in the assessment tools based on resources (Bartussek 1999) but their validity and reliability are questionable. The welfare of the animals is not restricted to their normal functioning and performance but they should be able to develop and express themselves in their housing (Rosa et al. 2005).

Disease incidence /mortality : These are quite relevant to welfare but due to their low prevalence their direct assessment is difficult as this will need sophisticated diagnostic instruments and long term data recordings. This becomes difficult as most of the farms have insufficient record keeping and errors in the collected data (Winckler et al. 2003).

Body Condition Scoring (BCS) : It reflects the effects of food and nutrition during the previous weeks or months (Burkholder 2000). This is used to detect any sort of malnutrition or undernutrition in cows which does have a relevance in welfare assessment (Winckler et al. 2003; Rosa et al. 2005). It is an important factor in cattle management as it is the assessment of the proportion of the body fat a cow possesses and its values show the emaciation or obesity levels of the animal, hence a valid indicator of welfare (Roche et al. 2009). It is used as an estimate of the energy balance, body composition and body store in place of live weight change of the animal (Rosa et al. 2005). The effect of nutrition on the cows can be measured by body condition scores and these scores are indicators of the utilization of body energy stores for maintenance, repair and reproduction. It is a subjective method to semi-qualitatively assess the extent of subcutaneous body fat and muscle over the loins, the pelvis and tail head cavity of the cows and other animals (Mulvany 1981; Burkholder 2000; Zaaijer and Noordhuizen 2003). Scores are assigned to each animal on the basis of one or more characteristic which can be seen or palpated. It is a reliable indicator of nutritional and clinical status if performed in accordance with the specific protocols and can be an effective managemental tool for decision making on goals of optimal nutrition and reducing disease incidence. The suitable protocol is the one which assesses a number of regions of the animal and has detailed descriptions. It has been contended that this indicator has been currently underutilized for diagnosis, prognosis and monitoring purposes (Burkholder 2000).

Agonistic social behaviour : The occurrence of skin injuries in horned cows and the frequency of agonistic behaviour occurrences are positively correlated (Menke et al. 1999). In dehorned cows aggressiveness in the herds leads to blunt trauma like haematomas (Winckler et al. 2003). Social licking and other social behaviours involving contact can be recorded for a welfare assessment (Sato et al. 1991; Winckler et al. 2002).

Stockmanship : Human behaviour in the form of herd management and cattle handling as a stockman has influenced animal behaviour, physiology and productivity (Lensink et al. 2001;

Hemsworth et al. 2002; Waiblinger et al. 2002). This indicator can be assessed by direct observation of stockmen behaviour during their interactions with animals or by using questionnaires (Hemsworth et al. 2002; Waiblinger et al. 2002). But these methods of observation can be unreliable as the stockmen can change their behaviour when being observed and even the answers to the questionnaires can be unreliable. So, avoidance distance has been claimed to be a better indicator of the quality of the relationship between the stockmen and the animals. The quality of stockmanship can be assessed by using survey questionnaires for attitude and by direct observation of the stockmen behaviour while interacting with the animals (Hemsworth et al. 2002; Waiblinger et al. 2002). It is a very useful indicator being used in contemporary welfare assessments (Ebinghaus et al. 2016; Lürzel et al. 2018).

Stereotypies : Stereotypies have been shown to develop in dairy cows which are tethered or time spent on such a behaviour is increased (Redbo 1990). In restricted spaces in the farms forced social contact occur amongst the animals as animals have fewer chances to move away from aggressive herd mates especially when animals are not dehorned and are free to show agonistic behaviour (Grasso et al. 2003; Napolitano et al. 2009). Social hierarchy in a herd is based on the age, weight and seniority with first calving cows rank low in the hierarchy, suffer from more skin and udder injuries (Grasso et al. 2003; Rosa et al. 2005; Napolitano et al. 2009).

Positive welfare indicators : Social licking is considered a tension relieving behaviour in cattle which stabilises the social hierarchy in a cattle herd (Winckler et al. 2002; Wasilewski 2003). This behaviour of allogrooming has been found to improve milk yield and weight gain (Wood 1977; Sato 1984). Comfortable lying postures of the cattle in the herds indicates more thermal comfort, less distress and more confidence in the given environment (Grasso et al. 2003). Positive emotional states include playfulness, pleasure, contentment, comfort and curiosity (Mellor 2012).

Rumen fill : Rumen fill is used as a welfare indicator providing information on the nutritional efficiency in a herd as it gives faster information than the body condition score. It is the outcome of the dry matter intake, ration composition, digestion and passage rate of the ingested feed (Zaaijer and Noordhuizen 2003). Digestibility is the outcome of the time interval the feed remains in the rumen and the character of the nutrients in the engulfed feed for digestion (Forbes 1995). Standing at the left hind side of the cow the paralumbar fossa between the last rib, the transverse process and the hip bone is observed and scored (Zaaijer and Noordhuizen 2003). The rumen health can be assessed by this scoring system (Huxley and Whay 2006b).

Faecal consistency : Faeces provide important information about nutritional management and digestion in cows (Ireland-Perry and Stallings 1993). The consistency of the faeces is affected by

the proportion of the water to dry matter ingested as the undigested feed makes up the dry matter portion of the faeces. This characteristic of a cow also gives faster information on the nutritional aspect of the herd. The freshly dropped faeces are observed and assessment is done visually as well as application of a boot test (Zaaijer and Noordhuizen 2003). The faecal consistency in cows is also scored for analysis of the nutritional status in the herd and the dry matter intake of the herd can be assessed (Huxley and Whay 2006b).

Coat Condition : This has been used as a welfare indicator in a cow herd though the results could not be interpreted easily. It indicates the long-term health of the herd or the prevalence of sub acute ruminal acidosis (SARA) or the environment in the herd (Huxley and Whay 2006b).

Water resource : Studies have shown a correlation between quantity of milk produced/lactational stage and demand for water. If thermal stress is added to restricted water intake, then apart from milk production, welfare too can be significantly compromised (Costa et al. 2013). Cattle have been shown to consume more water when offered ad libitum rather than intermittently. Conversely, natural sources (ponds) rather than troughs, thoroughfare locations of water source and inadequately sized troughs have all shown to decrease water intake.Since water intake is not easy to measure directly, indirect measures that have been shown to have an association with water intake, such as number of animals per drinker, length of water trough and water flow (de Vries et al. 2011).

Housing: Housing can contribute significantly to welfare of dairy cattle (Bartussek 1999; Bowell et al. 2003; von Keyserlingk et al. 2012). Studies have found that stocking density, housing design, type of bedding, access to grazing and condition/gradient of flooring can all have an impact on lameness, claw lesions as well as cow cleanliness (Cook 2002; Bowell et al. 2003; Cook et al. 2004; Abeni and Bertoni 2009). Concrete floors, due to their unyielding nature have been shown to cause more hock/knee injuries and claw lesions whereas sand, straw or sawdust have proven to be best for foot health, rumination and lying behaviour (Cook et al. 2004; Haskell et al. 2006; Abeni and Bertoni 2009). Optimal flooring conditions include a clean, dry and soft lying area and slip-resistant walking areas (Bartussek 1999; Abeni and Bertoni 2009). Light intensity, noise and air quality/ventilation also have a profound impact on the physiology, fertility and behaviour (Bartussek 1999). Cubicle housing has been associated with more agonistic behaviour and lameness, especially with higher stocking densities (Abeni and Bertoni 2009).

2.10. Conclusions

In the developing countries, as the literacy and awareness levels are improving and due to the greater involvement of animal welfare cum animal protection organisations, animal welfare issues are garnering more attention from the public, consumers as well the governments. The repercussions of certain taboos like the prohibition of cow slaughter in predominant Hindu countries like India has led to the presence of a large number of street cattle which are abandoned due to old age, infertility, non-productivity and inability of the farmer to feed them. This has led to human –animal conflicts. Moreover, the religious sentiments are touted as typical examples of moral hypocrisy. All these issues are the driving factors for the scientific community to take up the challenge of addressing the animal welfare issues in developing countries on the basis of scientific identification, measurement and finally providing methods to improve them. This should be the basis of the ongoing research in the animal welfare field through the assessment of animal welfare in the practical farm situation based on certain indicators of animal welfare.

The welfare of cows in the gaushalas has not been assessed. A general perception is of the adequacy of welfare provisions in light of the traditional sanctity of the cows in the Hindu religion. There is no report in the literature on the welfare assessment of the gaushalas and the development of welfare index for the cows in the gaushalas. There are few studies on gaushalas on outbreaks of acidosis (Kataria and Kataria 2009), incidence of foot disorders in which some gaushalas were screened in addition to commercial dairy farms (Bagate et al. 2012) and evaluation of antigen testing of Johne's disease in gaushala animals (Kaur et al. 2011; Pahangchopi et al. 2014; Singh et al. 2015a). Breeding values of bulls through progeny testing has been attempted in gaushala animals (Singh et al. 2008; Dalal and Khanna 2010). These gaushalas are in fact commercial dairies and are misnomers as gaushalas as breeding trials can be conducted on healthy lactating cows which is not the mandate of the gaushalas. A digitalized inventory of gaushalas and its animals has been prepared for the recording cattle genetic resources in one state of India (Yadav and Vij 2010) but the gaushalas were again commercial dairies rather than housing abandoned, stray, aged and infertile cows. Similarly, a study has been done on the conservation of indigenous livestock breeds in the gaushala system in the same state but in fact it pertains to the dairy animals kept for breed conservation purpose yet again in the commercialised dairies working in the garb of gaushalas (Kumar et al. 2009).

The measurement and assessment of animal welfare at the gaushalas in India through a scientifically based assessment of their sustainability will enhance the sensitivity among the donors, the government and the general public leading to more accountability. The development of an animal welfare assessment protocol will establish guidelines to reassure the stakeholders of the gaushalas that minimum standards have been met. There has been a progressive increase in the number of gaushalas and their size in India parallel to the increase in the number of street cattle. There has been strong public support, materially as well as morally, to these gaushalas and it becomes imperative to regulate the welfare of the animals housed in these institutions. The rapid

mushrooming of these institutions could have a negative impact on the lives of the cows being sheltered. There can be a disparity between the general population and the gaushala management regarding their attitudes towards the cows. The gaushala management might have a perception that the public is not knowledgeable about cow management and vice versa.

The animal welfare protocol in general for the gaushalas will serve as a benchmark for the animal welfare requirements at the gaushalas by prescribing the minimum standards of provision of resources and management. This protocol might ensure compliance to the adequate welfare provisions for the gaushala cows. The protocol will in due course provide a coordinated national response to the animal welfare issues in the gaushalas leading to the development of more inclusive, practical and scientifically based animal welfare guidelines for the management of gaushalas. This is a precursor to a welfare audit of the gaushalas on a periodic basis by the identification of welfare and societal concerns gained by inputs from independent experts and the stakeholders. Such a type of welfare auditing should ensure best practices and set goals for improvement.

Publication included in Chapter 3

Sharma, A.; Kennedy, U.; Schuetze, C.; Phillips, C.J.C. 2019 The welfare of cows in Indian shelters. *Animals*, vol.9, no.4, p 172. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9040172

Author Contributions to the paper

The conceptualization, design and methodology was done by Arvind Sharma, Clive J.C Phillips and Catherine Schuetze. The data collection and investigation was done by Arvind Sharma and Uttara Kennedy (in two states of the study and in measurement of resource-based parameters). The formal analysis and interpretation was done by Arvind Sharma and Clive J.C Phillips. Original draft of the paper was prepared by Arvind Sharma. The writing review was done by all the authors.

Chapter 3

Overview of the welfare of cows in Indian shelters

3.1 Abstract

Cow shelters (gaushalas) are unique traditional institutions in India, where aged, infertile, diseased, rescued, and abandoned cows are sheltered for the rest of their life, until they die of natural causes. These institutions owe their existence to the reverence for the cow as a holy mother goddess for Hindus, the majority religion in India. There is a religious and legal prohibition on cow slaughter in most Indian states. A cross-sectional study was conducted to assess the welfare of cows in these shelters, which included the development of a welfare assessment protocol, based on direct animalbased measurements, indirect resource-based assessments, and description of the herd characteristics by the manager. A total of 54 cow shelters in 6 states of India were studied and 1620 animals were clinically examined, based on 37 health, welfare, and behavior parameters. Thirty resources provided to the animals, including housing, flooring, feeding, watering, ease of movement, cleanliness of facilities, lighting, temperature, humidity, and noise levels in the sheds were measured. The study showed that the shelters contained mostly non-lactating cows, with a mean age of 11 years. The primary welfare problems appeared to be different to those in Western countries, as the major issues found in the shelters were facility-related-the low space allowance per cow, poor quality of the floors, little freedom of movement, and a lack of pasture grazing. Very few cows were recorded as lame, but about one half had carpal joint hair loss and swelling, and slightly less had lesions from interacting with shelter furniture. Some shelters also had compromised biosecurity and risks of zoonosis. These issues need to be addressed to aid in ensuring the acceptability of these institutions to the public. This welfare assessment protocol aims to address the welfare issues and problems in the shelters, by providing feedback for improvement to the stakeholders.

Keywords: India; cow shelters; gaushala; welfare; assessment

3.2. Introduction

India has the largest cattle population in the world, with more than 190 million cattle (Department of Animal Husbandry 2014), used primarily for dairy and draft purposes. Most rural people own a few cows but have limited land for grazing, especially as the human population has encroached upon their traditional grazing lands, leading to cows roaming freely in the streets and causing traffic problems. In some states, crop raiding by street cattle has led to significant human-animal conflict (Athreya 2006), and there are many fatal road accidents involving cattle on the

streets (Bentinck 2000; Fitzharris et al. 2009; Arnold 2012). The majority of the Indian population follow Hinduism, which has strong influences on animal husbandry, in particular, on euthanasia. Euthanasia of species of animals, other than cattle, is considered and carried out by registered veterinarians. However, whilst euthanasia in cows in extreme cases is allowed under the law and is condoned by the Animal Welfare Board of India, it is culturally problematic and, therefore, not often practiced (Fox 1999; Animal Welfare Board of India 2013; Jegatheesan 2015). Street cattle overpopulation is an emerging social and public health problem, especially, in the light of the prohibition of cow confiscation and slaughter in most states (Ghatak and Singh 2015). The large cattle population of India is also partly due to the ancient tradition of sheltering, feeding, and caring for cattle, after they have ceased production (Chhangani 2009). In most Indian states there are cow shelters or sanctuaries, termed 'gaushalas', or for more recent shelters 'go sadans' (hereafter, collectively termed 'shelters'), where abandoned, infertile, and chronically ill cows are sheltered by philanthropists, animal protection organizations, religious organizations, and religious temple trusts. Shelters play a significant role in the management of stray cattle in India (Singh et al. 2013), but might have inadequate space, leading to unhygienic conditions (Solanki 2010; Yadav and Vij 2010). Transfer of cattle between shelters is rare, usually only occurring if a single organization manages several shelters. There are, approximately, 3000 care shelters for old and infirm cows (Alavijeh 2014), though the exact number is not known (Singh et al. 2013). There are 1837 gaushalas funded by the Government of India, through a central statutory body-the Animal Welfare Board of India (AWBI) (Animal Welfare Board of India 2016b). The AWBI provides funds for the management and infrastructural needs of cows in affiliated shelters.

No scientific assessment of the welfare of stray and abandoned cows in shelters has yet been attempted, apart from the testing of vaccines against paratuberculosis (Kaur et al. 2011; Singh et al. 2015b). As a result, there are no audits, although protocols for the assessment of the welfare of dairy cattle have been developed and validated, using a field-based protocol that is mainly relevant to Western production systems (Johnsen et al. 2001; Kelly et al. 2011; Main et al. 2014). There is a lacuna in the literature and in the Indian animal industries, generally, about the use of indicators to assess welfare in non-productive shelter cows. It is sometimes assumed that the welfare of the cows in gaushalas is worse than those kept in farms under semi-intensive or intensive conditions, as the cows have outlived their commercial utility (Nair 1986), and they just bear a sentimental value for the Indian society. In this study, the objective was to measure relevant aspects of welfare, using an assessment protocol similar to that used for commercial cattle enterprises.

3.3 Materials and Methods

The animals, resources, and the management-based measures used to assess cattle welfare in different welfare assessment protocols for dairy and beef cattle industries were first reviewed. Potential measures were discussed with a group of experts selected by us (animal welfare scientists (n = 4), veterinarians (n = 4), veterinary epidemiologists (n = 2 and veterinary clinicians (n = 2) in a one-day stakeholder workshop in Delhi in November 2016. Each identified measure was considered for its relevance to a typical Indian sheltered cow scenario. The Welfare Quality[®] Protocol (Canali and Keeling 2009) objective of good feeding, housing, health, and appropriate behaviour, was used as the guiding directive. As a result of the discussions, 37 animal-based, 31 resource-based, and 35 management-based measures were selected, which were considered relevant, feasible and suitable for an on-field welfare assessment of cow shelters. Most of the animal-based measures selected for this assessment had been tested and validated in previous welfare assessment studies on cows (Johnsen et al. 2001; Canali and Keeling 2009; Napolitano et al. 2009; Rouha-Mulleder et al. 2010; Kelly et al. 2011; de Vries et al. 2013a; de Vries et al. 2013c; Main et al. 2014).

The study was endorsed by the AWBI, which provided the contact details of 34 shelters. The animal assessment component was approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of the University of Queensland (Approval Number: SVS/CAWE/314/16/INDIA). The assessments took place from December 2016 to July 2017. A power analysis (Creative Research Systems, www.surveysystem.com/sscalc.htm) indicated that a sample size of 50 shelters would adequately represent the shelters in the major Indian states. Hence a total of 54 cow shelters were selected from 6 states of India, five of which have the predominant cow shelter population in India (Gujarat, Maharashtra, Rajasthan, Punjab, and Haryana) and one state (Himachal Pradesh), which was at that time establishing many new cow shelters (Anon. 2016). Following discussion with key stakeholders, the criteria for shelter inclusion in the study were—a minimum of 30 cows, that it was not a commercial dairy unit (where commercial indicates that more than 20 L milk per day was being sold), and that the shelter was managed by a philanthropic, temple, government, or public trust. Out of the 54 shelters, 26 shelters were visited on the advice of state veterinary officers, which fell within their administrative jurisdiction and the AWBI, and the remaining shelters were obtained using a snowballing technique, taking recommendations from shelter managers that were visited. There was no significant difference (p < 0.05) between shelters obtained by the two methods in any measured parameter, when compared by analysis of variance or a Moods median test (in the case of non-normal residuals in the ANOVA model).

Within each animal shelter, resource and manager-based assessments were conducted. For the animal-based assessment, 30 animals were selected per shelter, as recommended, following a

28

power analysis. Only primiparous and multiparous cows were selected; calves, bulls, steers, or preparturient heifers were not selected. This selection of cows was the same for each shed, within a shelter—every third cow in a line, group, or side of a shed, was selected, irrespective of the distance between them, up to a total of 30. In the case of the different lines of tethered cows or cows being housed in more than one group, an equal number of cows was selected from each line, group, side of a shed (where it was bisected by a passage) or shed (if >1). The assessments for the animal-based measures took place on one day in each gaushala, beginning at 09:00 hours, approximately one hour after the cows were fed.

Pilot trials were also done to validate the chosen measures in the two shelters before the commencement of the actual data collection. If there was more than one shed in a shelter, cows in a maximum of the two sheds were measured.

3.3.1. Interview with the Shelter Manager

The shelter visit started with an interview with the shelter manager, using prepared questions. These included the total number of cattle in the shelter, the types of cattle shed, annual mortality rate, provision of pastures for the cows (dichotomous, present, or absent), mean daily time (hours per day) spent by cows at pasture and yards, and source of water supply (municipal, well, natural, or potable water supply). Shed cleaning method and schedule (Cook 2002; Otten et al. 2016), feeding schedule, fodder type, variety and quantity fed to the cows, were both recorded from the interview, and confirmed by visual inspection of the premises. The shelter manager was asked what the vaccination schedule was for cows in the shelters; whether raw milk or urine was sold (the former to confirm the selection of the shelter according to criterion of this study); and about the deworming protocol, disposal of dung, use of veterinarians' services, disposal of carcasses, biosecurity measures, and disease outbreaks over the last five years.

3.3.2 Animal-Based Measures

A two day low-stress livestock handling course and a three month training was undertaken, in scoring the cows for assessment of body condition, lameness, claw overgrowth avoidance distance, dirtiness, limb lesions (joint hair loss, ulceration and swellings), skin lesions, rumen fill, faecal consistency, and rising behavior, at the School of Veterinary Science, The University of Queensland. The age, breed (classified as indigenous, crossbred with indigenous breeds, crossbred with exotic breeds, such as Holstein Friesian or Jersey, or exotic), lactation status, presence or absence of horns and presence or absence of identification (ear tags, branding marks) were ascertained from a general inspection of each animal, an oral examination, and discussion with the manager. In this study each cow was restrained for the animal-based measurements, restricting the expression of temperament. Therefore, each sampled cow's temperament was assessed during restraint on a simple dichotomized scale (docile or aggressive), which was loosely derived from a five-point scale (Cafe et al. 2011), for loosely restrained cattle in a particular area of the barn. The Cow Comfort Index (CCI) (Krawczel et al. 2008), was modified for shelter cows, by counting the number of cows lying down in the sheds, described as a proportion of the total in the shed. The animal-based measures used in the study have been summarized in Appendix 1.

3.3.3. Measures on Selected Cows

The avoidance distance (AD) was assessed at the beginning of each shelter visit, one hour after morning feeding, as prescribed by the Welfare Quality[®] protocol (de Vries et al. 2014b). A cow was approached from immediately in front of each animal, at a rate of 1 step per second, starting at 2 m from the manger. The distance between the assessor's hand and the cow's head was estimated at the moment the cow moved away or turned its head, in the following four categories—touched, and hand within 50, 51–100 cm, and >100 cm. For each shelter, the median AD classification and percentage of cows which could be touched on the head were calculated. In the shelters where cows were tethered, they were untied and moved outside the shelter, to assess AD and lameness, and then retied for all remaining animal-based measures. Body Condition Score (BCS) was determined using a 1–5 scale (Edmonson et al. 1989; Thomsen and Baadsgaard 2006), and scored to quarter points. A cow with a score of ≤ 1.25 was considered emaciated, 1.5–2 was labelled 'thin', 2.25–3.75 was labelled 'normal', and 4 or more was labelled 'obese'.

Lameness scores were attributed using a numerical rating scale for walking cows (Flower and Weary 2006): '1'—'not lame' (smooth and fluid movement); '2'—'mildly lame but not easily observable' (an imperfect gait but able to freely move with a mildly arched back); '3'—'moderately lame' (able to move but not freely, with an arched back); '4'—'lame', (unable to move freely with an asymmetrical gait and abnormal head movement); '5'—'severely lame' (severely restricted in movement, requiring considerable encouragement to move, and a severely arched back). Claw overgrowth was assessed by the visual inspection of each sampled cow, using a four-point scale (Huxley and Whay 2006c): '0'—'normal claws'; '1'-'3'—representing 'mild', 'moderate', and 'severe' claw overgrowth, respectively.

Rising behaviour of a sample of 30 cows that were lying down in each shelter was categorized using an existing protocol (Rousing et al. 2004; Chaplin and Munksgaard 2016). All cows lying in the shelter were coaxed to get up with the use of a minimum amount of force. If the presence of the assessor did not evoke rising (as happened with four cows), they were given one or two moderate slaps on the back, followed by more forceful ones if necessary. Rising behaviour was categorized as follows: '1'—'normal' (smooth and a normal sequence of rising behaviour); '2'— 'easy, but slightly interrupted' (smooth movement with slight twisting of the head but with normal

sequence of rising process); '3'—'uneasy, with effort' (sudden movement and difficulty in rising with awkward twisting of the head and neck, but following a normal sequential rising process); '4'—'abnormal' (uncharacteristic sequence of a rising event); '5'—'refused to get up'. Rising restrictions caused by the shelter facilities were scored according to a four-point scale (Huxley and Whay 2006): '0'—'unrestricted' (cow is able to rise as if it were in a pasture); '1'—'mild restrictions' (cow is able to modify standing to rise comfortably as it lunges sideways and not forwards); '2'—'cow takes time to rise and hits shed fixtures or fittings while rising'.

Swellings, hair loss, and ulcerations on the hock and carpal joints were scored according to an established scale (Wechsler et al. 2000; Whay et al. 2003a; Whay et al. 2003d): '1'-'3', representing 'mild', 'medium', and 'severely' swollen joints, respectively. Hock joint hair loss and ulceration were described on a similar scale (Wechsler et al. 2000; Whay et al. 2003a; Whay et al. 2003d): '0'-- 'no hair loss or ulceration'; '1'-- 'mild hair loss or ulceration < 2 cm²'; '2'-- 'medium hair loss or ulceration, approximately 2.5 cm²'; '3'-- 'severe hair loss or ulceration > 2.5 cm²'. Carpal joint injuries were scored as: '0'-- 'no skin change'; '1'-- 'hairless'; '2'-- 'swollen'; '3'--'wound' (Wechsler et al. 2000).

Dirtiness of the hind limbs, udder, and flanks was classified by visual inspection of the cows from the left, right side, and from behind (Whay et al. 2003d): '1'—'no dirtiness'; '2'—'mildly dirty' (small soiled areas of dirtiness with no thick scabs); '3'—'medium dirtiness' (large soiled areas but with < 1 cm thick scabs of dung), and '4'—'severely dirty' (large soiled areas with > 1 cm thick dung scabs). The condition of the coats of the sampled cows was assessed on a slightly modified (from the reference scale) 3-point scale (Huxley and Whay 2006b) as: '1'—'dull and short'; '2'—'shiny and short'; '3'—'dull and hairy'. Ectoparasitism was assessed through a modification of the scoring pattern devised by (Popescu et al. 2010): '1'—'absence of ectoparasites'; '2'—'mild infestation' (no lesions, not easily visible by the naked eye, only on tactile perception in the neck region); '3'—'moderate infestation' (visually observable ectoparasites or immature forms or eggs in the neck, groin, perirectal, tail root and switch regions); '4'—'severe infestation' (observable mature ectoparasites over much of the body, especially regions mentioned in score 3).

Lesions were predominantly acquired from shelter furniture as a consequence of interaction with sharp nails/metals protruding from shelter gates, broken mangers, broken edges of shed walls, barbed wire fencing, and manifested in the form of hair and tissue loss. Sharp lacerations and avulsion of the skin were described by using a 3-point scale (Huxley and Whay 2006c): '0'— 'normal' (no lesions present); '1'—'small area of hair loss'; '2'—'moderate area of hair loss or thickening of the skin'; '3'—'severe' (a large area of hair loss or breakage of the skin). Other skin

lesions or integument alterations were recorded as: '0'—'normal' (no apparent lesions); '1'—'mild hair loss' (<2 cm²); '2'—'moderate' (>2 cm² hair loss and inflamed skin); '3'—'severe' (a large >4 cm² area of hair loss with extensive skin inflammation and breakage) (Leeb et al. 2004).

The protocols for teat and udder scoring, skin tenting time, and presence of oral lesions, were designed by the authors, because it was anticipated that emaciation, teat, and udder abnormalities, oral infections, and the presence of very old cows would be more common in the shelters than in dairy cow farms, for which other scales have been developed. The assessment of skin turgor in cattle is a measurement of the time a skin tent takes to return to its original position and is a practical way of assessing dehydration (Constable 2003; Jackson and Cockcroft 2008; Roussel 2014). It was assessed with the following scale: '1'—' \leq 2 seconds'; '2'—'>2 seconds \leq 6 seconds'; '3'—'>6 seconds'. The scales for other parameters were, oral lesions: '0'—'absent', '1'—'present'; teat and udder: '1'—'normal teats and udder'; '2'—'dry udder and teats', '3'—'teat cracks', '4'—'warts on teats and udder'; '5'—'acute lesions on the teats and udder'; '6'—'chronic lesions on teats and udder'.

Neck lesions were classified as: '1'—'no observable skin change'; '2'—'hair loss'; '3'— 'swollen'; '4'—'closed wounds' (hematomas or closed abscesses); '5'—'open wounds' (Kielland et al. 2010a). Respiratory problems were measured as the presence or absence of coughing in any of the 30 cows sampled in the sheds, during the total examination period of the sampled cows in each shed. Ocular lesions, nasal discharge, hampered respiration, diarrhoea, and vulvar discharge were assessed on a binary scale, i.e., present or not absent in the sampled cows (Coignard et al. 2013).

Rumen Fill Score is a tool recommended as a key signal for poor health (Aalseth 2005; Hulsen 2005). It indicates the total amount of liquid and dry matter in the rumen, and is a function of dry matter intake, feed composition, digestibility, and rate of passage through the gut (Hartnell and Satter 1979; Aitchison et al. 1986; Llamas-Lamas and Combs 1991). It was visually scored (Zaaijer and Noordhuizen 2003), standing behind the cow on the left side and by observing the left paralumbar fossa between the last rib, the lumbar transverse processes, and the hip bone: '1'— 'paralumbar fossa empty, presenting a rectangular cavity that is more than a hand's width behind the last rib and a hand's width under the lumbar transversal processes', '2'—'paralumbar fossa forms a triangular cavity with a width about the size of a hand behind the last rib but less than this under the lumbar transverse processes', '3'—'the paralumbar fossa forms a cavity less than a hand's width behind the last rib and about a hand's width vertically downwards from the lumbar transverse processes and then bulges out', '4'—'the paralumbar fossa skin covers the area behind the last rib and arches immediately outside below the lumbar transverse processes due to a bloated rumen', '5'—'the rumen is distended and almost fills up the para lumbar fossa, the last rib and the lumbar transverse processes are not visible'.

The consistency of the faeces of the sampled cows was visually inspected and rated on a 5point scale (Zaaijer and Noordhuizen 2003) '1'—'thin and watery and not truly recognizable as faeces', '2'—'thin custard-like consistency, structurally recognizable as faeces, splashing out wide upon falling on the floor', '3'—'thick custard-like consistency, making a plopping sound while falling on the floor and a well-circumscribed pad which spreads out and is about 2 cm thick', '4'— 'stiff with a heavy plopping sound while falling on the floor and a proper circumscribed pad with visible rings and minimal spreading out', '5'—'hard faecal balls like horse faeces'.

3.3.4. Resource-Based Measures

The total number of sheds per shelter and the number of animals per shed in the shelter was assessed by visual inspection (maximum two sheds per shelter). The length, breadth, and height of the sheds were recorded using a laser distance meter (CP-3007 model, Ultrasonic distance meter 40KHz frequency, Chullora, New South Wales, Australia) and confirmed using a traditional measuring tape each time. From these measurements, the area of the shed and area per cow was calculated. The space allowance per cow, in shelters with loose housing, was calculated by dividing the floor area of the shed by the total number of cows within the shed. In shelters with stalls, the area per cow was calculated by calculating the floor area of each stall housing a cow (von Keyserlingk et al. 2012; Otten et al. 2016). In the tethered stalls, the area per cow was calculated by measuring the distance from the end of the rope at the point of attachment, to a peg at the end of the hind limb of the cow, at full extension. This length was used as a radius to calculate the maximum potential area of movement of the tethered cows in the sheds.

Luminosity in the sheds was measured (Bartussek et al. 2000) using a light meter (9V LCD Digital Lux Light Meter Tester LX1010B 0 with 100,000 FC Photo Camera, China), pointed in all six possible directions of the face of a cube, from the centre of the shed. The mean of the six readings was calculated for each shelter. Dry bulb temperature and humidity percentage were recorded using a digital meter (TS-FT0423 Digital Wireless Indoor Outdoor Thermo-Hygrometer Thermometer Humidity Meter, Sydney, Australia) inside the shelters, on both days of the study, before any cows were removed. The gradient of the floors in the sheds and the yards were measured at three different places, using vertical and horizontal measurements at each place, using an inclinometer (Bosch Professional, 600MM, DNM60L Model, Australia).

Noise levels (Bartussek et al. 2000) were measured at three different locations in the sheds and yards, using an Android phone application (Decibel X). The slipperiness of the floors was determined as the coefficient of friction (CoF) (the force required to move an object over a floor divided by the weight of that object (Phillips and Morris 2001; Phillips 2010). This was estimated using a 1 kg/10 N spring balance attached by a hook to a cuboid wooden block (mass 156 g). The block was gently pulled across the floor, at a speed of 0.17 m/s, and the minimal frictional force (F) required to keep it moving was recorded.

The number of sides of the sheds that were open, the type of housing (free stall, tie stall, loose, tethered, or no housing) (Bartussek et al. 2000), type of roofing (portal, flat, sloped, or other), type of shed flooring (brick, stone, earthen, concrete, or other), presence of bedding in the sheds (present or absent), type of bedding if present (hay, straw, rubber mats, or other), presence of any sharp objects protruding from shed walls or shed furniture, presence of yards and number of trees in the shelter yards (Bartussek et al. 2000; Cook 2002; Costa et al. 2013; Otten et al. 2016), watering provisions and the number and types of water points (troughs, bowls, natural water bodies, or other), were recorded in all sheds or yards (von Keyserlingk et al. 2012; Costa et al. 2013). The appearance of water available to the cows (clear, hazy, or opaque), and the presence of any algal growth (Otten et al. 2016) were recorded, during the inspection of the shelter facilities.

The cleanliness of the shelter premises was recorded, by visually assessing the mean percentage of the floor that was covered by dung and urine in the sheds, passages, and the yards, separately (Regula et al. 2004). Mouldiness of each feed offered to the cows in the shelters was assessed by visual inspection and by smelling a sample (recorded as 'not mouldy' or 'mouldy'). Dustiness ('not dusty', 'dusty' or 'very dusty') of the fodder was assessed by dropping the fodder on the floor from the hand of the assessor. The moisture content of the fodder was assessed on a three-point scale of wet, moist, or dry, through the squeeze test (Greub and Cosgrove 2006), in which the fodder was firmly squeezed in the hand of the assessor and any liquid expression, wetting in the inside of the fist, sticking of the fodder particles to the palm, or presence of a dry palm, was observed. The resource-based measures used in the study have been summarized in Appendix 2.

3.4 Data Handling and Statistical Analysis

The recordings and observations obtained from the 54 cow shelters (gaushalas) were collated, cleaned for errors, and entered into spreadsheets. Variables were tested for normal distribution by visual inspection and the Anderson–Darling test (Evans et al. 2017), and data considered to be approximately normally distributed were expressed in terms of a mean value per shelter, standard deviation, and p-value for both continuous and categorical data. For data with skewed distributions, the results were expressed as percentages or proportions, as well as median value per shelter. Interquartile ranges (IQR) for the continuous variables and the maximum and minimum values for the categorical variables have been provided. All the analyses were run at a 5%

level of significance, for assessment of normality of the distribution of the data, using the Minitab 17 Statistical Software (Minitab[®] version 17.1.0, Minitab Ltd., Pennsylvania State University, State College, PA, USA).

3.5 Results

The time required to complete the 40 animal-based measures was approximately 15–20 min per cow, or 8–10 h per shelter. The measurement of resource and management-based parameters took 4 h per shelter. The assessment of each cow shelter, therefore, took 12–14 h.

3.5.1 Interview with the Shelter Manager

The managers reported a median number of cattle per shelter of 232 (IQR: 587–126) (Table 3.1). Almost two thirds, 63%, of the cattle in the shelters were cows, the others being bulls, bullocks, calves, and heifers. The median number of cows per shelter was 137 cows (IQR: 272) and the mean age was 11 years. The median mortality incidence rate was 13.6%, with a range of 4% to 76% per year. Only 42% of the cows had identification, in the form of ear tags, and nearly all cows were horned (93.3%). The majority of cows in the shelters were non-lactating (87.9%). Only 26% of the cows examined were classified as aggressive, the remainder being classified as docile. There was a widespread breed distribution, with a predominance of area-specific indigenous Indian breeds including Kankrej, Red Sindhi, Gir, Sahiwal, Dangi, Tharparkar, Deoni, Hariana, Nimari, Khillari, Nagauri, Rathi, Pahari, as well as Holstein Friesian, Jersey, and their cross breeds. The indigenous Indian breed cows comprised 48.6% (787 cows) of the total cows examined, followed by cows that were crossbred with exotic cows 29.1% (472 cows), the cross breeds between indigenous cows 21.5% (349 cows), and the pure-breed exotics 0.7% (12 cows).

Parameter	Mean/Median *	Standard Deviation	First Quartile Q1	Third Quartile Q3	Interquartile Range IQR *	<i>p</i> -Value of Distribution (for Normal Distributed Data)
Total no. cattle in the shelter	232 *	-	126	587	460	
Cows as % of cattle	63.42 *		52.65	73.48	20.84	
No. cows	137 *		77	349	272	
Cow age (years)	11.0	2.02				0.36
Annual Mortality (%) **	1.14 (13.80)	0.399				0.57
Proportion of cows with identification	0.41 *		0.0	0.82	0.82	
Proportion of horned cows	0.93 *		0.7	1.000	0.3	
Proportion of lactating cows	0.03 *		0.000	0.2	0.2	
Temperament score**	0.41 (2.61)	0.068				0.24
Cow comfort Index (CCI), (no. cows lying / total no. cows)	0.27		0.13	0.34	0.20	
Avoidance Distance (AD) Score (scale 1–4)	1.53 *		1.2	2.13	0.93	
Body Condition Score (BCS) Score (scale 1– 5)	2.69	0.366				0.27
Lameness score (scale 1–5)	1.13 *		1.05	1.27	0.22	
Claw overgrowth score (scale 0–3)	0.61 *		0.23	0.90	0.67	
Hock joint swelling score (scale 0–3)	1.64 *		0.233	2.233	0.44	
Hock joint hair loss score (scale 0–3)	1.05	0.298				0.22
Hock joint ulceration score (scale 0–3)	0.59	0.386				0.16
Carpal joint injuries score (scale 0–3)	0.78	0.455				0.17
Dirty hind limbs score ** (scale 0–3)	0.21 ** (1.59)	0.110				0.63
Dirty udder score (scale 0–3)	1.27	0.560				0.90
Dirty flanks score (scale 0–3)	1.24	0.570				0.95
Body hair loss score (scale 0–3)	0.76 *		0.066	2.033	1.04	
Coat condition score (scale 1–3)	1.54	0.298				0.07L
Ectoparasitism score (scale 0–3)	1.51 *		0.966	3.267		
Skin tenting score (scale 0–4)	0.03 *		0.000	0.833		
Lesions from shelter furniture score (scale 0– 3)	0.75 *		0.066	1.600	0.67	
Teat condition score (scale 0–5)	1.0 *		0.92	1.00	0.075	
Neck lesions score (scale 1–5)	1.03 *		1.000	1.10	0.1	
Ocular lesions score (scale $0-1$)	0.06 *		0.033	0.133	0.1	
Nasal discharge score (scale 0–1)	0.05 *		0.000	0.141	0.141	
Rumen Fill Score (scale 1–5)	3.7 *		3.19	3.90	0.708	
Faecal consistency score (scale 0–5)	3.70 *		3.19	3.93	0.741	
Diarrhoea score (scale 0–1)	0.000 *		0.000	0.033	0.033	

 Table 3-1: Descriptive statistics for animal-based measures in the cow shelters, measured on ordinal and continuous scales

The majority of cows (98.2%) had not been screened for tuberculosis and brucellosis. Raw milk was sold in 37% of the shelters to the general public in the open market. Most (92%, n = 49) of the gaushalas routinely dewormed the cows, but only 33% had a proper veterinary-prescribed deworming protocol.

Most (72.2%) shelters disposed of cow dung as organic manure to farmers or used it for fertilizing their own pastures; 13% utilized it for biogas production, and 27.7% did not utilize it and just collected it in mounds. Some shelters (20.3%) sold urine as a traditional medicine; most (75.9%) were just allowing the urine to flow out of their premises without proper sewerage disposal facilities.

Most (96.3%) cows were vaccinated against foot and mouth disease (FMD), haemorrhagic septicaemia (HS), and black quarter (BQ), with 79.6% of these being vaccinated biannually. Ectoparasiticidal drugs were administered to 88.8% of cows and endoparaciticidal drugs to 92.5%, on a routine basis; 72.2% of shelters utilized the services of visiting veterinarians in emergencies, while 22.2% had their own veterinarians to treat their cows.

Carcasses were usually disposed of by burial within the shelter premises (53.7%) or through municipal contractors (40.7%), while a few shelters (5.5%) discarded carcasses into the open. About half (46.3%) of the shelters had biosecurity measures for the introduction of new animals into the shelter and 70.3% had isolation rooms for diseased cows. Some (11.8%) shelters have had disease outbreaks in the last 5 years, primarily FMD.

3.5.2 Animal-Based Measures

The median CCI was 0.27, i.e., a median of 27% of the cows were lying down. Some 31.5% of the cows had an avoidance distance between 50 cm to 0 cm, and 51.2% of the cows allowed touch by the assessor. The BCS of 53.4% of the cows fell in the range of 2-2.75 and the mean BCS on the 1-5 scale was 2.6.

Lameness was rare; only 4.3% of the cows in all the 54 shelters examined had clinical lameness (lameness score >2), while 84.8% of the cows were not lame at all (score 1). The mean score of lameness on the 5-point scale was found to be between 1 and 2 (1.133) (Table 3.1). More than half (52.47%) of the cows had no claw overgrowth, and 36.3% of the cows had mild claw overgrowth. Severe claw overgrowth (score 3) was observed in just 25 cows (1.5%).

The rising behaviour of cows was mostly normal; 83.6% of the cows rose easily (score 1) and only 10% of the cows had slightly interfered rising behaviour (score 2). Similarly, 96.8% of the cows were able to rise without any restriction (score 0), due to the shelter design or presence of furniture.

Medium swellings of the hock joints were detected in 63.7% of cows and almost one half (49.4%) had mild hair loss (<2 cm) in this joint; only 23% of cows had no loss of hair in the hock joints. One-third of the cows (33.3%) had mild levels (<2 cm) of ulcerated hocks, and more than one half (53.6%) had no hock joint ulceration. Carpal joint injuries were also common; only 45% of cows had no evidence of these (score 0) and 55% had hairless and swollen carpal joints (scores 1 and 2).

The dirtiness of the flanks, udder, and hind limbs of the cows was in the mild to medium range (scores 1 or 2, 74.2%, 76%, and 86% for the three body regions, respectively). The scores for body hair loss of the cows were mostly (53.2% of cows) mild to medium; almost half (45.0%) had no body hair loss. Hair coat condition was almost equally dull and short (47.1% of cows), and shiny and short (52.9%). Ectoparasitism was mostly either absent (53.5%) or mild (34.5%), being mainly lice and ticks in the regions of the tail, croup, udder, groin, and between the elbows and the neck. The skin tenting time was below or equal to two seconds in 92.2% of the cows (score 0). Lesions from the shelter furniture ranged between the absence of lesions (score 0) in 43.8%, mild lesions (score 1) in 37%, and moderate lesions (score 2) in 19% of cows, respectively.

Neck lesions in the form of hairless patches, swellings, and wounds were found in very few cows (4.5%), most being hairless patches (3.8%; score 1 and 2). Similarly, ocular lesions were observed in only 0.6% of cows, comprising mainly ocular discharges and occasional corneal opacities. There were very few oral lesions (0.05%). A vast majority of cows (83%) had dry udders and teats (score 1). Chronic udder and teat conditions, like teat and udder fibrosis, and udder abscess, were found in only 1.5% (24 cows) and 0.43% (7 cows) had teat warts. Vulval discharge was observed in 1.6% cows (score 0), predominantly purulent. The other animal-based health measures, for which a low prevalence was found, were cows with a nasal discharge (9.26%), hampered respiration (0.43%), coughing (proportion of selected cows coughing during the entire cow examination period 0.31%), and diarrhoea (4.26%). The Rumen Fill Score revealed a majority of the cows in the score range of 3 (37%) and 4 (59%). The consistency of faeces was predominantly in the score range of 3 (35.12%) and 4 (58.27%).

3.5.3 Housing

The majority of the cow shelters (74%) had one or two sheds for housing the cows, 15% of shelters had between 3 to 9 sheds, and 11% had more than 10 sheds. Most of the cow shelters had none or just one of the sides open (72%), whereas only five shelters (9.2%) had no walls in any of their sheds. There was a predominance of loose (42.5%) and free stall housing (20.3%). Tethered stalls were found in 20 shelters (37%). Almost half of the shelters had concrete flooring (42 out of 86 shelters), almost a quarter had earthen floors (21 out of 86 shelters), followed by brick floors

(22%, 19 out of 86 shelters) and stone floors (4%, 4 out of 86 shelters), respectively. Most cow shelters (87%) had yards for cows within their premises, with four different types of materials for the floor (earthen—41 shelters, brick—13 shelters, stone—3 shelters, concrete—19 shelters, out of total 76 shelters).

Portal frames were the most common roofing system (46%), with some flat (29%), sloped (26.7%), and domed (2.3%) roofing systems. Most shelters (54%) used galvanized iron sheets as roofing material, followed by re-enforced concrete cement roofs (32%); a few shelters had thatched roofs made of locally available grasses (7%) or corrugated cement sheets (4.6%). The median height of the roof shed was 3.8 m.

Some sheds (26%) had sharp objects protruding from shed walls or shed furniture. There was no bedding provided in most shelters (97%). Regarding shade provision, most shelters (84%) had none in their yards, and 43% of shelters had no trees in the yards (33% had up to 10 trees). Most shelters (60%) did not provide access to pastures for the cows; 23% provided it for up to 6 h/d, 17% provided access for 7–12 h/d. Free 24-h access to a yard was provided in 30% of the shelters, 29% provided access for up to 6 hours and 27.5% for 7–16h/day; 13.5% of the shelters had no yards at all.

The median number of sheds per shelter was 2 and the median number of cows per shelter was 70. The median area of shed per cow was 2.73 m^2 and the yard was 5.9 m^2 . The mean area for tethered cows was 4.50 m^2 . The median luminosity inside the sheds was 582 lux, and the noise levels inside the sheds and yards were 27.7 and 25.3 decibels, respectively. The CoF of the floor passages of the sheds and yards were 0.43 and 0.64, respectively.

3.5.4 Water Provision

Water points in the sheds were absent in 71% of the shelters; if they were present they were predominantly troughs (98%). Several different water sources were observed —motorized tube wells (37%) and natural water bodies (ponds, rivers, and wells, 23%). A few shelters had a combination of tubewell and municipal tap water (15%), and 4 shelters offered human-potable water to the cows. Just over one-half of the cow shelters provided ad libitum water (52%), the others mostly (64%) provided it twice a day, 32% provided water three times a day, and one shelter provided water four times a day. One-half of the shelters had water with a hazy appearance, and in the other half, it was clear, none having an opaque appearance. Only 10% had algal growth in the water. Eleven shelters (23%) had no water in the yard and 67% had one or two water points in the yards; nearly all (77%) were troughs. There was a clear appearance of water in the yards for 42% of shelters and only one shelter had opaque water.

3.5.5 Cleanliness

A median 20%, 15%, and 10% of the yard, lying area, and passages of sheds, respectively, had dung on the floor (Table 3.2). In the majority of shelters (83%), no urine was found in the lying areas and the passages of sheds; 11% of the shelter yards had floors with urine. The yards, sheds, and passages were cleaned in 71% of the shelters. Shelter sheds and yards were cleaned once a day in 32% of shelters and twice a day in 39%, usually (87%) by manual floor scraping, but 7% of shelters relied on floor scraping by tractors, and 5.5% used both.

Table 3-2: Median, first quartile (Q1), third quartile (Q3), and interquartile range (IQR) values for the non-normally distributed data, and mean, standard deviation (SD), and p-values for the normally distributed data, for resource-based parameters of cows in shelters

Variable	Median/ Mean *	SD	First Quartile Q1	Third Quartile Q3	Inter Quartile Range IQR	<i>p</i> -Value (Normal Distribution)
Total number of sheds	2.0		2	4	2	
Number of animals /shed	70.0		48.8	137.3	88.5	
Area of the shed (m ²)	173		99	313	214	
Area of the yard (m ²)	756		178	1800	1622	
Shed Area/ cow (m ² /cow)	2.73		1.56	3.63	2.07	
Yard Area/cow (m ² /cow)	5.9		3.6	21.5	17.9	
Area of movement of tethered cows (m ²)	4.50 *	2.752				0.044
Height of eaves in sheds (m)	3.80		2.99	5.34	2.35	
Luminosity in sheds (Lux)	582		89	1036	946	
Noise levels in sheds (Decibels)	27.67		21.33	37.17	15.83	
Noise levels in the yards (Decibels)	25.33		20.33	33.00	12.67	
Dry bulb reading in sheds (°C)	29.50		27.2	32.8	5.6	
Humidity in sheds (%)	34.00		24.7	45.2	20.5	
Coefficient of friction in shed passage floors	0.43		0.27	0.65	0.37	
Coefficient of friction in yard passage floors	0.64		0.34	0.68	0.34	
Mean gradient of shed lying areas	1.46		0.96	2.2	1.23	
Mean gradient of shed passages	2.36		1.27	3.52	2.24	
Mean gradient of the yard floors	1.51		1.13	2.43	1.30	
Percent dung in lying areas of sheds	15.00		5.00	40.00	35.00	
Percent dung in the passages of sheds	10.00		5.00	42.50	37.50	
Percent dung in yards	20.00		10.00	40.00	30.00	
Quantity of roughages provided to	1.25 **	0.168				0.061
the cows (kg) **	(17.66)	0.100				0.001

3.5.6 Feeding

Cows were either fed thrice (54%) or twice daily (45%). The mean quantity of roughage provided was 17.66 kg/cow/d. Most were (78%) fed dry fodder feed and only 17% were fed moist fodder. mouldiness of the fodder was detected in 2% of the shelters, but 27% were fed dusty fodder. A wide range of feeding practices was noticed in the shelters, all relying on wheat, paddy, or millet straw, and these were classified as follows, into four types (with the number of shelters and percentage of shelters):

Dry straw only (n = 10, 18.52%)

Dry straw + agricultural by-product waste (n = 11, 20.37%)

Dry straw + agricultural by-product waste + hay (n = 25, 46.30%)

Dry straw + agricultural by-product waste + hay + greens (tree leaves, vegetables) (n = 8, 14.81%)

Concentrate feeding was practiced in 85% of shelters, but in 13% of shelters, there was no processing, by rolling, grinding, or making into pellets. The processing of green and dry roughage involved chopping their stems into smaller pieces, either manually or by a chaff cutter. The processing practices were categorized into 6 types:

No processing (12.96%)

- 1—Chopping only (14.81%)
- 2—Chopping + ground concentrate (44.44%)
- 3—Chopping + cakes (11.11%)
- 4—Chopping + ground concentrate + cakes (3.70%)
- 5—Chopping + TMR + Cooked concentrates (7.41%)

6—Chopping + TMR + Cooked concentrates + mineral mixture (5.56%)

3.6 Discussion

3.6.1 Assessment Time

The aim was to assess the conditions of cow shelters (gaushalas) in India. Every effort was made to maintain uniform timing of assessment in all shelters, a potential confounding factor, but a mean temperature difference of only 5 °C was observed between the first and second day of assessment in each shelter. The time duration required to complete the assessment of a shelter was more than that taken by other researchers in their assessments, but the latter generally included only animal-based measurements (Main et al. 2007; de Vries et al. 2013c; Viksten et al. 2017). The

present study involved shelters with a wide variation in herd size, in contrast to other assessments, which had a narrower range of cows per farm (Krawczel et al. 2008; de Vries et al. 2013c).

3.6.2 Animal-Based Assessment

The mean age of cows was almost 11 years, which is an old age for cattle, compared to the production industries, but it demonstrates that the shelters are being used for their intended purpose, to shelter old cows. Mortality is usually an important indicator of poor animal welfare (Winckler et al. 2003; Sandgren et al. 2009; de Vries et al. 2011). The mortality rate in this study (14%) was greater than that of dairy herds in developed countries, even though there has been an increasing trend there (Thomsen et al. 2004; Miller et al. 2008; United States Department of Agriculture 2008). A mortality rate of 15%–20% has been reported in older beef cows (10 years and above), in Australian herds with an overall range of 2% to 12% (Henderson et al. 2013). However, cows in developed countries are usually sold for slaughter when their productivity declines, or they are diseased. The relatively old age at which abandoned, infirm, and rescued cows enter shelters in India (typically 7–8 years) suggests that mortality is likely to be higher than in dairy farms. Amble and Jain (1967) reported a mortality rate of 2% to 6% in cross bred and pure bred cows, in military farms in India, comparable with dairy herds in developed countries (Thomsen et al. 2004; Miller et al. 2008; United States Department of Agriculture 2008).

Most of the shelter cows were not lactating, so the majority of the cows had dry udders and teats. This parameter has not been assessed in any protocol for dairy cows to date. There are studies on clinical mastitis in Indian cows in peri-urban areas, which report an incidence rate of 1% - 10%; there is a lower incidence in indigenous cows than in cross breeds and exotics (Joshi and Gokhale 2006). The reason for the low incidence of mastitis found in this study could be that the vast majority of cows were local low milk yielding breeds.

The general temperament of the cows examined in the present study was docile, agreeing with other studies of Indian cattle (Banerjee 1991; Sarkar et al. 2007), perhaps because of the regular handling, which is normal in India. The human–animal relationship in most shelters was good, as more than half of the cows did not show fear towards the human approach. Additionally, most of the cows were non-lactating, leading to a reduced level of human–animal contact, so the low avoidance scores reflected good stockpersonship, despite the cows being of no commercial value. The avoidance distance values found in this study were similar to those of European dairy cattle (Mülleder et al. 2003; Popescu et al. 2010).

Lying behaviour might be one welfare concern in the Indian shelters; the Cow Comfort Index (CCI) was low in comparison to the target of 0.85, which is suggested for dairy cows
(Overton et al. 2003; Cook et al. 2005). Reduced lying might be attributed to high stocking density, poor design of the stalls, and the flooring of the sheds. The recommended area per cow is dependent on the size of the animals and the type of shed (Davis et al. 2016). In India, the recommended area per cow is $7m^2$ (Manoharan 2013). In the studied shelters, it was much less, $2.5 - 6m^2$ per head. This lower area per cow in the shelters suggests a poor welfare, potentially affecting the behaviour and feed access for the cows (Huzzey et al. 2006) .The marginally lower than normal BCS in the shelter cows revealed some inadequacies to cow nutrition, which might be due to reliance on low quality straw.

Lameness has been regarded as one of the most important welfare issues in European dairy cattle, due to economic losses and pain (Whay et al. 2003a; Lievaart and Noordhuizen 2011), and is a key indicator of welfare (Popescu et al. 2010), usually assessed through locomotion scoring (Huxley and Whay 2006c). The low incidence of lameness in shelter cows, as compared to lactating dairy cows could be attributed to the feeding of roughage diets to the shelter cows, rather than the high energy diets fed to dairy cows, for milk production. A lameness prevalence rate of 11% has been reported in the French dairy cows (Coignard et al. 2013), and an incidence of 8.1% to 30.5% has been reported in cross bred Indian dairy cows (Singh et al. 1998; Sood 2005). Claw overgrowth was also low, attributable to the low growth rates, and the reasonable floor abrasion (Platz et al. 2007; Telezhenko et al. 2008).

The movement and socialization of the cows led to an increased incidence of injuries, disease, and subsequently reduced welfare (Busato et al. 2000). Injuries also reflected physical stress from the environment (Webb and Nilsson 1983). Joint injuries occurred due to the restrictions of floor space and lying areas (Blom 1983), and the lack of bedding. In the clinical examinations, joint swellings, hair loss, ulcerations, and injuries of hock and carpal joints were at low to moderate levels, probably reflecting the lack of forced movement. These results were in contrast to the studies on the prevalence of hock lesions in the U.K. dairy cows (Potterton et al. 2011a). Soft tissue injuries were also a consequence of improper construction of barns, and aggression between cows in a loose housing system (Irps 1983; Maton et al. 2012). The mild to moderate levels of soft tissue lesions in half of the cows were due to the presence of sharp objects and improper furniture fittings in some of the shelters, as well as aggression between them. The area per cow in the shelters was small, and this overcrowding increased the chances of sustaining injuries. Likewise, competing for fodder at the manger in the limited space, further increased injuries, for example, due to butting by horns, being pushed against shed walls, and sustaining injuries from shelter furniture. Sustaining injuries in a restricted/confined environment, where cows were allowed to interact with each other in a loose housing system, was an inherent problem in the shelters. Overcrowding revealed the shortcomings

of flooring, barn fittings, and narrow passages, which were the main potential sources of getting injured. The location of lesions on the body and their contour/shape (lacerations, bruises) was the best indication that they were sustained from shelter furniture and sharp objects. In some shelters it was observed that almost all the cows had similar lesions at similar body locations, and this study was able to locate their origin, in the form of protruding nails, galvanized sheets, and exposed concrete reinforcement, as well as old mangers protruding from the wall and old gates.

The overall cleanliness levels of the cows in the shelters were much better than that has been observed for dairy cow cleanliness in the U.K (Whay et al. 2003b) and Eastern Europe (Popescu et al. 2010). The cleanliness levels of hind limbs, udder, and flanks, were measured as the scoring of these reflected the sources of contamination—dirty legs indicate faecal soiling from waste passage, a dirty tail indicates loose faeces, or more time spent in waste passage, and dirty flanks indicate dirtiness of bedding or the tail (Hughes 2001). Therefore, the cleanliness of the cows in this study reflected that of the shelters, which probably derived from the relatively high labour input into cleaning. The hair coat was also assessed to find out whether the cows were able to maintain their own cleanliness (Thomsen and Baadsgaard 2006). A lack of self-grooming was indicative of illness, poor general health, and movement restrictions (Popescu et al. 2010). The dull coat condition of nearly half of the cows (47.1%) of the cows in the shelters reflected their sub-optimal health status. This finding was further strengthened by the marginal BCS found in some shelter cows.

Dairy cows with tick lesions have been shown to express more kicking behaviour and a higher avoidance distance (Rousing et al. 2004). The prevalence of ectoparasites (46.3%) in the form of ticks, flies, and lice in this survey was lower than that found by Chavhan et al. (2013) (77.2% - 84.8% prevalence in one of the states that we recorded). The negligible presence of neck lesions (4.6%) in this study was probably due to the absence of feed barriers in cow shelters. This is in contrast to the findings in Norwegian dairy cows where neck lesions were observed in 20% to 40% of cows, depending upon the type of feed barriers being used (Kielland et al. 2010a). The proportion of cows showing ocular discharge/lesions, hampered respiration, coughing, and vulvar discharge was higher than in a study on French dairy cows (Coignard et al. 2013). However, the proportion of cows suffering from diarrhoea and showing nasal discharge was less than that in the French study. The incidence of nasal discharge and diarrhoea was much less than the threshold limits (to trigger a need for veterinary aid) of Welfare Quality[®] assessments in Europe. A low frequency of nasal and ocular discharge was also found in the welfare assessment of Danish dairy herds and this was influenced by season (Otten et al. 2016). Seasonal influence in the cows assessed in this study cannot be ruled out, but it could not be determined.

3.6.3 Assessment of Disease Status and Carcass Disposal Risks

Regarding the presence of diseases in the cattle, although brucellosis, leptospirosis, and tuberculosis have been reported to be prevalent in cattle in India (Bharadwaj et al. 2002; Singh et al. 2004a; Kumar et al. 2005), most of the cow shelters did not have any testing protocols for the diagnosis of these diseases. Most shelters followed deworming and vaccination practices, routinely, according to the standards laid down by the National Code of Practices for the management of dairy animals in India (Kamboj et al. 2014). Outbreaks of foot and mouth disease (FMD) were the only disease outbreaks, reported by 22 shelters (12%), in the last five years.

There was no proper provision for disposal of carcasses, dung, and urine, in the majority of the shelters. Carcass disposal by contractors was questionable, as deskinned carcasses were left in the open in some shelters; this is relevant to animal welfare because diseases, such as botulism, could be transferred to other cattle, if they are not disposed off, appropriately, usually by burying. Disease risks associated with improper disposal of urine, faeces, and carcasses of livestock, have been emphasized by many workers in Indian conditions (Panda and Kumar 2006; Park 2011), as they contaminate the groundwater supply, due to the presence of inorganic pollutants and coliform bacteria (Chantalakhana et al. 1999).

3.6.4 Housing and Flooring

The five freedoms for good animal welfare must be achieved through the adequate design of housing and other structures, as well as good management practices (Farm Animal Welfare Council 1993b). Traditionally, there has been a predominance of tethered/tie stalls in Asia (Moran 2012), but author's experience is that these are slowly moving towards loose housing or free stalls, due to the benefits of allowing animals the freedom to move about. Tethered stalls decrease the labour efficiency (Phillips 2010), which is a critical aspect of shelter management in a time when commercial aspects of cow keeping are paramount. The predominance of loose housing in this study indicated a good welfare, as cows were free to move about, but overcrowding might thwart this.

The floor is the primary point of contact of a cow with its environment and is very important for the cow's movement. It affects wearing of the hooves and conducts heat from the body, when the cow is lying down (Phillips 2010). Slippery floors affect the behaviour and can lead to injuries due to falls (Rushen and De Passillé 2006). Earthen flooring is a typical feature of Indian cattle housing. The coefficient of friction values of the yard and shed flooring in the present study were higher than those of Telezhenko et al. (2017), who reported decreased values in floors made of concrete, asphalt, and rubber, in dairy farms. Appropriate friction levels of the flooring are important to facilitate a comfortable movement of the cows, without slipping, as they provide an

adequate grip for the cows' hooves. Based on the comparisons of the coefficient of friction found in this study, it was concluded that the floors were less slippery than in dairy farms (Telezhenko et al. 2017). This might be due to lesser movement of the cows, in and out of the sheds, compared with dairy farms, in which the cows are usually moved in and out twice daily. Moreover, access to yards in most shelters reduced the wear of the shed floors. The absence of bedding for cows in the shelters is a significant welfare issue, as it reduces their comfort levels - few cows like to lie down on a non-bedded floor (Tucker and Weary 2004). The body hair loss observed in the cows could be due to the lack of bedding in most of the shelters. The scarcity of fodder straw and its exorbitant cost could be attributed as a factor for the lack of bedding.

The minimum recommended eave height of cattle sheds is 3.5 m (Davis et al. 2016) and the median height of the sheds in this study (3.8 m) was just above this recommendation, enabling machines to achieve a proper clearance, and work inside sheds. The gradient of lying areas and yards in the shelter sheds was within the recommendations (covered areas 0.5%-1.5%; uncovered areas 1%-2%), whereas the gradient of passages, which were predominantly in uncovered areas, was similar (1.5%) to the recommendations (Davis et al. 2016). A minimum slope of 0.5% (1:200) was recommended, to prevent water pooling, though the floor slope depended on the natural slope of the site and the method of cleaning the floor (Moran 2012). A proper gradient was very important for adequate drainage of urine. Most of the shelters in the present study had an adequate gradient of the floors, which allowed proper drainage, as the majority of the shelters did not have urine pooling in the lying areas and passages.

3.6.5 Access to Pastures and Yards

Access to pastures is a very important welfare provision for cattle, and deprivation of grazing leads to behavioral and health problems, such as stereotypies, aggression, and lameness (Phillips 2010). An 8–12 h per day grazing period is considered adequate for cows (Phillips 2010). In the present study, very few shelters had a provision of pasturing for the cows, probably because of lack of resources for this. The yard access provided to the cows in more than half of the shelters would provide some relief to the discomfort experienced in the sheds and reduce the aggressive interactions between the cows. The cow's heel and heel bulb were weakened by constant hoof contact with the wet flooring, contaminated by the acidic dung where there was no access to pastures or yards. This caused necrosis, digital dermatitis, and laminitis, due to the proteolytic action of the acidic excreta (Aalseth 2005). The comparatively low incidence of lameness and claw overgrowth in the shelter cows testified to the significance of access to the yards and the relative absence of slurry in the lying areas and passages.

3.6.6 Noise and Luminosity Levels

Cows are able to hear higher frequency sounds than humans (Heffner and Heffner 1992). This might disturb them and as they lack the capacity to know the direction of the sound as accurately as humans, they might be stressed by being unable to avoid it (Phillips 2010). The noise levels in shelter sheds and yards recorded in this study were a maximum of 37.7 dB, well below the permissible limits of 90–100 dB (Phillips 2010). Most shelters in rural areas were located in quiet areas away from the population and the automobile traffic. Cleaning operations were mostly manual, leading to more settled cows than in the commercial dairy sector.

Light is another important factor regulating animal health and welfare (Patbandha et al. 2016). Light intensity should be between 161 and 215 Lux, during the day (Buyserie et al. 2001). The luminosity levels for the cows in the shelter shed, during the day, were much higher than these levels and stood in contrast to very low levels of light intensity (52–53 Lux) in a study conducted in Eastern European dairy farms (Furnaris et al. 2016).

3.6.7 Feeding and Watering Provisions

A dry matter intake of 3% of body weight for dry cows in Indian conditions has been recommended (Ranjhan 1997), usually achieved by feeding roughages (green and dry) and concentrates (grains, oilcakes, and agricultural by-products) (Kamboj et al. 2014). Birthal (2010) in a field survey of dry cows kept in households in rural India, found that the mean daily consumption rates of dry roughage, green roughage, and concentrates were 4.0, 3.4, and 0.4 kg per cow per day, respectively. The dry roughages and greens fed to the gaushala cows in this study appeared to be better than that fed to the dry cows of rural farmers in India. The proportion of cows with a normal rumen fill score in this study, suggests an adequate dry matter intake (DMI), and is comparatively greater than that recorded for dairy cows in England (Whay et al. 2003b). Fecal consistency indicates the ratio of water intake to dry matter and indirectly provides information about the nutritional and digestive states of cows (Ireland-Perry and Stallings 1993; Zaaijer and Noordhuizen 2003). A score of 3 is an ideal score and indicates a well-digested fodder, a score of 4 is acceptable for dry cows; these were the predominant scores in the sheltered cows in the present study. However, the absence of water points inside the sheds, availability of clean drinking water in only 42% of the shelters, and the absence of ad-lib water availability in 48% of the shelters, is a welfare concern. Nevertheless, the majority of the cows assessed in the shelters (92.2%) showed adequate hydration levels, according to the reference scale (Roussel 2014). It could be due to a better water conservation capacity, which enables the local Indian cattle breeds to withstand dehydration and thermal stress (Upadhyay et al. 2013).

3.7 Conclusions

Assessing animal welfare using animal-based, resource-based, and management-based assessment tools provided a holistic view of the welfare state of facilities. In this study of welfare assessment of cows in shelters in India, the three types of assessments provided an overview of the welfare conditions and management practices in the shelters, facilitating a diagnosis of conditions for the cows in these shelters. In all shelters, there were several concerns that needed improvement or rectification. These included the small space allowance per cow, non-uniform type of floors, some cows with poor body conditions, little freedom of movement, lack of pasture grazing, lack of bedding, the absence of ad libitum access to water, and compromised biosecurity. The high mortality rate, when compared to commercial dairy farms, is not considered a welfare problem, because many cows enter in poor condition, at an old age.

This study is a scientific assessment of animal welfare and animal management in a specific socio-religious setting. It helped us identify problems directly concerning the cows, which could be used in the future to provide feedback to the shelter managers, for rectification and improvement of their institutions. The purpose of the shelters is to house unwanted cows to the highest standards of animal welfare, despite their commercial redundancy. This is in keeping with the tradition and religious sentiments of India, which espouses the holiness of the cows. The results of the present study revealed varying levels of welfare of cows in Indian shelters, which partly contradicts the original hypothesis that these unproductive, old, infirm, and abandoned cows would suffer from poor welfare practices and conditions. Continuous efforts are required by stakeholders to develop new, sustainable management practices, and optimize the existing ones, to improve the welfare outcomes in the shelter cows. Further research is needed to investigate the interplay of the various welfare parameters and to identify their association with the risk factors that were identified. An ongoing work is recommended on the repeatability and validity of the assessments. The results of this study can be dovetailed into a restructuring of the gaushalas on scientific lines, based on global animal welfare practices, to ensure the sustainability of these unique institutions.

Publication included in Chapter 4

Sharma, A.; Kennedy, U.; Schuetze, C.; Phillips, C.J.C. 2019 The welfare of cows in Indian shelters. *Animals*, vol. 9, no. 4, p 172 doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9040172

Author Contributions to the paper

The conceptualization, design and methodology was done by Arvind Sharma, Uttara Kennedy and Clive J.C Phillips. The data collection and investigation was done by Arvind Sharma and Uttara Kennedy (in two states of the study and in measurement of resource-based parameters). The formal analysis and interpretation was done by Arvind Sharma and Clive J.C Phillips. Original draft of the paper was prepared by Arvind Sharma. The writing review was done by all the authors.

Chapter 4

Assessment of floor friction in cowsheds and its association with cow health

4.1 Abstract

Measurement of friction of cowshed floors to determine slipperiness potential is important for cow comfort. Existing methods require elaborate equipment and procedures. A quick method for assessment of friction characteristics is proposed. Friction was measured in 54 cattle housing and yard facilities with earth, brick, concrete, and stone floors, and its association with cattle health parameters was investigated through assessment of 30 animals per facility. A 156 g cuboidal wooden block attached to a spring balance was pulled over 3 m, and the coefficient of friction was recorded as the force required to move the block at a constant speed. The coefficient of friction ranged from 0.3 to 0.7 and was lowest for concrete and highest for earth floors. A multivariate analysis found that cows were standing more and could be more easily approached when they were on floors with high friction levels. The proportion of cows with dirty hind limbs declined with increasing friction of the floor, probably reflecting the fact that they felt more confident to stand rather than lie on high friction floors. This simple measure of frictional characteristics of cattle floors offers promise to be included in welfare measures as an indicator of cow welfare.

Keywords: coefficient of friction; floor; cows; housing; welfare; assessment

4.2. Introduction

India has an ancient tradition (from the 2nd century B.C.) of sheltering cows in shelters. These cow shelters (gaushalas) house abandoned, infertile, and non-productive cows. The size of these shelters ranges from fifty to ten thousand cows. The shelters play a significant role in the management of stray cattle in India where cow slaughter is not permitted by law in most of the states. The cows are sheltered until they die from natural causes. These shelters are managed by philanthropists, trusts, temples, government municipalities, and animal welfare groups. Cow shelters are usually simple traditional structures with a variety of floor types and little attention to, or routine maintenance of, the floor (Divekar and Saiyed 2010). The quality of floors of cow sheds is important for cow comfort. Long term wear of the floors renders them smooth and more slippery (Lorentzon 2005), which may affect getting up, lying down, and walking behaviour. Improper flooring will lead to deprivation or alteration of these behaviours (Phillips et al. 2013). Contemporary cow welfare assessment studies have assessed types of flooring and bedding (Mülleder et al. 2007; Potterton et al. 2011a; de Vries et al. 2015), but none of them, to the best of knowledge, have measured floor slipperiness. The floor surface should be clean and dry for comfortable resting and avoidance of slipping (Phillips et al. 2013). Floors should allow cows to lie down, rise up, and walk without slipping (Bickert 2000). Measurable changes in the gait of cows,

slipping, falls, and injuries occur due to the absence of adequate friction, usually as a result of poor design or the presence of a slurry of urine and faeces on the floor (Albutt et al. 1990; Phillips and Morris 2000, 2001; van der Tol et al. 2005). Slippery floors restrict the natural locomotion of cows as they are forced to adapt to an unnatural walking environment (Metz and Bracke 2003). Increasing the friction of floors also increases abrasiveness and wear of the hooves of cows, but insufficient abrasiveness leads to overgrowth of their hooves or claws (Bonser et al. 2003). A judicious trade-off between the two is required so as to design floors which are neither too abrasive to cause excessive wear of the hooves and joint lesions nor insufficiently abrasive to cause slipping.

Slipperiness has been assessed by measuring friction levels of floors (Chang et al. 2001). Floor frictional forces and the reaction of hooves and claws of cows to floor abrasiveness have been studied under laboratory conditions using cow-simulating machines and biological materials in the form of cattle hooves (Phillips et al. 1998; Phillips et al. 2000; Chang et al. 2001; Bonser et al. 2003). A coefficient of friction (CoF, the force required to move an object/object mass) is usually measured, which varies inversely with slipperiness of flooring. CoF depends on the hoof, flooring, contact surface between the hoof and the floor, and presence of slurry or other liquids on the floor (van der Tol et al. 2005). Literature has not revealed an easy, on the spot method of assessment that welfare assessors can use to rapidly measure the slipperiness of floors in cowsheds. Floor slipperiness has not been incorporated into welfare assessment protocols for cattle to the best of our knowledge. This could be due to a time-consuming and cumbersome methodology which is difficult to be carried out in routine welfare assessments. Welfare assessments are increasingly common in farms to meet the growing need by members of the public for improved conditions for dairy cows (Knierim and Winckler 2009). The objective of this paper was to test a simple method of measuring friction levels of different types of floors found in cow sheds and yards of the cow shelters and validate it with measurements of the characteristics of the buildings and cattle within, in particular, their behaviour and lesions on their limbs.

There is a lacuna in the scientific literature about the welfare assessment of cows in such shelters in general and assessment of the friction of various types of flooring in these shelters in particular. In this study, it was attempted to formulate a novel method of assessing the friction of the floors in cow shelters and then correlate these frictional characteristics with cow health, behaviour, and other relevant measures of welfare, in order to determine if this measure could usefully be added to existing protocols.

4.3 Materials and Methods

Fifty-four cow shelters (gaushalas) in six states of India were assessed for animal welfare conditions in the form of 31 resource-based measurements and 28 animal-based measurements

51

(Appendix 1, Appendix 2 and Table 4-1). A typical cow shelter is an institution in which one or more sheds house the cows. In the cow sheds, there may or may not be an open loafing area present, referred to as the yard, where the cows are able to freely move about, sit, or stand. In case of shelters having multiple sheds and yards (more than two), two representative sheds and adjoining yards were assessed. A total of 86 sheds and 76 yards were assessed in the 54 cow shelters as a part of a welfare assessment protocol.

A combination of assessment methods (behaviour observations, evaluation of skin alterations indicative of poor comfort levels, and clinical examination) was used to describe the health and welfare status of the cows. For each of these methods, specific indicators that were considered relevant for health and welfare were identified. Indicators which had been described and validated in previous welfare assessment studies conducted in Europe and other western countries in dairy cattle, especially the Welfare Quality® Project protocol, were selected. The 31 resourcebased measurements were divided into six main criteria: Housing, specific shed measurements and features, bedding, flooring, watering, and feeding characteristics. The characteristics of the flooring was one of the parameters for assessment. A total of 1620 cows in 54 cow shelters were randomly selected for animal-based measurements, 30/shelter, as recommended following a statistical power analysis. In each cow shelter, 30 cows were sampled as recommended by the power calculation performed for the number of shelters to be sampled and the number of cows to be sampled in each cow shelter. The study was designed to detect an odds ratio of 4 with a power of 0.8 and $\alpha = 0.05$. A sample size of 30 cows is sufficient to estimate within-herd prevalence with an accepted error of 10% at a 95% level of confidence. Cows were selected randomly by choosing every 3rd cow in the shed or the yard. There was only one observer who carried out the measurements.

Friction levels of the floors of sheds and yards (where present) were assessed using a spring balance measuring 1 kg/10 N (RS Pro Spring Balance). The hook of the balance was attached to a cuboidal wooden block weighing 156 g and being $12.5 \times 5.5 \times 3.5$ cm in length, breadth and height, respectively. The block was gently pulled across the floor, and the minimal frictional force (F) required to move it at a speed of 0.3 m/s over a distance of 3 m was recorded from the scale of the spring balance. The block was pulled at three randomly selected places on each shed and yard floor. The coefficient of friction (CoF) was calculated by the formula:

CoF = weight required to move block \div weight of the cuboidal wooden block (CoF = WSB/WB) (1)

where WSB is the spring balance weight recorded and WB is the block weight.

Twenty-one sheds had earthen, 19 had brick, four had rock slabs/stones and 42 had concrete based as flooring material (Table 4.2). Forty-one yards had earthen, 13 had brick, three had stone and 19 had concrete-based floors. The methodology of assessment of the animal- and resource-based measures followed in this study has been elaborated upon in Appendices 1 and 2.

Criterion	Parameter	Measurement Description	
Flooring	Type of flooring	Earth, Brick, Concrete, Stone/Rock	
Bedding	Type and thickness of bedding	Type, thickness of bedding (in cm) (if any)	
	Presence of faeces in the lying	Visual estimation of % of faeces in the	
	areas and passages separately	passages and lying areas *	
Cleanliness	Presence of urine in the lying areas	Visual estimation of % of urine in the	
	and passages	passages and lying areas	
	Water pooling in the lying areas	Present/absent	
Space allowance	$\Lambda ran / a o u (m^2)$	Area of the shed ÷ Number of cows in the	
Space anowance	Alea/cow (III)	shed	
Floor gradient	Floor gradient of the lying areas	Ratio of incline to length (as measured by	
r ioor gradient	and passages	inclinometer)	

 Table 4-1: Shelter housing parameters for assessment of floor characteristics

* For estimation of cleanliness levels, each shed floor was divided into four quadrants; % of dung in each quadrant was estimated visually and an average was taken for the entire floor. Pilot trials were conducted initially to standardize each resource- and animal-based parameter.

Type of Shed Flooring	Number	Median Coefficient of Friction	IQR
Earth	21	0.67	0.075
Brick	19	0.57	0.171
Rock/stone	4	0.39	0.246
Concrete based	42	0.29	0.163

Table 4-2: Shed coefficients of flooring for four types of flooring in cow shelters (n = 86)

Interquartile range (IQR)

4.4 Statistical Analysis

All the analyses were run at 5% assumed level of significance using a computerized statistics software Minitab 17 (Minitab[®] version 17.1.0, Minitab Ltd., Pennsylvania State University, State College, PA, USA). Each set of observations in a facility was assumed to be independent of all others. The differences between the coefficients of friction of different types of floors were calculated by the Mood's Median test because residuals after a general linear model were not normally distributed. The 54 shelters were considered as a fixed factor. The coefficients were taken as a continuous response variable.

Overlap in factors associated with the coefficients of friction was initially identified by a Principal Components Analysis (PCA) of the animal-based as well as the resource-based parameters. As a result, values for % of dung in the passageways and lying areas were combined. The variables were then subjected to a univariate analysis with the coefficient of friction of the flooring, using Spearman's Rank Correlations because several variables were not normally distributed. The variables having a correlation with the coefficient of friction at a *p*-value of less than or equal to 0.05 were retained and subjected to multivariate analysis using a general linear model employing a backward elimination stepwise process to identify the association of risk factors with the coefficient of flooring. Alpha to remove variables was set at 0.25. There were only four shelters that had stone/rock floors, and hence they were not included in the model. The CoF of the flooring of sheds and yards was determined in this study, in the multivariate analysis, only the shed CoF was used because many shelters did not have yards. Variance inflation factors were inspected to ensure low levels of collinearity between variables. Residuals were tested for normality by the Anderson–Darling test.

4.5 Results

The overall median floor CoF was 0.43 ± 0.194 SD. The potential range of CoF in the present study was from 0 to 1, and the actual range was 0.61, from 0.11 minimum value to 0.72 maximum value. The median CoF was higher for earth and brick floors than stone and concrete (Table 4.2) (chi-square value = 52.78, df = 3, *p*-value < 0.001).

The descriptive statistics of the animal-based and resource-based parameters used in the linear model are presented in Tables 4-3 and 4-4, respectively. Spearman's rank order correlation between the coefficient of friction of the shelter floors (continuous variable) and ordinal and continuous variables of the resource- and animal-based measures demonstrated significant correlations in both categories of variables (Table 4-5). CoF was positively related to the % of faeces in the lying areas and passages, and it was increased in sheds that were not cleaned. In sheds that were cleaned, it was negatively correlated with the frequency of scraping. It was also positively correlated with the gradient of the passages. In terms of animal-based measures, a negative correlation with the stall standing index indicated that floors with a high CoF had fewer cows standing. Floors with a high CoF had cows with more body hair loss and body lesions, but fewer swellings and ulceration of the hock joints and injuries to the carpal joints.

						n Voluo
Parameter	Mean/Median*	Standard Deviation	First Quartile Q*1	Third Quartile Q* ₃	Interquartile Range IQR *	<pre>// value (>0.05 = Normally Distributed Data)</pre>
Cow age (years)	11.0	2.022				0.37
Lactating cow %	0.03 *		0	0.2	0.2	
Temperament,	0.41	0.070				0.04
\log_{10} of values	(2.61)	0.068				0.24
Stall Standing	·					
Index (SSI)	0.77 *	0.25	0.59	1.0	0.31	
Avoidance						
Distance (AD)	1.53 *		1.20	2.13	0.93	
score						
(Scale 1–4)						
Body condition						
score	2.69	0.37				0.27
(Scale 1–5)						
Lameness score	1 12 *		1.05	1 27	0.22	
(Scale 1–5)	1.15		1.05	1.27	0.22	
Claw overgrowth						
score	0.61 *		0.23	0.90	0.67	
(Scale 0–3)						
Hock joint						
swelling score	1.64 *		0.23	2.23	0.44	
(Scale $0-3$)						
Hock joint hair						
loss score	1.05	0.30				0.22
(Scale 0-3)						
Hock joint						
ulceration score	0.59	0.39				0.16
(Scale $0-3$)						
Lateral hock joint						
swelling score	0.87	0.41				0.88
(Scale 0-3)	0.07	0111				0.00
Lateral joint hair						
loss score	0 27 *		0	1 30	0.26	
(Scale 0-3)	0.27		0	1.50	0.20	
Lateral joint						
ulceration score	0.11 *		0	1 13	0.20	
(Scale 0-3)	0.11		0	1.15	0.20	
Carnal joint						
injuries score	0.78	0.45				0.18
(Scale 0, 3)	0.78	0.45				0.10
Dirty hind limba						
	0.21 **	0.11				0.64
(Scale 0, 2)	(1.59)	0.11				0.04
Dirty uddar agar						
$(S_{colo} (0, 2))$	1.27	0.56				0.90
(Scale U-S)						
(Scale 0–3)	1.24	0.57				0.95
Body hair loss	0		0.0.5.5	• • •	1.01	
score (Scale 0–3)	0./6 *		0.066	2.03	1.04	

Table 4-3: Descriptive Statistics for animal-based measures in the cow shelters measured on ordinal as well as continuous scales

Coat condition						
score	1.54	0.298				0.08
(Scale 1–3)						
Ectoparasitism	151*		0.07	2 77		
score (Scale 0–3)	1.31		0.97	3.27		
Skin tenting time	0.03 *		0	0.83		
score (Scale 0–4)	0.03		0	0.85		
Teat condition						
score	1.0 *		0.92	1.00	0.075	
(Scale 0–5)						
Neck lesions						
score	1.03 *		1.0	1.10	0.1	
(Scale 1–5)						
Ocular lesions						
score	0.06 *		0.033	0.13	0.1	
(Scale 0–1)						
Nasal discharge						
score	0.05 *		0.000	0.14	0.14	
(Scale $0-1$)						
Rumen fill score	2 60 *		2 10	2.00	0.71	
(Scale 1–5)	5.08 **		5.19	5.90	0.71	
Diarrhoea score	0 *		0	0.022	0.022	
(Scale 0–1)	0		0	0.055	0.055	

* Data not normally distributed; ** Log₁₀ transformed

Variable	Median/Mean*	SD	First Quartile Q1	Third Quartile Q3	Interquartile Range (IQR)	* <i>p</i> -Value (>0.05 = Normal Distribution)
Area/loose housed cow (m ²)	2.73		1.56	3.63	2.07	
Area/tethered cow (m ²)	4.50 *	2.75				0.04
Shed eave height (m)	3.80		2.99	5.34	2.35	
Shed luminosity (lux)	582		89	1036	946	
Shed noise level (dB)	27.7		21.3	37.2	15.8	
Yard noise level (dB)	25.3		20.33	33.00	12.7	
Shed dry bulb temperature (°C)	29.5		27.2	32.8	5.6	
Shed humidity (%)	34.0		24.7	45.2	20.5	
CoF of shed passage floors	0.43		0.27	0.65	0.37	
CoF of yard passage floors	0.64		0.34	0.68	0.34	
Gradient of shed lying areas	1.46		0.96	2.2	1.23	
Gradient of shed passages	2.36		1.27	3.52	2.24	
Gradient of yard floors	1.51		1.13	2.43	1.30	
Dung on shed lying areas (% of area)	15		5	40	35.	
Dung on shed passages (% of area)	10		5	42.5	37.5	
Dung on yards (% of area)	20		10	40	30	
Roughage/cow (kg fresh)	1.25 ** (17.66 *)	0.168				0.06

Table 4-4: Median, first quartile (Q1), third quartile (Q3), and interquartile range (IQR) values for not normally distributed and mean, standard deviation (SD), and p-values for normally distributed data, for resource-based parameters for cows in shelters

* Mean; ** Log₁₀ transformed.

Variables	Correlation Co-Efficient	p Value
Resource-based		
Shed flooring type	-0.75	< 0.001
Shed % of faeces in lying area	0.37	0.005
Shed % of faeces in passages	0.320	0.02
Shed cleaning (absence 0, presence 1)	-0.29	0.03
Scraping frequency of sheds	-0.42	0.001
Shed average gradient of passages	0.29	0.03
Animal-based		
Stall Standing Index (SSI)	-0.33	0.01
Body hair loss	0.31	0.02
Hock joint swellings	-0.32	0.02
Hock joint ulceration	-0.27	0.05
Carpal joint injuries	-0.31	0.02
Lesions on the body	0.30	0.02

Table 4-5: Spearman's rank correlations between coefficient of friction of shelter flooring and resource- and animal-based variables with p-values ≤ 0.05

In the multivariate analysis of CoF with animal and shed variables, there were four variables significantly related to the coefficient of friction (r^2 adjusted = 82.8; residuals of the model were normally distributed): Stall standing index (p = 0.01), avoidance distance (p = 0.04), dirty hind limbs (p = 0.03), and shed flooring (p < 0.001). For the stall standing index, more cattle were standing as CoF decreased (Figure 4-1). Avoidance distance decreased as CoF increased (Figure 4-2), and the proportion of cows with dirty hind limbs decreased with CoF (Figure 4-3). The relationship was described by the equation:

Shed flooring CoF = c - 0.157 Stall Standing Index (±0.0577, p = 0.01) - 0.0649 Avoidance Distance Score (±0.0299, p = 0.04) + 0.0861 Dirty Hind Limbs Score (2) (±0.0377, p = 0.03),

where c is the intercept, which for earthen floors was 0.812 and for brick floors was 0.736, relative to concrete floors which was 0.442; p < 0.001 and p = 0.002, respectively.

Other variables that were not significant (p > 0.05) but were initially included in the regression equation were floor scraping frequency (coefficient —0.020 (±0.0147), p = 0.18), body hair loss (coefficient —0.043 (±0.0272), p value 0.13) and nasal discharge (coefficient + 0.213 (±0.124), p = 0.09).



Figure 4-1: Relationship between the proportion of cows standing (stall standing index) and coefficient of friction (CoF) of shed floor



Avoidance Distance = 1.789 - 0.2297 Shed CoF

Figure 4-2: Relationship between the avoidance distance score and coefficient of friction (CoF) of shed floor



Figure 4-3: Scatter plot showing relationship between dirty hind limbs score and coefficient of friction (CoF) of shed floor

4.6 Discussion

The objective of developing a method of measuring CoF that related to resource- and animal-based characteristics in different types of cattle accommodation was achieved. Through the measurements of CoF, the results indicated an interactive relationship between the environment in cow shelters and the reaction of cows to that environment, quantified through the measurement of various cow- and resource-based measures. The coefficient of friction of flooring in this study ranged from 0.3 to 0.7 across four types of shelter flooring (earthen, brick, stone, and concrete), which is a broader range than that calculated by Penev et al. (2013). The higher the value of the coefficient of friction of a floor is, the lower the probability of slipping is (Phillips and Morris 2001). The lower end of the range calculated in the present study was below the critical point of 0.4 to avoid slipping, as suggested by Phillips and Morris (2001) and van der Tol et al. (2005). However, this is not surprising as the van der Tol et al. (2005) study evaluated only two types of floors: Concrete and rubber matting floors. There is a tendency of cows to walk quickly in short steps on floors with lower friction, while they walk slowly with longer steps on floors with higher friction (Phillips and Morris 2001).

CoF was highest for earthen floors, intermediate for brick floors, and much reduced for concrete floors. The small number of stone floors appeared to be most similar to concrete floors in frictional characteristics. Concrete floors wear smooth over time, and even if they are grooved with a diamond cutter (Steiner et al. 2008), they still wear down with constant traffic of cows on the floor.

The negative association of the frequency of scraping the shelter floors with CoF was demonstrated by the finding that CoF was higher in floors that had faeces in lying areas as well as passages. This is similar to the increase in frictional characteristics of the floor that was previously found for floors with an aggregate embedded (Phillips and Morris 2001), for which it was suggested that the greater CoF on floors with aggregate presented a vertical impediment to the motion of the block.

The method used in this study attempted to mimic the sliding frictional aspect of the cow's movement on floors, as this movement truly reflects the risk of slipping. The presence of only urine on the floors of the sheds and passages did not significantly affect the CoF. This partially corroborates the studies of Phillips and Morris (2000) who found no changes in the gait of cows when the floor was wet, though the limb movement angles, as well as patterns, were affected. However, the presence of faeces increased the CoF of the floors in this study, as has been previously reported (Phillips and Morris 2001).

The stall standing index (SSI), devised by Cook et al. (2005), is one of the indices for the assessment of comfort levels of cows in a stall, or in shelters in the present case. The negative correlation between the CoF and SSI in this study suggests that with an increase in CoF, the cows were less likely to be standing and more likely to be lying down, reflecting greater comfort levels on floors with higher friction. Slipping whilst standing is more likely at low friction levels (Albutt et al. 1990; Leonard et al. 1994; Haley et al. 2000). Floor bedding may work in a similar way to faeces on the floor, providing resistance to horizontal motion.

The avoidance distance (AD) measure is used to quantify the human–animal relationship and to assess an animal's fear of humans (Mazurek et al. 2011). The model revealed a negative relationship between AD and CoF, thus high friction floors had cows that would permit a very close approach by a researcher. Cows will potentially be less nervous and more comfortable on floors that permit safe movement, and there is an absence of slipping. Flooring with a low CoF and increased slipperiness impedes the natural behaviour of cows (Cook et al. 2016). A reassessment of the design of free stalls for cows has been recommended if SSI is more than 0.2 (Zeeb 1983). There is a dilemma that cows need to be active and walk, which can only be done when the cow is standing, but after being active they need to rest. A simple measure of the proportion of cows standing is not sufficient to understand the complexities of cows' needs and further work is needed in this area to develop simple measures that measure the cows' needs better.

A possible negative correlation between the CoF and body hair loss was suggested (p = 0.13) but was not significant. If confirmed, it can be explained by the frequent slipping of the cows

causing injuries and hair coats getting contaminated with dung. These might lead to loss of hair on the body. It has been suggested that lesions and swellings in the body of dairy cows are influenced by the quality of flooring in the passages and stalls and the presence or absence of bedding on it (DeVries et al. 2012; de Vries et al. 2015). Norberg (2012) further proved that floor surface influences the cleanliness of cows and stalls. The presence of dung on various body parts might lead to skin irritation and subsequent hair loss (Elmore et al. 2015).

The correlation of CoF with dirty hind limbs may be because some cows were lying in passageways with excreta. Often, it is only a minority of cows that engage in this behaviour if suitable free stalls/cubicles are provided (Kara et al. 2011). For high friction floors, the proportion of dirty hind limbs declined with the CoF, which would be expected if cows felt confident to stand more on these floors. This finding could also reflect the lack of cleaning of sheds with high CoF, which was found in the univariate analysis. The relationships confirm that hygiene levels and lesions on the body of cows reflect the design of the facility, which includes flooring (Zurbrigg et al. 2005b; Cook et al. 2016).

The possible correlation between the CoF and nasal discharge in the cows, although only a trend (p = 0.09), if confirmed in other studies could be due to high CoF floors having more faeces, which produces ammonia. This leads to irritation of the nasal mucous membranes. A correlation between floor slipperiness and ammonia emissions in cow housing has previously been demonstrated (Swierstra et al. 2001). The results of the multivariate analysis revealed that lower CoF friction renders the flooring slippery due to which the cows prefer to stand instead of slipping and falling down as shown by the increase in the SSI. Moreover, the majority of the shelter floors were concrete ones and studies have shown that cows prefer to remain standing for longer on such floors (Haufe et al. 2009), which supports the higher SSI in the present study. The cows might have felt more comfortable standing and walking on floors having higher CoF as their feet have a better grip with the floor and thus their AD was lower than cows on lower CoF floors. Cows have a natural predisposition to walk for about an hour a day, at 3-4 km/h, hence many cows in shelters are likely to have an unfulfilled urge for activity (Phillips 2002). Asymmetry in the gait of dairy cows has been found to be less in floors that have low levels of slipperiness (Telezhenko et al. 2017). The reduced gait asymmetry results in an absence of nervousness and walking discomfort (Telezhenko et al. 2017).

The dirtiness of the hind limbs decreased with increasing CoF probably because the cows slipped less, and even because the cows were more confident in their walking and less likely to knock into objects or other cows. These suppositions would need to be confirmed experimentally.

The inclusion of animal-based health indicators in this study has been validated by their significant correlations with the floor coefficient of friction. Other studies have demonstrated correlations between floor characteristics and animal health; for example, it has been revealed that cows have reduced immunity on concrete floors compared to rubber floors, which the authors attributed to increased stress (O'Driscoll et al. 2009).

No effects of the coefficient of friction on other animal-based welfare indicators were observed. The reason could be the variability in flooring in the cow shelters. The fact that the majority of the animal-based indicators were not normally distributed supports this observation.

Future studies could include animal behaviour in more detail, e.g., confidence in walking, knocking into objects or cows, and even the ability of cows to balance on three legs to scratch themselves which would be expected to increase at high friction levels. Subtle indicators of cow comfort on floors of different textures and friction levels are therefore warranted. It would also be interesting to correlate block performance with hooves obtained from an abattoir, as used previously (Phillips et al. 1998). Uneven hooves may enmesh with the floor better, leading to increased CoF. Theoretically, the size of the block will not alter friction, but different sizes may enmesh with the floor surface, depending on its variability in surface smoothness, to a variable degree, leading to differences in CoF.

4.7 Conclusions

Flooring is a vital component of welfare for a cow facility and has been included in most cow welfare assessments in different parts of the world. The purpose of developing this method of measurement of friction of various floors was to provide an easy, affordable, and quick method of assessment. Univariate analysis yielded a correlation of the CoF with shed flooring, bedding, cleanliness of the cow sheds, frequency of cleaning of the floors, gradient of the floors, lesions on the hock joints of the cows, lesions on carpal joints, and on the body. The multivariate analysis led to the identification of confirmed correlates with the friction of floors, which were the type of flooring, the proportion of cows standing, the avoidance distance of the cows, and the presence of dirty hind limbs. This analysis has validated the hypothesis of the present study that CoF does affect the welfare of cows in shelters. The results of this study suggest that this simple measure of floor coefficient of friction could be a useful measure in cow welfare assessments. Further work on the validity, repeatability, and reproducibility of this method for the measurement of slipperiness of flooring of cowsheds is recommended.

Publication included in Chapter 5

Sharma, A.; Umapathy, G.; Kumar, V.; Phillips, C.J.C. 2019 Hair cortisol in sheltered cows and its association with other welfare indicators. *Animals*, vol. 9, no.5, p 248.doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9050248</u>

Author Contributions to the paper

The conceptualization, design and methodology was done by Arvind Sharma, Clive J.C Phillips and G. Umapathy. The data collection was done by Arvind Sharma. The laboratory analysis was done by Arvind Sharma, G Umapathy and Vinod Kumar. The formal statistical analysis and interpretation was done by Arvind Sharma, Clive J.C Phillips and G. Umapathy. Original draft of the paper was prepared by Arvind Sharma and G Umapathy. The writing review and editing was done by Clive J.C Phillips and Arvind Sharma.

Chapter 5

Hair Cortisol in sheltered cows and its association with other welfare indicators 5.1 Abstract

India, the country with the largest population of dairy cows in the world, has a policy of retiring abandoned and non-lactating cows in shelters, but the level of provision for their welfare in these shelters is unclear. Cows in 54 shelters across India were assessed for historic evidence of physiological stress, through determination of hair cortisol in 540 samples from 10 cows in each shelter by enzyme immunoassay. Animal-based and shelter resource-based welfare measures were recorded and correlations with the hair cortisol investigated by multivariable analysis. High hair cortisol concentrations were associated with dung in the lying area of the cowshed, a low dry bulb temperature there and little cow access to yards, as shelter-based variables. At a cow level, high hair cortisol concentrations were associated with dirty flanks, hock joint ulceration, carpal joint injuries, body lesions, dehydration, an empty rumen, old age, and low levels of body hair loss. Hair cortisol level promises to be an effective biomarker of stress in cows when conducting studies under field conditions.

Keywords: hair cortisol; cows; shelters; welfare; measures; resources; indicators

5.2 Introduction

Hair cortisol is a biomarker of chronic stress in animals and its analysis provides an objective assessment of hypothalamic pituitary adrenal (HPA) axis activity over a long time period (Heimbürge et al. 2019). As a welfare measure, it is non-invasive, valuable for longitudinal studies, has a long-time lag for changes and is especially useful for field studies (Yang et al. 1998; Koren et al. 2002; Touma and Palme 2005; Davenport et al. 2006; Sheriff et al. 2010; D'Anna-Hernandez et al. 2011; Macbeth et al. 2012; Russell et al. 2012; Stalder and Kirschbaum 2012; Hernandez et al. 2014). The other matrices for detection of cortisol, principally urine, blood, saliva and faeces, cannot provide long term retrospective evaluations of cortisol (Bévalot et al. 2000; Probst et al. 2014; Tallo-Parra et al. 2015). Hair cortisol analysis is also more reliable to assess long term stress than blood, saliva, urine and faeces because the sebum of hair has lipophilic properties, which facilitate the effective binding and aggregation of the circulating cortisol in the shafts (Koren et al. 2002; D'Anna-Hernandez et al. 2011; Comin et al. 2013; Tallo-Parra et al. 2015; Heimbürge et al. 2019). Hair analysis is now being used to detect long-term retrospective levels of cortisol in farm animals, principally cattle (Comin et al. 2011; del Rosario et al. 2011; Cerri et al. 2012; Comin et al. 2013; Burnett et al. 2014; Hernandez et al. 2014; Tallo-Parra et al. 2015). It has also been analysed in humans (Bévalot et al. 2000), dogs (Bennett and Hayssen 2010), horses (Duran et al. 2017), pigs (Casal et al. 2017) and wild animals, such as rhesus macaques (Davenport et al. 2006), polar bears

(Macbeth et al. 2012), rats (Scorrano et al. 2014), coyotes (Schell et al. 2017), and kangaroos (Sotohira et al. 2017) for studying reproductive and adrenal endocrinology.

Studies have demonstrated the sensitivity of hair cortisol in cattle to the stresses of changes from winter indoor housing to summer pasture grazing and changes in nutrition (Comin et al. 2011; Comin et al. 2013). Enzyme Immunoassay (EIA), Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA), and Radioimmunoassay (RIA) techniques have been deployed to detect and validate milk, plasma and hair cortisol concentrations in cows (Rigalma et al. 2010; Comin et al. 2011; del Rosario et al. 2011; Cerri et al. 2012; Moya et al. 2013; Burnett et al. 2014). However, there is a paucity of information relating to hair cortisol with other welfare indicators for cattle. The purpose of this study was, therefore, to assess hair cortisol concentrations in a range of old, retired and unproductive cows housed in traditional cow shelters or retirement homes (gaushalas) in India and explore its association with other indicators of welfare, measured both on the cows and in their housing conditions. This study was a part of a larger study of the welfare assessment of cows in the cow shelters.

5.3 Materials and Methods

This research study was conducted with animal ethics and human ethics approval from the University of Queensland Animal Ethics Committee (approval number SVS/CAWE/314/16/INDIA). A sample size of 54 shelters was selected based on a power analysis (Creative Research Systems, <u>www.surveysystem.com/sscalc.htm</u>) which indicated that a sample size of 50 shelters would be an adequate representation of shelters in major Indian states. Hence a total of 54 cow shelters were selected in six states of India (Gujarat, Maharashtra, Rajasthan, Punjab, Haryana and Himachal Pradesh. The study was conducted from December 2016 to July 2017. The criteria for selecting a shelter were: a minimum of 30 cows, that it was not a commercial dairy unit (defined as a shelter not selling more than 20 litres milk/day), and that the shelter was managed by a government, temple, public or a philanthropic trust. Power calculations were then performed based on a review of published hair cortisol studies (Comin et al. 2011; del Rosario et al. 2011; Cerri et al. 2012; Moya et al. 2013; Peric et al. 2013; Burnett et al. 2014; Tallo-Parra et al. 2015) that suggested a mean hair cortisol concentration with standard error estimates of 4.99 pg/mg and standard deviation of ± 3.65 pg/mg. To detect a 10% difference between the samples in the present study and a reference sample added to the study samples at a p-value of 0.05 and a power of 0.8, a sample size should be 419 cows was determined (Creative Research Systems, www.surveysystem.com/sscalc.htm). In each shelter, 10 cows that were confirmed by the manager and shelter records had been in the shelter at least 6 months were selected randomly by choosing every third cow in the shed or the yard until the sample size was attained.

5.3.1 Welfare Measurement

These cows were further assessed for their welfare in the shelters by the measurement of both cow and shelter-based parameters. A two-day course on low stress livestock handling and a three-month training was underwent in scoring the cows for assessment of body condition, lameness, claw overgrowth avoidance distance, dirtiness, limb lesions (joint hair loss, ulceration and swellings), skin lesions, rumen fill, faecal consistency and rising behaviour, at the School of Veterinary Science, The University of Queensland. Pilot trials were also conducted to validate the selected welfare measures in two shelters before the commencement of the actual data collection. The cow-based welfare parameters (Appendix 1) assessed were as follows: lactation status (lactating or non-lactating), Body Condition Score (BCS) on a scale of 1 to 5 (Edmonson et al. 1989; Thomsen and Baadsgaard 2006); in increments of 0.25, with score ≤ 1.25 indicating emaciation, 1.5–2 indicating thin, 2.25–3.75 normal and 4 or more obese. General demeanour was assessed by modifying a five-point scale formulated by Cafe et al. (2011) into a dichotomized scale, docile or aggressive.

5.3.1.1 Cleanliness, Lesions and Disease Measures

Details of individual scoring systems are presented in Appendix 1. Dirtiness of the hind limbs, udder and flank and body hair loss were scored as described by Whay et al. (2003b); swellings, hair loss and ulceration of the hock joints and carpal joint injuries using the four-point scales of Wechsler et al. (2000) and Whay et al. (2003b). Lesions were presumed to be predominantly acquired from shelter furniture as a consequence of interaction with sharp nails/metals protruding from shelter gates and/or barbed wire fencing, and manifested in the form of hair and tissue loss. Sharp lacerations and avulsion of the skin were described using the method of Huxley and Whay (2006c), neck lesions by the method of Kielland et al. (2010a) and ocular lesions, nasal discharge, hampered respiration, diarrhoea and vulvar discharge by the method of Coignard et al. (2013). Rumen fill score and the consistency of faeces was evaluated according to the method of (Zaaijer and Noordhuizen 2003) and lameness was assessed using the locomotion scores referred to by Flower and Weary (2006c). Claw overgrowth was visually assessed using the scale devised by Huxley and Whay (2006c). Skin lesions or integument alterations were evaluated using the method of Leeb et al. (2004).

Protocols for teat and udder scoring, skin tenting time, to assess dehydration, and the presence of oral lesions were formulated in this study only, because it was anticipated that emaciation, teat and udder abnormalities and the presence of very old cows would be more common in the shelters than in dairy cow farms, for which other scales had been developed. Ectoparasitism was scored using a modification of the method devised by Popescu et al. (2010).

67

5.3.1.2 Cow Behaviour Measures

The avoidance distance (AD) of the sampled cows in each shelter was used as recommended in the Welfare Quality[®] protocol (Welfare Quality[®] 2009). A cow was approached from immediately in front at a rate of one step per second, starting at 2 m from the manger. The distance between the assessor's hand and the cow's head was estimated at the moment the cow moved away and turned its head, using the following four categories (Appendix 1). Rising difficulty of a sample of 10 cows that were lying down in each shelter was categorized using an existing protocol (Rousing et al. 2004; Chaplin and Munksgaard 2016). All the cows lying in the shelter were coaxed to get up with the use of a minimum amount of force. If the presence of the assessor did not evoke rising they were given one or two moderate slaps on the back, followed by more forceful ones if necessary (for four cows only).

5.3.1.3 Shelter-Based Measures

Shelter-based resource assessments were based on housing features, including cleanliness, bedding, flooring, and water and feed provisions in the shelter. First, the total number of sheds per shelter and the number of animals per shed in the shelter was assessed, then two representative sheds were selected if more than two were present. Then the length, breadth and height of the sheds were recorded using a laser distance meter (CP-3007 model, Ultrasonic distance meter 40 KHz frequency, Chullora, New South Wales, Australia) and confirmed for each one using a measuring tape. From these measurements, the area of the shed and area per cow were calculated. The space allowance per cow in shelters having loose housing was calculated by dividing the floor area of the stall by the total number of cows within. In shelters with stalls, the area/cow was calculated from the floor area of each stall housing a cow (von Keyserlingk et al. 2012; Otten et al. 2016). In tethered stalls, the area per cow was calculated by measuring the distance from the end of the rope at the point of attachment to a peg to the end of the hind limb of the cow at full extension. This length was used as a radius to calculate the maximum potential area of movement of the tethered cows in the sheds.

Luminosity in the sheds was measured using a light meter (LCD Digital Lux Light Meter 9V Tester LX1010B 0 with 100,000 FC Photo Camera, Shenzhen Yongxiang Science and Technology Co., Ltd., Shenzhen, China) pointed in all six possible directions of the face of a cube at the centre of the shed. The mean of the six readings was calculated for each shelter. Dry and wet bulb temperatures were recorded using a digital meter (TS-FT0423 Digital Wireless Indoor Outdoor Thermo-Hygrometer Thermometer Humidity Meter, Sydney, Australia) inside the shelters before any cows were removed. The gradient of the floors in the sheds and the yards were measured at three different places as vertical and horizontal measurements with an inclinometer (Bosch

68

Professional, 600MM, DNM60L Model, Bairnsdale Electrics, Victoria, Australia). Noise levels in the cow shelters were measured at three different locations in the sheds and yards within the herd using an android phone application (Decibel X). Friction levels of the shelter floors were determined as the Coefficient of Friction (CoF), the force required to move an object over a floor divided by the weight of that object (Phillips and Morris 2001; Phillips 2018). This was estimated using a 1 kg/10 N spring balance attached by a hook to a cuboid wooden block (mass 156 g). The block was gently pulled across the floor at a speed of 0.17 m/s and the minimal frictional force (F) required to keep it moving was recorded (Sharma et al. 2019a).

The type of housing (free stall, tie stall, loose, tethered or no housing); roofing (portal, flat, sloped or other); and shed flooring (brick, stone, earthen, concrete or other); presence of bedding in the sheds (present or absent); type of bedding if present (hay, straw, rubber mats or other) and the presence of yards (present or absent) and number of trees in the shelter yards (Bartussek et al. 2000; Cook 2002; Costa et al. 2013; Otten et al. 2016), watering provisions and the number and types of water points (troughs, bowls, natural water bodies or other), were recorded in all the selected sheds and/or yards (von Keyserlingk et al. 2012; Costa et al. 2013). The cleanliness of the shelter premises was recorded by visually assessing the mean percentage of the floor that was covered by dung and urine in the sheds, passages and the yards separately (Regula et al. 2004). The information about the duration of cows' access to these yards (in h/day); access to pasture grazing (present or absent) and duration of access to the pastures (in h/day) was obtained from the interview of the shelter manager.

5.3.2 Hair Cortisol

5.3.2.1 Sampling

Hair samples of approximately 5 g were taken in triplicate from the switch of the tail only, cutting from the base at skin level using scissors disinfected with 70% alcohol between cows, a site recommended in a previous study (Moya et al. 2013) for hair cortisol analysis, and stored in individual plastic zip lock bags at room temperature (approximately 20 °C) in the dark before processing. Hairs present at the switch of the tail were collected irrespective of their colour.

5.3.2.2 Extraction of Cortisol from Hair

Cortisol was extracted from hair samples using a protocol described by Davenport et al. (2006) and modified by Tallo-Parra et al. (2015). Approximately, 250 mg of hair was weighed and washed with 5 mL of isopropanol to remove the external steroid sources. The hair samples were washed twice with water and twice with isopropanol for 3 min each wash to remove the external steroids and dirt. Approximately 250 mg of hair sample was placed in a 15 mL falcon tube before adding 5 mL of water and vortexed for 3 min at room temperature. The samples were then dried,

adding 5 mL of Isopropanol and vortexing for 3 min at room temperature to remove the excessive dirt, urine and faecal contamination. The hair sample was then allowed to dry for 3–4 days in a hot air oven at 40 °C, after which it was minced into 2 mm lengths and pulverized manually into a fine powder using a pestle and mortar. Then 50 mg of hair powder was weighed into 2 mL micro centrifuge tubes, 1.5 mL of absolute methanol was added and shaken at 100 rpm for 18 h at 30 °C for extraction of steroids. After incubation, tubes were centrifuged at $7000 \times g$ for 2 min. Following centrifugation, 0.75 mL of supernatant was transferred into a fresh vial and kept in an oven at 38 °C for drying the supernatant for 24 h. Dried extracts were reconstituted with 300 µL of EIA assay buffer (0.1 M PBS, pH 7, containing 0.1% BSA), vortexed for 30 s and stored at -20 °C until analysis.

5.3.2.3 Cortisol Enzyme Immunoassay (EIA) for Determination of Hair Cortisol Concentration

Hair cortisol samples were analysed at the Centre for Cellular and Molecular Biology in the Laboratory for the Conservation of Endangered Species, an internationally recognized endocrinology laboratory. The hair cortisol concentrations were measured using a polyclonal cortisol antibody (R4866, provided by Dr. Coralie Munro, University of California, Davis, CA, USA), diluted to 1:9000 in the assay. Cross-reactivity of polyclonal cortisol antibody approximated 100% with cortisol, prednisolone 9.9%, prednisone 6.3%, cortisone 5% and <1% with corticosterone, desoxycorticosterone, 21-deoxycortisol, testosterone, androstenedione, androsterone and 11-deoxycortisol (Kumar et al. 2014; Umapathy et al. 2015; Budithi et al. 2016). The cortisol antibody sensitivity was calculated at 90% binding and found to be 1.95 ng/well. The inter- and intra-assay coefficients of variation (CV) of the assays were 7.19% (n = 10) and 2.68% (n = 10), respectively. Hair extracts were pooled and serially diluted (1:2, 1:4, 1:8, 1:16, 1:32) in triplicates (three repetitions i.e., each dilution was made in triplicates) to determine the parallel displacement curves between the pooled hair extract and respective standard of cortisol. Parallelism is the way to determine the immunological activity of antigen (cortisol in hair extract) and antibody (cortisol antibody) using serial dilutions at 50% binding. Parallel displacement curves were drawn to determine the relationship between the pooled serial dilution of hair extracts and their respective standards (Kumar et al. 2014) (Figure 5-1). The enzyme immunoassay (EIA) was performed using the previously described procedure (Kumar et al. 2014; Umapathy et al. 2015; Budithi et al. 2016).



Figure 5-1: The parallelism between the serial dilution of pooled hair extracts of cow samples and cortisol standards.

5.4 Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using the Minitab 17 Statistical Software (Minitab[®] version 17.1.0, Minitab Ltd., Pennsylvania State University, State College, PA, USA), following removal of outliers. Prior to statistical analysis, all data were tested for normal distribution by means of Anderson-Darling test and visualisation of probability distribution curves. Descriptive statistics were calculated and expressed as median, first quartile (Q_1) , third quartile (Q_3) and interquartile range (IQR), as the data were not normally distributed. A univariate analysis was done to evaluate the relationships between various analysed parameters by performing the Spearman's Rank Correlations for cow-based welfare parameters and shelter-based parameters separately. The statistical significance was set at $p \le 0.05$. Then a multivariable analysis was undertaken to reveal associations between the cow hair cortisol (response variable) and other cow-based parameters at the individual cow level as well as with the shelter-based welfare parameters. A principal component analysis was performed in both cases to reduce the data and avoid multicollinearity in order to explain the maximum variance with least number of principal components. The variables which were omitted were lesions from shelter furniture, vulval discharge, neck lesions and hampered respiration. The principal components with eigenvalues of more than one were considered for entry into a stepwise General Linear Model with alpha to remove variables of 0.05. The final models were evaluated for validity by taking into account adjusted r^2 and p-values of the factors and the independency of factor variables assessed by variance inflation factor (VIF) statistics. Factors with VIF < 10 were considered to show the absence of multicollinearity between

factors. The assumptions of homoscedasticity and normal distribution of the residuals were tested graphically. Stability of the modelling process was evaluated by comparing the models from forward and backward selection methods.

5.5 Results

5.5.1 Animal and Shelter Based Measures

The median hair cortisol concentration was 1.43 pg/mg (IQR = 1.02 pg/mg). Descriptive statistics for animal-based and shelter-based parameters are shown in Tables 5-1 and 5-2. None of the parameters, animal- or shelter-based were normally distributed. Out of the 540 sampled cows, median age was 11 years; most were non-lactating, docile, of intermediate body condition and had mild to moderate dirtiness of the hind limbs, udder and flanks. Most had no or only a mild hair loss, mild to moderate hock joint swelling and hair loss on their hock joints, but no, or only mild carpal joint injuries (swelling, hair loss and ulceration). Few cows had lesions on their necks or bodies. There was some evidence of nasal discharge, lameness, claw overgrowth, teat, udder and ocular lesions but little evidence of diarrhoea. Rumen fill was usually intermediate. Mild to moderate levels of ectoparasitism were recorded, mainly in the form of lice and tick infestation, but there was little evidence of clinical dehydration, as evidenced by a skin tenting time. The avoidance distance scores indicated an ability to approach the cows to close range and mostly had had a normal sequence of rising.

The median number of cows per shed was 70, and the shed area per cow was 2.73 m². The median percentage of dung in the lying areas and passages of the sheds was 15% and 10%, respectively. In 83.3% of the sheds (45 sheds) and 88.8% of the yards (48 yards), there was no accumulation of urine in the lying areas and passages. There was no provision of bedding in 96.3% (52 shelters) of the shelters; only two shelters had paddy straw bedding, 0.03 and 0.05 cm thick. There was no water run-off in the lying areas in 72.2% of the shelters (39 shelters). The median height of the eaves of the shed roofing was 3.80 m. The median gradients of the shed flooring in the lying areas and passages was 1.46 and 2.36, respectively, and median CoF of shed floors 0.43. The median luminosity and noise levels in the shed were 582 lux and 27.7 decibels, respectively. The median dry and wet bulb readings in sheds were 29.5 °C and 34%, respectively. There was only one water point in 48% of the shelters, which was mostly located in the yards. Water points were absent in the sheds in 71% shelters. Twenty-three per cent of the shelters had no water points in the yards, 48% had one water point, 18.5% had two water points and only 10.5% shelters had three or more (up to six) water points in their yards. A median 20% of the floor was covered with dung in the shelter yards, but most shelters (88.8%, n = 48) had no urine on the yard floors.

A median of 8 h of access to the yards was provided to the cows in the shelters. The median yard area per cow was 5.9 m^2 and the median CoF and gradient of yard flooring were 0.64 and 1.51. The median noise level in the yards was 25.3 decibels, and the median number of trees in the yards was 2. There was no access to pastures for the cows in 59.2% of the shelters (32 shelters), and 26% of the shelters (14 shelters) provided access to pastures for up to 6 h/day. The median frequency of feeding the cows was three times a day, with the median quantity of fodder fed on a daily basis being 17.5 kg. Dry straw was fed in 18.3% shelters (n = 10), dry straw with agricultural by product waste in 20.4% (n = 11), dry straw with agricultural by product waste and hay in 46.4% (n = 25) and all the three along with greens and vegetable waste in 14.9% shelters (n = 8). Though 86% of the shelters provided concentrates in the form of rice or wheat husk and grains, the quantity received by each cow was less than 0.5 kg/day.

Deremator	Madian	First Quartile	Third	Interquartile
Falameter	Mediali	(Q_1)	Quartile (Q ₃)	Range (IQR)
Cows/shed	70	47.8	137.3	89.5
Shed area/cow (m ²)	2.73	1.56	3.62	2.06
% dung in the lying area of the shed	15.0	5.0	40.0	35.0
% dung in the passages of shed	10.0	5.0	42.5	37.5
Height of shed eaves (m)	3.80	2.99	5.34	2.35
Gradient of shed lying area	1.46	0.96	2.2	1.23
Gradient of shed passages	2.36	1.27	3.52	2.24
Coefficient of friction of shed flooring (CoF)	0.43	0.27	0.65	0.37
Shed Luminosity level (lux)	582	89	1036	946
Shed noise level (decibels)	27.7	21.3	37.2	15.83
Shed dry bulb reading (°C)	29.5	27.2	32.8	5.6
Shed wet bulb reading (%)	34.0	24.7	45.2	20.50
Number of water points in the shelter	1.0	1.0	2.0	1.0
Percent dung in the yard	20	10	40	30
Yard area/cow (m ²)	5.9	3.6	21.5	17.9
Coefficient of friction of yard flooring	0.64	0.24	0.69	0.24
(COF _{yards})	0.04	0.54	0.08	0.54
Gradient of the yard flooring (degrees)	1.51	1.13	2.43	1.30
Nose levels in the yard (decibel)	25.3	20.3	33.0	12.7
Number of trees in the yard	2.0	0.0	6.0	6.0
Provision of ad lib water in the yard	10	0.0	1.0	1.0
Availability of access to yards (h)	8.0	4.0	24.0	20.0
Frequency of feeding to the cows (times/day)	3.0	2.0	3.0	1.0
Quantity of fodder provided (kg)	17.5	13.0	20.0	7.0

Table 5-1: Descriptive statistics of the resource-based welfare parameters in shelters (n = 54)

Daviewister	% Score					
rarameter	0	1	2	3	4	5
Dirty hind limbs score (Scale 0–3)	2.41	43.3	41.8	12.4	-	-
Dirty udder score (Scale 0–3)	21.6	42.7	28.3	7.2	-	-
Dirty flanks score (Scale 0–3)	22.2	39.6	31.8	6.3	-	-
Body hair loss score (Scale 0–3)	46.6	27.5	23.1	2.5	-	-
Hock joint swelling score (Scale 0–3)	38.3	33.5	26.7	1.5	-	-
Hock joint hair loss score (Scale 0–3)	71.8	22.4	5.1	0.5	-	-
Hock joint ulceration score (Scale 0–3)	83.7	13.1	2.9	0.1	-	-
Carpal joint injuries score (Scale 0– 3)	44.0	32.7	22.5	0.5	-	-
Neck lesions score (Scale 1–4)	-	93.5	5	0.5	0.9	
Ocular lesions score (Scale 0–1)	90	10	-	-	-	-
Lesions on the body score (Scale 0– 3)	41.2	32.2	24.2	2.3	-	-
Nasal discharge score (Scale 0–1)	88.1	11.8	-	-	-	-
Diarrhoea score (Scale 0–1)	96.3	3.7	-	-	-	-
Faecal consistency score (Scale 1–5)	-	0.5	4.63	35.9	57.4	1.4
Rumen Fill Score (Scale 1–5)	-	0.0	4.4	38.5	56.8	0.1
Lameness score (Scale 1–5)	-	85.7	9.0	3.3	1.8	-
Claw overgrowth score (Scale 0–3)	54.0	34.6	9.2	2.0	-	-
Teat score (Scale 0–5)	14.6	82.4	0.9	0.3	0.0	1.6
Ectoparasitism score (Scale 0–4)	0.1	56.3	29.8	13.5	0.1	-
Skin tenting time score (Scale 0–4)	90.9	5.7	2.5	0.7	-	-
Rising up difficulty score (Scale 1–5)	-	93.3	3.8	2.9	-	-
Avoidance Distance score (Scale 0– 3)	72.0	20.3	5.8	1.9	-	-

Table 5-2: Distribution of different animal-based welfare parameters in 54 cow shelters (n = 540 cows)

5.5.2 Correlations between Hair Cortisol and Animal and Shelter Based Measures

Several animal-based measures showed weak but significant correlations with hair cortisol (Table 5-3). At the shelter level, the Spearman's Rank Correlations detected a significant positive correlation (CC = -0.298, p = 0.028) between hair cortisol concentration and the presence of runoff water in the shed lying areas. A significant negative correlation (CC = -0.370, p = 0.006) indicated that the hair cortisol concentration decreased with increasing duration of access of the cows into the yards and with the cleaning of areas other than sheds and yards (CC = -0.317, p = 0.019). Significant correlations were observed between variables in both animal and shelter based measures

(Tables 5-5 and 5-6).

Animal-Based Parameter	Correlation Coefficient	<i>p</i> -Value
Dirty hind limbs score	0.232	< 0.001
Dirty udder score	0.270	< 0.001
Dirty flanks score	0.297	< 0.001
Hock joint hair loss score	0.086	0.046
Hock joint ulceration score	0.213	< 0.001
Carpal joint injuries score	0.276	< 0.001
Diarrhoea score	0.152	< 0.001
Rumen fill score	-0.224	< 0.001
Claw overgrowth score	0.157	< 0.001
Lameness score	0.177	< 0.001
Lesions on the body score	0.176	< 0.001
Avoidance distance score	0.222	< 0.001
Age	0.111	0.012
Rising up difficulty score	0.270	< 0.001
Lactation	-0.090	0.041
Body Condition Score (BCS)	-0.173	< 0.001
Ocular lesions score	0.100	0.023
Nasal discharge score	0.149	0.001
Teat and udder score	0.169	< 0.001

Table 5-3: Spearman's Rank Correlation coefficients for hair cortisol concentration (pg/mg) with other animal-based parameters, together with a p-value for each correlation

The multivariable analysis of the animal-based measures with hair cortisol revealed positive correlations with: dirty flanks, hock joint ulceration, carpal joint injuries, lesions on the body skin tenting time, age of the cows and lactation status and a negative correlation with body hair loss and rumen fill score (Table 5-4). The total r^2 adjusted was 20.98% and residuals were normally distributed.

Table 5-4: Regression analysis of animal-based parameters significantly related (p < 0.05) to hair cortisol concentration in $log_{10}pg/mg$

Parameter	Coefficient	SE of Coefficient	<i>p</i> -Value	VIF
Constant	0.20	0.084	0.017	
Dirty flanks	0.07	0.014	≤0.001	1.46
Body hair loss	-0.06	0.018	0.001	2.47
Hock joint ulceration	0.03	0.015	0.04	1.12
Carpal joint injuries	0.04	0.013	0.002	1.21
Rumen fill score	-0.06	0.019	0.002	1.17
Lesions on the body	0.03	0.018	0.04	2.39
Skin tenting time (s)	0.08	0.025	≤0.001	1.15
Age of cows (years)	0.005	0.002	0.03	1.09

VIF = Variance Inflation factor; SE = Standard Error

The relationship was described by the equation:

Hair Cortisol Concentration $(log_{10}pg/mg) = c + 0.20 (\pm 0.084, p = 0.017) + 0.07$ Dirty flanks score $(\pm 0.0142, p < 0.001) - 0.06$ Body hair loss score $(\pm 0.0180, p = 0.001) + 0.03$ Hock joint ulceration score $(\pm 0.0150, p = 0.04) + 0.04$ Carpal joint injuries score $(\pm 0.0139, p = 0.002) - 0.06$ Rumen fill score $(\pm 0.0195, p = 0.002)$ + 0.036 Lesions on the body score $(\pm 0.0182, p = 0.04) + 0.08$ Skin tenting time score $(\pm 0.0252, p < 0.001) + 0.0058$ Age of the cows $(\pm 0.0028, p = 0.03)$, where c is the intercept, which was 0.236 for non-lactating cows and 0.165 for lactating cows (p = 0.02); r² adjusted = 20.98%; residuals were normally distributed.

The multivariable analysis of the shelter-based measures with the mean hair cortisol concentration in cows at the shelter level produced a positive correlation between hair cortisol concentration and % dung in the lying area of the cowshed, and negative correlations with dry bulb temperature reading in the shed and the duration of access of the cows to the yards (Table 5-7). The relationship is described by the equation:

Hair cortisol concentration = c + 0.016 Percentage of dung in the lying area of the cowshed (± 0.00597 , p = 0.02) – 0.15 Dry bulb reading in the shed (± 0.0298 , p (2) = 0.001) – 0.070 Duration of access to the yard (± 0.0241 , p = 0.01),

where c is the intercept, which is 6.15 (p < 0.001); r² adjusted = 65.69%; residuals of the model were normally distributed following visual inspection of their graphical representation.

Table 5-5: Spearman's Rank Correlation	coefficients with p-v	values for hair	cortisol cond	entration
(pg/mg) with resource-based parameters				

Resource-Based Parameter	Correlation Coefficient	<i>p</i> -Value
Shed runoff in the lying area	0.298	0.028
Availability of access to yards	-0.370	0.006
Cleaning of the areas in addition to sheds and yards	-0.317	0.019

Parameter	Correlation Coefficient	<i>p</i> -Value
Temperament score	-0.029	0.511
Hock joint swelling score	0.066	0.137
Neck lesions score	0.012	0.788
Hampered respiration score	-0.066	0.136
Diarrhoea score	0.040	0.366
Vulvar discharge score	0.056	0.209
Faecal consistency score	-0.042	0.344
Ectoparasitism score	0.021	0.635
Shed flooring	-0.007	0.879
Shed bedding type	0.044	0.319
% dung in the lying area	-0.082	0.062
% dung in the passages	0.003	0.947
Presence of urine in shed passages	0.059	0.182
Thickness of bedding	0.044	0.316
Type of yard flooring	0.061	0.166
% dung in the yard	0.076	0.109
Area/cow in the shed	-0.056	0.207
Area/cow in the yard	-0.035	0.466
Frequency of scrapping the floors	-0.014	0.757
Method of floor scrapping	-0.024	0.594

Table 5-6: Spearman's Rank Correlation coefficients with p-values for hair cortisol concentration (pg/mg) with animal-based and resource-based parameters which were not significant (p > 0.05)

Parameter	Coefficient	SE of Coefficient	<i>p</i> -Value	VIF
Constant	6.15	0.881	≤0.001	
Dung in the lying area of shed (%)	0.01	0.005	0.02	1.83
Dry bulb temperature in the shed (°C)	-0.15	0.029	0.001	2.00
Duration of access to yards (h/day)	-0.07	0.024	0.015	1.16

Table 5-7: Regression analysis of resource-based parameters significantly (p < 0.05) related to hair cortisol concentration ($log_{10}pg/mg$)

VIF = Variance Inflation factor; SE = Standard Error.

5.6 Discussion

5.6.1 Hair Cortisol Concentrations

The hair cortisol concentration in the present study was in the similar range to that recorded in some studies in dairy and beef cattle (Comin et al. 2011; del Rosario et al. 2011; Comin et al. 2013; Moya et al. 2013; Peric et al. 2013; Burnett et al. 2014; Tallo-Parra et al. 2015). Though the median hair cortisol concentration was lower in this study, it was still within the similar range reported in previous studies (Table 5-8). The hair samples were cut into 2 mm pieces and pulverised manually, as recommended to maximise extraction of hair cortisol (Burnett et al. 2014; Tallo-Parra et al. 2015). A major difference between this study cows and those cited above was that this study had a much larger number of cows, over a wider geographical area with different agro-climatic conditions and management practices. The different analysis protocols, extraction procedures, climatic and breed variabilities are important factors affecting the results of hair cortisol estimation. There is interplate and intraplate variation in the estimation process, which was below 6% in this study. This is acceptable, and each plate sample was mixed for the required period of time.

Reference	Hair Cortisol Concentration (pg/mg)	Sample Size	
Burnett et al. (2014)	5.7 ± 1.7	18	
del Rosario et al. (2011)	12.15 ± 1.85	5	
Moya et al. (2013)	2.35 ± 0.176	12	
Comin et al. (2013)	$2.1 \pm 0.10 2.9 \pm 0.17$	83	
Comin et al. (2011)	3.29 (0.76–20.41)	257	
	5.12 (1.62–28.95)	218	
Peric et al. (2013)	Holsteins: 5.38 (1.91–27.95)	142	
	Crossbreds: 4.40 (2.11–41.74)	148	
Tallo-Parra et al. (2015)	White hair: 2.1 ± 1.10	17	
	Black hair: 3.9 ± 1.44		

Table 5-8: Comparative results of studies on the analysis of hair cortisol concentration in cattle

5.6.2 Hair Cortisol and Animal-Based Measures

The low hair cortisol concentration in the cows with hair loss is in contrast to the findings of Novak et al. (2014), who observed a positive correlation between hair loss and hair cortisol concentration in Rhesus Macaques. However, this study was inconclusive on whether the relationship between hair loss and hair cortisol concentration was causal or just an association. Moreover, one of the sub groups of macaques showed no relationship between hair loss and elevated hair cortisol concentrations. There is a "wash out effect," in which there is a decline in the hair cortisol concentration from the proximal segments to the distal ones (Kirschbaum et al. (2009) due to the ultraviolet radiation (Wester et al. 2016) or due to the effect of grooming and licking in animals (Acker et al. 2018). The most plausible reason for the result in the present study is adrenal gland fatigue due to extended periods of overactive cortisol production. The overworked adrenal gland works less efficiently and might lead to less cortisol production and other glucocorticoids, which may lead to hair loss. Studies in humans have shown that subjects with hair loss express reduced levels of glucocorticoids due to a weak response to stress (Ito 2010, 2013). However, the adrenal gland fatigue theory has been rejected in a systemic review by endocrinologists (Cadegiani and Kater 2016) citing the absence of substantive proof of this condition due to the methodological and confounding errors in various studies on the relationship between HPA axis activation and adrenal gland fatigue. The cows in the shelters suffer chronic stress due to the health and managemental issues such as old age, low quality feeding practices, less area/cow, improper flooring and cleanliness, highlighted in this study which could activate the HPA axis leading to elevated hair cortisol concentrations.

This is a cross sectional study at a point of time which might not fully explain the causality of the elevated hair cortisol concentrations in shelter cows. A prospective study is recommended to further explore this relation between the HPA axis activation and adrenal gland fatigue. The positive association between the dirtiness of the flanks and hair cortisol in the shelter cows may derive from an indirect effect of dirtiness on stress levels in the body, as dirtiness predisposes animals to diseases and injuries (Busato et al. 2000). Dirtiness reduces hygiene of the cows and exposes the risk of pathogens leading to disease which causes stress (Schreiner and Ruegg 2003; Munoz et al. 2008). The dirtiness of the animals could be due to improper management and high stocking density in the housing facilities (Schubach et al. 2017). The matting of the hair caused by dirtiness might cause minor haemorrhages, putting tension on the epithelial tissue of the skin when strained leading to pain and stress (Jackson and Cockcroft 2008). Faecal contamination of the cows' hair coat causes discomfort, reduces thermoregulation and increases the incidence of disease (Broom and Fraser 2015). The area per cow in the current study was much lower than the recommended for comfort (Leaver 1999; Phillips and Morris 2001) which might have led to dirtiness and stress, thus accounting for the positive correlation between dirtiness of flanks and elevated hair cortisol concentrations. Significant univariable positive correlations were observed between dirty flanks and body hair loss (CC = 0.42, $p \le 0.001$), carpal joint injuries (CC = 0.33, $p \le 0.001$) 0.001), lesions on the body (CC = 0.33, $p \le 0.001$), ectoparasitism (CC = 0.22, $p \le 0.001$), diarrhoea
(CC = 0.14, p = 0.002) and skin tenting time (CC = 0.25, $p \le 0.001$). A negative correlation was observed between dirty flanks and rumen fill score (CC = -0.22, $p \le 0.001$). The positive univariate relationships reveal that the interplay of these animal health indicators is correlated with changes in the hair cortisol concentration in the shelter cows. The effect of dirtiness on the health of cows has been documented in previous studies, underlying the importance of cleanliness in reducing health risks (Schreiner and Ruegg 2003; Ellis et al. 2007). The associations between cleanliness and lesions on the joints and integument alterations have also been reported (Norring et al. 2010).

Hock joint ulceration at the tuber calcis, carpal joint injuries and lesions on the body are painful traumatic lesions which lead to inflammation. The positive correlation between the hair cortisol concentration and the carpal joint injury score and body lesions' score is probably attributable to the activation of the HPA axis due to the stress response of the body to these injuries, at least in dairy cattle (Burnett et al. 2014). However, in the present study, the hair cortisol concentration was found to be elevated in sub clinical health problems (joint and skin injuries and swellings) in contrast to the findings of Burnett et al. (2014), who found no elevation in sub clinical endometritis. This could be because of greater stress caused by the injuries in the limbs and joints than in the case of endometritis.

The negative correlation between rumen fill score and hair cortisol concentration, though weak, may justify its inclusion in the welfare assessment protocol as a cow health signal (Aalseth 2005), being indicative of dry matter intake, fluid intake, the composition of feed, digestibility and the passage rate of the ingested feed (Hartnell and Satter 1979; Aitchison et al. 1986; Llamas-Lamas and Combs 1991; Zaaijer and Noordhuizen 2003). Almost 60% of the cows in this study had a score of 4 which shows low fluid intake and more dry matter, as is common for dry cows. Rumen fill score also indirectly provides an indication of underlying sub clinical disease due to changes in feed intake or dry matter intake (Oetzel 2004). Rumen fill score indirectly provided information about the feeding management, and the latter could be a potential stressor in the shelter cows. Rumen fill score has been used as an indicator of poor health and nutritional stress in cows (Olmos et al. 2009). In this study rumen fill score provides information about the lack of balanced nutrition and health of the cows due to its significant negative univariable association with diarrhoea (CC = -0.12, p = 0.006), ocular lesions (CC = 0.18, $p \le 0.001$), hock joint ulceration (CC = $-0.15, p \le 0.001$) 0.001), carpal joint injuries (CC = -0.14, p = 0.001), lesions on the body (CC = -0.32, $p \le 0.001$), lameness (CC = -0.12, p = 0.006) and claw overgrowth (CC = -0.18, $p \le 0.001$) (Sharma et al. 2019a). Most of these lesions induce chronic pain and could potentiate stress in the cows depicted by elevated hair cortisol levels. The association of rumen fill score with these other health parameters in this study should be interpreted with caution as these scores change over a 24 h

period and in a cross-sectional study at a point of time does not indicate a causal relationship. A routine measurement of this parameter in a cow herd has been suggested to interpret its relevance to predict the cows at risk of developing disorders (Burfeind et al. 2010).

Age and lactation showed a positive association with hair cortisol concentration and are in agreement with Burnett et al. (2014). Lactating cows are challenged physically, metabolically and immunologically as a result of production stress, clinical and sub clinical diseases and immune suppression (Esposito et al. 2014). Aged cows are normally multiparous and harbour subclinical health disorders like metritis that might activate the HPA axis through inflammatory conditions (Dobson and Esslemont 2002), even though Burnett et al. (2014) did not find that sub clinical conditions of endometritis increased hair cortisol. Lactation had significant positive correlations with BCS (CC = 0.15, p = 0.001) and coat condition (CC = 0.12, p = 0.004) in the present study. Contrarily, significant negative relationships between lactation and teat and udder score (CC = -0.59, $p \le 0.001$), ectoparasitism (CC = -0.14, p = 0.001), faecal consistency (CC = -0.13, p =0.002) and age (CC = -0.13, p = 0.003) were observed. Age was significantly but weakly correlated with lactation (CC = -0.13, p = -0.003), BCS (CC = -0.11, p = 0.008), coat condition (CC = -0.09, p = 0.03), lesions on the body (CC = 0.11, p = 0.007), faecal consistency (CC = 0.08, p = 0.04), teat and udder score (CC = 0.11, p = 0.007), ocular lesions (CC = 0.10, p = 0.02), hock joint swelling (CC = 0.13, p = 0.002), hock joint hairloss (CC = 0.15, p = 0.001) and hock joint ulceration (CC = 0.13, p = 0.002)0.11, p = 0.01). In a study on dairy cows (Peric et al. 2013) greater hair cortisol concentrations were reported in heifers than two-year-old cows. This was explained because of the diffusion of circulating cortisol concentrations in blood into the hair follicles following the stimulation of the adrenal gland of the cows by the foetal pituitary adrenal axis. However, the pregnancy of these cows could be the confounding factor in this elevation of hair cortisol levels. Similar correlations between lameness and dirtiness, hock lesions and lactations have been observed in previous studies (Relun et al. 2013; Bergsten et al. 2015; Nash et al. 2016).

All of the locations reflecting dirtiness of the cows i.e., flanks, udder and/or hind limbs, had significant positive relationships with carpal joint injuries (CC = 0.32, $p \le 0.001$), claw overgrowth (CC = 0.27, $p \le 0.001$), lameness (CC = 0.27, $p \le 0.001$), nasal discharge (CC = 0.11, p = 0.01), diarrhoea (CC = 0.12, p = 0.004), lesions on the body (CC = 0.33, $p \le 0.001$) and skin tenting time (CC = 0.24, $p \le 0.001$). The interrelationships between these parameters of cleanliness and cow health suggest a cumulative stress on the cows which could have been revealed by the elevated hair cortisol concentrations. Similar univariable relationships have been observed between different health and resource-based welfare parameters in welfare assessment in dairy cows (Regula et al. 2004).

Many of these welfare parameters were weakly correlated with each other and associations are not strong. However, these were not ignored because they represented different aspects of welfare. For this reason, they were analysed separately with each other though it had the disadvantage that spurious associations might appear significant as multiple analysis were performed. So, caution against the over-interpretation of single statistically significant variables is advised, as concluded by Regula et al. (2004).

5.6.3 Hair Cortisol and Shelter-Based Measures

The positive relationship of the hair cortisol concentration and the percentage of dung in the lying area of the cows in the shelters is almost certainly linked to the effect observed on the dirtiness of the cows. Dung in the lying areas makes the cows dirtier and hence susceptible to diseases and infection, leading to stress (Schreiner and Ruegg 2003; Munoz et al. 2008).

The negative relationship between hair cortisol concentration and dry bulb temperature in the shelters in the present study is hard to explain. The thermal comfort zone for cattle is between 5 and 25°C (McDowell 1972) and in the current study, the median dry bulb temperature recorded in the shelters was 29.5°C, above the thermoneutral zone. Examination of the data suggests that there was elevated hair cortisol when the ambient temperature was higher or lower than this range. Plasma cortisol concentrations have been found to be inconsistently related to higher temperatures, with studies showing an increase (Satterlee et al. 1977; Wise et al. 1988b; Elvinger et al. 1992), decrease (Collier et al. 1982; Correa-Calderon et al. 2004) or no changes (El-Nouty et al. 1980; Wise et al. 1988a; Johnson et al. 1991).

The negative association of the hair cortisol concentration and the access to the yards of the shelters (CC = -0.32, p = 0.01) suggests benefits of greater ease of movement. There were significant relationships between hair cortisol concentrations and hock lesions, cleanliness levels of cows, claw overgrowth and lameness in the univariable analysis in this study (Table 5-3). Reviews on studies about the benefits of loose housing with yards have shown that there is a low incidence of lameness, hoof pathologies, hock injuries, uterine affections and cleanliness in cows with such facilities, leading to less stress and better welfare (Arnott et al. 2017). Cattle like spending time on concrete pads rather than the muddy wet soil of the yards where poor hygiene prevails and might lead to immunosuppression (Chen et al. 2017). One study (Olmos et al. 2009) found no changes in the circulating plasma cortisol levels in pasture-grazed cows and totally housed cows. Another study (Comin et al. 2011) found elevation in hair cortisol levels when cows were moved from housing to summer pastures, though the freedom from confinement and better nutrition could be confounders. The lower hair cortisol concentrations in the present study in cows having access to yards and pastures point to long term effects on the welfare of the cows.

5.7 Limitations of the Study

The parameters measured in this study were assumed to be accurate reflections of what it was needed to measure, which may not always have been the case. For example, it was not known whether cortisol concentration in hair is linearly related to the welfare of the cattle. Measurement techniques were, it is believed, the best available and informed by a full literature review, but again these might have inherent inaccuracies. For example, this study assumed that hair cortisol was best measured from tail hairs, as suggested previously (Moya et al. 2013), and did not compare cortisol between or within sites. The repeatability and reliability of many of the measures used is not yet known and should be the subject of further study.

In terms of the number of animals sampled, to author's knowledge, this is the largest study so far on the assessment of hair cortisol concentrations in cows. There are conflicting reports on other studies conducted on the hair cortisol concentration of cattle, a topic which needs further assessment, for example, cows of different hair colours (Tallo-Parra et al. 2015; Ghassemi Nejad et al. 2017), to produce guidelines that can be built into future studies. However, the relationships observed suggest that hair cortisol is a good matrix to assess stress levels and hence the welfare status of cattle in facilities from a historical perspective.

5.8 Conclusions

Hair cortisol concentrations in shelters cows were elevated by the dirtiness of the cows, swellings and injuries of the limbs and body, age lactation and dehydration in the cows in the shelters. A negative association was found in the hair cortisol concentration and hock joint swelling, rumen fill and body hair loss. Evidence of a weak relationship was found between the hair cortisol concentration of the cows and the dry bulb temperature depicting the low levels in zones of thermoneutrality. Shelters providing access to the yards and having clean lying areas had cows with lower hair cortisol levels. This study was an analysis of welfare issues in the cow shelters at only one point in time, but a longitudinal study of cows from the time at which they enter the shelter could add further information on stress responses.

Publication included in Chapter 6

Sharma, A.; Phillips, C.J.C. 2019 Lameness in sheltered cows and its association with cow and shelter attributes. Animals 2019, 9(6):360.doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9060360</u>

Author Contributions to the paper

The conceptualization, design and methodology was done by Arvind Sharma and Clive J.C Phillips and Catherine Schuetze. The field data collection and investigation was done by Arvind Sharma. The formal analysis and interpretation was done by Arvind Sharma and Clive J.C Phillips. Original draft of the paper was prepared by Arvind Sharma. The writing review and editing was done by Clive J.C Phillips and Arvind Sharma.

Chapter 6

Lameness in sheltered cows and its association with cow and shelter attributes 6.1 Abstract

The sheltering of old, unproductive and abandoned cows in traditional cow shelters, known as gaushalas, has been practiced in India since ancient times. Cows are kept in these shelters until they die of natural causes. The welfare of the cows in these shelters was assessed through a crosssectional study of 54 cow shelters in six states of India. A total of 1620 cows were examined to assess the prevalence of lameness in these cows, and the associated risk factors for lameness were identified through the measurement of animal-based and resource-based welfare indicators. The overall lameness prevalence was 4.2%. The majority (86%) had mild to moderate hock joint swellings but no or only mild carpal joint injuries. Approximately one-half had mild to moderate hock joint hair loss and most were free of hock joint ulcerations. Claw overgrowth was present in almost one half of the cows. Lameness prevalence was positively correlated with coat dirtiness, hock and carpal joint lesions, diarrhoea and claw overgrowth scores. In a multivariate analysis, lameness prevalence increased as the Body Condition Score (BCS) decreased and was associated with increased udder dirtiness, the ulceration of the hock joint, carpal joint injuries and claw overgrowth. Resource-based indicators measured at the shelter level suggested that an absence of bedding in the sheds and an increase in the gradient of the shed flooring increased lameness. Addressing the principle risk factors identified for lameness in the sheltered cows (low body condition, dirty udders, lesions on the hock and carpal joints, overgrown claws, and a steep floor gradient) may help to reduce this serious animal welfare problem.

Keywords: cow shelters; lameness; risk factors; welfare assessment; indicators

6.2 Introduction

The sheltering of old, abandoned, unproductive and stray cows in traditional cow shelters, or Gaushalas, is a five-thousand-year-old tradition in India (Yadav 2007). The cows are housed in shelters until they die of natural causes. The management of these shelters is organized by temples and public trusts, with the financial support of the public, philanthropists, non-governmental organizations and the Indian Government (Mandi et al. 2018). Animal health care management is a major challenge faced by shelter managers due to the paucity of funds and lack of trained manpower (Yadav 2007; Kachhawaha et al. 2015).

Determining the relationships between husbandry practices and cow health is important to develop protocols for husbandry that will improve welfare (Farm Animal Welfare Council 1993a). Lameness is a health problem in cows that has significant welfare implications due to the pain

induced, the effects on mobility, the long duration of the illness (Phillips 1990) and its greater prevalence in herds all over the world (Cook 2003; Bicalho et al. 2007; Vermunt 2007). Most welfare assessments of cattle herds have lameness as one of the most important animal-based measures in their protocol (Whay et al. 2003d; Napolitano et al. 2005; Mülleder et al. 2007; Botreau et al. 2009; Knierim and Winckler 2009). Prevalence rates of lameness in dairy herds range from 17 to 35% in most parts of the world where it has been measured, including the United Kingdom, Canada, Italy, United States, and Malaysia (Cook 2003; Espejo et al. 2006; Bicalho et al. 2009; Barker et al. 2010; Solano et al. 2015; Sadiq et al. 2017). The reported incidence of lameness in dairy cows in India ranges from 8.1 to 30.5% (Singh 1998; Sood and Nanda 2006; Chakrabarti and Kumar 2016). Intensively managed systems are particularly associated with lameness in cattle (Cook and Nordlund 2009). Known risk factors include lying behavior, hock lesions, limb hygiene, inadequate stall dimensions, insufficient or low-quality bedding, slippery walking surfaces, and exposure of the feet to slurry (Faull et al. 1996; Borderas et al. 2004; Dembele et al. 2006; Barker et al. 2007; Fregonesi et al. 2007a; Sadiq et al. 2017). The prevalence of lameness in cow shelters has been reported in the descriptive study (Chapter 3) and the same data set has been used in this study for further analysis of the association of lameness with other animal- and shelter-based welfare parameters. There is a possibility of such association if the shelters have conditions, such as poor flooring that predispose the cows to lameness. Therefore, the objective of this study was to determine the associated risk factors with lameness in a cross-sectional study of the welfare of cows in shelters.

6.3 Materials and Methods

Cows in 54 shelters (gaushalas) located in the six states of India (Gujarat, Maharashtra, Rajasthan, Punjab, Haryana and Himachal Pradesh) were assessed for their welfare. These six states are located in the northern and western part of India, have the most shelters, and have a tradition of sheltering cows, except one (Himachal Pradesh), which is establishing new shelters to manage the street cow problem. Of the 54 shelters, 26 were visited on the advice of state veterinary officers or the Animal Welfare Board of India (AWBI), and the remaining shelters were chosen using a snowballing technique, taking recommendations from shelter managers. There was no significant difference (p < 0.05) between shelters obtained by the two methods in any measured parameter when compared by analysis of variance or a Moods median test (in the case of non-normal residuals). A single 2 day visit was made to each shelter between December 2016 and July 2017. In each shelter, 30 cows were sampled, following a power calculation to determine the required numbers of cows and shelters (Hsieh et al. 1998), to detect an odds ratio of 4 with a power of 0.8 and $\alpha = 0.05$. The sample size of 30 cows was sufficient to estimate within-herd prevalence with an

error of 10% at a 95% level of confidence. Cows were selected by choosing every third cow in the shed or the yard, and 1620 cows were sampled in total.

Data collection included the recording of direct observations of the cows and measurements, as well as the recording of the various housing parameters (resource-based parameters). Management data (feeding time and regime, frequency of water provision to the cows if not available ad libitum, duration of pasture grazing and access to yards, frequency of scraping the floors) were collected in a 30-minute interview of the shelter manager, based on a predesigned questionnaire(Appendix 4). Twelve animal-based parameters were chosen based on a literature search and author's experience of welfare issues in shelters: lameness score, lactation status, cow age, Body Condition Score (BCS), dirtiness of the hind limbs, dirtiness of the udder, dirtiness of the flanks, hock joint swellings, hock joint hair loss, hock joint ulceration, carpal joint injuries and claw overgrowth.

6.3.1 Animal-Based Welfare Parameters

Lameness scoring was undertaken by scoring the locomotion of each sampled cow according to a 5-point scale (Table 6-1) developed by Sprecher et al. (1997). The lactation status (lactating or non-lactating) of the cows was recorded, and the age of each cow was approximated from the shelter's records, an interview with the shelter managers and from the cows' teeth. The BCS was assessed by visual inspection of the cows from the side and back of the cows, with units ranging from 1 (lean) to 5 (fat), scored to quarter points as described by Edmonson et al. (1989) and modified by Thomsen and Baadsgaard (2006). Cows with a score of \leq 1.25 were considered emaciated, 1.5–2 thin, 2.25–3.75 normal and 4 or more obese.

Locomotion Score	Interpretation	Description of Locomotion
1	Normal	Normal walk with a flat back
2	Mild lameness	Normal walk but with an arched back
3	Moderate lameness	Slight abnormal walk, short stride with one or more legs
4	Lameness	Visibly lame, but able to bear some weight on all legs
5	Severe lameness	Almost complete transfer of weight from an affected leg

Table 6-1: Lameness Scoring System used in the study to determine the prevalence of lameness

^a Adopted from Sprecher et al. (1997)

The dirtiness of the hind limbs, udder, flanks and body hair loss was assessed by visual inspection on both sides of the cow and from behind, as described by Whay et al. (2003b): 1—no dirtiness; 2—mildly dirty (small soiled areas of dirtiness with no thick scabs); 3—medium dirtiness (large soiled areas but with < 1-cm thick scabs of dung) and 4—severely dirty (large soiled areas with > 1-cm thick dung scabs). The body hair loss score was assessed as: 1—no hair loss, 2—mild hair loss, 3—moderate hair loss, and 4—severe hair loss (Whay et al. 2003b).

The hock region was defined as the lateral tarsus, medial tarsus and the lateral, medial and dorsal calcaneus. Both of the hind limbs of each cow were visually inspected and examined. Hock lesions included hair loss, ulcerations and swellings in a modification of the method of Wechsler et al. (2000) and Whay et al. (2003b). Hair loss and ulceration on the joints were scored as: 0—no hair loss or ulceration, 1—mild hair loss or ulceration $< 2 \text{ cm}^2$, 2—medium hair loss or ulceration (approximately 2.5 cm²), 3—severe hair loss or ulceration $> 2.5 \text{ cm}^2$. Hock joint swellings were scored as: 1—mild swollen joint, 2—medium swollen joint, and 3—severely swollen joint. Carpal joint injuries were scored as: 0—no skin change, 1—hairless, 2—swollen, and 3—with wound (Wechsler et al. 2000). Claw overgrowth was visually inspected on each sampled cow and scored according to the scale devised by Huxley and Whay (2006c): 0—normal claw, 1—mild claw overgrowth, 2—moderate claw overgrowth, and 3—severe claw overgrowth.

6.3.2 Resource-Based Welfare Parameters

The area of each shelter shed was calculated after measuring the length and breadth of shed using a laser distance meter (CP-3007 model, ultrasonic distance meter 40KHz frequency, Chullora, New South Wales, Australia), confirmed by measurement with a measuring tape. The space allowance per cow in the shed was calculated by dividing the area of the shed by the total number of cows housed within that shed. In shelters with cows in tie-stalls, the space allowance was calculated by finding the area covered by a cow in each such stall (Otten et al. 2016). In shelters where the cows were tethered but not in stalls, the space allowance was calculated by measuring the length of tether rope from where it was tied to a peg to the hind limb of the cow when fully extended. This allowed calculation of the diameter of a semicircular area in which the cows was able to move. Using the formula for calculating the area of a semi-circle ($\pi r^2/2$), the area per cow was calculated for each tethered cow.

The types of flooring of the sheds and yards were recorded. The Coefficient of Friction (CoF) of the flooring of the shed was determined as the force required to move an object on a floor, divided by the weight of the object (Phillips and Morris 2001), using a 1-kg/10N spring balance attached by a hook to a cuboid wooden block weighing 156 g. This block was gently pulled across the floor at a speed of 0.17 m/second and the minimal frictional force (F) required to keep it moving was recorded (Sharma et al. 2019a). The CoF in the lying areas and passages of the shelter sheds was calculated using the above-mentioned formula. The presence or absence of bedding in the shelter sheds and type of bedding of the sheds was recorded by visual inspection.

The cleanliness levels of the shelters were assessed by estimation of the percentage of floor covered by dung in the lying areas and passages of sheds and yards (Regula et al. 2004). Similarly, the proportion of the floor covered with urine in lying areas and the passages of the sheds was

visually determined. The average gradient of the flooring in the shed lying areas, passages and yards was recorded at three different places using vertical and horizontal measurements with an inclinometer (Bosch Professional, 600MM, DNM60L Model, Clayton, Australia).

6.4 Statistical Analysis

Descriptive and other statistical analyses were conducted using statistical software Minitab 17 Statistical Software (Minitab[®] version 17.1.0, Minitab Ltd., Pennsylvania State University, State College, PA, USA). Variables were tested for normality by the Anderson–Darling test (Evans et al. 2017). The univariate analysis of cow-based variables for each shelter was conducted using Spearman's rank correlations, because not all of the variables were found normally distributed by the Anderson–Darling test. This investigated correlations between mean shelter values for lameness and the other cow-based variables, which were continuously distributed.

Two sub-models were then generated for the data analysis. In the first, cow-based risk factors for lameness were examined in a multivariate analysis. An ordinal regression modeling using all five lameness scores as outcome variables, but the models did not show a biologically plausible association between lameness and predictors. This was because there were very few cows with scores of 4 or 5. Hence lameness scores were transformed into binary values, cows that were clinically not lame (0), and scores of 3, 4 and 5 as clinically lame cows (1). A binary logistic regression analysis with the logit procedure and the modeled outcome lameness (present or not), based on the locomotion score of the sampled cows, was undertaken. Predictor variables (dirty hind limbs, udder, flanks, body hair loss, hock joint swellings, hock joint hair loss, hock joint ulceration, carpal joint injuries, diarrhea and claw overgrowth) were also dichotomized by classifying them as the absence of a lesion/change (scores 0 and 1) or the presence of a lesion (scores 2, 3 and 4, as prescribed by the scoring system of the variable). Thus, these dichotomous variables were defined as 0 or 1, with 1 representing the expected increased risk. Observations within shelters were accounted for by including shelter as a clustering effect in the model. The residuals were analyzed to explore the basic assumptions of logistic regression and model fit, according to (Dohoo et al. 2009b). The graphical examination of the residuals showed them to be normally distributed. Levels of significance were set as $p \le 0.05$ for all analyses.

In the second sub-model, resource-based and management parameters were analyzed at the shelter level. Lameness prevalence estimates at the shelter level were used as the outcome in analyzing risk factors. The multivariate analysis of the effects of lameness on resource-based parameters was performed by a Stepwise General Linear Model (GLM) with α to enter at 0.15. The residuals were normally distributed (p = 0.27) but were also examined graphically.

6.5 Results

6.5.1 Animal-Based Welfare Parameters

Categorical animal-based parameters are enumerated in Table 6-2. The overall prevalence of lameness in the cow shelters was 4.2%. Out of the 1620 cows examined, only 69 cows were clinically lame (locomotion scores 3 to 5; 3—3.2%, n = 53, 4—0.9%, n = 15, and 5—0.06%, n = 1). Most (n = 1373, 84.7%) of the cows were not lame (score 1), and 11% (n = 178) of the cows had mild/subclinical lameness (score 2).

Parameter	Score 0	Score 1	Score 2	Score 3	Score 4	Score 5
Lameness score (scale 1–5)	-	84.7 (1373)	10.9 (178)	3.2 (53)	0.9 (15)	0.06 (1)
Lactation status (scale 0, non- lactating, 1, lactating)	87.9 (1425)	12.04 (195)	-	-	-	-
Dirty hind limbs score (scale 0–3)	2.3 (38)	42.5 (690)	43.02 (697)	12.04 (195)	-	-
Dirty udder score (scale 0–3)	17.4 (283)	44.5 (722)	31.4 (509)	6.5 (106)	-	-
Dirty flanks score (scale 0–3)	19.5 (316)	42.2 (684)	32.0 (519)	6.2 (101)	-	-
Body hair loss score (scale 0–3)	44.9 (728)	30.3 (492)	22.9 (371)	1.7 (29)	-	-
Body Condition Score (BCS) (scale 1–5) $1(\le 1.25)$ 2(1.5-2) 3(2.25-3.75) 4(4 and above)	-	0.1 (2)	22.8 (371)	75.4 (1223)	1.4 (24)	
Hock joint swelling score (scale $0-3$)	11.7 (191)	22.3 (262)	63.7 (1032)	2.1 (35)	-	-
Hock joint hair loss score (scale 0–3)	22.9 (372)	49.3 (800)	27.3 (443)	0.3 (5)	-	-
Hock joint ulceration score (scale 0–3)	53.6 (869)	33.2 (539)	12.9 (210)	0.1 (2)	-	-
Carpal joint injuries score (scale 0–3)	44.8 (726)	31.8 (516)	23.0 (373)	0.3 (5)	-	-
Claw overgrowth score (scale 0–3)	52.4 (850)	36.3 (589)	9.6 (156)	1.5 (25)		
Diarrhea (scale 0–1)	95.7 (1551)	4.3 (69)	-	-	-	-

Table 6-2: Percentage of cows in each category (number) of animal-based welfare parameters in 54 shelters (n = 1620 cows), see text for details of scoring systems

The median age of the cows in the shelters was 11 years ($Q_1 = 8$, $Q_3 = 14$ years; Inter Quartile Range (IQR) = 6 years) and the majority were non-lactating (87.9%, n = 1425). The median BCS was 2.75 ($Q_1 = 2.25$ and $Q_3 = 3.25$; IQR = 1.0), most cows being in the normal range for the BCS, i.e., 2.25 to 3.75 (75.4%, n = 1233). Some were thin (BCS range of 1.5 to 2, 22.8%, n = 371) and very few were obese (BCS 4 and above, 1.4%, n = 24).

Most cows had mild to moderately dirty (scores 2 and 3) hind limbs (85.6%, n = 1387), udder (75.9%, n = 1231) and flanks (74.2%, n = 1203). Almost half of the cows had no body hair loss (score 1, 45%, n = 728) and the rest had just mild to moderate hair loss (scores 2 and 3) (53.2%, n = 863). Hock joint swellings and hair loss were mostly mild or moderate (swellings 86%, n = 1394; hair loss 76.6%, n = 1243). Hock joint ulceration was mostly absent (score 0, 53.6%, n = 869), but mild ulceration (score 1, 33.2%, n = 539) was common and moderate ulceration occasional (score 2, 12.9%, n = 210). Carpal joint injuries were mostly either absent (score 0) or mild (score 1) (total 86.6%, n = 124). Claw overgrowth was absent (score 0) in 52.4% of the cows (n = 850), but mild overgrowth was common (36.3%, n = 589) and moderate or severe claw overgrowth levels (scores 2 and 3) occasionally observed (11%, n = 181). Diarrhea was observed (score 1) in 4.2% of the cows (n = 69).

6.5.1.1 Relationship between Lameness and Animal-Based Measures

The univariate analysis of the animal-based welfare measures by Spearman's rank correlation found significant (p < 0.05) positive correlations of lameness with dirtiness of hind limbs, udder, and flanks, and also with body hair loss, carpal joint injuries, diarrhea, claw overgrowth, cow age and hock joint swelling, hair loss and ulceration (Table 6-3).

Table 6-3: Significant (p < 0.05) Spearman's rank correlations between lameness (scores from 1 (not lame) to 5 (severely lame) and other animal-based variables

Age (years) 0.099 ≤ 0.001 Dirty hind limbs score (scale 0-3) 0.147 ≤ 0.001 Dirty udder score (scale 0-3) 0.160 ≤ 0.001 Dirty flanks score (scale 0-3) 0.160 ≤ 0.001 Body hair loss score (scale 0-3) 0.060 0.015 Hock joint swelling score (scale 0-3) 0.064 0.010 Hock joint hair loss score (scale 0-3) 0.051 0.040 Hock joint ulceration score (scale 0-3) 0.223 ≤ 0.001 Carpal joint injuries score (scale 0-3) 0.223 ≤ 0.001 Diarrhea score (scale 0-1) 0.112 ≤ 0.001 Claw overgrowth score (scale 0-3) 0.360 ≤ 0.001	Variables	Correlation Coefficient	<i>p</i> -Value
Dirty hind limbs score (scale 0-3) 0.147 ≤ 0.001 Dirty udder score (scale 0-3) 0.160 ≤ 0.001 Dirty flanks score (scale 0-3) 0.188 ≤ 0.001 Body hair loss score (scale 0-3) 0.060 0.015 Hock joint swelling score (scale 0-3) 0.064 0.010 Hock joint hair loss score (scale 0-3) 0.051 0.040 Hock joint ulceration score (scale 0-3) 0.092 ≤ 0.001 Carpal joint injuries score (scale 0-3) 0.223 ≤ 0.001 Diarrhea score (scale 0-1) 0.112 ≤ 0.001 Claw overgrowth score (scale 0-3) 0.360 ≤ 0.001	Age (years)	0.099	≤0.001
Dirty udder score (scale 0-3) 0.160 ≤ 0.001 Dirty flanks score (scale 0-3) 0.188 ≤ 0.001 Body hair loss score (scale 0-3) 0.060 0.015 Hock joint swelling score (scale 0-3) 0.064 0.010 Hock joint hair loss score (scale 0-3) 0.051 0.040 Hock joint ulceration score (scale 0-3) 0.092 ≤ 0.001 Carpal joint injuries score (scale 0-3) 0.223 ≤ 0.001 Diarrhea score (scale 0-1) 0.112 ≤ 0.001 Claw overgrowth score (scale 0-3) 0.360 ≤ 0.001	Dirty hind limbs score (scale 0–3)	0.147	≤0.001
Dirty flanks score (scale 0-3) 0.188 ≤ 0.001 Body hair loss score (scale 0-3) 0.060 0.015 Hock joint swelling score (scale 0-3) 0.064 0.010 Hock joint hair loss score (scale 0-3) 0.051 0.040 Hock joint ulceration score (scale 0-3) 0.092 ≤ 0.001 Carpal joint injuries score (scale 0-3) 0.223 ≤ 0.001 Diarrhea score (scale 0-1) 0.112 ≤ 0.001 Claw overgrowth score (scale 0-3) 0.360 ≤ 0.001	Dirty udder score (scale 0–3)	0.160	≤0.001
Body hair loss score (scale 0-3) 0.060 0.015 Hock joint swelling score (scale 0-3) 0.064 0.010 Hock joint hair loss score (scale 0-3) 0.051 0.040 Hock joint ulceration score (scale 0-3) 0.092 ≤ 0.001 Carpal joint injuries score (scale 0-3) 0.223 ≤ 0.001 Diarrhea score (scale 0-1) 0.112 ≤ 0.001 Claw overgrowth score (scale 0-3) 0.360 ≤ 0.001	Dirty flanks score (scale 0–3)	0.188	≤ 0.001
Hock joint swelling score (scale 0-3) 0.064 0.010 Hock joint hair loss score (scale 0-3) 0.051 0.040 Hock joint ulceration score (scale 0-3) 0.092 ≤ 0.001 Carpal joint injuries score (scale 0-3) 0.223 ≤ 0.001 Diarrhea score (scale 0-1) 0.112 ≤ 0.001 Claw overgrowth score (scale 0-3) 0.360 ≤ 0.001	Body hair loss score (scale 0–3)	0.060	0.015
Hock joint hair loss score (scale 0-3) 0.051 0.040 Hock joint ulceration score (scale 0-3) 0.092 ≤ 0.001 Carpal joint injuries score (scale 0-3) 0.223 ≤ 0.001 Diarrhea score (scale 0-1) 0.112 ≤ 0.001 Claw overgrowth score (scale 0-3) 0.360 ≤ 0.001	Hock joint swelling score (scale 0–3)	0.064	0.010
Hock joint ulceration score (scale 0-3) 0.092 ≤ 0.001 Carpal joint injuries score (scale 0-3) 0.223 ≤ 0.001 Diarrhea score (scale 0-1) 0.112 ≤ 0.001 Claw overgrowth score (scale 0-3) 0.360 ≤ 0.001	Hock joint hair loss score (scale 0–3)	0.051	0.040
Carpal joint injuries score (scale 0-3) 0.223 ≤ 0.001 Diarrhea score (scale 0-1) 0.112 ≤ 0.001 Claw overgrowth score (scale 0-3) 0.360 ≤ 0.001	Hock joint ulceration score (scale 0–3)	0.092	≤0.001
Diarrhea score (scale $0-1$) 0.112 ≤ 0.001 Claw overgrowth score (scale $0-3$) 0.360 ≤ 0.001	Carpal joint injuries score (scale 0–3)	0.223	≤0.001
Claw overgrowth score (scale $0-3$) $0.360 \leq 0.001$	Diarrhea score (scale 0–1)	0.112	≤0.001
	Claw overgrowth score (scale 0–3)	0.360	≤0.001

In the multivariate analysis, lameness, as a binary outcome variable, was related with the BCS of the cows, udder dirtiness, hock joint ulceration, carpal joint injuries and claw overgrowth (Table 6-4). Lame cows were associated with a low BCS (OR = 0.64, CI = 0.42-0.97), but lameness was increased in cows with dirty udders (OR = 2.13, CI = 1.25-3.61), hock joint ulcerations (OR = 2.54, CI = 1.10-5.84), carpal joint injuries (OR = 3.75, CI = 1.81-7.75) or overgrown claws (OR = 2.67, CI = 1.50-4.73).

Parameter/Variable	Coefficient	Odds Ratio (OR)	Confidence Interval (CI)	<i>p</i> -Value
Constant	-3.974	-	-	≤0.001
Body Condition Score (BCS)	-0.444	0.64	0.42–0.97	0.03
Dirty udder	0.758	2.13	1.25–3.61	0.004
Hock joint ulceration	0.934	2.54	1.10–5.84	0.04
Carpal joint injuries	1.322	3.75	1.81–7.75	< 0.001
Claw overgrowth	0.983	2.67	1.50-4.73	< 0.001

Table 6-4: Binary logistic regression of lameness with other animal-based welfare parameters in shelter cows (n = 1620)

6.5.2 Shelter and Resource-Based Welfare Parameters at the Shelter Level

The median space availabilities provided for the cows in the sheds and yards were 2.73 and 5.90 m²/cow, respectively. Four types of floors were found in the shelters—earth, brick, stone and concrete. Concrete floors were the most predominant (42 sheds), followed by earth (21 sheds), brick (19 sheds) and stone (4 sheds). The floors of the yards were predominantly earth (41 yards), followed by concrete (19 yards), brick (13 yards) and stone (3 yards). The median CoF of the shed flooring was 0.43. In 96% of the shelters, no bedding was provided. The median percentages of dung present in the lying areas and passages of the shed were 15 and 10%, respectively. The median percentage of dung in the yards was 20%. The average floor gradient in the shed lying area, shed passage and shelter yard was 1.46, 2.36 and 1.51, respectively (Table 6-5). In 83.3% (45 shelters) of the lying areas and passages of the sheds, urine was not found accumulated on any part of the floors. In 89% of the yards (48 shelters), there was no accumulation of urine on the floors. The median values of duration of access to yards and pastures were 8 hours/d and zero. Shelter yards were usually cleaned twice in a day.

Parameter	1st Quartile (Q_1)	Median	Third Quartile (Q ₃)	Inter Quartile Range (IQR)
Shed area per cow (m^2/cow)	1.56	2.73	3.62	2.06
Yard area per cow (m ² /cow)	3.60	5.90	21.50	17.90
Coefficient of friction of shed flooring (CoF)	0.27	0.43	0.65	0.37
Percentage of dung present in lying areas of the shed	5.00	15.00	40.00	35.00
Percentage of dung present in passages of the shed	5.00	10.00	42.50	37.50
Percentage of dung present in the yards	10.0	20.0	40.0	30.0
Average gradient of the flooring of lying areas of the shed (%)	0.96	1.46	2.20	1.23
Average gradient of the flooring of passages of the shed (%)	1.27	2.36	3.52	2.24
Average floor gradient in yards (%)	1.13	1.51	2.43	1.30
Duration of access to pasture (h/d)	0.0	0.0	6.0	6.0
Duration of access to yard (h/d)	4.0	8.0	24.0	20.0
Frequency of cleaning of yards (number of times/d)	1.0	2.0	2.0	1.0

Table 6-5: Descriptive statistics of resource-based welfare parameters of cow shelters (n = 54)

The cows in all shelters were offered a basal feed of straw (mean 17.6 kg/cow/day), either thrice or twice daily, from locally available crops (paddy, wheat or millet). Ten shelters (18.5%) fed only straw, but most fed supplements (11 shelters, 20.3%, agricultural byproducts; 25 shelters, 46.3%, agricultural by-products and hay, and 8 shelters, 14.8%, fresh green fodder, typically lucerne, clover, or vegetable waste). In addition, concentrate feeding (grains, flour and rice or wheat husks) were offered at 0.1–0.5 kg/cow in most shelters (43, 85%).

6.5.2.1 Relationship between Lameness and Resource-Based Measures

The univariate analysis of the resource-based welfare measures at the shelter level using Spearman's rank correlation revealed no relationship (p > 0.05) with lameness. In the multivariate analysis model (r^2 adjusted = 34.1%; residuals were normally distributed, p = 0.10), lameness had a significant positive association with the presence of bedding (F = 12.4; p = 0.001) and a positive association with the gradient of the shed passages (F = 5.5; p = 0.02). The relationship was described by the equation:

Lameness =
$$c + 1.26 (\pm 0.072) + 0.028 (\pm 0.012)$$
 gradient of shed passages (3)

where the intercept, c, was 1.06 for no bedding and 1.46 for bedding.

Further exploration of relevant correlations revealed that the hock lesions were negatively correlated with the % dung in the passages (correlation coefficient = -0.283, p = 0.04).

6.6 Discussion

The prevalence of lameness in the present study was 4.2% in the cow shelters, less than reported in dairy herds in the US and North America (Espejo et al. 2006; von Keyserlingk et al. 2012), Finland (Sarjokari et al. 2013), Germany (Rouha-Mülleder et al. 2009) and Norway (Fjeldaas et al. 2011). Studies on the prevalence of lameness in dairy cows in India are scant and restricted to individual farms, with prevalence levels of 10 and 33% clinical lameness reported in two cross bred herds of 110 and 251 cows, respectively (Cook and Nordlund 2009). The low prevalence of lameness in sheltered Indian cows could be attributed to the absence of production stress which would arise from the commercial use of the cows for milk and the very limited energy-rich concentrate feeding (Sharma et al. 2019b). In 85% of the shelters recorded in this study, a very insufficient quantity of concentrate diet (<0.5 kg/cow) was fed to the cows.

Differences in lameness prevalence rates could also be due to housing and management conditions, lameness scoring methods and threshold scores used, as well as breed differences in lameness susceptibility (Sarjokari et al. 2013).

The median age of the cows in the shelters was 11 years, which demonstrates that it was an older age group than commercial herds, and some lameness may be explained by the long exposure of some cows to the shelter housing and flooring. However, although age has been reported as a risk factor for lameness in dairy cows (Espejo et al. 2006; Haskell et al. 2006; Sarjokari et al. 2013), it was not a significant factor in the multivariable model for lameness prevalence at the shelter level in this study.

The strong association between a low BCS and lameness in this study corroborates the findings of previous authors (Wells et al. 1993; Espejo et al. 2006; Kielland et al. 2009; Randall et al. 2015; Solano et al. 2015). A low BCS in cows is both phenotypically and genetically positively associated with susceptibility to lameness (Van Dorp et al. 1998; Bicalho et al. 2009). Lameness leads to reduced movement (including potentially to feed and water supply), a slower feeding rate and decreased feed intake, all of which potentially reduce the body condition of the cows (Hassall et al. 1993; Juarez et al. 2003; Espejo et al. 2006). The lack of movement is partly due to a reduced digital cushion (a fatty pad located in the claw capsule), which serves as a shock absorber to the third phalanx when it bears the weight of the cow during the interaction of the hoof with the flooring (Räber et al. 2004). However, this digital cushion is much reduced in cows with a low BCS, increasing susceptibility to lameness (Lischer et al. 2002), indicating a bidirectional relationship. Lame cows in the shelters may arrive late at the feed bunks, where the leftover feed is restricted in quantity and quality. This effect of lameness on the BCS in the sheltered cows may be more profound than for dairy cows, as the shelter feed, being for subsistence only, is of low quality.

Cows with a low BCS are also more susceptible to lameness due to non-infectious lesions of the feet (Green et al. 2014). Furthermore, a low BCS may predispose cows to body lesions; higher BCS cows have fewer protruding bones which has a protective effect against hock lesions (Kielland et al. 2009; Potterton et al. 2011a).

The dirtiness of the udder in the shelter cows was another risk factor for lameness. This could be attributed to the associated dirtiness of the floor, mainly with slurry which soils the udder and limbs while a cow is lying, standing and walking. Dirty conditions are known to predispose cows to lameness (Cook 2003). Poor hygiene in terms of the accumulation of dung and urine in the lying areas and passages predisposes the hooves to various lesions leading to lameness (Rodríguez-Lainz et al. 1996; Greenough et al. 1997). The median of 15, 10 and 20% of the floors of the lying areas, passages and yards of the shelters, respectively, covered with dung (Table 6-5) signifies an increased level of dirtiness in these areas. A previous study (Regula et al. 2004) investigated three husbandry systems (tie stalls with seasonal outdoor access, tie stalls with daily outdoor access and loose housing with daily outdoor access) for floor dirtiness, using the % of dung in lying areas as the main measure. Their findings of 11–17% dung in the three different housing systems are similar to results of the present study (median 15% dung in the lying area), which was probably because there were tie stalls and loose housing with variable outdoor access also.

The presence of hock joint ulcerations and carpal joint injuries as risk factors for lameness could be due to the type of flooring surfaces of the shelter premises. Hock joint lesions arise from (1) the abrasiveness of the floor (Haskell et al. 2006); (2) the continuous increased pressure on the limbs and body from the body weight of the cows and the inelastic flooring surface affecting the blood circulation to these areas (Zerzawy 1989); and (3) the collision with the flooring surface when getting up and lying down. In the present study, the median CoF of the flooring in the shelters was 0.43, which shows that the floors were not very abrasive and there was a vulnerability of the cows to slipping. This CoF value is close to the critical value of 0.4, below which there is an exponential increase in the risk of slipping (Webb and Nilsson 1983; Phillips and Morris 2001). This indicates the floor surface lacked adequate friction, perhaps because of the old age of some shelters, with repeated wear. Hock and knee joint lesions are also attributed to the type and condition of the flooring surface of the housing (Regula et al. 2004; Sogstad et al. 2005; Zurbrigg et al. 2005a; Huxley and Whay 2006a). Lesions on the hock joints have been implicated in the causation of lameness in cows (Whay et al. 2003b; Kielland et al. 2009). Lame cows experience difficulties in lying down or getting up, leading to the hock and carpal areas getting abraded on the rough floors of the shelters. There is a possibility that the hock and carpal lesions could be painful,

resulting in lameness, but the possible direction of causation cannot be determined in a crosssectional study (Solano et al. 2015).

The small area per cow, absence of bedding in most cow shelters and presence of slurry in the shelter premises found in this study could have contributed to the presence of hock joint lesions in the cows. As the hock lesions were negatively correlated with the % dung in the passages, it is hypothesized that the dung may protect the cows lying in the passage from contact with the rough floors. An examination of the effects of dung in increasing slipping or protecting from contact with rough floors is worthy of further study. The presence of bedding prevents abrasions on the limbs and, if absent, as was the case for 96% of shelters in the present study, a hard floor may impede circulation (Brenninkmeyer et al. 2013). Low space allowance, slurry laden floors and abrasive concrete floors have been identified as risk factors for limb lesions and lameness in dairy cows (Weary and Taszkun 2000; Haskell et al. 2006; Rutherford et al. 2008; Brenninkmeyer et al. 2013). The typical lying down and getting up behavior of the cows, in which both the knee joints touch the floor surface explains the injuries on the knee joints, due to the constant abrasions on rough floors causing lameness (Kielland et al. 2009), and the third quartile CoF of shelter floors in the present study was 0.65, which represents quite abrasive/rough floors. Approximately half of the shed floors (42%) of the shelters were made of concrete, which is hard and sometimes abrasive (Kielland et al. 2009), leading to lesions on the joints, and increased susceptibility to lameness (Klaas et al. 2003).

Claw overgrowth was a risk factor for lameness in the present study, which concurs with previous studies (Choquette-Levy et al. 1985; Klaas et al. 2003). According to a review by Ter Wee et al. (1989), 90% of lameness problems in cattle are due to claw abnormalities. Claw overgrowth changes the claw confirmation, which is associated with lameness (McDaniel et al. 1984; Peterse 1986). It often results from an increased rate of horn growth, associated with laminitis, sole ulcers and white zone lesions in cows (Greenough et al. 1990; Vermunt 1990; Vermunt and Greenough 1995). Walking on the hard surfaces found in some shelters could lead to biomechanical injuries to the claws due to the reaction of the forces from the hard floor at the point of interaction of the claw and floor. The consequent overgrowth of the claws, especially the outer ones, predisposes the animal to pathological lesions (Clarkson et al. 1996). Additionally, the slurry in the lying areas and passages wets the floor and keeps the cow hooves continuously wet. This leads to claw overgrowth, irregular weight bearing sole surfaces, claw injuries and disruption of claw horns (Wells et al. 1993; Bicalho and Oikonomou 2013; Solano et al. 2015). This etiology supports the claw overgrowth leading to lameness in the present study, as concrete flooring and the presence of dung on the floors were found in most shelters.

The presence of urine in the shelter passages increases slurry formation, and the constant wetness of the foot in the slurry can erode the soft heel bulb (Phillips 2018), a risk factor for lameness. Furthermore, slurry and wet floors increase floor slipperiness, which predisposes cows to the risk of injuries due to slipping, and the resultant dirtiness of feet and legs causes conformational changes of the claw, also predisposing to lameness (Relun et al. 2013; Solano et al. 2015). The slope of the floors is a risk factor for laminitis in dairy cows (Philipot et al. 1994).

The absence of bedding in most of the sheds in this study, albeit with a small sample size, might be a risk factor for lameness in the shelter cows. Cows prefer bedded floor surfaces for lying and standing (Tucker et al. 2003). The comforting cushioning effect of the bedding while standing, and the increased lying times on bedded floors have potential benefits against lameness. The presence of bedding decreases the prevalence of lameness in dairy farms (Cook and Nordlund 2009; Chapinal et al. 2013).

A significant association of lameness with the gradient of the shed passages in the present study might be due to discomfort during lying, leading to more standing on the floors, restlessness, increased muscle activity and possible fatigue (Rajapaksha and Tucker 2014). Hock swellings are a cause of lameness in dairy cows and have been observed to increase with gradient of the stall floors (Haskell et al. 2006). An increase in floor gradient may increase the risk of slipping and consequent hock lesions in the form of abrasions and swellings. However, another study has shown that prolonged standing time on a sloped floor (a 5% slope) improved claw health because it allowed better drainage and reduced hoof contact with excreta (Vokey et al. 2003). The floor gradient should be adequate to provide drainage without contributing to lameness and limb injuries. Therefore, the proper design of the cowsheds may reduce lameness and associated lesions on the limbs of the cows.

The strength of this study lies in a large number of cows and shelters assessed, producing a comprehensive set of animal- and resource-based welfare parameters in a unique context in which cows are not yielding milk. The cross-sectional study revealed numerous associations but inferences about causality are limited.

6.7 Conclusions

The prevalence of lameness in the cows in the shelters was less than has usually been recorded for cows in dairy farms. The risk factors identified in this study for lameness in the sheltered cows were inadequate cleaning of the premises, improper flooring and probably a lack of a balanced feeding regimen. These shortcomings in the management of the shelters have manifested in the form of the reduced body conditions of the cows, dirty udders, dirty limbs, lesions on the

hock and carpal joints and the overgrowth of claws, which were risk factors for lameness. Improvement in these aspects will improve cow welfare by reducing the prevalence of lameness. The shelter cleanliness of the shelter premises by the elimination of slurry in the lying areas and the passages will promote better foot hygiene. The provision of bedding in lying areas reduces hock lesions and standing times, and provides comfort (Wechsler et al. 2000), ultimately reducing lameness. The flooring of the cow shelters should be improved as many had concrete flooring that was hard and rough, or slippery in the absence of bedding. The flooring is implicated as a major cause of lesions in the limbs and joints. Sand as a bedding material can be considered as an option for a softer lying area, though labor costs involved should be accounted for. Further work is required on the effect of floor slope on lameness taking into consideration the flooring material characteristics. Good feeding management is very important to maintain good body condition in the retired and abandoned cows in the shelters, as a low BCS risks the cows developing lesions on the hock and carpal joints, predisposing them to lameness, as well as compromising the general health of the cows. Improving the managerial aspects in terms of cleanliness, feeding and floor comfort will reduce lameness and lead to the better welfare of the cows in the shelters.

Publication included in Chapter 7

Sharma, A.; Phillips, C.J.C. Avoidance distance in sheltered cows and its association with other welfare parameters. Animals 2019, 9(7): 396.doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9070396</u>

Author Contributions to the paper

The conceptualization, design and methodology was done by Arvind Sharma and Clive J.C Phillips. The field data collection and investigation was done by Arvind Sharma. The formal analysis and interpretation was done by Arvind Sharma and Clive J.C Phillips. Original draft of the paper was prepared by Arvind Sharma. The writing review and editing was done by Clive J.C Phillips and Arvind Sharma.

Chapter 7

Avoidance distance in sheltered cows and its association with other welfare parameters

7.1 Abstract

The human-animal relationship is an important welfare parameter in animal welfare assessment in cows, and the avoidance distance of cows to a stranger at the feed bunk is measured to assess this relationship. The assessment of the human-animal relationship in cow shelters in India, where old, unproductive, and abandoned cows are sheltered, is important to explore the welfare of cows in these shelters. The cows observed were of indigenous Indian breeds and breeds which were crosses between indigenous breeds and pure bred exotic cows. The human-animal contact in this context is of particular interest for welfare assessment as traditional Indian farming and sheltering systems involves regular close human-animal contact. In a cross-sectional study across 6 states, 54 cow shelters were visited and 30 cows in each shelter were randomly selected (1620 in total) for the assessment of avoidance distance and other cow-based (27 parameters) and resource-based (15 parameters) welfare parameters. Avoidance distance was assessed 1 h after morning feeding. Cows standing at the feeding manger were approached from the front at a rate of one step/s, starting 2 m away from the manger. The distance between the assessor's hand and the cow's head was estimated at the moment the cow moved away and turned its head, using a four-point scale (0, touched; 1, 0)50 cm; 2, 51–100 cm; and 3, >100 cm). The majority, 52%, of the cows allowed touch by the assessor and another 32% allowed approach within 50 cm, demonstrating tolerance, or even solicitation of close human-animal relationships by the cows. Avoidance distance increased with the proportion of cows with dirty hind limbs, hock joint swellings, and hair loss, and the extent of rumen fill. There was also evidence of reduced avoidance distances in cows with high levels of body condition score (BCS), dirty flanks, hock joint ulceration, carpal joint injuries, diarrhoea, hampered respiration, lesions on the body due to traumatic injuries, and body coat condition, probably as a result of moving difficulties. The avoidance distance was thus related to the health and welfare of the cows, providing a vital insight into the factors affecting human-animal contact in the shelters.

Keywords: human-animal relationship; cow shelters; avoidance distance; welfare; assessment

7.1 Introduction

Fear of people can be major source of stress in animals resulting in physiological changes in animals and negative effects on animal welfare (de Passillé and Rushen 2005). The human–animal relationship, defined as the mutual perception of human and animal manifested in their mutual behaviour (Waiblinger et al. 2006), is an important parameter in any dairy cow welfare assessment protocol. The quality of stockpersonship affects the welfare of animals in the performance of routine tasks such as feeding, cleaning, etc. (Rushen et al. 2008). Aversive handling of cows reduces their milk productivity (Munksgaard et al. 1997; Rushen et al. 1999; Munksgaard et al. 2001). This could be due to restlessness and nervous activity, stress hormone effects on lactogenesis or cows withholding their milk in the parlour as response to a stressful situation. Assessment of this relationship underlines the importance of stockpersonship in animal welfare (Waiblinger et al. 2003). Negative behaviour and handling of animals induces stress and risks injury to animals as well as humans (Hemsworth and Coleman 2011).

Measurement of avoidance behaviour is important in assessment of animal behaviour because it demonstrates initial responses of an animal towards a change in the human environment (Hutson et al. 2000). Pioneering work on this aspect of animal behaviour as an indicator of poor welfare was initiated in experiments on pigs, in which they were found to be highly fearful of humans, with a pronounced stress response (Broom 1986; Hemsworth et al. 1993). Subsequently, studies on avoidance behaviour as a response to fear of humans were initiated in sheep and cattle (Vandenheede and Bouissou 1993; Boissy and Bouissou 1995). Measurement of avoidance distance (AD) of cows at a feed bunk to an approaching human is now an established test of the human– animal relationship. However, the results are dependent on several factors, including the animal's genetic predisposition, the situation in which the test is conducted, and previous interactions of the animals with humans (Grandin 1987; Purcell et al. 1988). Avoidance distance (AD) has recently been included as an important welfare indicator in most contemporary cattle welfare assessments protocols in different parts of the world (Ebinghaus et al. 2017; Jurkovich et al. 2017; Destrez et al. 2018; Lürzel et al. 2018; Beggs et al. 2019).

Animal husbandry in India usually involves close contact of humans with animals due to the traditional non-mechanized animal production operations practiced in many parts of the country. India has the largest cattle population in the world (Sserunjogi and Kaur 2016), and cow slaughter is not permitted by law in most of its states (Sarkar and Sarkar 2016; Bruckert 2018). The surplus, old, abandoned, and non-productive cows are sheltered in age-old traditional shelters known as 'gaushalas' until they die due to natural causes. The points of contact between the cows and the stockpersons in cow shelters are substantially different than the conventional farming because these cows have no economic value. Most of the shelters have indoor housing and hence the cows are more dependent on human care than in farms. Close contact of cows with humans is normal as a result of the strong socio-cultural functions of the cows in the Indian context. Therefore, the assessment of human–animal relationships becomes more important in order to investigate whether

cows are treated well in the shelters. In shelters, AD is likely influenced by the extent of habituation of the cows with people (Windschnurer et al. 2009). Regular contact with humans who deliver feed to the cows at the feed bunks may result in reduced AD at the feed bunks, but this may not be generalized to other situations. Nevertheless, a simple visual contact, particularly of a person providing food without any negative experiences, has a positive effect on the human–animal relationship (Waiblinger et al. 2006). Research on AD in dairy cattle suggests that it is not 'context-specific', i.e., the behaviour of cows under a variety of different type of AD tests is significantly related to the AD at the feed bunk test (Waiblinger et al. 2003; Windschnurer et al. 2008). Human–animal relationships are a dynamic process, and changes in human behaviour towards animals can improve this relationship (Waiblinger et al. 2006). Fear of humans in cattle can be reduced within 2–5 weeks through routine positive behaviour (Breuer et al. 2003; Schmied et al. 2008). However, cows learn to differentiate between positive and negative interaction between two different individuals, and their previous experience with handlers at a place affects their avoidance distance towards their handlers as well as a stranger (Munksgaard et al. 1997; Rushen et al. 1998).

Most of the studies on human–animal relationships have emphasized the role of stockmanship on productivity rather than the welfare of animals. As well as the factors described above, it is highly likely that AD will be affected by cow health, but there is a paucity of literature on this (Mülleder et al. 2003). Disease which impairs movement may reduce AD, but other diseases may be related to a negative perception of humans, who may have treated them badly or been involved in their treatment for the disease with the involvement of pain and distress. The objective of this study was to assess the human–animal relationship in cow shelters through the measurement of AD at the feed bunk (manger) and explore the relationship with other cow disease and shelter-based welfare assessment parameters. To the best of knowledge, no studies exist on the assessment of human–animal relationships on sheltered cows, for whom profitability is not the goal but perpetuation of cow welfare is the only motivation, mandated by religion and culture. There are isolated studies (Winckler et al. 2003) on the relationship between AD and comprehensive cow health measures, which could be important in the incorporation into cow welfare assessments.

7.2 Materials and Methods

This study was conducted with animal and human ethics approval from the University of Queensland's Animal and Human Ethics Committees (approval numbers SVS/CAWE/314/16/INDIA and 2016001243, respectively). A total of 54 cow shelters (gaushalas) located in six states of India (Gujarat, Maharashtra, Rajasthan, Punjab, Haryana, and Himachal Pradesh) were used for the study. These states either have large numbers of shelters and a traditional history of sheltering of cows, or newly established shelters. These six states are located in the north, west, and northwest India. A single two-day visit to each shelter occurred between December 2016 and July 2017. Out of the 54 shelters, 26 were selected by state veterinary officers and the Animal Welfare Board of India (AWBI), and the remaining shelters were obtained using a snowballing technique, taking recommendations from shelter managers. There was no significant difference (p < 0.05) in any measured parameter between shelters obtained by the two methods, when compared by analysis of variance or a Moods median test (in the case of non-normal residuals).

In each shelter, 30 cows were randomly sampled, following a power calculation to determine the required numbers of cows and shelters (Hsieh et al. 1998), to detect an odds ratio of 4 with a power of 0.8 and $\alpha = 0.05$. The sample size of 30 cows was sufficient to estimate within-herd prevalence with an error of 10% at a 95% level of confidence. Cows were selected by choosing every third cow in the shed or the yard. The cows observed for the assessment of AD were of indigenous Indian breeds (48.6%) which were Gir, Red Sindhi, Tharparkar, Kankrej, Sahiwal, Dangi, Deoni, Hariana, Nimari, Khillari, Nagauri, Rathi, and Pahari, cross breds with exotic cows (29.1%), cross breds between indigenous breeds (21.5%) and very few pure bred exotic breed (0.7%) of Jersey and Holstein Friesian type. Data collection included recording of direct observations of the cows and cow measurements (animal-based parameters), as well as the recording of resource-based parameters in the shelters and a structured interview of the shelter managers. All the recordings were performed by one single assessor. A three-month training was undertaken in scoring the cows for AD, BCS (body condition score), lameness, claw overgrowth, dirtiness, lesions on the limbs, joints and body, rumen fill, faecal consistency, and skin tenting time at the University of Queensland's School of Veterinary Science. In order to validate the selected welfare measures, pilot trials were conducted in two shelters before the commencement of actual study.

7.2.1 Cow-Based Measures

A total of 1620 cows were assessed for the 27 animal-based parameters based on a literature search (mainly taken from the Welfare Quality[®] multi-criteria model) (Botreau et al. 2007a; Botreau et al. 2007b; Botreau et al. 2009), and author's experience of welfare issues in shelters. Lactation status and age of the cows were ascertained from the physical examination and the interview of the shelter manager. The details of the scoring systems followed on the welfare assessment of individual cows in the study are listed in Appendix 1.

The avoidance distance was assessed at the beginning of the shelter visit one hour after the morning feeding of the cows, as recommended in the Welfare Quality[®] protocol (de Vries et al. 2013c). A cow was approached immediately in front at a rate of 1 step/s, starting at 2 m from the

manger. The distance between the assessor's hand and the cow's head was estimated at the moment the cow moved away and/or turned its head, in the following four categories: touched, and hand within 50 cm, 51-100 cm, and >100 cm. For each shelter, the median AD classification and % of cows which could be touched on the head were calculated. In shelters where cows were tethered, they were untied and moved outside the shelter to assess AD and lameness, and then retied for all remaining animal-based measures.

Body condition score (BCS) was determined using a 1–5 scale (Edmonson et al. 1989; Thomsen and Baadsgaard 2006) and scored to quarter points. Each sampled cow's demeanour was assessed during restraint on a dichotomised scale (docile or aggressive), which was derived from a five-point scale (Cafe et al. 2011) for loosely restrained cattle in a particular area of the shelter shed.

7.2.2 Health Measures

Dirtiness of the hind limbs, udder, and flanks was classified by visual inspection of the cows from the left side, right side, and from behind, according to the method of Whay et al. (2003b). The body hair loss score was assessed as per the method described by Whay et al. (2003a). Hock lesions assessment included hair loss, ulcerations, and swellings, a modification of the methods of Wechsler et al. (2000) and Whay et al. (2003a). Carpal joint injuries were scored according to the method of Wechsler et al. (2000). Neck lesions were classified according to the method of Kielland et al. (2010a). Respiratory problems were measured as the presence or absence of coughing in any of the 30 cows sampled in the sheds during the total examination period of the sampled cows in each shed. A cow expressing frequent coughs (more than five) during the 10–15 min examination time for assessment of the welfare parameters was considered to be having respiratory problems. Ocular lesions, nasal discharge, hampered respiration, diarrhoea, and vulvar discharge were assessed on a binary scale, i.e., present or absent in the sampled cows (Coignard et al. 2013).

Rumen fill score (RFS) was visually scored according to the method of Zaaijer and Noordhuizen (2003), standing behind the cow on the left side and observing the left paralumbar fossa between the last rib, the lumbar transverse processes, and the hip bone. The consistency of the faeces of the sampled cows was visually inspected and rated on a five-point scale formulated by Zaaijer and Noordhuizen (2003). Skin lesions or integument alterations on the body were recorded using the method of Leeb et al. (2004). Hair Coat condition was assessed as per a modified scale derived from Huxley and Whay (2006b) modifying their categorization from dull, thick or excessively hairy to dull and short, shiny and short, or dull and hairy. Claw overgrowth was visually inspected on each sampled cow and scored according to the scale devised by Huxley and Whay (2006c). Lameness was scored using a numerical rating scale for walking cows (1—not lame to 5 severely lame) followed by Flower and Weary (2006) and Sprecher et al. (1997). Ectoparasitism was assessed by visual examination of each sampled cow as per the method described by Popescu et al. (2010). The protocols for teat and udder scoring (score 0–5) and skin tenting time (score 1–3) were designed by the authors, because of anticipated emaciation, teat and udder abnormalities, and advanced age would be more common in the shelters than in dairy cow farms, for which other scales are designed. Dehydration was assessed with skin turgor meaning the time a skin tent takes to return to its original position period (Roussel 1990). The scoring pattern and scales for skin tenting time and teat and udder abnormalities are also described in Appendix 1 for easy reference.

7.2.3 Shelter-Based Measures

The total number of sheds per shelter and the number of cows per shed in the shelter was assessed by visual inspection (the latter using a maximum of two sheds per shelter). The length, breadth, and height of the sheds were recorded using a laser distance meter (CP-3007 model, Ultrasonic distance meter 40KHz frequency, Chullora, New South Wales, Australia) and confirmed using a traditional measuring tape each time. From these measurements, the area of the shed and area per cow was calculated. The space allowance per cow in shelters having loose housing was calculated by dividing the floor area of the shed by the total number of cows within the shed. In shelters with stalls, the area/cow was calculated using the floor area of each stall housing a cow (von Keyserlingk et al. 2012; Otten et al. 2016). In tethered stalls, the area per cow was calculated by measuring the distance from the end of the rope at the point of attachment to a peg to the end of the hind limb of the cow at full extension. This length was used as a radius to calculate the maximum potential area of movement of the tethered cows in the sheds. The number of cows per shed was also counted during inspection of the sheds.

The gradient of the floors in the sheds and the yards were measured at three different places using vertical and horizontal measurements at each place using an inclinometer (Bosch Professional, 600MM, DNM60L Model, Clayton, Australia). The traction of the floors was determined as the coefficient of friction (CoF) (the force required to move an object over a floor divided by the weight of that object) (Phillips and Morris 2001; Phillips 2018). This was estimated using a 1 kg/10 N spring balance attached by a hook to a cuboid wooden block (mass 156 g). The block was gently pulled across the floor at a speed of 0.17 m/s and the minimal frictional force (F) required to keep it moving was recorded (Sharma et al. 2019a).

The type of shed flooring (brick, stone, earthen, concrete, or other), presence of bedding in the sheds (present or absent, if present its thickness), type of bedding if present (hay, straw, rubber mats or other) and presence of yards were recorded during the inspection of the shelter facilities (Cook 2002; Brenninkmeyer et al. 2013; Otten et al. 2016). The cleanliness of the shelter premises was recorded by visually estimating the mean percentage of the floor that was covered by dung and urine in each shed, passage, and yard separately, as % of the area covered by dung in the shed lying areas and passages, urine in the shed lying areas and passages (present or absent), run-off in the shed (present or absent), and cleaning frequency of floors of the sheds (Regula et al. 2004).

7.3 Statistical Analysis

Descriptive, principal component analysis (PCA), Spearman's rank correlation, and multivariate analyses were conducted using Minitab 17 Statistical Software (Minitab[®] version 17.1.0, Minitab Ltd., Pennsylvania State University, State College, PA, USA). Variables were tested for normality by the Anderson–Darling test (Evans et al. 2017).Two models were generated for the data analysis. In the first, cow specific risk factors for AD were examined by multivariate analysis of the animal-based measures. An ordinal logistic regression analysis was conducted using the four AD scores as outcome variable. Categorical parameters having more than three categories were treated as continuous variables. Observations within shelters were accounted for by including shelter as a clustering effect in the model.

In the second model, resource-based parameters were analyzed at the shelter level. Shelter level AD estimates were used as the outcome in analyzing the risk factors. A principal component analysis (PCA) was employed to reduce the number of variables and to minimize the multicollinearity. The resource-based variables dropped from the analysis were the % of dung lying in the shed passages, the thickness of shed bedding and % of urine in the shed passages. Univariate analysis was conducted to explore associations between the variables using Spearman's rank correlation because the variables were not normally distributed as ascertained by the Anderson– Darling test. The multivariate analysis of the resource-based parameters with AD was done by a stepwise selection of terms in a general linear model (GLM) with α to enter at 0.15. The residuals were analyzed to explore the basic assumptions of logistic regression and model fit according to Dohoo et al. (2009b). Levels of significance were set as $p \le 0.05$ for all the analyses. The residuals were normally distributed (p = 0.12) and were also inspected graphically. The r² (adjusted) for this dataset was 45.9%.

7.4 Results

Descriptive statistics for cow-based and shelter-based parameters are shown in Tables 7-1 and 7-2. None of the parameters were normally distributed.

7.4.1 Cow-Based Measures

In the AD test, one half of the cows (51.2%) allowed themselves to be touched and most of the other half (46.6%) had an avoidance distance up to 100 cm (scores 1 and 2) (Table 7-1). As a precondition in this study, the majority of the cows were non-lactating (87.9%). The physical and clinical examination revealed that the majority of cows (76.4%) were of a docile temperament. The median age of the cows was 11 years and median BCS 2.68. The majority of the cows (75.4%) were in the normal BCS category scores (between 2.25 - 3.75).

The dirtiness of the hind limbs (85.6%), udder (76%), and flanks (74.2%) was mostly in the mild and medium categories. There was no body hair loss in almost half of the cows (45%) and a mild hair loss in other one third (30.3%). Hock joint swellings (86.1%) and hair loss (76.7%) were predominantly in the mild to moderate category scores. The majority of cows (86.9%) either had no or mild hock joint ulcerations. More than half of the cows (54.9%) had mild to moderate carpal joint injuries.

Nonconstant % Score and Number						
	0	1	2	3	4	5
Avoidance distance score (Scale 0– 3)	51.2 (830)	31.4 (508)	15.4 (249)	2.0 (33)	-	-
Lactation (0: non-lactating; 1: lactating)	88.0 (1425)	12.0 (195)	-	-	-	-
BCS	≤1.25 (emaciated 0.1 (2)	1.5–2 (thin) 22.9 (371)	2.25–3.75 (normal) 75.5 (1233)	4 or more (obese) 1.5 (24)	-	-
General demeanour (0: docile; 1: aggressive)	76.4 (1238)	23.4 (382)	-	-	-	-
Dirty hind limbs score (Scale 0–3)	2.4 (38)	42.6 (690)	43.0 (697)	12.0 (195)	-	-
Dirty udder score (Scale 0–3)	17.5 (283)	44.6 (722)	31.4 (509)	6.5 (106)	-	-
Dirty flanks score (Scale 0–3)	19.6 (316)	42.2 (684)	32.0 (519)	6.2 (101)	-	-
Body hair loss score (Scale 0–3)	45.0 (728)	30.3 (492)	23.0 (373)	1.7 (29)	-	-
Hock joint swelling score (Scale 0– 3)	11.8 (191)	22.4 (362)	63.7 (1032)	2.1 (35)	-	-
Hock joint hair loss score (Scale 0– 3)	23.0 (372)	49.4 (800)	27.3 (443)	0.3 (5)	-	-
Hock joint ulceration score (Scale 0–3)	53.6 (869)	33.3 (539)	13.0 (210)	0.1 (2)	-	-
Carpal joint injuries score (Scale 0– 3)	44.8 (726)	31.9 (516)	23.0 (373)	0.3 (5)	-	-
Neck lesions score (Scale 1–4)	-	5.4 (1546)	3.8 (62)	0.4 (6)	0.4 (6)	
Ocular lesions score (Scale $0-1$) Lesions on the body score (Scale	91 (1474)	9.0 (146)	- 20 5	-	-	-
Lesions on the body score (Scale (-3)	45 3 (734)	32, 3 (524)	20.3	19(30)	-	-
Body coat condition score (Scale 1- 3)	-	47.1 (764)	52.0 (843)	0.8 (13)	-	-
Nasal discharge score (Scale 0–1)	90.7 (1470)	9.3 (150)	-	-	-	-
Diarrhoea score (Scale 0–1)	95.7 (1551)	4.3 (69)	-	-	-	-
Faecal consistency score (Scale 1– 5)	-	0.3 (5)	4.9 (79)	35.1 (569)	58.3 (944)	1.4 (23)
Rumen Fill Score (Scale 1–5)	-	0.1 (2)	3.7 (60)	36.8 (594)	58.7 (952)	0.7 (12)
Lameness score (Scale 1–5)	-	84.7 (1373)	11.0 (178)	3.2 (53)	1.0 (15)	0.06 (1)
Claw overgrowth score (Scale 0–3)	52.5 (850)	36.4 (589)	9.6 (156)	1.5 (25)	-	-
Teat score (Scale 0–5)	14.5 (235)	83.2 (1348)	0.4 (6)	0.4 (7)	0.0 (0)	1.5 (24)
Ectoparasitism score (Scale 0-4)	0.4 (6)	53.1 (861)	34.5 (559)	11.8 (191)	0.2 (3)	-
Skin tenting time score (Scale 0–4)	92.2 (1494)	5.3 (86)	2.1 (35)	0.3 (5)	-	-

Table 7-1: Distribution of different cow-based welfare parameters in 54 cow shelters (n = 1620)

The prevalence of neck lesions, ocular lesions, coughing, nasal discharge, hampered respiration, diarrhoea, and vulvar discharge was predominantly below 10% in the shelter cows. Body/skin lesions were absent in nearly half of the cows and the other half had mild to moderate lesion scores. Body coat condition was almost equally distributed between dull and short coats (47%) and shiny and short coats (52%). The rumen fill score, which is an assessment of the dry matter intake, ration composition, digestion and rate of passage of ingesta [44], was scored as 3 and 4 in most of the cows, which are usually the common scores for lactating and dry cows. Faecal consistency scores were 3 and 4 in the majority of the cows.

Moderate to severe claw overgrowth was observed in 11.1% cows only. Clinical lameness (score 3 to 5) was present in only 4.26% cows. Teat and/or udder abnormalities were observed in very few cow (2.3 %) cows. Skin tenting time representing dehydration, was normal (≤ 2 s) in 92.2% cows.

7.4.2 Shelter-Based Measures

The median number of cows per shed was 70 and the median area per cow was 2.73 m^2 (Table 7-2). The average gradient of the flooring of lying areas and passages of the sheds was 1.46% and 2.36%, respectively. The CoF of shed flooring was 0.43. The median % dung in the lying areas and passages of the sheds was 15% and 10%, respectively.

Half of the shelters had concrete floors followed by earthen (24%), brick (22.2%), and stone (3.7%) floors. There was absence of bedding in majority of the shelters (96.3%) and the only two shelters which provided bedding used paddy straw of 0.5 cm thickness or less. In 87% of the shelters, yards were present for the cows to loaf out of the sheds. The median dry bulb temperature and humidity in the sheds was 29.5 °C and 34%, respectively. The median luminosity in the sheds was 582 Lux and the median noise level was 27.6 decibel.

Parameter	Median	First Quartile (Q1)	Third Quartile (Q ₃)	Interquartile Range (IQR)
Cows/shed	70	47.8	137.3	89.5
Area/cow (m ²)	2.73	1.56	3.62	2.06
Gradient of shed lying area flooring (%)	1.46	0.96	2.20	1.23
Gradient of shed passage flooring (%)	2.36	1.27	3.52	2.24
CoF of shed flooring	0.43	0.27	0.65	0.37
% dung in lying areas of shed	15	5	40	35
% dung in passages of shed	10	5	42.5	37.5
Dry bulb temperature of the shed (°C)	29.5	27.2	32.8	5.6
Shed humidity (%)	34	24.7	45.2	20.5
Shed luminosity level (Lux)	582	89	1036	946
Shed noise levels (Decibel)	27.6	21.3	37.1	15.8

 Table 7-2: Descriptive statistics of shelter-based resource measures (n = 54)

7.4.3 Relationship between Cow-Based Measures and Avoidance Distance

The univariate analysis of the cow-based welfare measures at cow level using the Spearman's rank correlation (Table 7-3) revealed significantly positive correlation between AD and BCS, dirty udder, dirty flanks, body hair loss, hock joint ulceration, carpal joint injuries, ocular lesions, nasal discharge, diarrhoea, lameness, lesions on the body, claw overgrowth, coat condition, ectoparasitism, skin tenting time, and age of the cows. There was a significantly negative correlation between AD and general demeanour, rumen fill score, and faecal consistency.

Table 7-3: Spearman's rank correlati	ons between avoidance distance scores for each cow (n = 1620)
and cow-based welfare parameters	

Parameter	Variables	Correlation Coefficient (r _s)	р
	Carpal joint injuries	0.232	≤0.001
	Dirty flanks	0.216	≤0.001
	Dirty udder	0.186	≤0.001
	Claw overgrowth	0.173	≤0.001
	Diarrhoea	0.158	≤0.001
	Lesions on the body	0.155	≤0.001
Avoidanaa Distanaa	Hock joint ulceration	0.154	≤0.001
(Score 1 4)	Skin tenting time	0.138	≤0.001
(SCOLE 1 - 4)	Lameness	0.119	≤0.001
0 - 10000000 cm	BCS	0.093	≤0.001
1 = 30 cm to > 0 cm	Body hair loss	0.090	≤0.001
2 = 100 cm to > 30 cm	Age of the cows	0.082	0.001
5—>100 cm	Ectoparasitism	0.063	0.01
	Ocular lesions	0.055	0.02
	Nasal discharge	0.056	0.02
	Coat condition	0.056	0.02
	Rumen Fill Score	-0.279	≤0.001
	General demeanour	-0.069	0.005
	Faecal consistency	-0.071	0.004

In multivariate analysis, the ordinal logistic regression was used to examine the relationship between the cow-based welfare measures as predictors and the AD as the ordinal response variable. The BCS, dirty hind limbs, dirty flanks, hock joint swelling, hock joint hair loss, hock joint ulceration, carpal joint injuries, hampered respiration, diarrhoea, rumen fill score, lesions on the body, and coat condition of the cows were significantly associated with AD as an ordinal outcome variable (Table 7-4). The odds of a greater AD was negatively associated with their BCS (OR = 0.57, CI = 0.46-0.71).

In relation to health measures, the odds of a greater AD was positively associated with dirty hind limbs of the cows, but negatively associated with dirty flanks. The odds of a greater AD were positively associated with hock joint swellings and hock joint hair loss, but negatively associated with hock joint ulceration, carpal joint injuries, lesions on the body, and coat condition of the cows. They were also negatively associated with the presence of hampered respiration and diarrhoea. The odds of a greater AD were positively associated with rumen fill score.

Predictor	Mean	Coefficient	SE Coefficient	р	Odds Ratio	95% CI
Dirty hind limbs		0.68	0.114	0.000	1.98	1.58-2.48
Rumen fill score		0.58	0.093	0.000	1.79	1.49-2.15
Hock joint swelling		0.24	0.080	0.002	1.28	0.09 - 1.50
Hock joint hair loss		0.23	0.095	0.012	1.27	1.05 - 1.53
Lesions on the body		-0.22	0.018	0.006	0.80	0.68–0.94
Hock joint ulceration		-0.27	0.091	0.002	0.76	0.63-0.91
Carpal joint injuries		-0.33	0.070	0.000	0.72	0.62 - 0.82
Coat condition		-0.39	0.129	0.002	0.67	0.52-0.87
BCS		-0.56	0.109	0.000	0.57	0.46-0.71
Dirty flanks		-0.58	0.150	0.000	0.56	0.42 - 0.75
Diarrhoea						
Reference 0	1.65					
Reference 1	2.34	-0.72	0.280	0.010	0.48	0.28-0.84
Hampered respiration						
Reference 0	1.67					
Reference 1	2.57	-1.71	0.736	0.020	0.18	0.04–0.76

Table 7-4: Association of avoidance distance of shelter cows (n = 1620) with animal-based parameters using ordinal logistic regression

7.4.4 Relationship between Avoidance Distance and Shelter-Based Measures

The univariate analysis of the shelter-based measures by Spearman's rank correlation (Table 7-5) found a significantly positive correlation (p < 0.05) between AD and cows/shed, luminosity in the sheds and noise levels in the sheds. There was a significant negative correlation (p < 0.05) between AD and shed area/cow and shed dry bulb temperature.

Table 7-5: Spearman's rank correlations between mean shelter (n = 54) avoidance distance scores of the selected cows and shelter-based welfare parameters

Parameter	Variables	Correlation Coefficient (r _s)	р
Avoidance distance (Score 1–4)	Cows/shed	0.337	0.01
0—touched	Shed average luminosity	0.293	0.03
1-50 cm to >0 cm	Shed noise levels	0.278	0.04
2-100 cm to > 50 cm	Shed area/cow	-0.308	0.02
3—>100 cm	Shed dry bulb temperature	-0.416	0.002

In the multivariate analysis model (Table 7-6; r^2 adjusted = 45.9 %; residuals normally distributed, p = 0.12), AD had a significant positive association with noise levels in the sheds and cleaning of the sheds. There was a significant negative association of the AD with % dung in the lying areas, dry bulb temperature, and humidity. The relationship was described by the equation

Avoidance Distance = $c + 3.87 (\pm 0.506, p \le 0.001) - 0.008\%$ dung in the shed lying area ($\pm 0.002, p = 0.004$) + 0.008 shed noise level ($\pm 0.003, p = 0.02$) - 0.04 shed dry bulb temperature ($\pm 0.011, p \le 0.001$) - 0.02 shed humidity % ($\pm 0.004, p$ ≤ 0.001) + 0.21 cleaning of sheds ($\pm 0.084, p = 0.01$) (4)

where c is the intercept, which was 4.10 for sheds that were cleaned and 3.66 for sheds which were not cleaned.

Table 7-6: Regression analysis of shelter-based measures significantly related (p < 0.05) to avoidance distance score

Term/Parameter	Coefficient	SE Coefficient	р
Constant	3.87	0.506	≤0.001
Shed clean at the time of measurement	0.21	0.084	0.01
Noise levels in the shed (decibels)	0.008	0.003	0.02
Shed humidity (%)	-0.02	0.004	≤0.001
Dry bulb temperature in the sheds (°C)	-0.04	0.011	≤0.001
% dung in the lying area of the shed	-0.008	0.002	0.004

7.5 Discussion

Avoidance distance of cows towards an unfamiliar human has been validated as a stable behaviour indicator of human–animal relationship (Waiblinger et al. 2003; Winckler et al. 2007; Ebinghaus et al. 2016). These studies measured AD at the feeding manger and validated the protocols to assess the human–animal relationship. This test of assessment of the human–animal relationship is easy to perform in an on-farm welfare assessment and has a high correlation with avoidance distance in a pen and moderate correlation with cows' response to a human walking through a herd and touching standing or lying cows (des Roches et al. 2016). The welfare quality protocol was replicated quite closely—i.e., the avoidance distance of 30 cows in each shelter in the morning one hour after the feeding time (Botreau et al. 2007b; Botreau et al. 2009) —and utilized the data generated to determine correlations between AD and other measures, and reported these, together with the proportions of cows with AD of zero and the median AD score. More than half of the cows in the present study had an avoidance of zero (allowing touch), which is proportionately higher than the European dairy cattle herds, which had a wide range of 2–67% of cows (Waiblinger and Menke 2003; Waiblinger et al. 2003). Australian dairy herds have been measured with 30% with this score (Windschnurer et al. 2009; Beggs et al. 2019). In terms of AD, the sheltering of cows may be more similar to the traditional management of dairy cows, which had frequent contact with handlers during feeding, watering, and cleaning (Rushen et al. 1999), in contrast to the present day intensively managed factory farming of dairy cows. The results of the present study indicate an overall good level of the human–animal relationship and reflect a high level of confidence for the cows in the presence of humans, as inferred by previous authors that have used the measure and discussed its relevance (Ivemeyer et al. 2011). The cows which allowed touch by humans may be assumed to be the ones with very good human–animal relationships (des Roches et al. 2016).

7.5.1 Relationship between Cow-Based Measures and AD

The human–animal relationship has been found to have some correlations with health in dairy cattle: positive interactions between the stockpersons and their cows can reduce somatic cell numbers in milk (Whay et al. 2003d). However, these relationships are generally unexplored.

The significant negative association between AD and BCS in this study could be due to the low BCS cows being weak and energy deficient, body condition being a general indicator of health and nutrition of the cows (Rushen et al. 1999; Chaplin et al. 2000). Thus, they were not able to move away from an approaching stranger. Similar findings were reported in a French dairy herd where more cows with low BCS allowed being touched by the observer at the feeding rack (des Roches et al. 2016). Another explanation could be that since the cows were tested in the morning at the shelter feed bunks, in the low body condition cows a higher motivation could exist for feeding than escaping from the observer (des Roches et al. 2016).

The significant association of dirty hind limbs with AD could be explained by cows with a higher AD moving away more from approaching strangers and get their limbs soiled due to the slurry present in the lying areas and passages of the sheds. Dirtiness scores of the hind limbs have been associated with contamination of the floor surface of the dairy stalls (Abe 1999). Conversely, the negative association of dirty flanks with AD could be attributed to cows suffering from diarrhoea being reluctant to move. Diarrhoea renders cows weak due to loss of energy, electrolytes, and subsequent by dehydration. The loose faeces which soils the tail is often transferred to the flanks, rendering the flanks dirty (Kloosterman 1997). The relationship is further supported by the negative association of AD with cows having diarrhoea. The correlation between AD, diarrhoea

dirty flanks, and lameness was tested using the Spearman's rank correlation and found significant ($p \le 0.001$) relationships between AD and diarrhoea ($r_s = 0.158$, $p \le 0.001$), dirty flanks ($r_s = 0.216$, $p \le 0.001$), and lameness ($r_s = 0.119$, $p \le 0.001$). There are several possible explanations for these associations. Lame cows may spend more time lying down due to the pain of lameness, with greater chance that they will lie on dung (Herlin 1997); lame cows pass urine and dung while lying as they find difficulty in standing (Zurbrigg et al. 2005b); during standing lame cows also might have difficulty to adopt a normal urination and defecation posture, making the lying area dirty and wet, leading to dirty hind limbs (Lensink et al. 2001). There is also likely to be a relationship between stockperson's attitude towards animals and their health by virtue of the former's approach to the maintenance of cleanliness of farm premises (Hemsworth et al. 2002). Intervention studies have shown that training of the stockpersons to improve their attitudes towards dairy cows reduced aversive handling of these animals, leading to reduced stress levels and improved productivity (Potterton et al. 2011b).

The significant positive association of AD with hock joint hair loss and swelling could be attributed to the higher AD in nervous cows which might sustain hock joint hair loss and swelling due to fear of an approaching human. Most of the shelters had no bedding and nervous cows get injured as they suddenly get up when threatened or collisions with shelter furniture. Hock lesions have been associated with abrasive surfaces of lying areas and inadequate design of the facilities (Aitchison et al. 1986; Haskell et al. 2006; Kester et al. 2014). The human–animal relationship has been identified as a possible factor affecting hock lesions in dairy cows because a negative human–animal relationship might affect the lying comfort of the cows as sudden rising movements out of fear of stockperson can lead to hock joint injuries (Brenninkmeyer et al. 2013).

The significant negatively association of AD with hock joint ulceration and carpal joint injuries could be explained by the reluctance of the cows to move away or move away slowly from the approaching human, due to the pain associated with these lesions. Significant relationships were found in the univariate analysis using the Spearman's rank correlation between AD and lameness ($r_s = 0.119, p \le 0.001$), hock joint ulceration ($r_s = 0.154, p < 0.001$), and carpal joint injuries ($r_s = 0.232, p < 0.001$). Lameness was not found to be a confounding factor to AD assessment in a study in Austrian dairy herds, but the researchers advocated further investigations of the relationship (Mülleder et al. 2003).

The significant negative association of AD with cows having hampered respiration in the present study could also be due to the inability of the cows to move away from the approaching stranger, as a result of weakness or poor health. Visual examination of such signs is a significant aspect of health evaluation in cows.

The positive association of AD with rumen fill score could be due to the fact that cows consuming adequate feed were in a position to avoid the approaching experimenter. The rumen fill indirectly reflects adequate energy and alertness of the cows to avoid and move away from a stranger. The rumen fill score represents the amount of dry matter and fluid in the rumen (Zaaijer and Noordhuizen 2003). It is related to dry matter intake, feed formulation, digestibility, and the rate of passage of ingested food through the alimentary tract (Llamas-Lamas and Combs 1991; Burfeind et al. 2010). This score has also been used to identify diseased cows, with a low score indicating poor condition. This association is interpreted cautiously because the dry matter intake in cows varies over the day, which alters the rumen fill score (Huzzey et al. 2007). However, a positive correlation was also observed between rumen fill score and BCS (Spearman's rank correlation coefficient, $r_s = 0.132$, $p \le 0.001$). The present study is different from the previous studies on the association of rumen fill scores and health (Otis et al. 2003; Zaaijer and Noordhuizen 2003; Oetzel 2004), as these focused on healthy lactating dairy cows whereas most of the cows in the present were non-lactating and sustained on dry fodder only.

The significant negative association of AD with lesions on the body and coat condition of the cows could be explained by the poor health condition of the cows exhibited by these conditions. Research has demonstrated a strong relationship between chronic pain and generalized anxiety in humans leading to distress (Woo 2010). Furthermore, a biopsychosocial model of experiences of chronic pain has suggested that there is an interaction of physical trauma, psychology, and environmental factors (Lean 2001). A poor hair coat condition is a common clinical sign of chronic ill health status of the cows, which might due to feeding poor quality fodder, the lack of access to a balanced diet, inadequate fodder, or parasitism (Galindo and Broom 2002; van der Tol et al. 2005; Huxley and Whay 2006b; Constable et al. 2017). The poor health of the cows demonstrated by these alterations on the body and coat could have affected their strength to move away from the approaching experimenter due to chronic pain and generalized distress.

7.5.2 Relationship between Shelter-Based Resource Measures and AD

The negative relationship between AD and the % of dung in the lying area in the shelter sheds may reflect greater ease of movement of the cows away from the approaching person when the sheds were clean. The presence of dung mixed with urine to form a slurry affects the locomotion of the cows as it reduces the coefficient of friction of the flooring (Galindo and Broom 2002). This reduction in the floor friction leads to slipping and cows adopt an unnaturally stiff gait (Phillips and Morris 2000; Phillips 2009).

A weak positive association of AD with noise levels in the shelters could be due to the cows' getting alarmed and stressed by the noise. Cattle tend to get disturbed at noise levels above
90–100 dB (Lanier et al. 2000) and dairy cows are more sensitive to noise than beef breeds (Arnold et al. 2007). The median noise levels in the shelters (27.6 dB) in the present study was far below the threshold limits of getting alarmed and probably reflects the fact that most shelters were situated in quiet locations. Nevertheless, the noise had an effect on the AD, despite the observer remaining silent while approaching the cows to avoid affecting the sensitivity and temperament of the animal (Arnold et al. 2007). The weak association could be due to general agitation of the cows in noisier environments and the presence of novel sounds in the shelters (Brouček 2014), which affected the cows but was not detected at the time of the measurements in the present study, such as the noise of the shelter machinery and sounding of horns in shelters located near busy highways. Noise therefore clearly impacts on the behaviour of cows and this result suggests that it can adversely affect its welfare, hence this environmental parameter should be considered during designing and construction of cow housing (Večeřa et al. 2016).

The highly significant negative relationship between AD and dry bulb temperature and humidity levels in the shelters can be attributed to impact of the microclimate on the behaviour of cows (Lefcourt and Schmidtmann 1989; King et al. 2006; Fournel et al. 2017). The median dry bulb temperatures of 29.5% and 34% humidity levels found in the cow shelters depict moderate levels of heat stress. Heat stress may make cattle focus on coping with the high temperature rather than the threat posed by the person, which could be the reason for this relationship in the present study.

There are differences between farms and animals in the extent to which animals are fearful of people. There are breed and individual differences in the degree of fearfulness in animals but much of the fear of humans is due to the way animals are handled (Hanna et al. 2006; Hanna et al. 2009). The breed differences in cows in this study were not taken into consideration because the cows were predominantly of the local indigenous type. There is a linear relationship between stockpersons' attitude, belief, and behaviour while handling animals and its effect on the animals (Hemsworth and Coleman 2011). Most of the pioneering correlational studies in this subject area describe the relationship between the manner of animal handling affecting the productivity and welfare, through fearfulness in animals (Seabrook 1984; Breuer et al. 2000b; Waiblinger et al. 2007; Potterton et al. 2011b).

The major limitation of the study was that, being a cross-sectional study, there was no confirmation of evidence of causation despite the correlations observed between AD and other welfare parameters. Nonetheless, the large sample size in this study can provide reliability to the results. There is a risk that all the important factors involved in cow health or shelter resources were not measured in this study, leading to spurious correlations being observed. The inherent limitation of a cross-sectional study is its difficulty to identify the causal relationship between the variables.

Some factors were difficult to identify, for example AD in cows could be influenced by the typical genotype of the cows, but there was an insufficiently clear evidence of distinct genotypic factors that could be included in the model. Some of the relationships could be influenced by associations between negative attitudes of stockpersons' towards cows, which were correlated with careless attitudes towards other tasks of stockpersonship such as maintenance of cleanliness and good feeding practices. The multiple regression used in this study helps to identify the most important relationships but still the understanding of causal relationship requires intervention studies.

7.6 Conclusions

Relationships were observed between AD and other animal and resource-based welfare indicators in the cow shelters. The measurement of AD at the feed bunk appears to be a promising test for the assessment of human-animal relationship in the cow shelters but recording of cow health parameters and some resource-based parameters may help to explain variation between cows. The results of the present study show that AD is dependent on various health and welfare parameters, which makes it relative to the state of the animal. A cautious interpretation is suggested as AD in circumstances in which health variables described in this study are influencing AD, as well as it being a reflection of stockpersonship. Thus, although previous studies have reported it to be a highly repeatable test (Hanna et al. 2006), further refinement could improve its usefulness. The results of this study also suggest that the human-animal relationship in most cow shelters is cordial and in line with the animal welfare principles, because one half of the cows allowed touch by the assessor. Welfare assessment protocols for shelters could usefully include this measure. Further studies on the repeatability and validity of AD in cow shelters are needed, and this study can be regarded as a preliminary investigation into the human-animal bond in the cow shelters at a particular point of time. The low AD values observed in this study suggest that the positive behaviour of the handlers towards cows in the shelters have produced a good human-animal relationship, which helps in guaranteeing good cow welfare in the shelters.

Publication included in Chapter 8

Sharma, A.; Schuetze, C.; Phillips, C.J.C. 2019 Public attitudes towards cow welfare and cow shelters (gaushalas) in India. *Animals*, vol. 9, no.11, p 972.doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9110972</u>

Author Contributions to the paper

The conceptualization, design and methodology was done by Arvind Sharma, Clive J.C Phillips and Catherine Schuetze. The data collection and investigation was done by Arvind Sharma. The formal analysis and interpretation was done by Arvind Sharma and Clive J.C Phillips. Original draft of the paper was prepared by Arvind Sharma. The writing review and editing was done by all the authors.

Chapter 8

Public attitudes towards cow welfare and cow shelters (gaushalas) in India

8.1 Abstract

Public attitudes towards cows and cow shelters in India need to be assessed in the contemporary context, as India is facing an overpopulation of street cows, leading to traffic hazards, public health issues, and pollution. The attitudes of the general public in India towards cow welfare in general and cow shelters (gaushalas) in particular were investigated. Eight hundred and twenty-five members of the public, residing in the vicinity of 54 cow shelters, were interviewed for this purpose. Their perception of animal welfare centred on animal care, cows as goddesses and mothers, and doing things properly. More than half visited a shelter daily for religious reasons. Most believed that cow shelters were the best way to manage the stray cow population and felt a community responsibility towards all breeds of cows for animal welfare reasons. Space availability for the cows was the key welfare issue voiced. Older people were more likely to identify animal welfare and culture as the main reason for sheltering cows. Better educated, wealthier, and more religious people visited the shelters most, rating religion and breeding higher as the shelter's main purpose. Males favoured indigenous cow breeds more than females. Village respondents were more likely to consider the facilities adequate compared with country town and urban respondents. In contrast to married respondents, single people were more likely to say that they visited for leisure rather than for religious purposes. The survey indicated that the Indian community was generally supportive of cow sheltering and that visits to the shelters helped them to know that unwanted cattle were being well cared for.

Keywords: India; cattle; cow shelters; gaushalas; public attitudes; welfare

8.2. Introduction

Religiously-inspired attitudes towards animals are found worldwide, however the Indic traditions of Hinduism, Buddhism and Jainism are particularly unique in their promotion of *Ahimsa* (non-harm to all living beings including animals) (Kemmerer 2012). Religious beliefs in many parts of India have exerted a special influence on the human-animal bond, and hence the welfare of animals. The cow has an important role in the culture and religion in contemporary Hinduism in India. It represents abundance and fertility, embodying the concept of motherhood and the abode of 330 million gods (Korom 2000; Nadal 2017). Cows are also symbols of non-violence and generosity in Hindu culture, they are central to debates on vegetarianism, and are associated with many Hindu gods (Doniger 2009). The concept of bovine sanctity developed within the Aryan

culture during the end of the Vedic period (4th century B.C.), with the first reference in the text *Chandogya Upanishad* (Lodrick 2005a).

A complicated nexus of social, religious, historical and political factors have contributed to the widespread acceptance of this belief in the Hindu public (Lodrick 2005a). Protests against cow killing became politicised during the Muslim invasions of the 11th and 12th centuries A.D, during India's struggle for freedom from the British rule in the mid-20th century, and more recently with the rise of the Hindu right nationalist movement (Doniger 2009). These events peaked again during the last decade especially, during the rule of the present political dispensation, linking concepts of a nationalistic identity, spiritual/ caste purity and pollution, and anti-Muslim sentiment. This has resulted in vigilante cow protection groups attacking people suspected of harming cows (Sunder 2019). However, not all Hindu's are vegetarians or avoid beef (Staples 2018), India is the second largest exporter of beef, and has one of the largest live export markets in the world (Ghosh 2013). Therefore, as Staples (2018) apply writes, the picture that emerges is not straightforward and "the stereotypical image of India as a nation squeamish about cattle slaughter starts to unravel". Certainly in this cow contentious and highly politicised environment, the sheltering of cows in gaushalas has gained prominence once again. Due to this reverence cow slaughter is banned in most Indian states and the overpopulation of abandoned cows in the streets is a public health risk, traffic hazard and an animal welfare concern (Fox 1999; Bijla et al. 2019; Sharma et al. 2019b).

The establishment and consolidation of the institution of 'gaushalas' began in the 3rd to 4th century B.C (Lodrick 1981, 2005b) and persists today. Gaushalas house cows affected by recurrent droughts and famines, as well as old, infirm, infertile and abandoned cows. Despite economic growth in the secondary and tertiary industry sectors, agriculture is still the mainstay of the Indian economy. There are more than 5000 gaushalas and nearly 5.30 million street cows in India, according to a recent livestock census report (Department of Animal Husbandry Dairying and Fisheries 2014). Rapid urbanization, mechanization of farming operations, fragmentation of pastures and grazing lands, and bans on cow slaughter and euthanasia, are the main factors leading to the overpopulation of the street cows in India (Singh et al. 2013; Ghatak and Singh 2015). These and other factors result in the overpopulation of abandoned cows in the streets, causing public health risks, traffic hazards, and a large animal welfare concern (Fox 1999; Sharma et al. 2019b).

This overpopulation has challenged the capacity of gaushalas to shelter street cows and ultimately the welfare of cows housed in them. The majority of these shelters are located in the northern and western parts of the country, where an Aryan culture predominates, with very few in the southern states, probably due to the older Dravidian culture there (Lodrick 1981; Fox 1999). The shelters are supported by philanthropists, temple trusts, the government, and donations from the business community and the general public. There is no uniform pattern of funding pattern for the cow shelters and many of them suffer from limited financial support. Those located near Hindu temples and pilgrimage sites are well funded by devotees' donations. Others have serious limitations with little government support, inadequate feed and fodder availability and poor infrastructure to house the ever-increasing street/abandoned cow population in India. Despite these problems the cow shelters manage to sustain themselves, but it is not clear to what extent they garner popular public support, nor what the Indian public attitudes towards gaushalas are.

Public attitudes are the drivers of change and can be determined by social science research revealing societal issues and concerns. Beliefs guide public attitudes and attitudes determine public behaviour as citizens (Coleman 2010); understanding both attitudes and beliefs are of prime importance for coordinating and guiding improvements in the welfare of animals (Serpell 2004). Beliefs and understanding of animals by any society is species specific, especially the extent to which it is given priority and resources (Kirkwood and Hubrecht 2001). There has been significant research conducted on the public attitude towards farm animals, and specifically cows, in Europe, North America, and Australia (Boogaard et al. 2006; Heleski et al. 2006; McGrath et al. 2013; Ryan et al. 2015; Hötzel et al. 2017; Weary and von Keyserlingk 2017). However, no study has exclusively focussed on public attitudes towards cattle welfare in India, a country that has the world's largest cattle population (FAOSTAT 2019) and some apparently quite unique perspectives on managing unwanted cattle.

Three types of motivations have been proposed for the response of public toward animals: self-interest, empathy and values about the status and nature of the animals (Hills 1993).While religion, culture and socio-economics moderate public attitudes towards animals (Kendall et al. 2006), an animal's nature and its characteristics also influence public attitudes (Herzog and Burghardt 1988).

Attitudes affect the way animals are treated and, according to the Theory of Planned Behaviour, the intent of an individual to behave in a certain manner is a prerequisite for the implementation of a particular behaviour (Ajzen 1991; Waiblinger et al. 2002). Self-evaluation of the behaviour (attitude), a belief that the behaviour can be realised (perceived behaviour control) and the opinions of individuals whom the person considers important (subjective norm), determines the intent of performing a behaviour (Ajzen 1991; Kauppinen et al. 2013). A study in the USA found that love for animals, as well as economic and practical considerations, was the primary motivational factor in the attitude of American public towards animals (Kellert et al. 1980). Understanding the attitude of the public towards animal welfare is important both at an individual level as well as at a societal level. Policy formulation and legislation to improve animal behaviour are influenced by public attitudes and how they are changing (Kirkwood and Hubrecht 2001). Scientific studies providing evidence to improve welfare will be inconsequential in bringing about changes unless they are supported by positive public attitudes and cultural values (Serpell 2004). Attitudes towards animals develop early in life but are also transformed during adulthood, which justifies widespread public education (Takooshian 1998; Coleman 2010). Cultural practices and attitudes towards animals can change over time, but they may also persist, reflecting historical traditions (Serpell 2004). Although there have been studies on the attitudes and knowledge level of Indian farmers towards animals and animal welfare (Heleski et al. 2004; Hanna et al. 2009; Patil et al. 2009; Kielland et al. 2010b), to date no study has assessed public attitude towards cows and cow welfare in gaushalas.

Therefore, the aim of this study was to assess the public attitudes surrounding cow welfare and cow shelters in India. It was hypothesized that the attitudes of the public towards cows and cow shelters would be influenced by key demographic factors, and that this would influence behaviour. It was also anticipated that due to the rapid urbanisation and modernisation of Indian society, the spiritual symbolism of the cow, its special status, associations with the goddess, and people's interaction with cows in shelters might have waned or transformed.

8.3. Material and methods

The Indian public's perception of cow welfare and cow shelters constituted this study's objective. Public perception was considered as a social normative derived from knowledge explained and shared socially (Guimelli 1993; Kling-Eveillard 2007). A quantitative questionnaire was designed that addressed 1) the public's understanding of the cow shelters and 2) the public's attitude towards cow shelters and cow welfare in India. Socio-demographic questions were included to further elucidate the contemporary perception and attitude of the Indian public towards cow shelters. The questionnaire was designed considering the scarce literature on public knowledge and attitudes towards cows in India (Heston 1971; Lodrick 1981; Serpell 2004; Marsden and Wright 2010).

At the same time as visits to shelters were made in six states of India (Gujarat, Maharashtra, Rajasthan, Punjab, Haryana and Himachal Pradesh) (Sharma et al. 2019b), a face-to-face public survey was conducted in the vicinity of each of the 54 shelters from December, 2016, to July, 2017. Initially, a pilot survey was conducted by randomly selecting 15 individuals near the first cow shelter visited in the state of Himachal Pradesh. Following the pilot survey, a minor adjustment was made in the language and order of questions to avoid any possible bias or leading responses. During

each shelter visit, people were approached to request an interview in areas around shops, in fields and by knocking on houses door to door, in order to obtain a broad spectrum of views from those who resided within a 1 km radius of the shelters. Qualifying factors were that people should be 18 or over, that they resided within the 1 km radius of the cow shelter, and that they should not be working or have worked in the cow shelter. This generated a total of 810 responses, to which were added the 15 from the pilot survey. Each interview lasted about half an hour. The University of Queensland Institutional Human Ethics Committee granted the Human Ethics Clearance (approval number 2016001243).

8.3.1 Questionnaire design

The questionnaire focussed on the public knowledge and attitudes¹ towards cow shelters (termed gaushalas in India) and cow welfare (Appendix 3). Initial questions addressed their attitude towards gaushalas, how often they visited gaushalas (once a day, once a week, once a fortnight, once a month, once in 6 months, once a year, less than once a year or never visited); why they visited them (for religious reasons, feeding cows, educational reasons, examining welfare standards, leisure and enjoyment from seeing cows, to buy cow products or other reasons); to rank the importance of different reasons for the establishment of gaushalas, one being most important to six being least important (for cow welfare, production and sale of milk, breeding of cows, attracting funds from rich people, religious purposes and making a profit from the sale of milk, manure, cows and calves); the best way to deal with unwanted cows (keep them in gaushalas, let them roam the streets, export them to neighbouring countries, or slaughter them); whether they preferred local Indian breeds of cows over cross breeds or exotic breeds; community responsibilities to stray cows, and to what extent whether the respondents felt it important that cows should be housed in gaushalas. The questions also covered the extent of agreement on the reasons for keeping cows in gaushalas (for tradition/culture, for animal welfare, for breeding or for milk production). Importance and agreement questions were rated on a five-point scale.

Further questions related to the particular gaushala located near the respondents' residence: a) the maximum number of cows for acceptable animal welfare (< 50, 50-100, 101-150, 151-200, 250, 500, 1000 or according to space availability), b) agreement that the gaushala gave adequate shelter, food and water, freedom to move and socialize, bedding, flooring and opportunities to lie down, veterinary care and humane treatment for the cows; c) whether they supported or had any issues with their local gaushala. An open-ended question was also posed to each respondent: "What do you understand by the term 'welfare of cows'?" Finally, demographic questions were included to

¹ defined as the psychological tendency expressed after the evaluation of a particular entity with some degree of favour or disfavour (Eagly and Chaiken 1993)

determine the respondents' gender, age, religion, religiosity level, ethnicity, education level, marital status, number of children, income, place of residence and whether they grew up with cows nearby. Answers to all these questions were self-declared except for place of residence, which was classified as urban, suburban, country town or village by the research team and confirmed by the shelter manager.

8.4 Statistical analysis

Data was initially collated, and controls were employed to remove data errors, using Minitab 17 Statistical Software (Minitab[®] version 17.1.0, Minitab Ltd., Pennsylvania State University, State College, PA, USA) for analysis. A series of chi-square tests were conducted to examine the differences in response patterns for questionnaire items based on demographic variables. Independent variables were categorical, and included gender, age, religion, religiosity, ethnicity, education level, marital status, number of children, income level and place of residence. The dependent variables were either ordinal, such as frequency of visits to a gaushala, or nominal, such as their reason for visiting a gaushala, reason for and importance of establishment of the gaushalas, what was best for unwanted cows, preference for a specific cow breeds and responsibility of the community to specific breed types. Some of the ordinal dependent variables in some items in the questionnaire consisted of the level of agreement with the given items, from one (strongly disagree) to five (strongly agree). Cross tabulations between demographic variables and agreement level and opinion items were analysed by Chi-square analysis of association, ensuring that no more than 20% of the expected counts were less than five, and all individual expected counts were one or more than one (Yates et al. 1999; Fienberg 2011). Logistic regression analyses (either binary, nominal or ordinal as appropriate to the response structure) were used to analyse the effects of demographic variables on attitude questions. Public behaviour (frequency of visiting shelters) was also analysed against public attitudes towards gaushalas and the cows using ordinal logistic regression. Logistic regression analyses were also used to assess the significance of the relationships between respondent demographics (categorical independent variables) and the distribution of Likert scale responses for each attitude questions (continuous dependent variable). An iterative reweighted least squares algorithm with a logit link function was used in the model. All models achieved convergence. Referent groups were selected as those with the most responses. All probability values were considered significant at p < 0.05.

Thematic analysis of the open-ended question about what the respondent understood by the term 'welfare of cows' was conducted using NVivo Pro 12 software (NVivo qualitative data analysis software; QSR International Pty Ltd. Version 12, 2018, <u>https://www.qsrinternational.com/nvivo/nvivo-products/nvivo-12-plus</u>). The different responses

123

were analysed and the main trends extracted. A manual inspection of the source data was conducted and the word frequency and word cloud function identified themes to the responses. Through NVivo, words were chosen for analysis based on the total number of times they appeared. However, conjunctives (such as 'and') and words that drew no relevance or usefulness to the theme of study were excluded manually from the output and the analysis repeated.

8.5 Results

In the multivariable analysis of the demographic data, only the significant results are reported. However, in the descriptive analysis of the data all the responses to the questions have been reported as numbers and percentages.

8.5.1 Respondents demographics

Completed questionnaires were obtained from 825 respondents, with equal gender representation. The response rate in this study was 80%, as on an average three out of every 15 people per shelter we approached declined to participate in the survey. The median age bracket was 36-45 years of age, slightly older than the Indian mean age (Table 8-1). The majority of the respondents were Hindus (96 %), with very few Muslims (2 %) and Sikhs (2 %), both being less than the national average. Nearly all (98%) were of Indo-Aryan ethnic descent, which is higher than the national demographic. Most respondents felt they were religious, either moderately (50 %) or very (47%). Just over a quarter did not attain a grade 10 educational level, 36% completed grades 10 or 12, 14% succeeded to a university graduate and 13% had no formal education. Educational levels were higher than the national average. Most respondents were married (85 %) and most had two (38%) or three (21 %) children. The most commonly reported (26%) annual income level was 100,001-500,000 INR (US\$1461 – 7300). Most respondents (70 %) resided in villages, and 22 % in urban areas, less than nationally. Nearly all (93%) had grown up in close contact with cows during their childhood and 99 % were aware of the existence of their local gaushala.

Demographic	Descriptor	No. of	% of	Indian national statistics
		respondents	respondents	http://censusindia.gov.in/
Gender	Males	415	50.3	51.47 %
	Females	410	49.7	48.53 %
Age (years)	18-25	108	13.09	Mean: 27.6
	26-35	195	23.64	
	36-45	195	23.64	
	46-55	170	20.61	
	56-65	98	11.88	
	66 & above	59	7.15	
Religion	Hinduism	788	95.52	80%
	Islam	14	1.70	13%
	Sikhism	13	1.58	1.9%
	Judaism	5	0.61	0.4% (others)
	Zoroastrianism	4	0.48	
	Jainism	1	0.12	
Religiosity	Not religious at all	17	2.06	
	Not very religious	9	1.09	
	Moderately religious	411	49.82	
	Very religious	388	47.03	
Ethnicity	Indo-Aryan	808	97.94	72%
	Dravidian	2	0.24	25%
	Others	15	1.82	3%

 Table 8-1: Descriptive statistics of public survey for the assessment of attitudes towards cow shelters and cow welfare

Education level	No formal education	108	13.09	
	Under grade 10	225	27.27	41.3%
	Grade 10	161	19.52	8.74%
	Grade 12	128	15.52	6.43%
	Diploma	19	2.30	0.59%
	Graduand	118	14.30	Graduand & above – 3.47%
	Post -graduand	66	8.00	
Marital status	Single	85	10.30	
	Married	705	85.45	
	Widowed	35	4.24	
No. of children	No children	111	13.45	
	One	107	12.97	
	Two	312	37.82	
	Three	171	20.73	
	Four	82	9.94	
	Five or more	42	5.09	
Annual Income (INR)	< 10000	38	4.61	
	10000-25000	112	13.58	
	25001-50000	105	12.73	
	50001-75000	116	14.06	
	75001-100,000	135	16.36	
	100,001-500,000	218	26.42	
	500,001-1000,000	52	6.30	
	1000,001-5000,000	31	3.76	
	5000,001-10000,000	10	1.21	

	> 10000000	8	0.97	
Place of residence	Village	580	70.30	(Rural) 68.85%
	Urban	177	21.45	31.15%
	Suburban	46	5.58	
	Country town	22	2.67	

Table 8-2: Respondents' awareness of, and relationship with gaushalas, and their attitudes to the welfare of cows in gaushalas

Contact with cows at home	Yes	767	92.97
or nearby as a child?	No	58	7.03
Are you aware of the	Yes	821	99.5
gaushala existing nearby?	No	4	0.48
How often you visit your	Daily	203	24.61
local gaushala?	Weekly	193	23.39
	Fortnightly	43	5.21
	Monthly	151	18.30
	Every 6 months	105	12.73
	Yearly	44	5.33
	< once a year	14	2.91
	Never visited	62	7.52
Why do you visit	Religious reasons	534	64.73
gaushalas?	Examine cow welfare	100	12.12
	Feed the cows	97	11.76
	Leisure/enjoy seeing cows	81	9.82
	Educational reasons	9	1.09
	Buy cow products	4	0.48
What is best for unwanted	Sheltered in gaushalas	818	99.15
cows?	Export to neighbouring countries	4	0.48
	Slaughter	2	0.24
	Left roaming on the streets	1	0.12
On your gaushala visit,	All are favourites	541	65.57
which is your favourite	Local Indian breeds	273	33.09
type of cow?	Jersey	5	0.60
	Holstein	4	0.48
	Cross breeds	2	0.24
Community responsibility	Equal to all cows	631	76.48
to cow breed types?	More for local breeds	193	23.39
	More for exotic breeds	1	0.12
How important is it for	Strongly unimportant	7	0.85
cows to be sheltered in	Unimportant	6	0.73
gaushalas? On a scale of 1	Neither unimportant nor important	20	2.42
to 5 (1, strongly	Important	33	4.00
	Strongly important	759	92.0

unimportant - 5, strongly									
important)									
To what extent do you agree that cows should be kept in gaushalas? (1, strongly agree to 5, strongly									
disagree)									
Tradition/culture	Strongly disagree	175	21.45						
	Disagree	70	8.48						
	Neither agree nor disagree	19	2.30						
	Agree	384	46.55						
	Strongly agree	177	21.45						
Animal welfare	Strongly disagree	195	23.64						
	Disagree	21	2.55						
	Neither agree nor disagree	10	1.21						
	Agree	359	47.15						
	Strongly agree	210	25.45						
Breeding cows	Strongly disagree	99	12.00						
	Disagree	393	47.64						
	Neither agree nor disagree	107	12.97						
	Agree	214	25.94						
	Strongly agree	12	1.45						
Milk production	Strongly disagree	92	11.15						
	Disagree	416	50.42						
	Neither agree nor disagree	98	11.88						
	Agree	202	24.48						
	Strongly agree	17	2.06						
How many cows should be	< 50	10	1.21						
housed in your local	51-100	47	5.70						
gaushalas for acceptable	101-150	70	8.50						
animal welfare?	151-200	41	4.98						
	201-500	56	6.80						
	501-1000	31	3.76						
	> 1000	62	7.52						
	According to space available	502	60.92						
On a scale of 1-5 (1, strongly	unimportant - 5, strongly important),	do you feel the gaush	ala near you						
provides adequate									
Shelter for the cows	Strongly disagree	5	0.61						
	Disagree	32	3.88						
	Neither agree nor disagree	82	9.94						
	Agree	169	20.48						

	Strongly agree	537	65.09
Food and water	Strongly disagree	4	0.48
	Disagree	17	2.06
	Neither agree nor disagree	91	11.03
	Agree	159	19.27
	Strongly agree	554	67.15
Freedom to move	Strongly disagree	5	0.61
about and socialize with	Disagree	34	4.12
other cows	Neither agree nor disagree	67	8.12
	Agree	174	21.09
	Strongly agree	545	66.06
Bedding, flooring and	Strongly disagree	6	0.73
facility for cows to lie	Disagree	37	4.48
down	Neither agree nor disagree	85	10.30
	Agree	187	22.67
	Strongly agree	510	61.82
Humane treatment of the	Strongly disagree	6	0.73
cows	Disagree	13	1.58
	Neither agree nor disagree	109	13.21
	Agree	172	20.85
	Strongly agree	525	63.64
Veterinary care	Strongly disagree	3	0.36
	Disagree	19	2.30
	Neither agree nor disagree	116	14.06
	Agree	189	22.91
	Strongly agree	498	60.36
Do you support your local	Yes	822	99.63
gaushala?	No	3	0.37
Do you have any issues	Yes	104	12.61
with your local gaushala?	No	721	87.39

8.5.1.1 Perceptions regarding gaushalas and abandoned cows

Almost one half of respondents reported visiting their local gaushala regularly, once a day or once a week (Table 8-2). The most common reason for visiting the gaushalas was religion, followed by the examination of cow welfare standards, and then feeding the cows. Almost all indicated that

sheltering abandoned/unwanted cows in gaushalas was the best solution to manage unwanted street cow populations. The majority had no favourite breed of cow, but one third favoured local Indian cow breeds, and most said that the community has equal responsibility towards all cow breeds.

Nearly all participants said it was important for cows to be sheltered in gaushalas (96%), usually for animal welfare reasons, and most believed that this was culturally important. Most disagreed with using gaushalas to breed cows or for milk production purposes.

The majority of the respondents thought that the available space for cows in the gaushala was the key welfare issue, however, most agreed that their local gaushala provided adequate resources for the cows – shelter, adequate food and water, freedom of movement and opportunities for socialization, bedding, floor space, and opportunities to lie down. Most agreed that the cows in their local gaushala were treated humanely by the workers and that there was adequate provision of veterinary care. Nearly all actively supported their local gaushala through voluntary work, donations and moral support, and only a small minority said they had issues with their local gaushalas, which were mainly the problems of flies and mosquitoes, offensive odours and waste management.

8.5.2 Demographic Effects

8.5.2.1 Age

In relation to the purpose of gaushalas, the youngest age group (18-25) were more likely to rank animal welfare either very high or very low, and also rank breeding lower, compared with the older age groups (see Table 8-3 for the number of respondents in each category). Those in the 46-55 year-old age group were more likely to rank milk sales higher than older or younger respondents. The oldest age group were more likely to rank attracting funding higher, and the 26-35 year-old respondents were more likely to rank it lowest. The youngest age group was more likely to rank earning a profit at a higher level than older age groups.

When asked the reason for keeping cows in gaushalas, older people (> 55 years) were more likely to strongly agree that it was for animal welfare and cultural traditions than younger people (<36 years). Young people (<36) were more likely to be neutral about whether cows had adequate shelter.

8.5.2.2 Educational level

As education increased so did visit frequency, and the respondents were more likely to rate religion and breeding as the most important the purposes for establishing gaushalas and less likely to rate animal welfare and milking highly (Table 8-4). Similarly they were more likely to disagree that milk sales are an important reason for keeping cows in gaushalas, and they were more likely to

say that bedding and lying space, humane treatment of cows and veterinary treatment were inadequate. As education levels increased, respondents were less likely to cite examining cow welfare as the reason to visit cow shelters.

8.5.2.3 Gender

Men said that they visited the shelter more often, weekly, whereas women said that they only visited approximately monthly (Table 8-5). However, women believed the establishment of gaushalas to be slightly more important for the welfare of cows. Women ranked milk sales and breeding cows as reasons to keep cows in gaushalas higher than men. Men agreed more than women that cows in gaushalas have adequate freedom to move about and socialize with other cows. When asked to choose one reason for visiting the gaushala, males (15.7%) were more likely than females (8.5%) to say that they would visit to examine cow welfare standards, compared with visiting for religious reasons (M 62.9, F 66.6%) (OR, 2.70, CI 1.38-5.29, P = 0.004). Males (40%) were more likely than females (26%) to say that their favourite type of cows were local Indian breeds.

Criterion	Coefficient	SE Coefficient	P-value	OR	95% C.I				
Rank of importance of different purpose of establishing gaushalas									
Animal welfare	0.17	0.059	0.003	1.19	1.06 – 1.34				
Milk sales	0.30	0.063	< 0.001	1.35	1.20 – 1.53				
Breeding cows	-0.12	0.062	0.04	0.88	0.78 - 1.00				
Attracting funding	-0.13	0.065	0.03	0.87	0.77 – 0.99				
Earning a profit	-0.28	0.069	< 0.001	0.75	0.66 - 0.87				
Reasons for keeping cows in gau	ishalas								
Animal welfare	0.18	0.058	0.002	1.20	1.07 – 1.35				
Breeding cows	0.12	0.058	0.03	1.13	1.01 – 1.27				
Culture/tradition	0.16	0.058	0.005	1.18	1.05 – 1.32				
Provision of shelter by	-0.16	0.068	0.01	0.85	0.74 - 0.97				
gaushalas is adequate									

Table 8-3: Significant effects (P < 0.05) of age on public perception about cow welfare and gaushalas in India

Criterion	Coefficient	SE Coefficient	P-value	OR	95% C.I
Frequency of visiting the local gaushala	-0.13	0.042	0.001	0.87	0.80 - 0.95
Rank of importance of the purpose of establish	shing gaushala	S			
Animal welfare	0.13	0.045	0.003*	1.14	1.05 – 1.25
Milk sales	0.09	0.047	0.03	1.10	1.00 – 1.21
Breeding cows	-0.14	0.048	0.002	0.86	0.78 - 0.95
Religious purposes	-0.09	0.044	0.02	0.91	0.83 - 0.99
Reasons for keeping cows in gaushalas (1 str	ongly agree – :	5 strongly disagre	e)		
Milk sales	0.09	0.044	0.03	1.10	1.01 – 1.20
Provision of resources by gaushalas is adequa	ate (1 strongly	disagree – 5 stron	gly agree)		
Bedding, flooring and lying down	0.12	0.047	0.006	1.14	1.04 – 1.25
Humane treatment	0.10	0.048	0.03	1.11	1.01 – 1.22
Veterinary care	-0.37	0.113	0.001	0.69	0.55 - 0.86
Reason of visit to gaushalas				•	
	0.43	0.100	< 0.001	1.54	1.27 – 1.88

Table 8-4: Education level effects on public perception about cow welfare and gaushalas in India (P < 0.05)

Criterion	Parameter	Mean	Coefficient	SE Coefficient	P-value	OR	95% C.I
Frequency of visiting the local gaushala (1	Referent: Female	3.71					
daily, 2 weekly, 3 fortnightly, 4 monthly, 5	Male	3.01	0.63	0.132	≤0.0001	1.89	1.46 - 2.45
biennially, 6 annually, 7 < annually, 8							
never)							
Importance of gaushalas for cows (1	Referent: Female	4.90					
strongly unimportant - 5 strongly	Male	4.80	0.86	0.303	0.004	2.38	1.32 - 4.32
important)							
Reasons for keeping cows in gaushalas (1 str	ongly agree – 5 strongly	disagree)	L	1			L
Milk sales	Referent: Female	3.58					
	Male	3.30	0.39	0.139	0.004	1.49	1.13 – 1.95
Breeding cows	Referent: Female	3.54					
	Male	3.30	0.24	0.137	0.07	1.28	0.98 - 1.68
Provision of resources by gaushalas is adequa	ate (1 strongly disagree -	– 5 strongly a	gree)	1			L
Freedom to move about and socialize with	Referent: Female	4.42					
other cows	Male	4.53	-0.34	0.156	0.02	0.71	0.52 - 0.96
Humane treatment	Referent: Female	4.39					
	Male	4.51	-0.33	0.152	0.02	0.71	0.53 - 0.96
Reason for visiting gaushala (select most	Referent: Female	1.92					
important - Religious, Feed the cows,	Male	2.05	0.99	0.342	0.004	2.70	1.38 - 5.29
Educational, Examine welfare, Leisure,							
Buy products or other)							

Table 8-5: Gender effects on public perception about cow welfare and gaushalas in India (P < 0.05)

8.5.2.4 Income

As income level increased, the frequency of visits to the cow shelters increased. High income respondents ranked the breeding of cows higher as one of the important purposes of the gaushala (OR 1.12, 95% CI 1.04-1.21, p = 0.003). Middle income categories were less likely to say that they visited a gaushala to feed the cows (9.3%) than for religious purposes (16.9%) (OR 1.15, CI 1.0-1.33, P = 0.05).

8.5.2.5 Religion effects

Hindus said that religious purposes of gaushalas were more important and making a profit less important, compared with non-Hindus (Table 8-6). Hindus were also less likely to agree that milk sales was a reason for keeping cows in gaushalas and less likely to agree that shelter and bedding, flooring, and lying provisions were adequate in the gaushalas.

8.5.2.6 Religiosity effects

People who that said that they were very religious were more likely to visit daily and less likely to visit infrequently. They were less likely to rate profit as the most important purpose for gaushalas, and more likely to rate religious purposes (Table 8-7). They were also more likely to say that shelter, freedom to move around, bedding, flooring and lying down, humane treatment and veterinary care were adequate. The number of respondents who visited for religious reasons increased with self-declared religiosity, and visiting for other reasons, for to feed the cows, to examine cow welfare standards, become educated, or for leisure, decreased with increasing religiosity.

8.5.2.7 Place of residence effects

Urban respondents said they visited more often than village respondents (Table 8-8). Village respondents said that gaushalas were more important for cows than did country town respondents. Suburban, urban respondents, and to a lesser extent, village respondents, thought that animal welfare and religion were more important purposes for gaushalas, and milk sales, breeding cows, attracting funding and earning a profit were less important, compared with country town respondents. Village respondents were more likely to consider shelter, freedom to move about and bedding, flooring and lying down adequate compared with country town respondents, and more likely than urban respondents to consider shelter and bedding/flooring/lying down adequate. Suburban respondents were less likely than urban respondents to cite leisure as their reason for visiting compared with for religious reasons.

8.5.2.8 Marital status

In contrast to married respondents, single people were more likely to say that they visited gaushalas for leisure rather than for religious purposes (OR 6.47, CI 1.56-26.84, P = 0.01). Single people (14%) were less likely than married people (35%) or widowers (40%) to prefer Indian cattle breeds to all breeds (OR 4.07, 95% CI 1.94-8.49, P<0.001). There was only one significant effect of the number of children - as it increased, the sale of milk was ranked as a more important function of the gaushalas (OR 0.84, CI 0.73-0.97, P = 0.02).

8.5.3 Influence of attitudes towards cows to frequency of visits to gaushalas

People who frequently visited gaushalas were more likely to cite that cows were humanely treated (OR 1.45, CI 1.10-1.89, P = 0.007) than those who rarely visited them (Figure 8-1). Respondents who visited daily were more likely to cite welfare as the reason for establishing gaushalas (OR 1.31, CI 1.08-1.58, P = 0.005) than those who visited fortnightly but respondents who visited monthly or less frequently were again more likely to cite welfare as the reason for establishing gaushalas. Respondents who cited profit making as the reason for establishing gaushalas were likely to visit gaushalas more frequently which could be for buying milk (OR 1.28, CI 1.05-1.57, P = 0.01), as most of the respondents have ranked sale of milk as the second most important reason for establishing gaushalas. Respondents who ranked religion higher as the reason of visit to gaushalas were more likely to visit them frequently than the ones who cited other reasons to visit (OR 0.90, CI 0.82-0.98, P = 0.01). People who rarely visited the gaushalas did not have clear reasons to visit them.

Criterion	Parameter	Mean	Coefficient	SE Coefficient	P-value	OR	95% C.I		
Rank of importance of purpose of establishing gaushalas (1 most important to 6 least important)									
Earning a profit	Referent: Hinduism	4.87							
	Others	3.94	1.29	0.336	< 0.001	3.64	1.88 - 7.05		
Religious purposes	Referent: Hinduism	2.33							
	Others	2.97	-0.86	0.318	0.006	0.42	0.22 - 0.78		
Reasons for keeping cows in gaushalas (1 str	ongly agree – 5 strongly	disagree)		·			·		
Milk sales	Referent: Hinduism	3.46							
	Others	3.00	0.68	0.322	0.03	1.97	1.05 - 3.71		
Provision of resources by gaushalas is adequ	ate (1 strongly disagree -	- 5 strongly a	agree)						
Shelter	Referent: Hinduism	4.44							
	Others	4.70	-0.96	0.440	0.02	0.38	0.16 - 0.91		
Bedding, flooring and lying down	Referent: Hinduism	4.39							
	Others	4.62	-0.91	0.416	0.02	0.40	0.18 - 0.91		

Table 8-6: Religion effects on public perception about cow welfare and gaushalas in India (P < 0.05)</th>

Criterion	Coefficient	SE Coefficient	P-value	OR	95% C.I
Frequency of visiting the	0.27	0.102	0.008	1.31	1.07 – 1.60
local gaushala (1 daily, 2					
weekly, 3 fortnightly, 4					
monthly, 5 biannually,					
annually, 6 < annually, 7					
never)					
Rank of importance of pur	rposes of establishing	gaushalas (1 most im	portant to 6 least	important)	
Earning a profit	-0.28	0.122	0.01	0.75	0.59 - 0.95
Religious purposes	0.41	0.107	< 0.001	1.51	1.22 – 1.86
Provision of resources by	gaushalas is adequate	(1 strongly disagree -	- 5 strongly agree)	•
Shelter	-0.27	0.117	0.02	0.76	0.61 - 0.96
Freedom to move about	-0.28	0.117	0.01	0.76	0.60 - 0.95
and socialize with other					
cows					
Bedding, flooring and	-0.27	0.114	0.01	0.76	0.61 - 0.95
lying down					
Humane treatment	-0.34	0.114	0.002	0.71	0.56 - 0.88
Veterinary care	-0.37	0.113	0.001	0.69	0.55 - 0.86

 Table 8-7: Religiosity effects on public perception about cow welfare and gaushalas in India (P < 0.05)</th>

Criterion	Parameter	Mean	Coefficient	SE Coefficient	P-value	OR	95% C.I
Frequency of visiting the local gaushala (1	Referent: Village	3.55					
daily, 2 weekly, 3 fortnightly, 4 monthly, 5	Urban	2.63	1.09	0.177	< 0.001	3.00	2.12 - 4.25
biannually, annually, 6 < annually, 7 never)							
Importance of gaushalas for cows (1	Referent: Village	4.84					
strongly unimportant – 5 strongly	Country town	4.45	1.4	0.516	0.004	4.48	1.63 - 12.33
important)							
Rank of importance of the purposes of establi	ishing gaushalas (1 most	important to	6 least import	ant)			I
Animal welfare	Referent: Village	2.49					
	Urban	1.94	0.57	0.183	0.002	1.78	1.25 - 2.56
	Suburban	1.69	0.75	0.310	0.015	2.12	1.15 - 3.90
	Country town	5.05	-3.01	0.476	< 0.001	0.05	0.02 - 0.12
Milk sales	Referent: Village	3.35					
	Suburban	3.10	0.67	0.319	0.03	1.96	1.05 - 3.66
	Country town	2.25	2.49	0.495	< 0.001	12.09	4.58 - 31.90
Breeding cows	Referent: Village	3.62					
	Suburban	3.93	-0.73	0.325	0.02	0.48	0.25 - 0.91
	Country town	2.06	3.64	0.514	< 0.001	38.37	13.99 - 105.24
Attracting funding	Referent: Village	4.30					
	Urban	4.63	-0.44	0.200	0.02	0.64	0.43 - 0.95
	Suburban	4.97	-1.14	0.333	0.001	0.32	0.17 - 0.61
	Country town	2.43	2.47	0.486	< 0.001	11.85	4.56 - 30.78

 Table 8-8: Place of residence effects on public perception about cow welfare and gaushalas in India (P < 0.05)</th>

Earning a profit	Referent: Village	4.75					
	Urban	5.19	-0.80	0.220	< 0.001	0.45	0.29 - 0.69
	Country town	2.00	2.74	0.538	< 0.001	15.49	5.39 - 44.49
Religious purposes	Referent: Village	2.39					
	Urban	2.16	0.36	0.181	0.04	1.44	1.01 - 2.06
	Suburban	1.80	0.58	0.302	0.05	1.79	0.99 - 3.24
	Country town	4.68	-1.99	0.439	< 0.001	0.14	0.06 - 0.32
Provision of resources by gaushalas is adequate (1 strongly disagree – 5 strongly agree)							
Shelter	Referent: Village	4.52					
	Urban	4.29	0.46	0.195	0.01	1.59	1.09 - 2.34
	Country town	4.00	1.08	0.410	0.008	2.95	1.32 - 6.60
Freedom to move about and socialize with	Referent: Village	4.51					
other cows	Country town	4.00	1.02	0.409	0.01	2.80	1.25 - 6.25
Bedding, flooring and lying down	Referent: Village	4.48					
	Urban	4.20	0.44	0.190	0.02	1.56	1.07 - 2.26
	Country town	3.63	1.53	0.402	< 0.001	4.66	2.12 - 10.25
Reason for visits to gaushalas (Religious,	Referent: Village	2.02					
Feed the cows, Educational, Examine	Urban	1.65	-1.38	0.688	0.044	0.25	0.06 - 0.96
welfare, Leisure, Buy products or other)							







8.5.4 Qualitative assessment

All respondents answered the following open-ended question: What do you understand by the term 'welfare of cows'? One hundred and forty -seven word frequencies were developed in response to the answers (Table 8-9). Words that were detected > 10 times were as follows: care (n= 369), goddess (316), mother (314), proper (313), feeding (176), rescue (71), abandoned (49), slaughter (34), welfare (29), duty (27), religion (26), sheltering (26), human (23), religious (22), watering (20), creatures (15), dumb (13), Hindu (10) and worship (10). The word cloud (Figure 8-2) generated emphasized the almost equal and predominant importance of four related concepts: care, goddess, mother and proper.

	Word	Count	Weighted Percentage (%)	Similar Words
1	care	369	17.35	care, cared, caring
2	goddess	316	14.86	goddess, goddesses
3	mother	314	14.76	mother, mothers
4	proper	313	14.72	proper, properly
5	feeding	176	8.27	feeding
6	rescue	71	3.34	rescue, rescued
7	abandoned	49	2.30	abandoned, abandoning, abandonment
8	slaughter	34	1.60	slaughter
9	welfare	29	1.36	welfare
10	duty	27	1.27	duty
11	religion	26	1.22	religion
12	sheltering	26	1.22	shelter, sheltered, sheltering, shelters
13	human	23	1.08	human, humane, humanity, humans
14	religious	22	1.03	religious
15	watering	20	0.94	watering
16	creatures	15	0.71	creature, creatures
17	dumb	13	0.61	dumb
18	Hindu	10	0.47	Hindu
19	worship	10	0.47	worship

Table 8-9: Word frequency count of the question 'What do you mean by the term welfare of cows?'



Figure 8-2: Word Cloud for the question' What do you understand by the term 'welfare of cows'? 8.6 Discussion

This was the first study undertaken to investigate the attitudes and beliefs of the Indian public about gaushalas, and about cow welfare. The aim of this study was not only to explore public beliefs about gaushalas and cow welfare, but also the factors associated with these beliefs. Additionally, this study aimed to investigate preferences for the different cow breeds, the suitability of gaushalas for managing unwanted street cows, and factors associated with the preferences for the management of cows in gaushalas.

The response rate in this study was higher than other animal welfare surveys (Heleski et al. 2006; Gurusamy et al. 2015), giving confidence that it accurately depicted the attitude of the communities surrounding these gaushalas, with little non-response bias (Hawkins 1975). The demographic profiles of the samples in this study appear to be similar to the national profile of the population in some respects, however, the proportion of Hindus was greater in this study because it is likely that gaushalas were mainly established in Hindu-centric communities. The ethnicity of most of the respondents was Indo-Aryan because the area of the study (north and north-western states of India) is predominantly composed of this ethnic group. Similarly, few of the respondents were urban as most of the gaushalas studied were located in the villages and country towns. It is possible that the response rate was higher due to the data collection method (face to face

interviews), compared to using the internet or phone calls. This became relevant as the majority of the respondents had limited internet access and low literacy levels. Face to face interviews take more time, but they are better at obtaining a representative sample and can use a flexible questionnaire construction and design (De Vaus 2013). However, the assumption that web surveys have low response rates may be incorrect (Manfreda et al. 2008). The random selection of respondents from the general public who were not aware of the nature of the survey, and with the preconditions that they were not employed in the nearby cow shelter and yet living within a one km radius of the shelter, might have induced a potential bias in this study. But these selection criteria were important for eliciting the opinions and attitudes of the public who were neutral, but also lived near enough to a shelter to be aware of them and their conditions. Additionally, the recent highly politicised cow conservation movement may have contributed a positive bias on responses in the survey.

The median age group of the respondents of this study (36-45 years) is higher than the national average of 27 years. This might be due to those age groups being at work or college during the day. Moreover, as most of the respondents were from rural areas, younger people may have lived away from home, for work, and only occasionally return to meet elders (Kumari Bhat and Dhruvarajan 2001). There might be an overlap in the age groups in this context as in India persons aged between 15-59 years are supposed to form the working age population (India 2016). However, 70% of our respondents were rural and the age group of 45-65 years primarily constitute the agricultural farmers living in the rural areas working on their traditional land.

Only those survey results that were significant and had high levels of correlation to demographics were reported in the results, and the implication of some of these results will be briefly discussed here. The following sections discuss the findings of this study and suggest preliminary conclusions, particularly where existing social science research exists to help explain these results.

8.6.1 Perceptions about shelters and abandoned cows

There were consistently positive responses to gaushalas across multiple districts in six states of India where the majority of people report visiting regularly and contributing towards the running of the shelters. This finding suggests that the gaushalas and cows are an important part of the community in these areas and have become integrated into their social and spiritual life. While this important aspect of Hindu spiritual life has been reported in the literature (Simoons et al. 1981), the extent to which gaushalas are integrated into the fabric of the community has not been explored in depth by social scientists and anthropologists and would be an important focus for future research, particularly given the recent prominence cow protection movements have come to occupy in the current political climate in India.

Cow are venerated as goddess by Hindus and all religious occasions in Hindus households has worship of the cow as an important aspect of the ceremony right from the birth of a child to the death of an individual. Festivals like *Gopashtami and Govardhan puja* are cow centric occasions which underline the sacred cow concept in Hindu society as people visit shelter homes and make donations for the welfare of cattle in shelters (Lodrick 1981). Circumambulation of the cow, similar to the one done by Hindus around their temples, is considered auspicious and equivalent to a pilgrimage to a sacred Hindu city (Simoons et al. 1981).

Despite the arguments against the economic viability of the cow shelters and the cows housed in them, the Hindu society holds the welfare of cow as a duty towards the religion which professes the concept of 'Ahimsa' or non-violence towards all forms of life. Though this motivation comes from religion, sheltering of cows is an example to prevent animal wastage through active public support.

Regular visits to cow shelters for religious reasons reflect the veneration of cows in the daily life of these members of the Indian public and confirms the reverence of cows in Indian society (Simoons et al. 1981). This reverence for the cow was further confirmed by the absence of choice of any particular breed of the cow (exotic or local), and the fact that many in the community (65%) responded that they felt responsible for the cows' welfare. A majority of the respondents favoured community responsibility for all abandoned and street cows, again reflecting the spirituality ethic embedded in Indian society towards the welfare and protection of the cows (Fox 1999).

The disagreement of the public that the cow shelters were meant for breeding and milking purposes in this study confirms the ascribed Hindu values and belief system in which sheltering of the cows has a religion based welfare motivation, though in the post-independence era economic returns from shelters were encouraged by the Government. (Simoons et al. 1981). Hence, the cows are utilized for milk, draft and manure as well as cared for until they die of natural causes in gaushalas. This might be due to greater awareness of the public about the importance of cow shelters in the contemporary context, as limited space allowance was identified as a welfare issue in this study, suggesting that respondents believed that there should be adequate space for all cows. Most of the respondents (> 82%) expressed agreement that the cows in the shelters provided a good level of welfare, similar to that described by the RSPCA's 'five freedoms of animal welfare', with strong agreement that cow shelters provide adequate shelter, food and water, humane treatment and adequate veterinary care. Additionally, active volunteering and very few issues raised by the public

indicates that they were satisfied with the adequacy of cow welfare in the shelters. The responses reflect a loyalty towards their local cow shelter, supported by the fact that half of the respondents visited the shelters daily or at least weekly. However, the knowledge levels of the public about cow welfare were not assessed, which limits the validity of the conclusion that the welfare of the cows was adequate in the shelters.

8.6.2 Demographic analysis

8.6.2.1 Age and number of children

During this survey, it was observed that the younger age groups spent less time per shelter visit and had less social interaction. They also ranked the welfare of cows at either end of the spectrum, either very high or very low which may be due to a lack of interest or time spent to accurately observe welfare. They also ranked breeding lower as traditionally cow shelters have not served this purpose. The older generation witnessed the times when breeding was one of the prime purposes of the gaushalas and accordingly, they ranked the purpose of breeding higher. Similarly, older people tend to donate regularly to support the cow shelters, which could be the reason why they ranked attracting funding higher than younger people. The older generation listed animal welfare and cultural tradition as the reasons for keeping cows in shelters more, probably because they have witnessed the sacred cow social movements in the post-independence era, when Government actively supported the opening of cow shelters (Murray 2018).

The utility of cow shelters to feed the rural poor through the sale of milk could be the reason that milk sales were ranked higher as a function of cow shelters as the number of children increased in a family. The finding that respondents with children at home agree with the shelter selling milk but disagree that profit making is an important reason to establish shelters is an interesting contradiction and invites further research. However, sale of dairy products and dung by the cow shelters has been the traditional practice to cover the running costs (Sharpes 2006).

8.6.2.2 Educational level

The frequency of cow shelters visits increased with higher educational levels, and those visits were mainly for religious reasons. In general, as educational levels increase, so do income levels (Gregorio and Lee 2002) and disposable income allows people the freedom, mobility and time to pursue leisure activities such as frequent gaushala visits. Moreover, education tends to make citizens more discerning and could have empowered such respondents in this study to objectively assess the availability of food, water, space and treatment for the cows, and to voice concerns over these aspects of comfort and welfare.

However, it was strange to find that as the education level increased, examining cow welfare as the reason to visit cow shelters decreased. By contrast in Europe, religious beliefs and participation in religious practices has decreased with rising education levels and living standards in Europe in the 20th century (Schofer and Meyer 2005; Meisenberg et al. 2012). A negative relationship has been observed between religion and education (Johnson 1997). However, religion plays an important role in daily life in developing and emerging economies, as religious beliefs and involvement run deeper in these communities (Tamney 1980; Brañas-Garza and Neuman 2004; Meisenberg et al. 2012).

8.6.2.3 Gender

The neutrality of female respondents about the cow's freedom of movement and opportunity to socialise with other cows is intriguing as most of the animal husbandry work at home in India is done by women. There is a general perception and published evidence that women have more sensitivity and empathy towards animal welfare and animal issues (Heleski et al. 2004; Phillips and McCulloch 2005; Serpell 2005; Herzog 2007; Phillips et al. 2011), and women are found to be more sympathetic towards animal welfare and sensitive to animal suffering (Herzog 2007). However, major gender inequalities exist in India and women's level of confidence to express their opinions about animal husbandry has a strong correlation with socio-cultural elements from their place of residence (Patel et al. 2016). Male domination due to the patriarchal Indian society may inhibit women from expressing their opinions freely, as traditionally men are in the position of power (Mullatti 1995; Pandey 2011). However, cross-cultural studies have suggested that in countries with a low gender inequality index women express their views on animal welfare more freely (Phillips et al. 2011), being more supportive than males (Heleski et al. 2004; Phillips and McCulloch 2005; Herzog 2007). In India, the gender empowerment index value is low (0.53), with a ranking of 125th in the world (United Nations Development Programme 2016), which suggests that women would not feel empowered to express their animal welfare concerns.

In the Indian context, males are given more authority and may enquire more into the affairs of the local cow shelter than females, who tend to be restricted to the household duties and have lesser opportunity and time to closely monitor the welfare of cows in the shelters. This could explain why men said the main reason to visit shelters was to examine cow welfare standards compared to women, who cited religion as their main reason. The cultural feminist theory suggests that women tend to make moral judgements more on the basis of relations than the general view of what is right or wrong (Phillips et al. 2011), which could explain women making more critical judgements about the provisions to the cows in the shelters.

Males favoured the local Indian breeds of cows more than females. In a patriarchal Indian society, there may be discrimination against the crossbred or exotic cattle from being sheltered in cow shelters and protected by law, as they are considered inferior to the native Indian breeds (Narayanan 2018). Females hold a more romantic view of animals with affection and concern for them, whereas males favour the Darwinian approach, where nature is controlled and exploited (Kruse 1999). The male preference for the local Indian cow breeds indicates that they are spirited nationalists, whereas women, despite being equally nationalistic, might identify a broader perspective of motherhood in cows irrespective of their breed. The patriarchal Indian society and households (Mullatti 1995) could therefore be the driver of such attitudinal differences between the genders.

8.6.2.4 Income level

The increased visits to cow shelters with increasing income levels could be due to the availability of more time compared with those in the lower income groups. Feeding and worshipping the cow is considered to attract more wealth in Hindu mythology because the cow is also believed to be an incarnate of the Hindu goddess of wealth "Lakshmi" (Lodrick 2005b). Similarly, the breeding of cows is also equated with growth in wealth (Somvanshi 2006) and this could be the reason why breeding was ranked higher as a function of the cow shelters by high income earners.

Those in middle income categories may have had a strong desire to uplift their economic status, and their visits to the cow shelters being for religious reasons rather than to feed cows might be have been due to the Hindu belief that one can attract wealth through the worship of cows. This is a deeply ingrained in Hindu philosophy, together with the tradition of non-violence and reverence for the cow (Heston 1971).

8.6.2.5 Religion

Non-Hindus in this study lay more emphasis on the adequacy of sheltering, bedding and flooring, indicating that they viewed the cow shelters through a prism of cow welfare and comfort rather than from a religious angle. However, they represented just 5% of the sample which limits any conclusions. However, studies have shown that eastern religions (Hinduism, Buddhism, Confucianism) induce less religiosity than Christianity and Islam, and within India, average religiosity scores of Hindus is significantly lesser than Muslims (Meisenberg et al. 2012).

8.6.2.6 Religiosity

More religious people took a very optimistic view on the existence and performance of the cow shelters. They frequented the cow shelters more and attached more religious importance to the

cow shelters rather than for economic reasons. Their overwhelming faith in religion and their local gaushala might be the reason they did not see, or rather ignored, the inadequacies in the welfare levels of the cows. Religiosity has been a factor influencing social behaviours, and is also affected by the precise religious affiliation, some demanding more than others (Poria et al. 2003). Since the majority of the respondents were Hindu, a religion which traditionally attaches importance to cow shelters, this was reflected in the strength of religious beliefs (religiosity) expressed by the adherents.

Self-declared, very religious respondents visited the cow shelters for religious reasons rather than for examining the welfare standards, becoming educated or for leisure. These visits to the cow shelters follow a ritualistic pattern in Hindu society that might be an individualistic passion towards religion or sometimes ordained by religious priests to bring about abundance in life, personified by the mythical *'Kamdhenu'* cow, representing abundance and fertility (Nadal 2017). Studies have shown high correlations between religiosity and low animal welfare concerns (Heleski et al. 2005). It could be that a deep faith in the Hindu religion and its cultural traditions might override other reasons for visiting the cow shelters. However, a limited study in the United States (Lifshin et al. 2018) found a curvilinear relationship between religiosity and support for killing animals, as very religious or irreligious participants supported animal killing more than moderately religious participants.

8.6.2.7 Place of residence effects

There were varied and sometimes conflicting results for this category. Due to the rapid pace of urbanisation and changing social, economic and spatial demographics of modern India, extensive and recent sociology studies into these changes which may better explain some of these findings are few (Bhattacharya 2006; James 2008, 2011). Rapidly expanding country towns in India are inhabited by low income working class or middle class citizens who cannot afford to reside in the urban areas due to financial constraints (Bhagat 2011). The higher literacy levels in urban and suburban areas as compared to rural areas in India (Kotni 2012) could be the reason for this awareness of animal welfare and their objectivity.

Suburban people were observed to subscribe to a utilitarian view about the cow shelters, as milk production, breeding of cows, attracting funding and earning profit were the ranked higher than cow welfare and religion as reasons for establishing cow shelters. During the field surveys, gaushalas were observed supplying subsidised milk to suburban people and this may influence their views about the utility of shelters.
The higher rank of animal welfare and lower rank of profit making and attracting funding by urban and sub urban respondents than rural ones in this study could be due to a greater awareness and frequency of visits by these residents to the cow shelters. Urban dwellers also pointed out the lack of proper sheltering, bedding and floor space. High awareness levels of the residents in the urban and country towns about cow welfare could be the reason for this perception.

Suburban residents comprise of the working class which might be religious but have less time for leisure than the affluent urban residents. This could be why suburban residents visited cow shelters more for religious reasons than for leisure.

8.6.2.8 Marital status effects

Indian single people are more likely to occupy the younger age group in this study and therefore similar correlations would be expected between unmarried and younger age effect. Interestingly, however this was not the case. Single people in general have less obligations and more leisure time than married people, which could be why they rate leisure as the purpose to visit gaushalas.

Since the 1950s, exotic cow breeds were introduced into breeding programs across the country. The very older age groups witnessed the gradual transition of genotype from indigenous to exotic breeds and may hold a sentimentality towards the local breeds of their youth

The reason why single people visited cow shelters more for leisure as compared to married people who visit for religious reasons could be that there are more social obligation on the families to follow cultural / religious traditions and duties than single people. Visiting cow shelters for religious reasons could be a social and community need in close knit Indian families (Brinkerhoff et al. 1997).

Single people rated all types of cows as equal in contrast to married people and widowers who rated local Indian breeds higher. Single people in this study were mostly younger in age and seem to be have a broader view about animal welfare, as evident in the earlier results of marital status effects in this study. They might be less sensitized to the sacred cow concept and view universality of compassion towards all living creatures.

8.6.3 Influence of attitude towards cows to visiting frequency to gaushalas

The results clearly showed that more frequent visitors to shelters cited higher levels of religiosity, ranked welfare and profit making as the reason for establishing the gaushalas, and strongly said that cows were treated humanely. Interestingly, those that visit monthly or more also cite welfare as the reason to establish shelters. Attitudes and personality explain human behaviour (Ajzen 1991) and in this study a positive correlation was found between attitudes and behaviour like

visiting shelters. The positive influence of human attitude on behaviour towards cows has been researched (Breuer et al. 2000b; Hemsworth et al. 2000). Such attitudes might indirectly affect and influence welfare of sheltered cows.

8.6.4 Qualitative assessment

Results of the qualitative analysis indicated that cows still hold a sacred position of the 'Mother Goddess' in Indian society and this is the reason for taking care of them. The word query and count results reflect the concern for the abandonment and slaughter of cows. The care of cows through rescue from slaughter and the proper feeding for their welfare was perceived as a duty of the adherents to the religion.

8.7 Limitations of the study

The random selection of respondents in this study significantly reduces the potential for selection bias but it is very difficult to estimate the response rate of the survey. The selection of only those respondents who lived near the cow shelters might induce a bias, but it was intended to get information about the day to day working of the cow shelters from persons who had had the opportunity to visit them.

There is a possibility that these residents might not portray their true feelings in comments about their local cow shelter. However, the face to face technique has the ability to rapidly collect data from a large number of people with less false reporting than other methods. It is also possible that the respondents were not representative of the Indian public. The sample size was large enough, but the study surveyed only a small sector of the population within six states of India.

However, while this research constituted the first attempt at eliciting attitudes towards cows and gaushalas in these areas of India, it was a brief survey and has implicit bias and limitations. More in-depth ethnographic research will be required to fully examine people's relationship with these ancient institutions and with cows before drawing conclusions as to their motivations, influences, and beliefs.

8.8. Conclusions

Public attitude towards cows and cow welfare in cow shelters was guided by the overriding concept of the cow as sacred, literally having the status of 'mother goddess' in Indian society. Visiting the cow shelters frequently for religious reasons further strengthens this status of the cow. The majority of the respondents in this study believed in the welfare of all cows irrespective of their breeds. Welfare and religious reasons were ranked higher as reasons for the establishment and running of the local cow shelters by the respondents, which symbolises the 'protectionist conservationism' approach of the Indian society in the context of this study.

had a focus on the utilitarian and religious values of the cow shelters, whereas the younger people viewed them as institutions for cow welfare and protection. Reverence for cows and concerns about their welfare in the cow shelters increased with increasing education levels. The patriarchal structure of the Indian society was reflected in the neutral views about cow welfare in shelters shown by females. Higher incomes leading to more frequent visits to cow shelters for religious reasons indicates the status of the cow as an incarnation of the 'goddess of wealth' in Hindu mythology (Lodrick 1981). Increased religiosity levels and the Hindu religion were the main reasons for establishing and visiting cow shelters, and there was some evidence of community responsibility towards local Indian cow breeds. Place of residence revealed attitudinal differences towards cows and cow shelters. Rural populations held a utilitarian as well as religious view of cow shelters and reported fewer welfare issues. Increased education levels did not reduce reverence for the cow, but it enabled them to report welfare and cow comfort issues in the shelters. Key differences in the attitudes of the public towards cows and cow shelters across the demographic profiles delineated in this study need to be understood and incorporated into initiatives to improve the welfare of cows in shelters. This will maximise public engagement to successfully manage the cow shelters with modern scientific concepts of animal welfare-based management in order to perpetuate these unique institutions in a sustainable way. Further studies are needed to assess the knowledge levels of the public about cow welfare. This will reveal more about the dichotomy of thoughts of the Indian public towards cows in the context of religion and animal welfare. Future research should identify and address key welfare issues with a broader range of stakeholders and examine the potential impacts of improvements in cow welfare in the cow shelters.

Submitted manuscript included in Chapter 9

Sharma, A.; Phillips, C.J.C. The management of cow shelters in India, including the attitudes of shelter managers to the welfare of cows (Submitted to '*Animals*' on 19/11/2019)

Author Contributions to the paper

The conceptualization, design and methodology was done by Arvind Sharma, Clive J.C Phillips and Catherine Schuetze. The data collection and investigation was done by Arvind Sharma. The formal analysis and interpretation was done by Arvind Sharma and Clive J.C Phillips. Original draft of the paper was prepared by Arvind Sharma. The writing review and editing was done by all the authors.

Chapter 9

The management of cow shelters in India, including the attitudes of shelter managers to cow welfare

9.1 Abstract

Gaushala management is a specialized profession relating to the management of cow shelters or gaushalas, which are traditional and ancient Indian institutions that shelter old, unproductive and abandoned cows – is believed to be a specialized job requiring particular skills. The 1800 registered cow shelters in India have managers who are important stakeholders in the management of cows in these unique institutions. It is important to survey the routine management of these shelters and attitudes of the managers towards cow welfare to identify the constraints and welfare issues. Fifty-four shelters in six states of India were visited for a face to face structured interview of the managers. Quantitative data collection included questions on demographics, routine management operations, protocols followed in the shelters and attitudes of the managers towards cow welfare. All shelters except one were managed by males, half of them were, in the age range of 45-65 years, were university graduates or post-graduates, with 5-15 years shelter management experience, with the majority having lived in rural areas for most of their lives. Each shelter housed a median of 232 cattle were housed, out of which 13 were lactating cows. The majority of managers vaccinated their animals against endemic diseases like foot and mouth disease, haemorrhagic septicaemia and black quarter (gangraena emphysematosa) and administered endo-and ectoparasiticidal treatments, however, hardly any screened the cattle for brucellosis and tuberculosis. Only 17% of the shelters had in house veterinarians and most cows died of old age, with an annual mortality rate of 14%. The majority of the shelters allowed the cows to breed. Access to pasture was available in only 41% of the shelters, while most allowed some access to yards. Most (57%) had limited biosecurity measures, but 82% of the shelters disposed off the carcasses by deep burial on their own premises or through the municipality, with 18% disposing of them in open spaces or nearby creeks. About one half of the shelters maintained records of the protocols followed routinely. Charitable societies ran half of the shelters, mostly through public donations, with accounts audited regularly. Most managers thought that shelter's cow welfare was important and that they should attempt to improve it. They were less in agreement that their knowledge of animal welfare was adequate. Local support, more moral than financial, was recognized more than government support. Managers perceived cow welfare as important from a religious perspective, citing the mother god and caring for abandoned animals as frequent themes in their definition of cow welfare. Caring for animals, mother and goddess were key elements in managers' perception of animal welfare. The recommendations arising from this survey include that the shelter managers should be involved in the decision-making process for the welfare of cows in shelters, which is vital for the sustainability of these unique institutions. Welfare could be improved by strict compliance with biosecurity measures and disease surveillance protocols, avoidance of indiscriminate breeding and separation of males and females.

Keywords: shelters; cows; managers; survey; attitudes; welfare; India

9.2. Introduction

In India cows in their late lactation, with reduced production and competing with other cows for the costly feed are often abandoned to the streets. In urban areas, they then forage on garbage dumps, potentially consuming plastics and wires, as well as potentially suffering fatal traffic injuries (Fox 1999). Abandoning of cows in streets is contentious as these cows are often injured, even causing human mortality, and potentially causing a public health risks to humans and animals (Singh et al. 2013; Ghatak and Singh 2015). According to the Indian Government, stray animals caused 1604 road accidents in 2016, leading to 629 human deaths (Government of India 2017). Stray cows in the roads and streets have specifically been implicated as the causes of these road accidents (Arya et al. 2019). In the villages, crop-raiding by abandoned cows has led to humananimal conflict, with farmers sometimes having to abandon cropping and cows beaten and chased away. In this scenario, gaushalas are the only alternatives to shelter these stray cows, as a religious ban on cow slaughter is increasing their numbers every year.

Sheltering of old, abandoned, unproductive, infertile and infirm cows in shelters referred to as "Gaushalas" is a traditional practice in India. The exact origin of these shelters is not known but documentary evidence of their existence is available from the 3rd to 4th century BCE (Lodrick 1981). Over time they diversified, based on their religious affiliations and ownership (Evans 2013). Cows are worshipped as a mother goddess by the Hindu majority population. Cow slaughter is illegal in most Indian states (Sarkar and Sarkar 2016; Narayanan 2019b). The 12th century Muslim invasion of India and the later European colonization created socio-political conditions linking the cow with symbols of purity and Hindu identity. More recently, political parties strengthened cow sheltering and the cow protection movement (Lodrick 1981; Gupta 2001; Lodrick 2005; Narayanan 2018). Mahatma Gandhi emphasized the role of shelters in the economic growth of India rather than any religious role, by advocating dairying and breeding of shelter cows (Burgat 2004). In the early independence years, the role of gaushalas changed from sacred cow sanctuaries to potential breeding and dairying centres for high yielding cows, with active financial support from the government (Valpey 2020).

India is the largest producer of milk and has the largest number of dairy cows in the world (58.5 million), as well as the largest cattle population (190.9 million). In the last livestock census (2012) there were 5.2 million stray cattle (Department of Animal Husbandry Dairying and Fisheries 2014). In a Government survey conducted in 1956 there were 1020 gaushalas in 21 states of India (Chakravarti 1985), which has grown to the current 1837 registered gaushalas, according to the Animal Welfare Board of India (AWBI), the statutory body under the Government of India's Prevention of Cruelty to Animals Act 1960 (PCA, 1960). However, there are reports that the total number, including unregistered gaushalas, is approximately 5000 (Federation of India Animal Protection Organisations 2018b; Mandi et al. 2018).

Managers are employed by either the gaushala trustees, charitable societies, temple trusts, municipalities or government, according to who owns the shelter. A two thousand year old Hindu text, the '*Arthashastra*', describes the administration of gaushalas, including a position of '*Godyaksa*' (Superintendent of Cows) (Lodrick 1981; Evans 2013). Nowadays managers provide an interface with visitors, who come to donate to, worship, feed or just see the cows. Managers have multiple roles, as cashiers, cattle and worker superintendents, and receptionists. They are in a unique position to understand the challenges to the welfare of cows in shelters and evolve solutions that improve their lives, based on the results of this research. Despite this, their attitudes towards cow welfare and gaushalas have never been studied, and these are perceived to be useful for improvement in cow welfare. Studies investigating attitudes towards animal welfare issues are common in developed countries (Vanhonacker et al. 2008; Verbeke 2009; Kauppinen et al. 2010), including aspects of dairy farm management (Mishra 2001; Caraviello et al. 2006; Gourley et al. 2007), and even dairy farms in India (Saha and Jain 2004; Tiwari et al. 2009; Sreedhar and Sreenivas 2015).

The paucity of studies on gaushala management is evident (Lodrick 1981; Federation of Indian Animal Protection Organisations 2018a; Bijla et al. 2019), even though there are qualitative studies critical of the management of cow shelters in a philosophical context (Narayanan 2018, 2019b). There is a lacuna in literature on the quantitative assessment of the routine management of cow shelters in the contemporary context, when the sheltering of cattle has gained importance in the wake of an increasing problem of street cows and impetus for strengthening the shelters from the Indian Government.

Therefore, a survey was designed to collect and analyse information about the routine animal husbandry operations and practices of shelters and to elicit the attitudes of managers of the gaushalas to cows and their welfare. Information about the routine working of the gaushalas, husbandry practices followed, demographics of the sheltered animals, preventative health and biosecurity measures undertaken, income and expenditure of the gaushalas, constraints and visitor profile are important to objectively assess the welfare of the cows in these shelters. The opinions and attitudes of these managers towards cows and cow welfare is also important to provide feedback to these stakeholders for training and recruitment of managers.

9.3. Materials and Methods

Human ethics approval for this study was provided by the University of Queensland's Human Ethics Committee (approval number 2016001243). Interviews were conducted with shelter managers between November 2016 and July 2017, as a part of a welfare assessment of cows in shelters in six states of India (Gujarat, Maharashtra, Rajasthan, Punjab, Haryana and Himachal Pradesh) (Sharma et al. 2019b). The states were selected on the basis of having the largest concentration of shelters in India and a tradition of sheltering cows (Gujarat, Rajasthan, Maharashtra, Punjab and Haryana) and one state (Himachal Pradesh), which was actively establishing cow shelters to tackle the stray cattle problem (Figure 9.1). Each shelter manager of the 54 cow shelters assessed was interviewed for approximately 35 minutes, before assessing the animals and resources present. The sample size of shelters (n = 54) was determined using a power calculation (Creative Research Systems n.d) which determined that 50 shelters would adequately represent the number of shelters in major Indian states having shelters. The study was designed to detect an odds ratio of 4 with a power of 0.8 and $\alpha = 0.05$. The prerequisite for selection of the shelters was that they should be sheltering at least 30 cattle and should not be selling more than 20 litres of milk per day. A good geographical distribution of the shelters in each state was ensured for sampling in the study along with a mixture of good or bad shelters. Shelters were selected on the basis of recommendations of the AWBI, veterinarians working in the state animal husbandry departments and through a snowballing technique.





Interviews with the shelter managers in Hindi were conducted using a questionnaire with multiple-choice, semi-closed and open-ended questions to collect socio-demographic data, data about shelter management and husbandry practices and attitudinal data of the managers to cows and cow welfare (Appendix 4). The first section had three screening questions about whether the shelter housed at least 30 animals, whether infertile, abandoned, rescued, stray, old and infirm cows were being sheltered, whether the shelter had any religious connection and age of the shelter. The second section on demographics asked their gender, usual place of residence, age, religion and religiosity and education level. They were then asked to describe their job in the shelter, their level of understanding and knowledge about cow shelters, source of gaining this knowledge, any animal welfare activity outside of the shelter, and the length of time they had spent working in that shelter. The third section addressed cattle numbers and cattle management: the number of lactating cows,

mean milk yields, the proportion of horned cattle, the number of other cattle (bulls, bullocks, nonlactating cows and heifers, males and female calves, less than 6 months of age), the fate of calves born in the shelter (sold, donated or reared); vaccination and deworming practices, including frequency of use and for which pathogens; veterinarian involvement (in house or visiting; frequency of visits), number of male and female workers and the length of time they had worked there, whether there was induction training, whether the manager kept records, sold livestock products and ran a biogas plant at the shelter.

The fourth section asked about the status of the shelter (public or private trust, government, charitable society, board of directors, municipality, individual or any other), the source of funding, annual income and expenditure, including whether audited, affiliation with the AWBI. The fifth section addressed husbandry: mortality and its major causes, whether colostrum was fed to calves, whether cows and calves were separated after birth, the cattle feeding regime, including whether visitors fed the cows, the time spent by the cattle outdoors in the yard or at pasture, whether the cows bred or not, and if they did the purpose of the breeding; whether there were any animal enrichment and/or biosecurity measures (the latter particularly during the introduction of new animals, disposal of carcasses, and isolation of diseased animals), the disposal of cow excreta, the maintenance of cows in segregated groups; use of loading/unloading ramps; whether animal experimentation was allowed; natural disasters plans; volunteering by the public, and any public relation or outreach activity done by the shelter.

Finally managers responded to attitude questions on a Likert scale (1, strongly disagree to 5, strongly agree): the welfare of this gaushala's cows is satisfactory and important to me; my knowledge of animal welfare is adequate; the feed the cows receive is adequate; I am willing to adopt measures that will improve the welfare of the cows, if provided to me; the local community and government financially and morally support the gaushala; I intend to make improvements to the welfare of the cows under my care; in the past I have tried to make improvements to the welfare of the cows in my care; the staff at this gaushala have a close relationship with the cows. Finally, an open-ended question was asked: what you understand by the term 'welfare of cows'?

9.4 Statistical Analysis

Data was screened for errors, and analysis completed with Minitab 17 Statistical Software (Minitab[®] version 17.1.0, Minitab Ltd., Pennsylvania State University, State College, PA, USA). Descriptive statistical analysis on the questionnaire was performed and respondent demographics, complimentary data, and responses to attitude questions expressed as numbers and percentages.

The association of the dependent variables, income of the shelter and mortality rate of cow shelter with various categorical and continuous independent variables was explored using a general linear model (GLM). Logistic regression analyses (either binary, nominal or ordinal, as appropriate to the response structure) were used to analyse the significance of relationships between type of administration, affiliation with AWBI and financial support of the Government (which had Likert scale response), the income of the shelter , mortality rate, disease outbreaks in the last 5 years , biosecurity measures, breeding of cows in shelters, time cows spent outdoors, training of workers, frequency of veterinarian visits, frequency of deworming, ectoparasiticidal treatments and vaccination, numbers lactating cows in the shelters, total milk yield of the shelters and the total number of animals in the shelters. Cross tabulations between dependent variables and independent variables were also inspected, ensuring that all individual expected counts were ≥ 1 . An iterative reweighted least squares algorithm with a logit link function was used in the models. All models achieved convergence. All probability values were considered significant at p < 0.05.

The type of administration of the shelter (whether managed by a public trust, private trust, Government or a charitable society), affiliation with the Animal Welfare Board of India (AWBI) and income of the shelter were used as outcome variables against animal health and welfare based variables: mortality rate, vaccination status, vaccination frequency, status and frequency of deworming and ectoparasiticidal treatment, total number of animals in the shelter, milk yield of cows in the shelter, number of dairy cows in the shelter, frequency of veterinarian visits to the shelter, training of workers, biosecurity measures for new cattle admitted, time spent by the cows outdoors and disease outbreaks in 5 years. According to the nature of outcome variable (continuous, binary or ordinal) GLM, ordinal or nominal regression models were used to explore associations between these variables.

A one way ANOVA was used to determine whether any significant differences in the responses to the twelve attitude questions existed. Each attitude question was taken as a response and the other 11 questions were used as factors with the possible answers to each question as levels of the factor variable (1-strongly disagree to 5- strongly agree). The level of significance was fixed at 5%. Tukey's method was used to compare the means for each pair of factor levels to control the rate of type 1 error. Chi-square test for association was used to test for any differences in the disposal of male and female calves.

Thematic analysis of the open-ended question about what the gaushala manager understood by the term 'welfare of cows' was conducted by a single thematic coder, using NVivo Pro 12 software (NVivo qualitative data analysis software; QSR International Pty Ltd. Version 12, 2018, https://www.qsrinternational.com/nvivo/nvivo-products/nvivo-12-plus). This extracted the main trends from the word frequency and word cloud functions. Conjunctives (such as 'and') and words which were irrelevant to the study theme (such as 'a' or 'it') were manually excluded from the output and the analysis repeated.

9.5 Results

9.5.1 Respondent demographics

All 54 shelter managers completed the questionnaire, a 100% response rate. There was only one female shelter manager. The majority of the managers had lived most of their lives in villages (63%), some in urban areas (28%), country towns (7%) and suburban areas (2%). Most were aged 46-55 years (26%), or over 65 years (22%), with fewer 36-45 years (18%), 56-65 years (17%), 26-35 years (15%) and 18-25 years (2%). Twenty-eight percent of the managers were university graduates, 24% were post-graduates, 21% ended their education after passing grade 12 and 9% at grade 10, 13% were diploma holders, and 5% were either below grade 10 pass or had no formal education.

Almost all of the managers were Hindus (96.3%), with many considering themselves very (55.5%) or moderately (43%) religious. Nearly all (94%) considered their job as being team leaders supervising people working directly with the cows; only 6% indicated that they worked directly with the cows. The majority of the managers (67%) thought that they had good knowledge and understanding of cow shelters, 18% considered themselves to be experts, 13% considered that they had some knowledge and 2% little knowledge. A majority (81%) believed that hands-on experience of working on farms was the main source of their knowledge about cow welfare, 7% had their knowledge from formal qualifications and 3% from newspapers, periodicals, television programmes and the internet. Although most (59%) were not involved with animal welfare organisations, some (61%) were involved in other animal welfare activities: animal activism, humane education or feeding stray animals. Only 30% were involved with professions unrelated to animal welfare before joining the shelters. Thirty-three percent had long experience of similar work in animal welfare, more than 15 years, followed by 21% between 5-9 years, 17% between 10-15 years, 13% between 2-3 years, 11% between 3-5 years and only 5% being there for less than an year. Twenty-eight percent of the managers had spent 10-15 years working at their current shelter, followed by 19% -3-5 years, 17% - 5-9 years, 17% >15 years, 13% - 2-3 years and 7% < one year.

9.5.2 Establishment of the shelters and their financial performance

Half of the managers reported the shelter's religious connection to Hinduism (27 shelters), 11% to Jainism, 9% to Jainism and Hinduism, 8% to others (Sikhism and Islam) and 22% had no religious connection. The earliest shelter established among the shelters included in this study was in the year 1766, from records available with the shelter managers. Five shelters were established in the 19th century, five in the first half of the 20th century and the rest were established in the second half of the 20th century and in the 21st century. Almost half of the shelters (48%) visited in this study were administered through charitable societies, followed by 33% by public trusts, 13% by private trusts and the rest by government, municipalities or temple trusts, respectively. Philanthropy by public, business houses, trusts and funding by the state governments were the principal sources of funding to the shelters. Only 46% of the shelters were affiliated to the AWBI. Regular auditing of the shelter funds was done in 96% of the shelters.

Fifty out of the 54 shelter managers interviewed in the study provided the estimated income and expenditure of their shelters. The median annual expenditure of the shelters was 3,525,000 Indian rupees (approximately US\$ 50,000). The median annual income was 125,000 rupees (approximately US\$ 1800). The maximum annual expenditure being incurred by a shelter was 150,000,000 Indian rupees (approximately US\$ 2,000,000). Some of the shelters reported no incomes (five shelters) and the maximum annual income reported was 12,444,000 Indian rupees (approximately US\$ 174000).

Income was provided by sales of milk, manure, urine and hides. Milk was sold in only 37% of the shelters but 54% of the shelters sold dung as manure. Partial disposal of dung by shelters was done in the form of donation of manure free of charge to the local farmers (37%), sale as manure alone (37%) and sale as vermicompost and manure (17%). Biogas as an alternative fuel to use the dung-generated in the shelters was only produced in 19% of the shelters. In 9% of the shelters dung was not disposed of but left lying as a mound within the shelter premises. In case of urine, 76% of the shelters just let off drain off without proper sewerage facilities to treat the slurry, whereas in 24% of the shelters urine was collected for use as a biopesticide or traditional medicine. Hides of dead animals were sold in 11% of the shelters.

Recording of milk yield in the shelters was done only in half of the shelters. Calving and mortality records were maintained in 63% and 81% of the shelters, respectively. Health records were maintained in 80% of the shelters. An inventory of veterinary drugs was maintained in 76% of the shelters. Feed records were maintained in 91% of the shelters while 76% of the shelters also maintained records of any sales.

9.5.3 Cattle, worker and visitor demographics

The median number of animals housed in the shelters was 232. The median number of cows, heifers, bulls, bullocks, female and male calves were 137, 48, 12, 9, 11 and 15, respectively. The median number of lactating cows in the shelters was 13, with a median milk yield of 12 l/d/ shelter. Nearly all (90%) cattle were horned. In each shelter the calves were usually reared there

(mean/shelter/year, n = 64, 59% of total calves), some donated to villagers if requested (n = 31, 29%) and a small proportion sold (n = 13, 12%), with no significant difference between males and females (Chi Square = 0.98, P = 0.61).

The median number of male workers was six and females two, with 32% of the shelters having no female worker. The maximum number of male and female workers in a shelter was 300 and 110, respectively. Induction training of the workers was performed in 65% of the shelters.

Regular volunteering in the shelters by the local public was reported in 30% of the shelters, occasional volunteering in 26% of the shelters and the absence of volunteering in 44%. In order to have an outreach to the public, 72% of the shelters organized activities such as the celebration of cow specific holy festivals (like '*gau ashtami*', '*govardhan pooja*'), recitation of religious scriptures by saints, open days and community feasts, according to their financial capacities.

All shelters allowed visits for a variety of purposes: exclusively for religious reasons was reported by 9% of the managers, 39% for seeing or feeding the cows and 52% for all the above reasons. Most of the shelters (98%) did not allow anyone to conduct experiments on their animals. Nearly all shelters (96%) allowed visitors to feed the cattle, and 87% of the shelters monitored it.

9.5.4 Health management, breeding, housing and disaster management

Almost all the shelters (96%) vaccinated their cattle, for foot and mouth disease (FMD), haemorrhagic septicaemia (HS) and black quarter disease (BQ) in 85% of the shelters and FMD and HS only in 11%. Only one shelter vaccinated against brucellosis along with the other diseases and one shelter did not vaccinate their animals at all. Most of the shelters (81%) vaccinated the cattle twice a year and 15% thrice a year. Endoparasiticidal treatment was given twice a year in 35% of the shelters, thrice a year in 17%, four times in 30%, once a year in 5% and 3 shelters never did it. Regular schedules of endo and ectoparasiticidal treatment were used by 7% and 50% of shelters, respectively. Twenty-one percent of the shelters did it four times a year, 11% twice a year, 5% thrice a year and 3% once a year. Seven percent of the shelters did not use this treatment.

Only 17% of the shelters had in-house veterinarians but a further 26% of them had veterinarians on call. Some 13% of the shelters had daily visits, 13% weekly, 13% fortnightly and 5% monthly visits. The median mortality rate of the cattle in shelters was 30 animals/year or 13.8%. Old age was ranked as the main cause of mortality (53%), followed by animals brought in in a moribund state (28%), disease (8.5%), chronic debility (5.5%), other causes (3%, such as fatal injuries due to fights within herd mates, impaction of the gastrointestinal tract with plastics) and malnutrition/ fodder shortage (2%).

Biosecurity measures in the shelters were followed in 57% of the shelters in the form of separate sheds during the introduction of new animals, isolation wards for separating and treating sick cows (72%); disposal of carcasses took place by their deep burial within the shelter premises in 43% of the shelters whereas 39% shelters allowed the municipalities to dispose off the carcasses. However, 18% of the shelters left the carcasses in the open or just threw them in the nearby creek or ravine. Disease outbreaks in the last five years, predominantly FMD, were reported by 43% of the shelters.

The majority of the shelters (91%) allowed the cows to breed, 44% of which was mating by bulls housed with the cows and 44% was planned, with cows taken to bulls when estrus was observed. The purposes of breeding was usually (56%) for indigenous breed conservation, breed improvement and increased productivity; with 44% allowing it without any purpose. Colostrum was fed to all calves born in the shelters and 94% of the shelters fed it immediately after the birth. Calves were kept with their mothers in most (57%) shelters. In 68% of shelters the cows were segregated into different sheds according to their age and length of stay. Access to pastures was available only in 41% of the shelters, whereas 81% had access to yards. Approximately the same proportion of shelters (46%) sent their cows outdoors to the yards for less than six hours and more than 6 hours (44%). Nine percent of the shelters did not allow their cows outdoors, mostly due to the absence of yards and pastures. Loading and unloading ramps for the cows were available in 57% of the shelters.

Most shelter managers (76%) expressed ignorance about any disaster management plans for their shelters, and 74% believed that their shelter was not located in a disaster-prone area (areas prone to flooding, avalanches, landslides, and bushfires). Animal enrichment measures were employed in 52% of the shelters but were mostly restricted to the provision of playing devotional music.

9.5.5 Association of shelter administration, affiliation, income and financial support of government with various health and welfare parameters

No significant association was observed between the income of the shelters with other independent variables using a General Linear Model, though there was a trend towards shelters affiliated to the AWBI having more income (p = 0.07). There was a significant positive association between the mortality rates in the shelters with total milk yield/day (SE of coefficient = 0.001, F = 10.37, p = 0.004) and presence of an in-house veterinarian (SE of coefficient = 166, F = 4.86, p = 0.002). The r² (adjusted) for the model was 61%.

There was a significant association between the type of administration of the shelters (government, public trust, private trust or a charitable society) and the presence of biosecurity measures for newly admitted animals (OR = 18.94, 95% CI 2.73 – 131.22, p-value 0.003). Shelters run by charitable societies were less likely (10/26) to use biosecurity measures for newly admitted animals than the public trust run shelters (14/18). Acknowledgement of the managers of financial support of the government to the shelters was associated with frequency of vaccination (OR = 10.23, 95% CI 1.34 – 78.15, p = 0.02). Those shelters that disagreed that government provided financial support were relatively more likely to vaccinate their cattle twice a year (5/13) than those who agreed that government provided financial support (3/21).

9.5.6 Attitude of managers to cow welfare and support for the shelter

Attitudes are presented as bar charts (Figure 9-2), with comparison between mean responses presented in Table 9-1. Most agreed that welfare was important to them (Table 9-1 and Figure 9-2), that they were willing to adopt measures to improve welfare, that feed was adequate and that they had made or intended to make welfare improvements. There was less agreement that their knowledge of animal welfare was adequate and that the local community morally supported the shelter. There was only marginal agreement that the local community morally and financially supported the shelter and that the government morally supported the shelter. There was no clear agreement that government financially supported the shelter.



Figure 9-2: Perceived beliefs and attitudes expressed by 54 gaushala managers

Table 9-1: Mean responses to various attitudes questions posed to cow shelter managers on a scale of 1 strongly disagree to 5 strongly agree ($r^2 = 31.4\%$)

Factor	Mean	SEM	95% CI
The welfare of the cattle in the	4.92 ^a	0.035	4.70 - 5.14
gaushala is important to me			
I am willing to adopt measures that	4.83 ^{a,b}	0.063	4.61 - 5.05
will improve the welfare of the cattle			
if it is provided to me			
The feed the cattle receive at this	4.81 ^{a,b}	0.075	4.59 - 5.03
gaushala is adequate			
In the past, I have tried to make	4.79 ^{a,b}	0.055	4.57 - 5.01
improvements to the welfare of the			
animals in my care			
The staff at this gaushala have a	4.79 ^{a,b}	0.071	4.57 - 5.01
close relationship with the cattle			
I intend to make improvements to the	4.75 ^{a,b}	0.074	4.53 - 4.97
welfare of the cattle under my care			
The welfare of the cattle in this	4.57 ^{a,b,c}	0.117	4.35 - 4.79
gaushala is satisfactory			
I feel that my knowledge of animal	4.35 ^{b,c}	0.109	4.13 - 4.57
welfare is adequate			
The local community morally	4.18 ^{c,d}	0.152	3.96 - 4.40
supports the gaushala			
The government morally supports the	3.72 ^d	0.133	3.50 - 3.94
gaushala			
The local community financially	3.70 ^d	0.184	3.48 - 3.92
supports the gaushala			
The government financially supports	3.07 ^e	0.158	2.85 - 3.29
the gaushala			

Means with different superscript differ significantly (P < 0.05) by Tukey's test

9.5.7 Qualitative Assessment

All the gaushala managers answered the open-ended question: What do you understand by the term 'welfare of cows'? Fifty word frequencies were developed from the responses (Table 9-2). Words that were found more than 8 times were as follows: care (n=27), mother (16), goddess (16), rescued (12), abandoned (10), feeding (9) and proper (8). The word cloud (Figure 9-3) generated emphasized the interrelated concepts: mother, care, goddess, abandoned and rescue.

Word	Length	Count	Weighted Percentage (%)	Similar Words
care	4	27	16.56	care, cared, cares
mother	6	16	9.82	mother
goddess	7	16	9.82	goddess
rescued	7	12	7.36	rescue, rescued
abandoned	9	10	6.13	abandoned, abandonment
feeding	7	9	5.52	feeding
proper	6	8	4.91	proper
duty	4	4	2.45	duty
freedom	7	4	2.45	freedom, freedoms
religious	9	4	2.45	religious
watering	8	4	2.45	watering
dumb	4	3	1.84	dumb
heritage	8	3	1.84	heritage
protected	9	3	1.84	protected, protection, protections
slaughter	9	3	1.84	slaughter
five	4	2	1.23	five
granting	8	2	1.23	granting
service	7	2	1.23	service

 Table 9-2: Word frequency count of the question 'What do you understand by the term 'welfare of cows'?



Figure 9-3: Word Cloud for the question 'What do you understand by the term 'welfare of cows'?

9.6. Discussion

Gaushala management of gaushalas in the contemporary context is challenging and complex due to the regular influx of cattle of different age groups and varied health and body condition. The performance of the managers is under the constant scrutiny by the trustees/board of directors and the public due to the religious status of the cow in the Indian society and high expectations from the cow shelters in attending to the welfare of the cows sheltered in them. This study is the first to inform about the routine gaushala management and husbandry practices across the North Western, Northern and Western parts of India, which have the highest concentration of gaushalas in the country. Overall, several positive and negative aspects of welfare and management were identified that deserve the attention of all stakeholders for improving these traditional institutions to enhance their sustainability.

9.6.1 Human and cattle demographics

Mostly male workers worked in shelters as it is a full-time job and females were required to manage housework. Females more often worked in those shelters that provided worker accommodation within the shelter premises. As well, managing cow shelters is clearly a maledominated profession, to add to the great imbalance in favour of male workers employed in the shelters. In a recent study on public attitudes towards cow shelters, males were more likely to credit shelters as being religiously important (Sharma et al. 2019c). Traditionally, decision making and managerial roles have been either denied or constrained for women in the animal husbandry sector in India due to the paternalistic bias of Indian society (Patel et al. 2016). Further, gender inequalities favouring males exist in access to information, ownership of land and livestock in Indian society (Thakur et al. 2001). The women are mostly confined to household work, including tending to livestock at home whereas the men work outside the homes to earn a stable income. The percentage of rural and urban backgrounds of the shelter managers was almost equal to the rural and urban population in the current demography of India (Bhagat 2011). The majority of the managers were in the age range of 46-65 years, had graduate and postgraduate qualifications and experience of working in cattle farms, which gives confidence in their maturity, education level and experience levels to handle the complex routine management of the gaushalas. The majority of them also identified their role as being team leaders supervising the workers.

The static nature of this survey does not reflect what is the dynamic process, with intake of cattle at regular intervals into the shelters all through the year, rather than tending to a fixed number of cattle. Managers' monthly stock records were made available on some shelters and revealed a regular influx of cattle through the year. Most of the milk produced was distributed free of cost to the workers working in the shelters by the gaushala managers. No discrimination was observed in rearing of male and female calves in the shelters and more than half of them were reared in the shelters to adulthood. Both male and female calves (almost equal numbers of each) were donated to the villagers nearby on demand. If they are sold, it is for a much lower price than market value, because of the risk of them carrying disease. Over time it is likely that male calves will be in less demand due to the gradual mechanization of agricultural operations (Fox 1999); suggesting that

more male animals will be abandoned. Cows obtained as calves free or at low cost are more likely to be abandoned, hence it would be better to improve disease management in the gaushalas, which would then enable the calves to be sold at market price.

9.6.2 Health Management

The majority of the cattle sheltered in gaushalas are immunocompromised, and infectious disease-causing agents like Listeria sp., Streptococcus sp., Staphylococcus sp. and Corynebacterium sp., predominate due to the unhygienic environment prevalent (Kumar 2008; Ramanjeneya et al. 2019). Vaccination against FMD, Black Quarter, and haemorrhagic septicaemia was quite satisfactory in this study. However, 4% of the shelters did not vaccinate their animals at all, which is a concern as many diseases, particularly FMD, are enzootic in India, with recurrent outbreaks leading to economic and social losses (Subramaniam et al. 2013; Diaz-San Segundo et al. 2017; Sreenivasa et al. 2017). These shelters might be the potential reservoirs of the disease threatening the local cattle population. A positive role has been played by the government through State Animal Husbandry Departments, by distributing vaccines free of cost to the gaushalas, and in many cases offering veterinarians for the vaccinations. However, a high cost of veterinary services has reported as one of the constraints faced by gaushalas in a couple of Indian states (Patel et al. 2013; Bijla et al. 2019).

Vaccination and testing for brucellosis was rare and this could present a public health threat to the personnel working in the shelters and consumers, besides the sheltered cattle. There have been cases of Brucella positive cattle being culled by dairy farms and then sheltered in gaushalas (Singh and Bist 2009; Sharma et al. 2015). A study has found a 15.5% prevalence of brucellosis in gaushala cattle and 4.5% in the workers employed in the gaushalas (Singh et al. 2004b). None of the shelters were testing their cattle for tuberculosis, a zoonotic disease with considerable public health implications. There are chances of tuberculosis positive retired cattle being admitted to the gaushalas as tuberculosis is prevalent in both the organized and unorganized dairy sector in India, generating cows for the shelters (Singh et al. 2004a; Filia et al. 2016). Gaushala cows have been found positive for tuberculosis and have higher prevalence rates than organized and rural farms (Taggar and Bhadwal 2008; Srinivasan et al. 2018). India has the world's highest burden of human tuberculosis (Thoen et al. 2006) and the possible role of gaushalas in the zoonotic transmission of this disease is concern. Another disease of zoonotic importance, listeriosis has been isolated from gaushala cattle as the organism causing the disease is shed through faeces, vaginal secretions and can survive for prolonged time in harsh conditions, leading to increased risk of further transmission (Linke et al. 2014; Hurtado et al. 2017; Ramanjeneva et al. 2019).

Use of both endo and ectoparasiticides was practised in most cow shelters, though the frequency of application varied widely. The prevalence of tick infestation in gaushalas and unorganized dairy farms has been reported as 45% and 4% in the organized sector (Singh and Bist 2009). Besides, the ticks feeding on blood leads to anemia and loss of body condition (Jonsson 2006), and they transmit babesiosis, anaplasmosis and borreliosis (Ghosh et al. 2007; Surbhi et al. 2018). Deworming in this study was more common than previously reported in a localized study (Chandra and Kamboj 2019). A 44% prevalence of gastrointestinal parasitism has been reported in gaushalas in one part of the state of Gujarat (Hirani et al. 2006), and this state was also a part of this study. Gastrointestinal parasitism and lungworms reduce growth (Charlier et al. 2009; Choubisa and Jaroli 2013).

The lack of permanent veterinarians in the majority of shelters is likely to hinder management of sick cows and routine health initiatives. There is no requirement for mandatory veterinary attendance at gaushalas, and there is a shortage of field veterinarians in India (Weaver et al. 2019). However, most of the veterinarians employed with the state animal husbandry departments provide technical assistance to the shelters located within their jurisdiction.

9.6.3 Visitors to the shelter

Most gaushalas welcomed visitors, which suggests that they have an important social and religious function, however, this will also compromise biosecurity. Moreover, many shelters reported outbreaks of FMD in the last 5 years, which might be due to poor biosecurity, as the majority of the shelters vaccinated their animals against the disease. FMD is endemic in India, with vaccination and restriction of animal movements being the main control method (Pattnaik et al. 2012) as the virus spreads by direct contact with infected animals, fomites of workers, fodder and feeding utensils (Kandel et al. 2018). Unhygienic conditions and immunocompromised animals in shelters also contribute to a high prevalence of listeriosis (Ramanjeneya et al. 2019). These highly infectious, communicable and zoonotic diseases and biosecurity and screening protocols are very important to prevent shelters being reservoirs of these diseases.

Most of the shelters allowed feeding of homemade food to cows by the visitors after proper monitoring of the contents of the food. However, on special occasions, there were more visitors offering food to the cows, which might lead to gastrointestinal disturbances, e.g. ruminal acidosis or grain engorgement. Sometimes this is fatal. There are reports of shelter cows getting sick due to eating such food in excessive quantities or eating spoilt food (Kataria and Kataria 2009).

9.6.4 Cow mortality

Mortality rate in cows is an indicator of health and welfare. The median mortality rate of 13.8% was higher than for dairy cows on farms in Western countries, in which it ranges between 1 and 5% (Thomsen and Houe 2006). There is only limited data about mortality rates of dairy cattle in India from single states, ranging from 4-20% (Prasad et al. 2004; Yogesh et al. 2013; Uttam et al. 2015). There are no other estimates of mortality rates in shelter cattle for comparison, but it is expected that it would be higher than dairy farms as most of the sheltered cattle are old, debilitated and infirm. This was confirmed by the shelter managers who ranked old age as the biggest cause of death. Studies on dairy cows have found two times greater mortality in old cows (≥ 6.5 years) than young cows (< 6.5 years) (Faye and Perochon 1995; Stevenson and Lean 1998; Thomsen et al. 2004).

Post-mortems of dead animals in the shelters are advisable to identify possible causes of death but the logistics of disposal, availability of veterinarians and risk of zoonotic diseases may mitigate against them. Cows are often brought into the shelter in a moribund condition after sustaining automobile hits, being rescued from transportation to illegal slaughter houses or enduring a life of on the streets with a lack of adequate food and shelter. However, these were confirmed as less important reasons than old age as causes of mortality. Fodder shortages in overpopulated shelters may predispose cows to malnutrition, with competition for meagre fodder, such as poor quality straw. Overstocking increases aggression between the cows especially at the feed bunk, leading to injuries which may sometimes be fatal, as most of cows were found with horns in the shelters (Huzzey et al. 2006; Fregonesi et al. 2007b; Knierim et al. 2015). Therefore, segregation of animals on the basis of sex, age and body condition is recommended for their welfare.

Mortality also occurred following ingestion of plastic bags. Most of the cows are rescued from the streets, especially in urban gaushalas, where they are forced to scavenge on the plastic laden garbage in bins and refuse dumps. In one study 95% of stray cattle had gastrointestinal disorders following ingestion of plastic bags and other foreign bodies (Singh 2005). Plastic ingestion causes gastrointestinal disorders such as ruminal impaction, indigestion and tympany (Ramaswamy and Sharma ; Singh 2005; Tyagi and Singh 2012) and if not treated surgically can be fatal. Cows with plastics lodged in their stomach are immunosuppressed, making them susceptible to other infections (Singh 2005).

9.6.5 Routine management and waste disposal

Breeding of the cows in the shelters should not be encouraged as there is difficulty managing the increasing number of animals being admitted to the shelters. This concept might be a vestige of the past when shelters were encouraged as breed conservation centres by the Government (Kachhawaha et al. 2015). But such indiscriminate breeding of cows observed in half of the shelters in this study if not checked can severely impact the cows' welfare due to overcrowding. Separation of calves from their mothers in 40% of the shelters is also a welfare concern. Conversely not segregating cows according to their age, body condition and length of stay in the shelters in one-third of the shelters could be a reason for aggression between the cows, leading to injuries that are at times fatal.

The access to pastures in 41% of the shelters is encouraging for cow welfare; most of these shelters were located in the rural areas, whereas the cows in urban shelters did not have the benefit of pasture grazing. Pasture grazing changes the physical environment of the cows, enables exercise, induces changes in diet routines and improves the health of the hooves. Pasture grazing helps cows recover from lameness and allows a more comfortable surface to stand upon and lie down (Hernandez-Mendo et al. 2007). It facilitates behaviours such as grazing, lying and resting and reduces aggression (Arnott et al. 2017). Access to yards is also good for welfare, though it cannot replace the advantages of pasture access. The exercise, interaction and exploration of environment that cows get through outdoor access to yards also improves claw conformation (Loberg et al. 2004). Exercise improves bone and hock strength and prevents hock injuries (Gustafson 1993), through improving circulation of blood to the limbs, enabling proper nutrition and oxygen to the horn tissues of the claws producing the horn (Christmann et al. 2002).

The sale, donation and vermicomposting of dung promotes organic farming, which is especially valuable in rural areas where farmers cannot afford to buy chemical fertilizers. However, this disposal was much less than the amount of dung generated but still useful because the land area is insufficient to absorb the quantity of dung. Mounds of excreta, bedding and fodder waste generated in the shelters are health hazards to the cows in the shelters, the workers and the public living in the vicinity. Improper management and disposal of such wastes, especially in limited spaces of urban areas, are public health and environmental risks (Morse 1995), contributing to point and non-point sources of environmental pollution (Ongley et al. 2010). The offensive smell of the animal waste generated is due to the decomposition of microorganisms; releasing noxious gases such as ammonia, carbon dioxide, hydrogen sulphide, and methane that adversely impact on human health (Copeland 2010). There are a number of parasites in cattle dung which can be transmitted to other cows and to humans handling it (Strauch and Ballarini 1994; Utaaker et al. 2018). Cryptosporidium and giardia are two intestinal protozoan parasites with zoonotic potential that have been found in cattle in shelters and roaming in streets (Utaaker et al. 2018). The dung breeding flies are potential sources of transmission of diseases and parasites in humans and animals (Peter et al. 2005; Baldacchino et al. 2013).

Urine was used in a quarter of the shelters for processing into traditional medicine or as a biopesticide for crops. In traditional Indian medicine, cow urine is claimed to cure many chronic human health disorders (Saunders 1982; Jarald et al. 2008; Kekuda et al. 2010; Gururaja et al. 2011; Mohanty et al. 2014). It has also been used as a bio-enhancer, increasing the nitrogen content of the soil, and as a bio-pesticide through its larvicidal action on fodder crops (Bharath et al. 2010; Randhawa 2010).

9.6.6 Disaster, human resource and financial management

Disaster management plans for shelter should be present, but were mostly not. As cattle sheltering increases in India new shelters might be established in areas that are uninhabited by humans such as near creeks or around forests, with their attendant flood and fire risks, in which case disaster management plans will be critical.

The availability of workers in large cow shelters has not been an issue, but small shelters sometimes encounter this problem (Chandra and Kamboj 2019). Induction training of workers was reported in two-thirds of the shelters, but is an informal training; most managers felt that workers had prior experience of working with cows when they were from rural areas. This is an area of shelter management that requires attention as managing cows in shelters is different from dairy cows, as the former are malnourished and often in poor condition when rescued from streets. They need additional and humane care as they often have a fear of humans due to previous neglect and ill-treatment on the streets by humans. Therefore, a dedicated worker induction programme is important for improving the human-animal relationship in the shelters. It should not be just skillbased training but aim at behaviour modification of the workers. Research has shown that training of stock persons improves beliefs, and better behaviour towards animals improves their welfare (Coleman and Hemsworth 2014). Cows are venerated by the Hindu population, hence there should be an increased emphasis on the competency levels of workers to care for the cows in shelters. Animal enrichment measures in some shelters may have helped cows to cope with stress (Mandel et al. 2016) by improving biological functioning, reducing frustration, and fulfilling behavior needs. However, enrichment efforts fail if the changes effected in the cows' environment have little practical significance to the animals, are not goal-oriented and are based on incorrect assumptions of causation of problems (Newberry 1995). Environment enrichment requires finances and time, both of which are often deficient in the shelters.

The maintenance of records was variable; feed records were probably the only wellmaintained records in the shelters because feed consumption involved the biggest expenditure. Maintenance of records of mortality, calving, veterinary treatment, medicines, and sales should be made mandatory for all shelters and uniformity of recording is needed in order to collect and analyze data for performance analysis, auditing, interventions by advisory services and for future planning. Volunteering (regular or occasional) by the public, at least in half of the shelters, shows the connection of the people to the shelters either due to veneration or simply for animal welfare. The outreach activities organized in the majority of the shelters focused on religious festivals ascribed to the 'holy cow', which could promote more volunteering. Teaching the religious scriptures on the holiness of the cows in ancient texts narrating the works of the saints might influence the spirituality of the attendees. However, a more proactive approach to shelter management with advertisements for volunteers will further enhance participation of the local public in shelter management.

The ancient nature and connection of most of the shelters with three main religions in India (Hinduism, Buddhism, and Jainism) proves the religion-driven concept of sheltering cows. The reliance of shelters on private funding or charitable societies or trusts confirms the findings of Bijla and Singh (2019). Almost all shelters audited their funds annually, reflecting their accountability to the donors. This could be why less than half were affiliated with the AWBI, as they were not financially dependent on AWBI to function. However, AWBI is a statutory government body established as a watchdog of animal welfare all over the country and has affiliated shelters. Implementation of this as a mandatory requirement will be important to bring about uniformity in the management of cow shelters up to modern scientific standards of animal welfare, which should be determined by welfare auditing.

Most of the shelters reported higher expenditures than incomes but some were reluctant to share the exact figures of the finances. Feeding incurred the maximum expenditure which corroborates the findings on the only economic study of cow shelters, in one state of India (Bijla and Singh 2019). Positive returns were reported by these researchers as the shelters were able to meet their operating costs in their study, in contrast to the present study, though the median annual income by shelters was approximately similar to the cited study. The reason for this could be the active support of the Government of that particular state to support self-sustainability in its cow shelters, through the sale of milk and other products. The shelters studied in this study were mostly functioning as rescue homes without any economic returns, a function of selection criteria of this study.

Most agreed that welfare was important to them (Table 9-1), that they were willing to adopt measures to improve welfare, that feed was adequate and that they had made or intended to make welfare improvements. There was less agreement that their knowledge of animal welfare was adequate and that the local community morally supported the shelter. There was only marginal agreement that the local community morally and financially supported the shelter and that the

government morally supported the shelter. There was no clear agreement that government financially supported the shelter.

9.6.7 Associations between shelter administration, affiliation, income with health and welfare of cows

The shelters affiliated to the AWBI revealed of trend of garnering more income. It could the existence of a proper managemental structure in such shelters that might encourage the public to donate money. Moreover, AWBI also provides financial and material assistance to its affiliated shelters regularly. The positive association of mortality rate with milk yield might be due to more attention of the shelter management to the dairy cows for milk production and sale than the nonproductive ones, leading to the neglect and deteriorated health of the latter. High mortality rate in shelters that had in house veterinarian could be due to the high admission of cattle into such shelters. The high intake and thus numbers of cattle might force the shelters to hire a permanent veterinarian to cater for the upkeep of the health of the larger cattle numbers rescued from streets and slaughter. Similarly, shelters run by public trusts had significantly better biosecurity measures for newly admitted cattle than those run by charitable societies. This might be due to shelters in the public domain being more open to public scrutiny and accountable. The shelters that did not acknowledge financial support of the government were more likely to more frequently vaccinate their cattle than those that agreed that the government financially supports them. This relationship could be misleading because the government invariably provides free vaccines to all shelters in order to prevent the spread of diseases from shelter animals to the farmer owned animals. A possible explanation could be that such shelters might be financially sound and hence more efficient in safeguarding the health of their cattle.

9.6.8 Attitudes of shelter managers

All the shelter managers had a high opinion about the adequacy of the welfare of cows, their own work and the human-animal relationships in their respective shelters. However, almost all of them were open to adopt measures to improve the welfare of cows under them and believed that they had made improvements towards cows in their shelters. Animal welfare and public livelihood are interconnected in India (Sinclair and Phillips 2019) and the role of managers in cow shelters is one of such manifestations. The majority of the managers were Hindus from rural backgrounds, having grown up around cows with respect and reverence for cows in their religious beliefs. This could be the reason for many believing themselves to be knowledgeable and taking good care of the welfare of cows in shelters. Animals such as the cow which humans perceive as attractive are shown more empathy (Gunnthorsdottir 2001; Serpell 2005). However, scientifically supported and prescribed guidelines for cow welfare might not be known to the managers. There is a willingness

of stakeholders to improve animal welfare, based on science in India (Sinclair and Phillips 2019). Most shelter managers acknowledged the moral, and to a lesser extent financial, support provided by the public. However, even though moral support by government was generally acknowledged, their financial support was acknowledged by only half of the shelter managers. In this study, government provided most of the fodder (straw) and vaccination against endemic diseases. This might not be construed as financial support by managers but can offset a major part of the running costs of the shelters. Similarly, volunteering by the local people can offset labour costs.

The analysis of the qualitative assessment indicated that, despite earning their livelihood through the management of the cow shelters, the managers held the cows in high esteem - as a mother goddess which must be properly cared for and should be rescued from abandonment as a part of their religious duty. The word query and count results defined the status of the cow and the concern of the managers for its abandonment and its proper care after rescue from slaughter.

9.7 Limitations of the study

The random selection of the shelters based on the suggestions from the AWBI, veterinarians from the states covered in the study and snow-balling might generate selection bias as shelters with different levels of welfare and size were studied. There is a possibility that managers might have tried to report to the researcher answers that the researcher wanted. However, the face to face interview technique has less chance of false reporting than other techniques of data collection. It is also possible that 54 shelters in six states were not representative of all the shelters in India but logistical, time and financial constraints made us select a statistically viable sample to report the contemporary situation of shelters in the states which had a tradition of sheltering, and a state, Himachal Pradesh, where there was a government initiative to open new cow shelters.

This research is the first survey of contemporary cow shelter management through a cross-sectional study, which has its inherent limitations and biases. More studies are required to find out the regional differences, issues and constraints in the management of cow shelters in all states of India. Longitudinal studies should also be undertaken to observe the effects of government interventions on the strengthening as well as opening of shelters. Economic analysis of the sheltering of cows also needs more in-depth and focussed studies.

9.8 Conclusions

Managers are very important stakeholders in the welfare of cows in shelters. They are in an ideal position due to their work profile and experience to identify the problems and constraints regarding the routine management of shelters. Therefore, their engagement in all initiatives to improve welfare of cows in shelters is vital for the perpetuation of the sustainability of these unique

traditional institutions. A greater role of women in management positions is desirable in the management in shelters as research has demonstrated greater empathy of women than men towards animals (Herzog et al. 1991; Powell and Bullock 2014). Sheltering of cows is a dynamic process, with abandoned and rescued cows regularly entering the shelters. Biosecurity measures in the shelters do need enhancing, to prevent shelters becoming reservoirs of infections, parasitism, and zoonotic diseases. Specific shelter protocols need to be formulated at a national level and enforcement of compliance of these protocols ensured through a central governing body. A greater involvement of qualified veterinarians would benefit the management of animal health. There was evidence from this study of involvement of permanent veterinarians in shelters that witnessed high mortality rates. This also suggests increasing cow numbers in shelters in future would invariably need in house veterinarians to cater to the health needs of the sheltered cows, but that this might not necessarily prevent an increase in mortality rate.

This study identified various welfare issues through the survey of shelter managers that can be resolved by managemental initiative and intervention. Indiscriminate breeding, lack of access to pasture and tethering of cows are the welfare issues that demand a comprehensive policy regulation encompassing all shelters in the country. Proper and complete disposal of dung and urine needs attention as due to increasing cow numbers as well as shelters, this poses a public health risk. Feeding of cows by visitors needs routine monitoring. A uniformity in the maintenance of all records in all shelters throughout the country is important. This will help in welfare interventions, support, auditing and feedback for all stakeholders. Mandatory affiliation of all shelters to the AWBI should be implemented, given its statutory role as an advisor and watchdog of animal welfare in the country. Evidence of shelters affiliated to AWBI being able to generate more income in this study also justifies the above recommendation. Cow shelters can become educational centres for animal welfare through the utilization of their outreach among the public. Shelters run by public trusts were more vigilant towards biosecurity measures than those run by charitable societies. This suggests value in further strengthening of public trusts in cow shelter management, and that ensuring better compliance to biosecurity protocols in shelters runs by charitable societies would be a worthwhile aim. Shelter management need to understand that vaccines entail a huge financial cost to the government, as they are provided free of cost to the shelters along with logistic support by government veterinarians and support staff. This, if accounted into financial terms is a strong support from government to the shelters, which is unfortunately not recognised by many shelter managers.

Welfare centric training of managers and workers should be easily implemented, as all the managers were willing to accept suggestions to improve the welfare of cows in their respective

shelters. Training of managers and workers in modern scientific concepts of welfare-based management of cattle will lead an excellent amalgamation of science and tradition to sustain this institution of sheltering cows, which signifies perpetuation of some traditional ethos of Indian society towards cow welfare.

Chapter 10

General Discussion and conclusions

10.1 General Discussion

10.1.1 The relationship to published literature

Most of the published literature before the start of this study dealt with the philosophical and religious aspects of the sheltering of cows. There is a considerable amount of literature dealing with the historical aspects of cow shelters especially about the advent of the veneration of the cows and the historical journey of this concept from the ancient times to the present (Heston 1971; Simoons 1973; Simoons 1978; Korom 2000; Lodrick 2005; Jones 2007). There are few works that to a very limited extent report the welfare situation of the cows in shelters (Lodrick 1981; Harris 1992) that are not contemporary works. Most of the recent literature on cow shelters and cows are critical commentaries on the holiness of the cows, their sheltering and, the impracticality of cow slaughter and beef bans in India (Gupta 2001; Chigateri 2008; Sarkar and Sarkar 2016; Narayanan 2018). These works seem to be motivated by media reports of mob lynching of individuals involved in illegal slaughter of cows. Studies point out that gaushalas are sites of mobilization of Hindu fundamentalism for exploitation and oppression of cows to sustain animal production for human consumption (Narayanan 2019a). Animal sanctuaries should be able to advocate for good cow welfare through highlighting their biological, ecological, psychological, social, political and cultural vulnerabilities (Deckha 2015).

Some studies on the shelters were reports on the various vaccines trials conducted on shelter cows or testing of cows for zoonotic and infectious diseases like Brucellosis, Tuberculosis, and Listeriosis (Singh et al. 2004a; Singh et al. 2004b; Singh and Bist 2009; Sabia amd Saxena 2014; Singh et al. 2015). Few studies report on the parasitic burden and fungal infections in the sheltered cows (Hirani et al. 2006; Kumar and Sangwan 2010; Sharma et al. 2010). Recent studies have highlighted the constraints faced by shelters based on a survey of the managers (Kothari and Mishra 2002; Kachhawaha et al. 2015; Mandi et al. 2018; Bijla et al. 2019; Chandra and Kamboj 2019). The constraints identified in these studies were lack of adequate space, good quality fodder and concentrate ration, green fodder, proper disposal of carcasses, affordable veterinary care, paucity of qualified veterinarians, separation of males and females and separation of weaker cows from healthier ones. These constraints are in agreement with the findings of the present study. Reproductive diseases have also been found highly prevalent in gaushala cows (Yadav 2007). Lack of financial support by the government in running the shelters pointed out in previous studies was also identified as a constraint in this study that affected the improvement in infrastructure of the shelters for proper running of the shelters routinely. However, the shelter managers acknowledged

the government assistance in the form of free dry fodder, free vaccines and veterinary assistance through government employed veterinary professionals. This Governmental support if quantified in financial terms constitutes considerable support to the shelters. All these past studies were confined just to one state and the cows housed in the shelters were not physically and clinically examined as done in the present study. These studies were confined to the analysis of information gathered from the surveys of the managers.

There is a lacuna of literature on the welfare assessment of cows and cow shelters based on the measurement of various resources: animal, management, and environment- based indicators that are the basis of animal welfare assessments done all over the world. The welfare indicators selected for this study were chosen from the welfare assessments conducted on dairy cows in different parts of the world, the Welfare Quality[®] project protocol being the main source (Welfare Quality[®] assessment protocol for cattle 2009). This protocol was chosen because it is the most comprehensive work on cattle welfare assessment extending across different countries in Europe, devised by cattle welfare experts as a team and has been validated over a period of time in different countries under different conditions. The assessment protocol devised in this study also had inputs of the various stakeholders involved in the welfare management of cows in the shelters, through a day-long stakeholder meeting organized prior to the start of the study. Most of the assessment parameters were found to be relevant in the welfare assessment of cows in shelters. However, due to the constraints of time, behavioural assessments were just limited to the evaluation of humananimal relationships through the assessment of avoidance distance and access to pasture. This study did not evaluate criterions such as expression of agonistic behaviours and positive emotional state through a quality behaviour assessment due to low feasibility in a cross-sectional study. The animal-based assessments consume much time and quicker methods are lacking (Waiblinger et al. 2001). Moreover, most of the studies on dairy cattle focussed on assessment of production parameters to assess welfare, as the performance of the animals reveals their internal state. In sheltered cows, the production parameters are not relevant as these cows are not meant for production and achieving the 'five freedoms of animal welfare' (Webster 2001) is the sole goal.

There was a wide variation in the herd size of cows in shelters in contrast to somewhat uniform sized dairy cattle herds assessed in Western countries (Napolitano et al. 2005; Krawczel et al. 2008; Plesch et al. 2010; de Vries et al. 2013c). Scientists have indicated low feasibility and applicability of indicators of positive behaviour in welfare assessment of dairy cattle (Napolitano et al. 2009) as some of the behaviours are applicable in younger animals only and the recording of behaviours like social licking is time consuming and a problem in determining the exact periods of recording at different farms without bias. Research on using Quality Behaviour Assessment (QBA) as a whole animal approach by evaluating demeanor of dairy cattle has limitations as an isolated welfare assessment tool (Andreasen et al. 2013). In the present study, demeanor of the cows in the shelters was also assessed on the premise that good welfare is not about animal contentment but also about lack of anxiety. Most of the welfare assessments have concentrated either on the animal-based (Whay et al. 2003a; Rushen et al. 2007; Rushen et al. 2012; Vasseur et al. 2013) or resource-based measures (Waiblinger et al. 2002) and very few assessments (Beggs et al. 2019) have combined the two approaches for a holistic assessment of the welfare situation in a particular set up. This study combines both the animal as well as resource-based welfare measures to assess the overall welfare of cows in shelters.

In addition, this study also analyzed the attitudes, views and concerns of the stakeholders involved in the sheltering of cows to present an integrated contemporary approach to cow shelters in India. Thus, the welfare situation in the shelters was explored through a multi-dimensional approach. Public input is needed in the development of a socially sustainable sheltering of cows, especially in a society that venerates the cow. Shelters are also witnessing a drift from their roles of breed conservation and milk production to primarily focusing on the sheltering of old, unproductive and abandoned cows in wake of the overpopulation of such cows in the streets. This has led to a huge increase in the number of animals per shelter (herd size), stocking density and labour costs (Valpey 2020). The strain on the resources has ultimately increased the risk of adverse welfare conditions in shelters. The quantity (number of cows) has taken precedence over the quality of welfare. Culture, religion and human demographics are some of the key drivers of attitudes of the general public towards animals (Phillips et al. 2012). The influence of human ethical and religious ideologies on animals and animal welfare in developing countries has rarely been investigated (Su and Martens 2017). There are many studies on attitudes of local public towards wildlife conservation and wild and zoo animals (Saberwal et al. 1994; Gurusamy et al. 2015; Mir et al. 2015; Kamble et al. 2016) but no such study was found on human-cow relationship in the contemporary Indian context. Traditionally shelter management and the government have also focussed on milk production and breed conservation in shelters along with serving as rescue homes. But, the present times require the shelters to exclusively reinvent themselves exclusively as rescue homes and sanctuaries in order to address the present societal needs and concerns. The present study is the first one to survey public attitudes towards cows and cow shelters in which human demographics, religiosity and attitudes were identified as key drivers of such attitudes. The survey of the attitudes of two important stakeholders in the sheltering of cows: the general public and the shelter managers, in this study is an endeavor to build a constructive communication channel to collectively work for the welfare of cows to sustain these traditional institutions. Such studies can

be significant as the majority of these shelters are dependent on public donations. Understanding the factors influencing public attitudes is essential for devising strategies to improve welfare of cows in shelters and to alleviate the human-animal conflict due to the overpopulation of street cows.

10.1.2 Major limitations of the work

The major limitation of this work is that it is a cross-sectional study that informs about the welfare situation in the shelters at a point in time. Cross-sectional studies have an inherent limitation of not being able to confirm a causal relationship between the various variables in a multivariable analysis of data. These studies provide some insights into the association of various variables that need validation through further longitudinal studies. The repeatability, reliability and validity of the various indicators measured in this study need to be tested over time by different assessors in different cow shelters. The inter-observer reliability and repeatability are important parameters to test the validity of the welfare indicators over time and in different situations. In this study, there was only one observer recording the observations on the cows. However, in order to guarantee the repeatability and validity of these protocols for future welfare assessments, assessors must be trained to run the protocol on a routine basis. The inter-observer reliability and repeatability should be matched to the laid down standards for such assessments, before the commencements of on-field welfare assessments. Periodic testing of the inter-observer reliability and repeatability during the course of field assessments will be needed to maintain their validity. Further research is also required to further investigate the risk factors to the optimum welfare through the association of various parameters over a period of time.

This study might not be a representative of the entire country as only six states were covered in this study. Finances and time were the major constraints to expand this study to the whole country. Care had to be taken to avoid disturbing the work routines of the shelters and availability of the shelter workers for assistance in the measurement of parameters on the cows consumed a lot of time. Limited behavioural assessments were feasible due to time constraints because behavioural studies require dedicated time for recording the behavioural parameters even if it is an automated recording. Research has shown that behavioural studies are becoming more relevant and more valid for welfare assessments as they analyze the response of the animals to the welfare situation provided to them and reflect the animals' overall state and its experience (Wemelsfelder et al. 2001; Wemelsfelder 2007). However, behavioural assessments require time for monitoring of the behaviours, and longitudinal studies are vital for assessing the behavioural changes due to the changes made in the welfare situation.

The animal-based measurements also consume a lot of time (one full day in sampling 30 cows/shelter). However, animal-based welfare assessments are considered more valid as animal -

based indicators are manifestations of responses of the animals to the resources and environment provided to them. Precision and accuracy in measuring these animal-based measures are important for valid assessment (Croyle et al. 2018) and that takes time. A two-day course on low stress livestock handling and a three-month training was underwent in scoring the cows for assessment of various welfare indicators, at the School of Veterinary Science, The University of Queensland. The sole assessor in the measurement of all animal-based measurements might provide consistency to the results in this study but their repeatability and validity need to be studied in future studies through a number of assessors. Moreover, the animal-based indicators have an inherent weakness that they provide a point estimate of the prevalence of a condition on animals on the day of examination and might not be representative of all times of the year. Therefore, longitudinal studies are advocated. The resource-based parameters are applicable for longer time periods but the issue is that the resource might not be used even if present.

The survey of the general public residing around the cow shelters also consumed a lot of time as study prerequisites were of not including respondents who or their family members were working in the shelters, whilst including only ones residing within a 1km radius of the shelter. Approaching and convincing women and their family members in a typical rural setting in India where patriarchal hierarchy exists and females are not allowed to talk to strangers were big challenges in the study. Furthermore, interviewing female respondents in the absence of male members in order to avoid prompting for maintaining the authenticity of the interview affected the time budget of the study. Random selection of only those respondents who lived near the cow shelters for the public survey might have induced a bias in the study. This was done with the intention of getting information from individuals who had the opportunity to visit the shelters. There are chances that respondents might have not expressed their true feelings about cow shelters due to the face to face nature of the survey and the prevailing atmosphere of cow vigilantism in the country. Still this method of survey is considered better for minimizing false reporting. Eight hundred and twenty-five respondents in 6 states of India might not be representative of the attitudes of such a big country as time, logistics and finances will always be the limitations. Online surveys have their limitations in India due to the lack of access to computers, computer literacy and reliable network connectivity for the general public.

Managers' survey from 54 cow shelters, though statistically valid, might not be representative of the situation of cow shelters of the entire country as regional differences in the management and constraints might exist. Differences in the management and constraints might occur due to affiliation or non-affiliation of the shelters to the AWBI. Shelter managers might have overstated their knowledge about cow welfare and animal-based performance of their shelters to impress the interviewer.

10.1.3 Summary of the most important new findings

This is the first study to comprehensively study the contemporary welfare situation of cows in shelters based on the scientific welfare assessment using animal, resource and environment-based welfare parameters. The strength of this study lies in a large number of cows examined (1620) in shelters over a wide geographical spread across 6 states of India utilizing a comprehensive set of animal and resource-based indicators. Contrary to the general belief that the welfare of the cows in the shelters is highly compromised and cows suffer from poor welfare practices and conditions, varying levels of welfare was observed in this study. Small space allowance per cow, non-uniform flooring of shelters' sheds, little freedom of movement, lack of pasture grazing, lack of bedding, absence of ad libitum access to drinking water, less quantity of green fodder availability and compromised biosecurity were the major welfare concerns. Flooring is considered a vital component of welfare in a cow holding facility and is included in all welfare assessments in different parts of the world. The development of an easy, affordable and quick method to assess the friction of the shelter flooring is an interesting innovation in this study that can be replicated in future assessments of this important welfare indicator. The coefficient of friction calculated through this method ranged from 0.3 to 0.7 across range of floors, with lowest for concrete and highest for earthen floors. Moreover, results of the univariate and multivariable analysis in our study identified the risk factors associated with floor friction and confirmed that coefficient of friction of flooring affects welfare.

The prevalence of lameness in cow shelters (4.2%) was comparatively less than the conventional dairy herds in India and the western countries. Lameness in sheltered cows was significantly associated with body condition, the dirtiness of udder, hock joint ulceration, carpal joint injuries and claw overgrowth. Lack of bedding and increased gradient of the floors were also associated with lameness. Undertaking steps to improve cleanliness, flooring and nutrition of cows that might be the causes of these risk factors should help to reduce lameness in shelters.

Assessment of the long term stress levels in sheltered cows through the analysis of hair cortisol concentrations is novel approach undertaken for welfare assessment. Few studies have been done on this parameter and none studied the association of hair cortisol with other welfare parameters. This is a unique study that also explored the association of hair cortisol levels in sheltered cows with the animal and resource-based welfare parameters. Low cleanliness levels, the lower ambient temperature in the shelters and little access to shelter yards increased stress levels in cows. Similarly, at cow level, dirtiness, lesions on the hocks, carpal joints and other parts of the
body, dehydration, old age and low feed intake were positively associated with increased hair cortisol concentrations and indirectly with raised stress levels. This study indicates that hair cortisol is a promising biomarker to assess long term stress in cattle and has application in field-based welfare assessments.

Assessment of human-animal relationship in the cow shelters was an important parameter in this study. The existence of cow shelters today is due to the concept of compassion and non-violence towards cows as they are accorded holy status by the Hindu majority population of India. Moreover, traditional Indian farming involves close contact of humans with animals. Avoidance distance is the measure of this human-animal relationship and in this study it assessed whether the cows are humanely treated in the shelters by the stock persons. A positive relationship was observed as majority of the cows (84%) in shelters allowed the assessor to touch or approach within 50 cm distance. The association of this parameter with dirtiness, limb joint and body lesions, hair loss, fullness of the rumen, body condition, diarrhoea, respiration rate and body coat condition demonstrates the multidimensional concept of welfare. This study demonstrated that human-animal relationship is also related to the health of the cows making it relative to the state of the cows in shelters. Overall, this study found a cordial human-animal relationship in the shelters.

Literature search revealed no attempt before this study to solicit attitudes of the general public about cow welfare and cow shelters in India. This study provided valuable insights into the attitudes of the general public and identified potential areas of concern about cow welfare and cow shelters. Survey of public attitudes outlined significant demographic differences in terms of age, gender, marital status, income levels, education levels, religiosity level and place of residence. Public perception centered on proper care of cows in shelters, being mother goddesses and gaushalas being the best place to shelter abandoned street cows. The majority of the people visited shelters for religious reasons. Older people were more likely to identify animal welfare and culture as the main reasons for sheltering cows. Wealthier, more educated and more religious people visited the shelters the most and rated religion and breeding as the main purpose of shelters. Indigenous breed cows found more favour from males than females. Village respondents were more likely to facilities provided to cows in shelters adequate, in comparison to country town and urban respondents. Single people were more likely to visit shelters for leisure than for religious purposes, in contrast to married ones. Overall, the Indian public was supportive of sheltering of the cows and visit to the shelters helps them to know about the care of unwanted cows. The general public still holds an ethic of reverence to the cow as mother goddess that included their proper care in shelters. Attitudes and inputs of general public are needed to induce policy development and changes on animal welfare (Groot Koerkamp and Bos 2008; O'Connor and Bayvel 2012). Understanding public attitudes is important for the development of welfare sustainable sheltering systems in view of the street cattle population being faced all over the country. Persistence with the practices inconsistent with public expectations and welfare principles might undermine social sustainability and acceptability of these traditional institutions.

Management of cow shelters is was almost totally male dominated, with half of the managers being university graduates or postgraduates in the age range of 45-65 years. Vaccination against most endemic diseases and ecto-endoparasiticidal treatments were routinely practiced in most shelters. The annual mortality rate was 13.8% and old age was the main cause of mortality. Limited biosecurity measures were in place and animal waste disposal (carcasses, dung, urine, slurry, left-over foodstuff) was a big concern. Overall a limited access to pastures was available in shelters, though access to yards was available in 80% shelters. Breeding of cows was prevalent in most shelters and sale of milk was undertaken in few shelters. Public donations were the highest source of income for running the shelters.

A highly relevant finding in this study was the lack of uniformity in record keeping in most of the cow shelters. This might be due to the absence of general guidelines about record keeping from the AWBI, absence of affiliation of the shelters to AWBI or simply non-compliance. Uniform maintenance of records in cow shelters all over the country will be able to generate data to identify many animal and resource-based risk factors to the welfare. It will also help in recognizing managemental gaps and other constraints affecting the cows in shelters. Welfare auditing can be made reliable, robust and valid for feedback to the stakeholders for subsequent actions and interventions through proper maintenance of records.

10.1.4 Considering changes to future studies of this nature

Before the commencement of this study, there was no study on the assessment of shelters based on the measurement of welfare indicators. Due to the absence of scientific information on the contemporary welfare in cow shelters, a large number of animal, resource and environment-based welfare indicators were selected and measured in the shelters. This was time consuming and costly. The number of indicators could be reduced, as it is pointed out that in epidemiological studies fewer predictors obtain a good fit in multivariable analysis although their biological plausibility is essential (Dohoo et al. 2009b). Lack of empirical studies lead to the inclusion of larger number of parameters in the protocol. However, this enabled the achievement of a comprehensive assessment of the welfare situation in the cow shelters. Yet again due to time constraints, lack of knowledge about public motivation on this topic and type of respondents, more open-ended questions could not be included in the managers' and public surveys. This might have restricted the inclusion of diverse opinions and attitudes of the respondents.

10.1.5 The practical implications of the work

Welfare assessments based on welfare indicators are reliable monitoring strategies of the welfare situation in animal facilities. Welfare assessment of cows in traditional shelters where cows having no economic utility value presents a unique scenario. The goal of this study was to assess the contemporary welfare situation in the cow shelter through the development of an on-field welfare assessment protocol. The descriptive analysis has highlighted the good and bad aspects of welfare of the cows in shelters. The good welfare aspects are to be maintained and the bad welfare aspects need to be corrected. Multivariate analysis was done to understand the relationships between one or more variables and the outcome of interest that might be causal relationships. Precise estimates of the coefficients of the variables of interest were obtained taking into consideration the interaction and confounding effects. This analysis has shown risk factors to some cow health parameters that might have overall implications on the welfare of cows in shelters. The welfare indicators selected in this study should be further studied in future interventional and longitudinal studies to confirm and strengthen the relationships identified.

This study provides a possible roadmap on how to assess and improve the welfare of cows in shelters based on the contemporary concepts of welfare-based scientific management principles on a comprehensive, uniform and routine basis. This will ensure welfare auditing and ensure tailormade solutions to support welfare reforms relevant to the current welfare scenario in the shelters.

The welfare issues and risk factors identified in this study have revealed the vulnerabilities in the welfare-based management of shelters that might evoke mass public and societal concerns in the long run, if not addressed. This study should stimulate government to initiate practical welfare assessments in the shelters all over the country through an animal welfare science-based approach. The strengths and weaknesses of sheltering of cows can be identified and the potential risk factors affecting the welfare of cows evaluated to initiate corrective measures and long term Improvement strategies. Furthermore, the impact of improvements done by the shelter managements based on the feedback of the welfare assessments can be reassessed to prove the practical relevance of the assessment protocol.

The direct relationship of the general public with the shelters, being one of the largest sources of donations, their attitudes and perceptions as driving forces for improving welfare of cows cannot be overlooked. This study has shown religious and cultural veneration of cows by the public will continue to exercise influence on the sustainability of the shelters. Improvements through welfare science-based assessment feedback mechanisms can spell more active support from the public for a paradigm change in sheltering of cows. The cultural and attitudinal barriers identified in this study suggest adoption of science-based management of shelters for solution of welfare concerns that may have societal acceptance. The authors of the study also recognize the need for effective strategies for communicating welfare standards to the public in order to raise their awareness about animal welfare and bridge knowledge gaps to enable a critical assessment of the working of shelters. The public and manager surveys reveal that there is a need for an intensified dialogue amongst all stakeholders to have a critical, scientific and practical approach towards management of cow shelters to accommodate societal concerns. These measures can ensure the social sustainability of these traditional institutions.

This study should also facilitate the building of consensus between the stakeholders on welfare issues in the cow shelters. This study aims to achieve basic cow welfare in shelters. Record keeping needs improvement in order to make information accessible in the public domain for transparency, welfare auditing and accountability. Media coverage of compromised welfare of cows in shelters has been intense in recent times and has raised public concerns on cow welfare. The public being a major stakeholder in cow shelters, through their financial support, their perceptions might get influenced by these reports. This demands more transparency in working and continual improvement in the welfare of cows in cow shelters to ensure sustained support to this unique concept of prevention of animal wastage. Providing credible assurance that the cows are well looked after in shelters, through these routine welfare assessments will boost the confidence of the stakeholders to improve the social sustainability of these institutions.

10.1.6 Future work that needs to be done and how can that build on this study

The religious value of the cows is influenced by the culture within the Hindu society. This status of the cow as a mother goddess has to be realized in the true sense by ensuring its welfare in the cow shelters. The welfare of the cows in the shelter can be compared to the social pillar of sustainable development (von Keyserlingk et al. 2013) as it includes human and cultural values. These values are affected by culture (Boogaard et al. 2011). In the context of socio-cultural pillar, the sustainability of cow shelters deserves scientific interventions. The socio-cultural pillar of sustainability has been given importance in scientific discussions especially when societal concerns were raised about the intensively housed animal production systems (Thornton 2010; Mench et al. 2011). The present study can be a benchmark on which further studies on welfare assessments in shelters can be built upon. A standardized methodology for assessing welfare of cows in shelters can be built upon based on this study. This will facilitate reliable and practical on-shelter welfare monitoring system to assess welfare levels in the shelters and evaluate potential risks to welfare. The integration of the most appropriate specialist expertise in India is essential to develop, refine, standardize and intercalibrate welfare monitoring systems and to identify and validate remedial measures. An Indian standard for welfare assessment system of shelters similar to the Welfare

Quality[®] protocol (*Welfare Quality[®] assessment protocol for cattle* 2009) can be established in order to facilitate welfare auditing for feedback to stakeholders for initiation of corrective interventions. Then only one can harmonize welfare and welfare monitoring that is informative and relevant to all stakeholders.

The present assessment protocol as mentioned earlier was time consuming. However, being the first such study on welfare assessment using welfare indicators the time spent in each shelter for a comprehensive study is justified. Time and finances might be the constraints for routine welfare assessments of cow shelters in such a big country. Repeating this protocol in more shelters can provide more ideas about its repeatability and practicality. Further on, studies could be based on the identification of potential 'iceberg indicators' (Farm Animal Welfare Council 2009; Heath et al. 2014c) that provide overall assessment of welfare in shelters, reduce the time of assessment and still accurately predict the overall welfare to increase the feasibility of the welfare assessment. This might restrict the assessment of specific welfare indicators and accordingly reduce the assessment time. Behaviour opportunities available to the cows such as access to yards and pastures, interaction with conspecifics, free access to water troughs, presence of trees and shady areas in the yards to lie down and rub bodies, enrichment measures in shelters can be utilized as separate indicators for measuring positive welfare (Farm Animal Welfare Council 2009; Heath et al. 2014c).

A blueprint of an ideal shelter set up for cow keeping in line with the approximate number of cows needs to be provided to all stakeholders, based on the modern scientific principles of cattle husbandry and welfare. This blueprint should encompass the appropriate resource and environment based facilities to be provided as per the contemporary welfare standards that could be uniformly applicable all over the country. Design criteria such as shelter location, space allowance/animal, stocking density/ shed, group size with provision for animal interactions physical structure of shelters sheds, animal loading and unloading ramps, yards, flooring, bedding, lighting and noise mitigation strategies. Biosecurity and animal waste management protocols specifically for shelters need to be formulated and implemented. The development of such an integrated shelter welfare system based on a uniformly standardized assessment protocol would be an invaluable tool for welfare monitoring and assessment of cow shelters. The identification of potential risks through such welfare monitoring will help these assessments play a critical preventative role for the shelters. Welfare auditing based on these assessments will ensure transparency in working these shelters that are vital for all the stakeholders.

This study being a point in time assessment of welfare of cows in shelters, the evidence of causation based on correlations between the various welfare parameters requires confirmation through subsequent longitudinal studies and interventional studies on limited number of parameters.

The assessment parameters used in this study should be subjected to further validation and repeatability through a training format based on the workshops to train assessors in order to promote accuracy. This accuracy can be reassessed through the measurement of inter-observer agreement and reliability based on kappa statistics (Croyle et al. 2018).

A routine systematic welfare assessment program uniformly focused on cow shelters in the country is the destination desired to be built upon this study. Periodic assessments will identify the causes of various risk factors associated with the welfare of cows in shelters. Evaluation of the success of changes effected on the basis of the assessments will lead to an improvement in working of shelters and the cows. Welfare auditing will ensure feedback to all stakeholders and ensure transparency in the management of shelters that will ultimately help in sustainability of these traditional institutions through higher public involvement. Furthermore, training of veterinarians as assessors for carrying out welfare assessments is very important for the sustainability of welfare auditing of cow shelters. An institutional level approach is needed to enable this training as a continual process for robust and dynamic welfare assessments. The AWBI needs to coordinate with the respective state animal welfare boards to introduce welfare assessment protocols in the states, assess the repeatability and practicality of the protocols and monitor feedback for improvement.

Ensuring a uniform and routine record keeping in all shelters in the country will generate more intervention studies on the welfare of cows. Greater scientific participation might be stimulated to work on the data generated through this record keeping, leading to a wider understanding of the welfare, managemental, economic, social and cultural aspects of sheltering of cows. This could serve as a catalyst to bring about a paradigm shift in the management of shelters based on modern scientific animal welfare concepts through innovations and their diffusion to bring desired changes.

10.2 General Conclusions

The welfare indicator-based welfare assessment protocol for cow shelters developed and applied in this study was mainly based on the Welfare Quality[®] protocol, though some parameters were also based on other welfare assessments carried out in different parts of the world. The relevance of the selected parameters to the welfare measurement of abandoned and unproductive cows in shelters was the basic criterion for their selection. In addition, the feasibility of measurement and feedback from the stakeholders were also taken care of during inclusion of parameters in the protocol. This study presents a holistic view of the welfare situation of cows in the shelters. This comprehensive assessment based on animal, resource and environment-based measures is a snapshot diagnosis of the welfare issues of the sheltered cows. Assessment of flooring, lameness prevalence and human-animal relationship have been included in most of the

assessment protocols and these were included in this study also. Association of these parameters with other measures was analyzed and risk factors were identified following multivariable analysis. The additional study done on the analysis of hair cortisol of the cows is a unique work on the assessment of long term stress in the sheltered cows. The associated risk factors leading to this stress were identified through multivariable analysis.

Low space allowance, non-uniform and inappropriate flooring, lack of freedom of movement within and outside the shelter sheds, lack of pasture grazing, lack of bedding, absence of ad libitum access to drinking water, compromised biosecurity and lack of proper animal waste disposal methods were some of the major welfare issues observed in the shelters. An easy, affordable, practical and quick method of assessment of floor friction was developed in this study. The multivariable analysis validated the hypothesis that floor friction affects the welfare of cows. Floor friction revealed significant correlation with floor type, proportion of standing cows in the shelter sheds, the avoidance distance of the cows and dirtiness of the hind limbs. This suggested that floor friction affects comfort levels of the cows. Further studies on the repeatability of this method are recommended for confirming its validity.

The prevalence of lameness in the shelters was comparatively lower than the organized dairy farms in India and abroad. Inadequate cleanliness of shelter premises, improper flooring and lack of a balanced diet were identified as risk factors to lameness. These risk factors were manifested in the form of reduced body condition of cows, dirty udders, dirty limbs, hock and carpal joint lesions, and claw overgrowth. Improvement in these managemental aspects of sheltering might help in reducing the prevalence of lameness. Proper drainage and disposal of slurry stagnating in the lying areas and passages will promote foot hygiene. Appropriate floor gradient, floor friction levels and adequate bedding help in proper effluent drainage, reduces slipperiness induced falls and hock lesions. These corrective measures improve comfort levels and positively affect welfare. Adequate and nutritious feeding management in shelters is essential for improving the body condition of the cows as low BCS renders cows vulnerable to carpal and hock joint lesions and subsequent lameness.

Long term stress levels in cattle in shelters were also evaluated by analyzing their hair cortisol concentrations. The risk factors associated with elevated hair cortisol concentrations were dirtiness of the cows, lesions on the body and limbs, age, lactation and dehydration. Cleanliness of the shelter premises and provision of access to the yards for the cows reduced hair cortisol concentration indicating low stress levels. This study is at the point of time analysis of stress levels in sheltered cows. A longitudinal study to assess the stress levels of cows when it enters the shelters and then after subsequent months can provide information about the well-being of cows during their

stay in the shelters. Hair cortisol promises to be an effective biomarker of long term stress in cows especially for conducting field-based studies.

Evaluation of human-animal relationships in cow shelters was important to ascertain whether the compassion for the old, abandoned and unproductive cows existed. This was done by measurement and assessment of avoidance distance (AD) at the feed bunk. The results of this study revealed AD is relative to the state of the animal and is dependent on the animal health and welfare parameters. A cautious approach is recommended to interpret the influence of health parameters on AD as well as being a reflection of stockpersonship. Half of the cows allowed touch by the assessor indicating a cordial human-animal relationship in shelters that helps in guaranteeing good cow welfare.

Survey of the public attitudes towards cows and cow welfare helped to gauge the public sentiment towards cows in the contemporary context where the overpopulation of street cows has led to a situation of human-animal conflict. The results of this study show that attitudes of the public are guided by the concept of sacredness of the cow, revered as mother goddess by the majority Hindu population. Visiting shelters for religious reasons and reverence for the cows irrespective of its breeds confirmed this status of the cow. The utilitarian and religious values of shelters were considered by the older people, while younger generation regarded them as centres for cow welfare and protection. Increasing education levels increased reverence and concern about cows. Higher income levels revealed frequent shelter visits, revealing the status of the cow as a goddess of wealth in Hindu mythology. Neutral views of females on welfare of cows in shelters reflect the typical patriarchal character of Indian society. These key differences in attitudes need to be considered in public driven initiatives towards improvement of welfare of cows in shelters. These demographic variations in attitudes can help in introducing welfare science-based modern techniques for management of shelters by maximizing public support. This will strengthen further these institutions in fulfilling the aspirations of the general public. Further studies on public guided identification of welfare issues in cow shelters can be undertaken with a wider range of respondents and the impact of such interventions in the improvement of shelters.

The engagement of shelter managers, the vital cogs of shelter management, is essential for the improvement in the working of shelters. Work profile and experience of managers' positions them to identify basic problems and issues in shelter management. Greater representation of women is desired in this position. Overcrowding, biosecurity issues, animal waste disposal, indiscriminate breeding, lack of appropriate separation of cows into different groups and erratic record maintenance were the key issues identified in the managers' survey. Mandatory affiliation with the AWBI can bring out uniformity in management, policy and research interventions in the shelters. Despite high confidence levels of managers about the adequacy of welfare of cows and humananimal relationship in their respective shelters, regular training programs on stress-free handling of animals and welfare science-based modern management concepts are needed for the managers and the workers.

This study has described a snapshot of the contemporary welfare situation in cow shelters. Associations between various welfare indicators were observed and risk factors to various animalbased and management-based welfare issues were identified. Public attitudes towards cows and cow welfare were surveyed and managers' inputs about the constraints in managing shelters and their attitudes towards shelters and cow welfare were also evaluated. Further studies need to be built upon this groundwork to assess its repeatability and validity. Welfare assessment of cow shelters based on a tested protocol should become a routine feature for improving the welfare of cows in shelters. Feedback obtained through such assessment shall ensure accountability and interventions for improvement.

References

Aalseth, E 2005, 'Fresh cow management: What is important, what does it cost, and what does it return', *Proceedings of the 7th Western Dairy Management Conference, Reno, Nevada, USA, 9-11 March*, pp. 1-12.

Abe, N 1999, 'The deeper the "mud", the dirtier the udder', Hoard's Dairyman, vol. 144, p. 439.

Abeni, F & Bertoni, G 2009, 'Main causes of poor welfare in intensively reared dairy cows', *Italian Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 8, no. sup1, pp. 45-66.

Acker, M, Mastromonaco, G & Schulte-Hostedde, AI 2018, 'The effects of body region, season and external arsenic application on hair cortisol concentration', *Conservation Physiology*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. coy037-coy.

Agoramoorthy, G & Hsu, MJ 2006, 'Do animals suffer caste prejudice in Hinduism?' *Social Compass*, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 550-5.

Agoramoorthy, G & Hsu, MJ 2012, 'The significance of cows in Indian society between sacredness and economy', *Anthropological Notebooks*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 5-12.

Aitchison, E, Gill, M, Dhanoa, M & Osbourn, D 1986, 'The effect of digestibility and forage species on the removal of digesta from the rumen and the voluntary intake of hay by sheep', *British Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 56, no. 2, pp. 463-76.

Ajzen, I 1991, 'The theory of planned behavior', *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, vol. 50, no. 2, pp. 179-211.

Alavijeh, AZ 2014, 'Representations of cow in different social, cultural, religious and literary contexts in Persia and the World', *Asian Journal of Social Sciences and Humanities*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 214-7.

Albutt, RW, Dumelow, J, Cermak, JP & Owen, JE 1990, 'Slip-resistance of solid concrete floors in cattle buildings', *Journal of Agricultural Engineering Research*, vol. 45, pp. 137-47.

Alvåsen, K, Mörk, MJ, Sandgren, CH, Thomsen, PT & Emanuelson, U 2012, 'Herd-level risk factors associated with cow mortality in Swedish dairy herds', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 95, no. 8, pp. 4352-62.

Amble, V & Jain, JP 1967, 'Comparative performance of different grades of crossbred cows on military farms in India', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 50, no. 10, pp. 1695-702.

Andreasen, SN, Wemelsfelder, F, Sandøe, P & Forkman, B 2013, 'The correlation of qualitative behavior assessments with Welfare Quality[®] protocol outcomes in on-farm welfare assessment of dairy cattle', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 143, no. 1, pp. 9-17.

Animal Welfare Board of India 2013, *Criteria and Standards of Euthanasia of Animals*, viewed 24 March, 2016, <u>http://www.awbi.org/awbi-pdf/euthanasia_advisory_2013.pdf</u>.

Animal Welfare Board of India 2016a, *Proformas for Animal Welfare Officers*, viewed 24 March, 2016, http://awbi.org

Animal Welfare Board of India 2016b, Registered Gaushalas in India Animal Welfare Board of India, Chennai, viewed 22 April, 2016, http://www.awbi.in/awbi-pdf/ac_jan_14_june_16.pdf.

Arnold, D 2012, 'The Problem of Traffic: The street-life of modernity in late-colonial India', *Modern Asian Studies*, vol. 46, no.1, pp. 119-41.

Arnold, NA, Ng, KT, Jongman, EC & Hemsworth, PH 2007, 'The behavioural and physiological responses of dairy heifers to tape-recorded milking facility noise with and without a pre-treatment adaptation phase', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 106, no. 1, pp. 13-25.

Arnott, G, Ferris, CP & O'Connell, NE 2017, 'Welfare of dairy cows in continuously housed and pasture-based production systems', *Animal*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 261-73.

Arya S, Swain RK, Nayak HK, Pati AK 2019, 'Circadian variations in foraging and resting/standing activity patterns of stray street cattle of urban Sambalpur, Odisha, India', *Biological Rhythm Research*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 1-13.

Athreya, V 2006, 'Is relocation a viable management option for unwanted animals? - The case of the leopard in India', *Conservation and Society*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 419-23.

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2015, *Australia's Welfare 2015*, viewed 10 March 2016, <u>http://www.aihw.gov.au/australias-welfare/2015/indicators</u>

Bagate, M, Mahla, J, Parikh, P & Patil, D 2012, 'Incidence of foot disorders in dairy animals-A retrospective study', *Intas Polivet*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 192-4.

Baldacchino, F, Muenworn, V, Desquesnes, M, Desoli, F, Charoenviriyaphap, T & Duvallet, G 2013, 'Transmission of pathogens by Stomoxys flies (Diptera, Muscidae): A review', *Parasite*, vol. 20, p. 26.

Banerjee, GC 1991, A Textbook of Animal Husbandry, Oxford & IBH Publishing Company, New Delhi.

Barker, Z, Amory, J, Wright, J, Blowey, R & Green, L 2007, 'Management factors associated with impaired locomotion in dairy cows in England and Wales', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 90, no. 7, pp. 3270-7.

Barker, ZE, Leach, KA, Whay, HR, Bell, NJ & Main, DCJ 2010, 'Assessment of lameness prevalence and associated risk factors in dairy herds in England and Wales', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 93, no. 3, pp. 932-41.

Barnett, JL & Hemsworth, PH 2009, 'Welfare monitoring schemes: Using research to safeguard welfare of animals on the farm', *Journal of Applied Animal Welfare Science*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 114-31.

Bartussek, H 1999, 'A review of the animal needs index (ANI) for the assessment of animals' wellbeing in the housing systems for Austrian proprietary products and legislation', *Livestock Production Science*, vol. 61, no. 2–3, pp. 179-92.

Bartussek, H, Leeb, C & Held, S 2000, *Animal needs index for cattle (Ani 35 L/2000-cattle)*, Federal Research Institute for Agriculture in Alpine Regions BAL Gumpenstein, Irdning, Austria, viewed 23 April 2016, http://www.bartussek.at/pdf/anicattle.pdf.

Beggs, DS, Jongman, EC, Hemsworth, PH & Fisher, AD 2019, 'The effects of herd size on the welfare of dairy cows in a pasture-based system using animal- and resource-based indicators', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 102, no. 4, pp. 3406-20.

Bennett, A & Hayssen, V 2010, 'Measuring cortisol in hair and saliva from dogs: coat color and pigment differences', *Domestic Animal Endocrinology*, vol. 39, no. 3, pp. 171-80.

Bentinck, JV 2000, 'Unruly urbanisation on Delhi's fringe: changing patterns of land use and livelihood', PhD thesis, University of Groningen.

Bergsten, C, Telezhenko, E & Ventorp, M 2015, 'Influence of soft or hard floors before and after first calving on dairy heifer locomotion, claw and leg health', *Animals*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 662-86.

Bévalot, F, Gaillard, Y, Lhermitte, MA & Pépin, G 2000, 'Analysis of corticosteroids in hair by liquid chromatography–electrospray ionization mass spectrometry', *Journal of Chromatography B: Biomedical Sciences and Applications*, vol. 740, no. 2, pp. 227-36.

Bhagat, RB 2011, 'Emerging pattern of urbanisation in India', *Economic and Political Weekly*, vol. 46, no. 34, pp. 10-2.

Bharadwaj, R, Bal, AM, Joshi, SA, Kagal, A, Pol, SS, Garad, G, Arjunwadkar, V & Katti, R 2002, 'An urban outbreak of leptospirosis in Mumbai, India', *Japanese Journal of Infectious Diseases*, vol. 55, no. 6, pp. 194-6.

Bharadwaj, SB 2012, 'Myth and reality of the Khap Panchayats: A historical analysis of the Panchayat and Khap Panchayat', *Studies in History*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 43-67.

Bharath, A, Vinod Kumar, H, Shailendra Kumar, M, Rakesh Kumar, M & Prashith Kekuda, T 2010, 'Insecticidal efficacy of cow urine distillate (Go-mutra ark)', *Research and Reviews in Biomedicine and Biotechnology*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 68-70.

Bhattacharya, PC 2006, 'Economic development, gender inequality, and demographic outcomes: evidence from India', *Population and Development Review*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 263-92.

Bicalho, RC, Cheong, SH, Cramer, G & Guard, CL 2007, 'Association between a visual and an automated locomotion score in lactating Holstein cows', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 90, no. 7, pp. 3294-300.

Bicalho, RC, Machado, VS & Caixeta, LS 2009, 'Lameness in dairy cattle: A debilitating disease or a disease of debilitated cattle? A cross-sectional study of lameness prevalence and thickness of the digital cushion', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 92, no. 7, pp. 3175-84.

Bicalho, RC & Oikonomou, G 2013, 'Control and prevention of lameness associated with claw lesions in dairy cows', *Livestock Science*, vol. 156, no. 1-3, pp. 96-105.

Bickert, W 2000, 'Milking herd facilities', in WG Bickert, B Holmes, K Janni, D Kammel, R Stowell & J Zulovich (eds), *Dairy Free Stall Housing and Equipment*, 7th edn, Midwest Plan Service, Iowa State University of Science and Technology, Ames, Iowa, USA, pp. 27-45.

Bijla, S, Khalandar, S, Sharma, P & Singh, A 2019, 'An analysis of constraints faced by Gaushalas in Haryana', *Economic Affairs*, vol. 64, no. 1, pp. 191-5.

Bijla, S & Singh, A 2019, 'Economic study of Gaushalas in Haryana: functioning and profitability', *Indian Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 72, no. 1, pp. 97-107.

Birthal, P 2010, 'India's livestock feed demand: estimates and projections', *Agricultural Economics Research Review*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 15-28.

Blokhuis, H, Veissier, I, Miele, M & Jones, B 2010, 'The Welfare Quality[®] project and beyond: safeguarding farm animal well-being', *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section A - Animal Science*, vol. 60, no. 3, pp. 129-40.

Blom, JY 1983, 'Traumatic injuries and foot diseases as related to housing systems', *Current Topics in Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science*, vol. 24, pp. 216-23.

Boissy, A, Arnould, C, Chaillou, E, Désiré, L, Duvaux-Ponter, C, Greiveldinger, L, Leterrier, C, Richard, S, Roussel, S & Saint-Dizier, H 2007a, 'Emotions and cognition: A new approach to animal welfare', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 16, Supplement 1, pp. 37-43.

Boissy, A & Bouissou, MF 1995, 'Assessment of individual differences in behavioural reactions of heifers exposed to various fear-eliciting situations', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 46, no. 1, pp. 17-31.

Boissy, A, Manteuffel, G, Jensen, MB, Moe, RO, Spruijt, B, Keeling, LJ, Winckler, C, Forkman, B, Dimitrov, I & Langbein, J 2007b, 'Assessment of positive emotions in animals to improve their welfare', *Physiology & Behavior*, vol. 92, no. 3, pp. 375-97.

Bokkers, E 1996, De Dierenwelzijnsindex: Een aanzet tot het kwantificeren van het niveau vam dierenwelzijn in Nederlandse veehouderijsystemen, Nederlandse Vereniging tot Bescherming van Dieren, Den Haag.

Bonser, RHC, Farrent, JW & Taylor, AM 2003, 'Assessing the frictional and abrasion-resisting properties of hooves and claws', *Biosystems Engineering*, vol. 86, no. 2, pp. 253-6.

Boogaard, BK, Boekhorst, LJS, Oosting, SJ & Sørensen, JT 2011, 'Socio-cultural sustainability of pig production: Citizen perceptions in the Netherlands and Denmark', *Livestock Science*, vol. 140, no. 1, pp. 189-200.

Boogaard, BK, Oosting, SJ & Bock, BB 2006, 'Elements of societal perception of farm animal welfare: A quantitative study in the Netherlands', *Livestock Science*, vol. 104, no. 1–2, pp. 13-22.

Borderas, T, Pawluczuk, B, De Passillé, A & Rushen, J 2004, 'Claw hardness of dairy cows: Relationship to water content and claw lesions', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 87, no. 7, pp. 2085-93.

Botreau, R, Bracke, MBM, Perny, R, Butterworth, A, Capdeville, J, Van Reenen, CG & Veissier, I 2007a, 'Aggregation of measures to produce an overall assessment of animal welfare. Part 2: analysis of constraints', *Animal*, vol. 1, no. 8, pp. 1188-97.

Botreau, R, Veissier, I, Butterworth, A, Bracke, M & Keeling, L 2007b, 'Definition of criteria for overall assessment of animal welfare', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 16, no. 2, p. 225.

Botreau, R, Veissier, I & Perny, P 2009, 'Overall assessment of animal welfare: strategy adopted in Welfare Quality[®]', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 363-70.

Bowell, V, Rennie, L, Tierney, G, Lawrence, A & Haskell, M 2003, 'Relationships between building design, management system and dairy cow welfare', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 547-52.

Bracke, M, Spruijt, B & Metz, J 1999a, 'Overall animal welfare assessment reviewed. Part 1: is it possible?' *Netherlands Journal of Agricultural Science*, vol. 47, no. 3/4, pp. 279-92.

Bracke, M, Spruijt, B, Metz, J & Schouten, W 2002, 'Decision support system for overall welfare assessment in pregnant sows A: Model structure and weighting procedure', *Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 80, no. 7, pp. 1819-34.

Bracke, MBM, Metz, JHM & Spruijt, BM 1999b, 'Overall animal welfare reviewed. Part 2: Assessment tables and schemes', *Netherlands Journal of Agricultural Science*, vol. 47, no. 3-4, pp. 293-305.

Brañas-Garza, P & Neuman, S 2004, 'Analyzing religiosity within an economic framework: The case of Spanish Catholics', *Review of Economics of the Household*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 5-22.

Brenninkmeyer, C, Dippel, S, Brinkmann, J, March, S, Winckler, C & Knierim, U 2013, 'Hock lesion epidemiology in cubicle housed dairy cows across two breeds, farming systems and countries', *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, vol. 109, no. 3-4, pp. 236-45.

Breuer, K, Hemsworth, P, Barnett, J, Matthews, L & Coleman, G 2000a, 'Behavioural response to humans and the productivity of commercial dairy cows', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 66, no. 4, pp. 273-88.

Breuer, K, Hemsworth, PH, Barnett, JL, Matthews, LR & Coleman, GJ 2000b, 'Behavioural response to humans and the productivity of commercial dairy cows', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 66, no. 4, pp. 273-88.

Breuer, K, Hemsworth, PH & Coleman, GJ 2003, 'The effect of positive or negative handling on the behavioural and physiological responses of nonlactating heifers', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 84, no. 1, pp. 3-22.

Broom, D 1986, 'Responsiveness of stall-housed sows', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 15, no. 2, p. 186.

Broom, DM & Fraser, AF 2015, *Domestic animal behaviour and welfare*, 5th edn, CAB International, Wallingford, UK.

Brouček, J 2014, 'Effect of noise on performance, stress, and behaviour of animals', *Slovak Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 47, no. 2, pp. 111-23.

Bruckert, M 2018, 'Protecting and slaughtering bovines in the country of the 'holy cow': The symbolic and economic uses of cattle and buffaloes in contemporary India', *Anthropozoologica*, vol. 53, no. 1, pp. 207-22.

Brunk, CG, Haworth, L & Lee, B 1995, Value assumptions in risk assessment: A case study of the Alachlor controversy, Wilfrid Laurier University Press, Waterloo, Canada.

Budithi, NRB, Kumar, V, Yalla, SK, Rai, U & Umapathy, G 2016, 'Non-invasive monitoring of reproductive and stress hormones in the endangered red panda (*Ailurus fulgens fulgens*)', *Animal Reproduction Science*, vol. 172, pp. 173-81.

Burfeind, O, Sepulveda, P, von Keyserlingk, MAG, Weary, DM, Veira, DM & Heuwieser, W 2010, 'Evaluation of a scoring system for rumen fill in dairy cows', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 93, no. 8, pp. 3635-40.

Burgat, F 2004, 'Non-violence towards animals in the thinking of Gandhi: The problem of animal husbandry', *Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 223-48.

Burkholder, WJ 2000, 'Use of body condition scores in clinical assessment of the provision of optimal nutrition', *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, vol. 217, no. 5, pp. 650-4.

Burnett, TA, Madureira, AM, Silper, BF, Nadalin, A, Tahmasbi, A, Veira, DM & Cerri, RL 2014, 'Factors affecting hair cortisol concentrations in lactating dairy cows', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 97, no. 12, pp. 7685-90.

Burow, E, Rousing, T, Thomsen, P, Otten, ND & Sørensen, J 2013, 'Effect of grazing on the cow welfare of dairy herds evaluated by a multidimensional welfare index', animal, vol. 7, no. 05, pp. 834-42.

Busato, A, Trachsel, P & Blum, J 2000, 'Frequency of traumatic cow injuries in relation to housing systems in Swiss organic dairy herds', *Journal of Veterinary Medicine Series A*, vol. 47, no. 4, pp. 221-9.

Buyserie, AC, Dahl, GE & Gamroth, MJ 2001, *Managing light in dairy barns for increased milk production*, Oregon State University Extension Service, Oregon, USA.

Cadegiani, FA & Kater, CE 2016, 'Adrenal fatigue does not exist: A systematic review', *BMC Endocrine Disorders*, vol. 16, no. 1, p. 48.

Cafe, LM, Robinson, DL, Ferguson, DM, McIntyre, BL, Geesink, GH & Greenwood, PL 2011, 'Cattle temperament: Persistence of assessments and associations with productivity, efficiency, carcass and meat quality traits1', *Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 89, no. 5, pp. 1452-65.

Calamari, L & Bertoni, G 2009, 'Model to evaluate welfare in dairy cow farms', *Italian Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 8, pp. 301-23.

Canali, E & Keeling, L 2009, 'Welfare Quality[®] project: from scientific research to on farm assessment of animal welfare', *Italian Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 8, no. sup2, pp. 900-3.

Capdeville, J & Veissier, I 2001, 'A method of assessing welfare in loose housed dairy cows at farm level, focusing on animal observations', *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section A-Animal Science*, vol. 51, pp. 62-8.

Caraviello, DZ, Weigel, KA, Fricke, PM, Wiltbank, MC, Florent, MJ, Cook, NB, Nordlund, KV, Zwald, NR & Rawson, CL 2006, 'Survey of management practices on reproductive performance of dairy cattle on large US Commercial Farms', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 89, no. 12, pp. 4723-35.

Casal, N, Manteca, X, Peña L, R, Bassols, A & Fàbrega, E 2017, 'Analysis of cortisol in hair samples as an indicator of stress in pigs', *Journal of Veterinary Behavior*, vol. 19, pp. 1-6.

Cerri, R, Tabmasbi, A & Veira, D 2012, 'Hair cortisol concentrations–influence of color and location in Holstein cows', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 95, no. Suppl, p. 574.

Chakrabarti, A & Kumar, P 2016, 'Incidences of foot diseases of cattle in Bihar, India ', *International Journal of Agricultural Science and Research*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 267-72.

Chakravarti, AK 1985, 'Cattle development problems and programs in India: A regional analysis', *GeoJournal*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 21-45.

Chandra, S & Kamboj, M 2019, 'Herd health management practices of indigenous cattle in Gaushalas', *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 3576-8.

Chang, W-R, Grönqvist, R, Leclercq, S, Brungraber, RJ, Mattke, U, Strandberg, L, Thorpe, SC, Myung, R, Makkonen, L & Courtney, TK 2001, 'The role of friction in the measurement of slipperiness, Part 2: Survey of friction measurement devices', *Ergonomics*, vol. 44, no. 13, pp. 1233-61.

Channon, A, Walker, A, Pfau, T, Sheldon, I & Wilson, A 2009, 'Variability of Manson and Leaver locomotion scores assigned to dairy cows by different observers', *The Veterinary Record*, vol. 164, no. 13, p. 388.

Chantalakhana, C, Korpraditsakul, R, Skunmun, P & Poondusit, T 1999, 'Environmental conditions and resource management in smallholder dairy farms in Thailand. II. Effects of dairy wastes on water and soil', *Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 220-5.

Chapinal, N, Barrientos, AK, von Keyserlingk, MAG, Galo, E & Weary, DM 2013, 'Herd-level risk factors for lameness in freestall farms in the northeastern United States and California', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 96, no. 1, pp. 318-28.

Chaplin, S & Munksgaard, L 2016, 'Evaluation of a simple method for assessment of rising behaviour in tethered dairy cows', *Animal Science*, vol. 72, no. 1, pp. 191-7.

Chaplin, SJ, Tierney, G, Stockwell, C, Logue, DN & Kelly, M 2000, 'An evaluation of mattresses and mats in two dairy units', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 66, no. 4, pp. 263-72.

Charlier, J, Höglund, J, von Samson-Himmelstjerna, G, Dorny, P & Vercruysse, J 2009, 'Gastrointestinal nematode infections in adult dairy cattle: Impact on production, diagnosis and control', *Veterinary Parasitology*, vol. 164, no. 1, pp. 70-9.

Chavhan, P, Maske, D & Jagtap, H 2013, 'Prevalence of arthropod parasites in bovines (Cattle and Buffalo) in Eastern Zone of Vidarbha Region', *Advances in Life Sciences*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 60-1.

Chen, JM, Stull, CL, Ledgerwood, DN & Tucker, CB 2017, 'Muddy conditions reduce hygiene and lying time in dairy cattle and increase time spent on concrete', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 100, no. 3, pp. 2090-103.

Chhangani, AK 2009, 'Status of vulture population in Rajasthan, India', *Indian Forester*, vol. 135, no. 2, p. 239.

Chigateri, S 2008, 'Glory to the Cow': Cultural difference and social justice in the food hierarchy in India', *South Asia: Journal of South Asian Studies*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 10-35.

Choquette-Levy, L, Baril, J, Levy, M & St-Pierre, H 1985, 'A study of foot disease of dairy cattle in Quebec', *The Canadian Veterinary Journal*, vol. 26, no. 9, p. 278.

Choubisa, SL & Jaroli, VJ 2013, 'Gastrointestinal parasitic infection in diverse species of domestic ruminants inhabiting tribal rural areas of southern Rajasthan, India', *Journal of Parasitic Diseases*, vol. 37, no. 2, pp. 271-5.

Christiansen, SB & Forkman, B 2007, 'Assessment of animal welfare in a veterinary context—A call for ethologists', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 106, no. 4, pp. 203-20.

Christmann, U, Belknap, E, Lin, H & Belknap, J 2002, 'Evaluation of hemodynamics in the normal and laminitic bovine digit', *Proceedings of the 12th International Symposium on Lameness in Ruminants*, Orlando, Florida, USA, 9-13 January, pp. 165-6.

Clarkson, M, Downham, D, Faull, W, Hughes, J, Manson, F, Merritt, J, Murray, R, Russell, W, Sutherst, J & Ward, W 1996, 'Incidence and prevalence of lameness in dairy cattle', *Veterinary Record*, vol. 138, pp. 563-7.

Coignard, M, Guatteo, R, Veissier, I, des Roches, AdB, Mounier, L, Lehébel, A & Bareille, N 2013, 'Description and factors of variation of the overall health score in French dairy cattle herds using the Welfare Quality[®] assessment protocol', *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, vol. 112, no. 3, pp. 296-308.

Coleman, GJ 2010, 'Educating the public: information or persuasion?' *Journal of Veterinary Medical Education*, vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 74-82.

Coleman, GJ & Hemsworth, PH 2014, 'Training to improve stockperson beliefs and behaviour towards livestock enhances welfare and productivity', *Revue Scientifique et Technique - Office International des Epizooties*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 131-7.

Collier, R, Doelger, S, Head, H, Thatcher, W & Wilcox, C 1982, 'Effects of heat stress during pregnancy on maternal hormone concentrations, calf birth weight and postpartum milk yield of Holstein cows ', *Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 54, no. 2, pp. 309-19.

Comin, A, Peric, T, Corazzin, M, Veronesi, M, Meloni, T, Zufferli, V, Cornacchia, G & Prandi, A 2013, 'Hair cortisol as a marker of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activation in Friesian dairy cows clinically or physiologically compromised', *Livestock Science*, vol. 152, no. 1, pp. 36-41.

Comin, A, Prandi, A, Peric, T, Corazzin, M, Dovier, S & Bovolenta, S 2011, 'Hair cortisol levels in dairy cows from winter housing to summer highland grazing', *Livestock Science*, vol. 138, no. 1, pp. 69-73.

Constable, P 2003, 'Fluid and electrolyte therapy in ruminants', *Veterinary Clinics: Food Animal Practice*, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 557-97.

Constable, P, Hinchcliff, K, Done, S & Grünberg, W 2017, Veterinary medicine: A textbook of the diseases of cattle, horses, sheep, pigs, and goats, 11th edn, vol. 2, 2 vols., Elsevier Ltd Co, St. Louis, Missouri, USA.

Cook, NB 2002, 'The influence of barn design on dairy cow hygiene, lameness and udder health', *Proceedings. of the 35th Annual Convention of the American Association of Bovine Practitioners, Madison, Wisconsin held on 26-28 September, 2002*, American Association of Bovine Practitioners, Rome, Georgia, pp. 97-103, (viewed 23 June 2016, <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/3820/c1f02f0aaea275b293f42f747dd7891bf7a1.pdf?_ga=2.238218</u>816.1143330513.1575942394-58224867.1531290232).

Cook, NB 2003, 'Prevalence of lameness among dairy cattle in Wisconsin as a function of housing type and stall surface', *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, vol. 223, no. 9, pp. 1324-8.

Cook, NB, Bennett, TB & Nordlund, KV 2005, 'Monitoring indices of cow comfort in free-stall-housed dairy herds, *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 88, no. 11, pp. 3876-85.

Cook, NB, Hess, JP, Foy, MR, Bennett, TB & Brotzman, RL 2016, 'Management characteristics, lameness, and body injuries of dairy cattle housed in high-performance dairy herds in Wisconsin', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 99, no. 7, pp. 5879-91.

Cook, NB & Nordlund, KV 2009, 'The influence of the environment on dairy cow behavior, claw health and herd lameness dynamics', *The Veterinary Journal*, vol. 179, no. 3, pp. 360-9.

Cook, NB, Nordlund, KV & Oetzel, GR 2004, 'Environmental influences on claw horn lesions associated with laminitis and subacute ruminal acidosis in dairy cows', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 87, pp. E36-E46.

Copeland, C 2010, 'Animal waste and hazardous substances: current laws and legislative issues', *Animal Agriculture Research Progress*, vol. 15, no. 11, pp. 75-8.

Correa-Calderon, A, Armstrong, D, Ray, D, DeNise, S, Enns, M & Howison, C 2004, 'Thermoregulatory responses of Holstein and Brown Swiss heat-stressed dairy cows to two different cooling systems', *International Journal of Biometeorology*, vol. 48, no. 3, pp. 142-8.

Costa, J, Hötzel, M, Longo, C & Balcão, L 2013, 'A survey of management practices that influence production and welfare of dairy cattle on family farms in southern Brazil', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 96, no. 1, pp. 307-17.

Creative Research Systems n.d, viewed 12 April 2016, https://www.surveysystem.com/sscalc.htm.

Croyle, SL, Nash, CGR, Bauman, C, LeBlanc, SJ, Haley, DB, Khosa, DK & Kelton, DF 2018, 'Training method for animal-based measures in dairy cattle welfare assessments', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 101, no. 10, pp. 9463-71.

D'Anna-Hernandez, KL, Ross, RG, Natvig, CL & Laudenslager, ML 2011, 'Hair cortisol levels as a retrospective marker of hypothalamic–pituitary axis activity throughout pregnancy: comparison to salivary cortisol', *Physiology & Behavior*, vol. 104, no. 2, pp. 348-53.

Dalal, DS & Khanna, AS 2010, 'Role of additive and multiplicative age correction factors in sire evaluation of Hariana cattle', *Indian Journal of Animal Sciences*, vol. 80, no. 3, pp. 239-43.

Davenport, MD, Tiefenbacher, S, Lutz, CK, Novak, MA & Meyer, JS 2006, 'Analysis of endogenous cortisol concentrations in the hair of rhesus macaques', *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, vol. 147, no. 3, pp. 255-61.

Davis, R, Watts, P & Stafford, R 2016, 'Covered housing systems', in PJ Watts, RJ Davis, OB Keane, MM Luttrell, RW Tucker, R Stafford, S Janke, S (eds), *Beef cattle feedlots: Design and construction*, Meat and Livestock Australia, Sydney, Australia, pp.1-14.

Dawkins, M 2012, *Animal suffering: The science of animal welfare*, Springer Science & Business Media, Dordrecht, The Netherlands.

Dawkins, MS 2004, 'Using behaviour to assess animal welfare', Animal Welfare, vol. 13, pp. S3-S7.

Dawkins, MS 2006, 'Through animal eyes: What behaviour tells us', *Applied Animal Behaviour* Science, vol. 100, no. 1, pp. 4-10.

de Passillé, AM & Rushen, J 2005, 'Can we measure human–animal interactions in on-farm animal welfare assessment? Some unresolved issues', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 92, no. 3, pp. 193-209.

de Passillé, AM, Rushen, J, Ladewig, J & Petherick, C 1996, 'Dairy calves' discrimination of people based on previous handling', *Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 74, no. 5, pp. 969-74.

De Vaus, D 2013, Surveys in social research, 6th edn, Routledge, London, UK

de Vries, M, Bokkers, E, Van Schaik, G, Botreau, R, Engel, B, Dijkstra, T & De Boer, I 2013a, 'Evaluating results of the Welfare Quality multi-criteria evaluation model for classification of dairy cattle welfare at the herd level', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 96, no. 10, pp. 6264-73.

De Vries, M, Bokkers, E, Van Schaik, G, Engel, B, Dijkstra, T & de Boer, I 2014a, 'Exploring the value of routinely collected herd data for estimating dairy cattle welfare', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 97, no. 2, pp. 715-30.

de Vries, M, Bokkers, EAM, Dijkstra, T, van Schaik, G & de Boer, IJM 2011, 'Associations between variables of routine herd data and dairy cattle welfare indicators', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 94, no. 7, pp. 3213-28.

de Vries, M, Bokkers, EAM, van Reenen, CG, Engel, B, van Schaik, G, Dijkstra, T & de Boer, IJM 2015, 'Housing and management factors associated with indicators of dairy cattle welfare', *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, vol. 118, no. 1, pp. 80-92.

de Vries, M, Bokkers, EAM, van Schaik, G, Botreau, R, Engel, B, Dijkstra, T & de Boer, IJM 2013b, 'Evaluating results of the Welfare Quality multi-criteria evaluation model for classification of dairy cattle welfare at the herd level', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 96, no. 10, pp. 6264-73.

de Vries, M, Bokkers, EAM, van Schaik, G, Engel, B, Dijkstra, T & de Boer, IJM 2014b, 'Exploring the value of routinely collected herd data for estimating dairy cattle welfare', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 97, no. 2, pp. 715-30.

de Vries, M, Engel, B, den Uijl, I, van Schaik, G, Dijkstra, T, de Boer, I & Bokkers, E 2013c, 'Assessment time of the Welfare Quality[®] protocol for dairy cattle', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 85-93.

Deckha, M 2015, 'Vulnerability, equality, and animals', *Canadian Journal of Women and the Law*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 47-70.

del Rosario, G-d-I-V, Valdez, RA, Lemus-Ramirez, V, Vázquez-Chagoyán, JC, Villa-Godoy, A & Romano, MC 2011, 'Effects of adrenocorticotropic hormone challenge and age on hair cortisol concentrations in dairy cattle', *Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research*, vol. 75, no. 3, pp. 216-21.

Dembele, I, Spinka, M, Stehulova, I, Panama, J & Firla, P 2006, 'Factors contributing to the incidence of prevalence of lameness on Czech dairy farms', *Czech Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 51, no. 3, p. 102.

Department of Animal Husbandry, Ministry of Agriculture, Government of India 2014, 19th Livestock Census -2012, All India Report, Department of Animal Husbandry Dairying and Fisheries, Government of India.

des Roches, AdB, Veissier, I, Boivin, X, Gilot-Fromont, E & Mounier, L 2016, 'A prospective exploration of farm, farmer, and animal characteristics in human-animal relationships: An epidemiological survey', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 99, no. 7, pp. 5573-85.

Destrez, A, Haslin, E, Elluin, G, Gaillard, C, Hostiou, N, Dasse, F, Zanella, C & Boivin, X 2018, 'Evaluation of beef herd responses to unfamiliar humans and potential influencing factors: An exploratory survey on French farms', *Livestock Science*, vol. 212, pp. 7-13.

DeVries, TJ, Aarnoudse, MG, Barkema, HW, Leslie, KE & von Keyserlingk, MAG 2012, 'Associations of dairy cow behavior, barn hygiene, cow hygiene, and risk of elevated somatic cell count', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 95, no. 10, pp. 5730-9.

Diaz-San Segundo, F, Medina, GN, Stenfeldt, C, Arzt, J & de los Santos, T 2017, 'Foot-and-mouth disease vaccines', *Veterinary Microbiology*, vol. 206, pp. 102-12.

Divekar, B & Saiyed, L 2010, 'Housing and breeding practices followed by professional Gir cattle owners of Anand District ', *Indian Journal of Field Veterinarians*, vol. 5, no. 4.

Dobson, H & Esslemont, R 2002, 'Stress and its effects on fertility in dairy cows', *Advances in Dairy Technology.*, vol. 14, pp. 193-206.

Dohoo, I, Martin, W & Stryhn, H 2009a, 'Mixed models for discrete data', *Veterinary Epidemiologic Research*, vol. 2, pp. 584-5.

Dohoo, IR, Martin, W & Stryhn, H 2009b, Veterinary Epidemiologic Research, Second Edition edn, AVC Incorporated Charlottetown, Canada.

Doniger, W 2009, The Hindus - An alternative history, Oxford University Press, Oxford, US.

Duncan, I 2005, 'Science-based assessment of animal welfare: Farm animals', *Revue Scientifique et Technique - Office International des Epizooties*, vol. 24, no. 2, p. 483.

Duncan, I & Dawkins, M 1983, 'The problem of assessing "well-being" and "suffering" in farm animals', in D Smidt (eds.), *Indicators relevant to farm animal welfare*, Springer, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp. 13-24.

Duncan, IJ 2006, 'The changing concept of animal sentience', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 100, no. 1, pp. 11-9.

Duran, MC, Janz, DM, Waldner, CL, Campbell, JR & Marques, FJ 2017, 'Hair cortisol concentration as a stress biomarker in horses: Associations with body location and surgical castration', *Journal of Equine Veterinary Science*, vol. 55, pp. 27-33.

Eagly, AH & Chaiken, S 1993, *The psychology of attitudes*, Harcourt Brace Jovanovich College Publishers, Fort Worth, Texas, USA.

Ebinghaus, A, Ivemeyer, S, Lauks, V, Santos, L, Brügemann, K, König, S & Knierim, U 2017, 'How to measure dairy cows' responsiveness towards humans in breeding and welfare assessment? A comparison of selected behavioural measures and existing breeding traits', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 196, pp. 22-9. Ebinghaus, A, Ivemeyer, S, Rupp, J & Knierim, U 2016, 'Identification and development of measures suitable as potential breeding traits regarding dairy cows' reactivity towards humans', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 185, pp. 30-8.

Edmonson, AJ, Lean, IJ, Weaver, LD, Farver, T & Webster, G 1989, 'A body condition scoring chart for Holstein dairy cows', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 72, no. 1, pp. 68-78.

Ekesbo, I 1984, Methods of evaluation of environmental influences on animals with special reference to the animal health and welfare ', *Vienna Veterinary Monthly*, vol. 71, pp. 186-90.

El-Nouty, F, Elbanna, I, Davis, TP & Johnson, H 1980, 'Aldosterone and ADH response to heat and dehydration in cattle', *Journal of Applied Physiology*, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 249-55.

Ellis, KA, Innocent, GT, Mihm, M, Cripps, P, McLean, WG, Howard, CV & Grove-White, D 2007, 'Dairy cow cleanliness and milk quality on organic and conventional farms in the UK', *Journal of Dairy Research*, vol. 74, no. 3, pp. 302-10.

Elmore, M, Elischer, M, Claeys, M & Pajor, E 2015, 'The effects of different flooring types on the behavior, health, and welfare of finishing beef steers', *Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 93, no. 3, pp. 1258-66.

Elvinger, F, Natzke, RP & Hansen, PJ 1992, 'Interactions of Heat Stress and Bovine Somatotropin Affecting Physiology and Immunology of Lactating Cows1', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 75, no. 2, pp. 449-62.

Espejo, LA, Endres, MI & Salfer, JA 2006, 'Prevalence of Lameness in High-Producing Holstein Cows Housed in Freestall Barns in Minnesota', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 89, no. 8, pp. 3052-8.

Esposito, G, Irons, PC, Webb, EC & Chapwanya, A 2014, 'Interactions between negative energy balance, metabolic diseases, uterine health and immune response in transition dairy cows', *Animal Reproduction Science*, vol. 144, no. 3-4, pp. 60-71.

Evans, B 2013, 'Ideologies of the Shri Meenakshi Goushala: Hindu and Jain Motivations for a Madurai cow home', *ASIANetwork Exchange*, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 1-10.

Evans, DL, Drew, JH & Leemis, LM 2017, 'The distribution of the Kolmogorov–Smirnov, Cramer– von Mises, and Anderson–Darling Test Statistics for exponential populations with estimated parameters', in A Glen, L Lemmis (eds) *Computational probability applications*, International Series in Operations Research & management, Springer, Cham, Switzerland, pp. 165-90.

Live animals 2019, viewed 23 July 2019, http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QA/visualize.

Farm Animal Welfare Council 1993a, *Second report on priorities for research and development in farm animal welfare*, Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, London.

Farm Animal Welfare Council 1993b, Second report on priorities for research and development in farm animal welfare, Tamworth, U.K.

Farm Animal Welfare Council 2009, *Farm animal welfare in Great Britain: past, present and future*, Farm Animal Welfare Council, London.

Faull, W, Hughes, J, Clarkson, M, Downham, D, Manson, F, Merritt, J, Murray, R, Russell, W, Sutherst, J & Ward, W 1996, 'Epidemiology of lameness in dairy cattle: The influence of cubicles and indoor and outdoor walking surfaces', *Veterinary Record*, vol. 139, no. 6, pp. 130-6.

Faye, B & Barnouin, J 1985, 'Objective assessment of the cleanliness of dairy cows and housing systems-the cleanliness index', Technical Bulletin, French National Institute for Agricultural research (INRA), Theix, France, vol. 59, pp. 61-7.

Faye, B & Perochon, L 1995, 'Mortality of dairy cows in an ecopathological survey in Brittany, *Veterinary Research*, vol.26, no. 2, pp. 124-131.

Febrer, K, Jones, TA, Donnelly, CA & Dawkins, MS 2006, 'Forced to crowd or choosing to cluster? Spatial distribution indicates social attraction in broiler chickens', *Animal Behaviour*, vol. 72, no. 6, pp. 1291-300.

Federation of Indian Animal Protection Organisations 2018a, *Gau Gaatha - tale of the cow*, Federation of Indian Animal Protection Organisations (FIAPO) New Delhi, India, viewed 27 July, 2019, <u>http://www.fiapo.org/fiaporg/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/GAU-GAATHA-Report.pdf</u>.

Federation of Indian Animal Protection Organisations 2018b, *Gaushalas are torture houses*, Federation of Indian Animal Protection Organisations (FIAPO), New Delhi, India, viewed 27 July, 2019, http://www.fiapo.org/fiaporg/news/gaushalas-are-torture-houses-fiapo-report/. Fienberg, SE 2011, 'The analysis of contingency tables: From chi-squared tests and log-linear models to models of mixed membership', *Statistics in Biopharmaceutical Research*, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 173-84.

Filia, G, Leishangthem, GD, Mahajan, V & Singh, A 2016, 'Detection of Mycobacterium tuberculosis and Mycobacterium bovis in Sahiwal cattle from an organized farm using ante-mortem techniques', *Veterinary World*, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 383-7.

Fitzharris, M, Dandona, R, Kumar, GA & Dandona, L 2009, 'Crash characteristics and patterns of injury among hospitalized motorised two-wheeled vehicle users in urban India', *BMC Public Health*, vol. 9, no. 1, p.1.

Fjeldaas, T, Sogstad, ÅM & Østerås, O 2011, 'Locomotion and claw disorders in Norwegian dairy cows housed in freestalls with slatted concrete, solid concrete, or solid rubber flooring in the alleys', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 94, no. 3, pp. 1243-55.

Flower, FC & Weary, DM 2006, 'Effect of hoof pathologies on subjective assessments of dairy cow gait', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 89, no. 1, pp. 139-46.

Forbes, JM 1995, Voluntary food intake and diet selection in farm animals, CAB International, Wallingford, UK.

Forkman, B, Boissy, A, Meunier-Salaün, M-C, Canali, E & Jones, R 2007, 'A critical review of fear tests used on cattle, pigs, sheep, poultry and horses', *Physiology & Behavior*, vol. 92, no. 3, pp. 340-74.

Fournel, S, Ouellet, V & Charbonneau, E 2017, 'Practices for alleviating heat stress of dairy cows in humid continental climates: A literature review', *Animals* (Basel), vol. 7, no. 5.

Fox, MW 1999, 'India's sacred cow: Her plight and future', Animal Issues, vol. 3, no. 2, p. 38.

Fraser, D 1995, 'Science, values and animal welfare: Exploring the 'inextricable connection", *Animal Welfare*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 103-17.

Fraser, D 2003, 'Assessing animal welfare at the farm and group level: The interplay of science and values', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 433-43.

Fregonesi, J, Tucker, C & Weary, D 2007a, 'Overstocking reduces lying time in dairy cows', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 90, no. 7, pp. 3349-54.

Furnaris, F, Ghimpeteanu, OM & Predoi, G 2016, 'Dairy cows' welfare assessment in a farm from South-Eastern Romania', *Agriculture and Agricultural Science Procedia*, vol. 10, pp. 403-7.

Galindo, F & Broom, DM 2002, 'The effects of lameness on social and individual behavior of dairy cows', *Journal of Applied Animal Welfare Science*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 193-201.

Ghassemi Nejad, J, Kim, BW, Lee, BH & Sung, KI 2017, 'Coat and hair color: hair cortisol and serotonin levels in lactating Holstein cows under heat stress conditions', *Animal Science Journal*, vol. 88, no. 1, pp. 190-4.

Ghatak, S & Singh, B 2015, 'Veterinary public health in India: Current status and future needs', *Revue Scientifique et Technique - Office International des Epizooties*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 1-15.

Ghosh, P 2013, 'Where's the beef? In India, Believe It or Not ', viewed 26 March 2017, *International Business Times*, <u>https://www.ibtimes.com/wheres-beef-india-believe-it-or-not-1258469</u>.

Ghosh, S, Bansal, GC, Gupta, SC, Ray, D, Khan, MQ, Irshad, H, Shahiduzzaman, M, Seitzer, U & Ahmed, JS 2007, 'Status of tick distribution in Bangladesh, India and Pakistan', *Parasitology Research*, vol. 101, no. 2, pp. 207-16.

Gibbons, J, Vasseur, E, Rushen, J & De Passillé, A 2012, 'A training programme to ensure high repeatability of injury scoring of dairy cows', *Animal Welfare-The UFAW Journal*, vol. 21, no. 3, p. 379.

Gourley, CJP, Powell, JM, Dougherty, WJ & Weaver, DM 2007, 'Nutrient budgeting as an approach to improving nutrient management on Australian dairy farms', *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, vol. 47, no. 9, pp. 1064-74.

Government of India 2017, *Road Accidents in India - 2016*, Ministry of Road Transport and Highways, Transport research Wing, Government of India, New Delhi, viewed 27 September 2019, <u>https://morth.nic.in/sites/default/files/Road_Accidents_in_India_2016.pdf</u>.

Government of India 2018, *Road Accidents in India - 2017*, Ministry of Road Transport and Highways, Transport Research Wing, Government of India, New Delhi, viewed 27 September 2019,

http://www.indiaenvironmentportal.org.in/files/file/road%20accidents%20in%20India%202017.pdf

Grandin, T 1987, 'Animal handling', *Veterinary Clinics of North America: Food Animal Practice*, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 323-38.

Grandin, T 2006, 'Progress and challenges in animal handling and slaughter in the U.S', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 100, no. 1–2, pp. 129-39.

Grasso, F, Rosa, GD, Marsico, I, Napolitano, F, Migliori, G & Bordi, A 2003, 'Welfare of buffalo heifers in relation to feeding and space allowance', *Italian Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 2, no. sup1, pp. 148-50.

Green, LE, Huxley, JN, Banks, C & Green, MJ 2014, 'Temporal associations between low body condition, lameness and milk yield in a UK dairy herd', *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, vol. 113, no. 1, pp. 63-71.

Green, T & Mellor, D 2011, 'Extending ideas about animal welfare assessment to include 'quality of life and related concepts', *New Zealand Veterinary Journal*, vol. 59, no. 6, pp. 263-71.

Greenough, P, Weaver, A, Broom, D, Esslemont, R & Galindo, F 1997, 'Basic concepts of bovine lameness', in PR Greenough and AD Weaver (eds), *Lameness in cattle*, WB Saunders Co., Philadelphia, USA, pp. 3-13.

Greenough, PR, Vermunt, JJ, McKinnon, JJ, Fathy, FA, Berg, PA & Cohen, RD 1990, 'Laminitislike changes in the claws of feedlot cattle', *The Canadian Veterinary Journal*, vol. 31, no. 3, p. 202.

Gregorio, JD & Lee, JW 2002, 'Education and income inequality: New evidence from cross-country data', *Review of Income and Wealth*, vol. 48, no. 3, pp. 395-416.

Greub, LJ & Cosgrove, DR 2006, 'Judging crop quality, part II: score sheets for evaluating haylage and corn silage', *North American Colleges and Teachers of Agriculture (NACTA) Journal*, vol. 50, no. 2, pp. 46-51.

Groot Koerkamp, PWG & Bos, AP 2008, 'Designing complex and sustainable agricultural production systems: An integrated and reflexive approach for the case of table egg production in the Netherlands', *Journal of Life Sciences*, vol. 55, no. 2, pp. 113-38.

Guimelli, C 1993, 'Locating the central core of social representations: Towards a method', *European Journal of Social Psychology*, vol. 23, no. 5, pp. 555-9.

Gunnthorsdottir, A 2001, 'Physical attractiveness of an animal species as a decision factor for its preservation', *Anthrozoös*, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 204-15.

Gupta, C 2001, 'The icon of mother in late colonial North India: 'Bharat Mata', 'Matri Bhasha' and 'Gau Mata'', *Economic and Political Weekly*, vol. 36, no. 45, pp. 4291-9.

Gururaja, M, Joshi, A, Joshi, H, Sathyanarayana, D, Subrahmanyam, E & Chandrashekhar, K 2011, 'Antidiabetic potential of cow urine in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats', *Asian Journal of Traditional Medicines*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 8-11.

Gurusamy, V, Tribe, A, Toukhsati, S & Phillips, CJC 2015, 'Public attitudes in India and Australia toward elephants in zoos', *Anthrozoös*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 87-100.

Gustafson, GM 1993, 'Effects of daily exercise on the health of tied dairy cows', *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, vol. 17, no. 3-4, pp. 209-23.

Haley, DB, Rushen, J & Passillé, AMd 2000, 'Behavioural indicators of cow comfort: activity and resting behaviour of dairy cows in two types of housing', *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 80, no. 2, pp. 257-63.

Hanna, D, Sneddon, IA & Beattie, VE 2009, 'The relationship between the stockperson's personality and attitudes and the productivity of dairy cows', *Animal*, vol. 3, no. 5, pp. 737-43.

Hanna, D, Sneddon, IA, Beattie, VE & Breuer, K 2006, 'Effects of the stockperson on dairy cow behaviour and milk yield', *Animal Science*, vol. 82, no. 6, pp. 791-7.

Harris, M 1992, 'The cultural ecology of India's sacred cattle', *Current Anthropology*, vol. 33, no.S1, pp. 261-76.

Hartnell, GF & Satter, LD 1979, 'Determination of rumen fill, retention time and ruminal turnover rates of ingesta at different stages of lactation in dairy cows', *Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 381-92.

Haskell, MJ, Rennie, LJ, Bowell, VA, Bell, MJ & Lawrence, AB 2006, 'Housing system, Milk production, and zero-grazing effects on lameness and leg injury in dairy cows', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 89, no. 11, pp. 4259-66.

Hassall, S, Ward, W & Murray, R 1993, 'Effects of lameness on the behaviour of cows during the summer', *The Veterinary Record*, vol. 132, no. 23, pp. 578-80.

Haufe, HC, Gygax, L, Steiner, B, Friedli, K, Stauffacher, M & Wechsler, B 2009, 'Influence of floor type in the walking area of cubicle housing systems on the behaviour of dairy cows', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 116, no. 1, pp. 21-7.

Hawkins, DF 1975, 'Estimation of nonresponse bias', *Sociological Methods & Research*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 461-88.

Heath, C, Browne, W, Mullan, S & Main, D 2014a, 'Navigating the iceberg: Reducing the number of parameters within the Welfare Quality[®] assessment protocol for dairy cows', *Animal*, vol. 8, no. 12, pp. 1978-86.

Heath, C, Lin, Y, Mullan, S, Browne, W & Main, D 2014b, 'Implementing Welfare Quality[®] in UK assurance schemes: Evaluating the challenges', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 95-107.

Heath, CAE, Browne, WJ, Mullan, S & Main, DCJ 2014c, 'Navigating the iceberg: reducing the number of parameters within the Welfare Quality[®] assessment protocol for dairy cows', *Animal*, vol. 8, no. 12, pp. 1978-86.

Heffner, RS & Heffner, HE 1992, 'Hearing in large mammals: Sound-localization acuity in cattle (Bos taurus) and goats (Capra hircus)', *Journal of Comparative Psychology*, vol. 106, no. 2, pp. 107-13.

Heimbürge, S, Kanitz, E & Otten, W 2019, 'The use of hair cortisol for the assessment of stress in animals', *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, vol. 270, pp. 10-7.

Heleski, CR, Mertig, AG & Zanella, AJ 2004, 'Assessing attitudes toward farm animal welfare: A national survey of animal science faculty members', *Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 82, no. 9, pp. 2806-14.

Heleski, CR, Mertig, AG & Zanella, AJ 2006, 'Stakeholder attitudes toward farm animal welfare', *Anthrozoös*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 290-307.

Hemsworth, P, Coleman, G, Barnett, J, Borg, S & Dowling, S 2002, 'The effects of cognitive behavioral intervention on the attitude and behavior of stockpersons and the behavior and productivity of commercial dairy cows', *Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 80, no. 1, pp. 68-78.

Hemsworth, PH, Barnett, JL & Coleman, GJ 1993, 'The human-animal relationship in agriculture and its consequences for the animal', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 33-51.

Hemsworth, PH & Coleman, GJ 2011, *Human-livestock interactions: The stockperson and the productivity of intensively farmed animals*, 2nd edn, CABI, Wallingford, UK.

Hemsworth, PH, Coleman, GJ, Barnett, JL & Borg, S 2000, 'Relationships between human-animal interactions and productivity of commercial dairy cows', *Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 78, no. 11, pp. 2821-31.

Henderson, A, Perkins, N & Steve, B 2013, *Determining property-level rates of breeder mortality in Northern Australia : Literature review*, Meat & Livestock Australia Limited, Sydney, Australia.

Herlin, A 1997, 'Comparison of lying area surfaces for dairy cows by preference, hygiene and lying down behaviour', *Swedish Journal of Agricultural Research*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 189-96.

Hernandez-Mendo, O, von Keyserlingk, MAG, Veira, DM & Weary, DM 2007, 'Effects of pasture on lameness in dairy cows', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 90, no. 3, pp. 1209-14.

Hernandez, CE, Thierfelder, T, Svennersten-Sjaunja, K, Berg, C, Orihuela, A & Lidfors, L 2014, 'Time lag between peak concentrations of plasma and salivary cortisol following a stressful procedure in dairy cattle', *Acta veterinaria scandinavica*, vol. 56, no. 1, p. 61.

Herzog, HA 2007, 'Gender differences in human–animal interactions: A review', *Anthrozoö*s, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 7-21.

Herzog, HA, Betchart, NS & Pittman, RB 1991, 'Gender, sex role orientation, and attitudes toward animals', *Anthrozoös*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 184-91.

Herzog, HA & Burghardt, GM 1988, 'Attitudes toward animals: Origins and diversity', *Anthrozoös*, vol. 1, no. 4, pp. 214-22.

Heston, A 1971, 'An approach to the sacred cow of India', *Current Anthropology*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 191-209.

Hills, AM 1993, 'The motivational bases of attitudes toward animals', *Society and Animals*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 111-28.

Hirani, N, Solanki, J, Patel, A, Hasanani, J, Joshi, R & Savaliya, F 2006, 'Prevalence of gastrointestinal parasites in cows of Panjarapols in middle Gujarat', *Indian Journal of Field Veterinarians*, vol. 1, pp. 15-8.

Horning, B 2001, 'The assessment of housing conditions of dairy cows in littered loose housing systems using three scoring methods', *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section A-Animal Science*, vol. 51, pp. 42-7.

Hötzel, MJ, Cardoso, CS, Roslindo, A & von Keyserlingk, MAG 2017, 'Citizens' views on the practices of zero-grazing and cow-calf separation in the dairy industry: Does providing information increase acceptability?', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 100, no. 5, pp. 4150-60.

Hsieh, FY, Bloch, DA & Larsen, MD 1998, 'A simple method of sample size calculation for linear and logistic regression', *Statistics in Medicine*, vol. 17, no. 14, pp. 1623-34.

Hughes, J 2001, 'A system for assessing cow cleanliness', In Practice, vol. 23, no. 9, pp. 517-24.

Hulsen, J 2005, *Cow signals: A practical guide for dairy farm management*, Roodbont Publishers, Zutphen, The Netherlands.

Hurtado, A, Ocejo, M & Oporto, B 2017, 'Salmonella spp. and Listeria monocytogenes shedding in domestic ruminants and characterization of potentially pathogenic strains', *Veterinary Microbiology*, vol. 210, pp. 71-6.

Hutson, GD, Ambrose, TJ, Barnett, JL & Tilbrook, AJ 2000, 'Development of a behavioural test of sensory responsiveness in the growing pig', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 66, no. 3, pp. 187-202.

Huxley, J & Whay, HR 2006a, 'Cow based assessments Part 2: Rising restrictions and injuries associated with the lying surface', *UK Vet Livestock*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 33-8.

Huxley, J & Whay, HR 2006b, 'Welfare: Cow based assessments Part 1: Nutrition, cleanliness and coat condition', *UK Vet Livestock*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 18-24.

Huxley, J & Whay, HR 2006c, 'Welfare: Cow based assessments Part 3: Locomotion scoring, claw overgrowth and injuries associated with farm furniture', *UK Vet Livestock*, vol. 11, no. 5, pp. 51-6.

Huzzey, JM, DeVries, TJ, Valois, P & von Keyserlingk, MAG 2006, 'Stocking density and feed barrier design, affect the feeding and social behavior of dairy cattle', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 89, no. 1, pp. 126-33.

Huzzey, JM, Veira, DM, Weary, DM & von Keyserlingk, MAG 2007, 'Prepartum Behavior and Dry Matter Intake Identify Dairy Cows at Risk for Metritis', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 90, no. 7, pp. 3220-33.

Ministry of Statistics and Programme Implementation 2016, *Elderly in India by India*, viewed 28 July 2019, <u>http://mospi.nic.in/sites/default/files/publication_reports/ElderlyinIndia_2016.pdf</u>.

Ireland-Perry, RL & Stallings, CC 1993, 'Fecal consistency as related to dietary composition in lactating Holstein cows', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 76, no. 4, pp. 1074-82.

Irps, H 1983, 'Results of research projects into flooring preferences of cattle', *Landbauforschung Voelkenrode*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 1-10.

Ito, T 2010, 'Hair follicle is a target of stress hormone and autoimmune reactions', *Journal of Dermatological Science*, vol. 60, no. 2, pp. 67-73.

Ito, T 2013, 'Recent advances in the pathogenesis of autoimmune hair loss disease alopecia areata', *Clinical & Developmental Immunology*, vol. 2013, p. 348546.

Ivemeyer, S, Knierim, U & Waiblinger, S 2011, 'Effect of human-animal relationship and management on udder health in Swiss dairy herds', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 94, no. 12, pp. 5890-902.

Jackson, PG & Cockcroft, PD 2008, *Clinical Examination of Farm animals*, John Wiley & Sons, Somerset, New Jersey, USA.

James, KS 2008, 'Glorifying Malthus: Current debate on 'demographic dividend' in India', *Economic and Political Weekly*, vol. 43, no. 25, pp. 63-9.

James, KS 2011, 'India's demographic change: Opportunities and challenges', *Science*, vol. 333, no. 6042, pp. 576-80.

Jarald, E, Edwin, S, Tiwari, V, Garg, R & Toppo, E 2008, 'Antioxidant and antimicrobial activities of cow urine', *Global Journal of Pharmacology*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 20-2.

Jegatheesan, B 2015, 'Chapter 4 - Influence of Cultural and Religious Factors on Attitudes toward Animals', in AH Fine (ed.), *Handbook on Animal-Assisted Therapy* (Fourth Edition), Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 37-41.

Jensen, KK & Sørensen, JT 1998, 'The idea of "ethical accounting" for a livestock farm', *Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 85-100.

Johnsen, PF, Johannesson, T & Sandoe, P 2001, 'Assessment of farm animal welfare at herd level: Many goals, many methods', *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section A-Animal Science*, vol. 51, pp. 26-33.

Johnson, DC 1997, 'Formal education vs. religious belief: Soliciting new evidence with multinomial logit modeling', *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 231-46.

Johnson, H, Li, R, Manalu, W, Spencer-Johnson, K, Becker, BA, Collier, R & Baile, C 1991, 'Effects of somatotropin on milk yield and physiological responses during summer farm and hot laboratory conditions', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 74, no. 4, pp. 1250-62.

Jones, R 2007, 'Sacred cows and thumping drums: claiming territory as 'zones of tradition in British India', *Area*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 55-65.
Jonsson, NN 2006, 'The productivity effects of cattle tick (*Boophilus microplus*) infestation on cattle, with particular reference to Bos indicus cattle and their crosses', *Veterinary Parasitology*, vol. 137, no. 1, pp. 1-10.

Joshi, S & Gokhale, S 2006, 'Status of mastitis as an emerging disease in improved and periurban dairy farms in India', *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, vol. 1081, no. 1, pp. 74-83.

Juarez, S, Robinson, P, DePeters, E & Price, E 2003, 'Impact of lameness on behavior and productivity of lactating Holstein cows', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 83, no. 1, pp. 1-14.

Jurkovich, V, Kézér, FL, Ruff, F, Bakony, M, Kulcsár, M & Kovács, L 2017, 'Heart rate, heart rate variability, faecal glucocorticoid metabolites and avoidance response of dairy cows before and after changeover to an automatic milking system', *Acta Veterinaria Hungarica*, vol. 65, no. 2, pp. 301-13.

Kachhawaha, S, Singh, D, Mathur, BK & Patil, NV 2015, 'Gaushalas of Rajasthan State', *Indian Farming*, vol. 656, pp. 45-7.

Kamble, B, Panesar, S, Das, A, Roy, N, Yadav, G, Khokhar, A & Kishore, J 2016, 'Knowledge, attitude and practices related to animal bites among the residents of an urbanized village in South Delhi', *International Journal of Research and Development in Pharmacy and Life Sciences*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 2164-8.

Kamboj, ML, Prasad, S, Oberoi, PS, Manimaran, A, Lathwal, SS & Gupta, K 2014, *National Code* of *Practices for Management of Dairy Animals in India*, National Dairy Research Institute, Karnal, India.

Kandel, M, Regmi, S, Thakur, B, Acharya, R & Kaphle, K 2018, 'Foot-and-mouth disease outbreak at Bageshwori Gaushala, Chitwan, Nepal', *Journal of Agricultural Science and Technology A*, vol. 8, pp. 406-11.

Kara, NK, Galic, A & Koyuncu, M 2011, 'Effects of stall type and bedding materials on lameness and hygiene score and effect of lameness on some reproductive problems in dairy cattle', *Journal of Applied Animal Research*, vol. 39, no. 4, pp. 334-8.

Kataria, A & Kataria, N 2009, 'Diagnosis and control of outbreaks of acidosis in cattle', *The Indian cow'*, *The Scientific and Economic Journal*, vol. 6, no. 21, pp. 60-3.

Kauppinen, T, Vainio, A, Valros, A, Rita, H & Vesala, KM 2010, 'Improving animal welfare: Qualitative and quantitative methodology in the study of farmers' attitudes', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 523-36.

Kauppinen, T, Valros, A & Vesala, KM 2013, 'Attitudes of dairy farmers toward cow welfare in relation to housing, management and productivity', *Anthrozoös*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 405-20.

Kaur, P, Filia, G, Singh, SV, Patil, PK, Ravi Kumar, GV & Sandhu, KS 2011, 'Molecular epidemiology of Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis: IS900 PCR identification and IS1311 polymorphism analysis from ruminants in the Punjab region of India', *Comparative Immunology, Microbiology & Infectious Diseases*, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 163-9.

Keeling, L, Evans, A, Forkman, B & Kjaernes, U 2013, 'Welfare Quality[®] principles and criteria', in H Blokhuis, M Miele, I Vessier, B Jones (eds), *Improving farm animal welfare*, Wageningen Academic Publishers, Wageningen, pp. 91-114.

Kekuda, TRP, Nishanth, BC, Kumar, SVP, Kamal, D, Sandeep, M & Megharaj, HK 2010, 'Cow urine concentrate: a potent agent with antimicrobial and anthelmintic activity', *Journal of Pharmacy Research*, vol. 3, no. 5, pp. 1025-7.

Kellert, SR, Berry, JK, Fish, U & Service, W 1980, *Knowledge, affection and basic attitudes toward animals in American society*, United States Department of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service.

Kelly, PC, More, SJ, Blake, M & Hanlon, AJ 2011, 'Identification of key performance indicators for on-farm animal welfare incidents: possible tools for early warning and prevention', *Irish Veterinary Journal*, vol. 64, no. 1, p. 13.

Kemmerer, L 2012, Animals and world religions, Oxford University Press, New York, US.

Kendall, HA, Lobao, LM & Sharp, JS 2006, 'Public concern with animal well-being: Place, social structural location, and individual experience', *Rural Sociology*, vol. 71, no. 3, pp. 399-428.

Kester, E, Holzhauer, M & Frankena, K 2014, 'A descriptive review of the prevalence and risk factors of hock lesions in dairy cows', *The Veterinary Journal*, vol. 202, no. 2, pp. 222-8.

Kielland, C, Boe, KE, Zanella, AJ & Osteras, O 2010a, 'Risk factors for skin lesions on the necks of Norwegian dairy cows', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 93, no. 9, pp. 3979-89.

Kielland, C, Ruud, LE, Zanella, AJ & Østerås, O 2009, 'Prevalence and risk factors for skin lesions on legs of dairy cattle housed in freestalls in Norway', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 92, no. 11, pp. 5487-96.

Kielland, C, Skjerve, E, Østerås, O & Zanella, AJ 2010b, 'Dairy farmer attitudes and empathy toward animals are associated with animal welfare indicators', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 93, no. 7, pp. 2998-3006.

King, DA, Schuehle Pfeiffer, CE, Randel, RD, Welsh, TH, Jr., Oliphint, RA, Baird, BE, Curley, KO, Jr., Vann, RC, Hale, DS & Savell, JW 2006, 'Influence of animal temperament and stress responsiveness on the carcass quality and beef tenderness of feedlot cattle', *Meat Science*, vol. 74, no. 3, pp. 546-56.

Kirkwood, J & Hubrecht, R 2001, 'Animal consciousness, cognition and welfare', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 5-17.

Kirschbaum, C, Tietze, A, Skoluda, N & Dettenborn, L 2009, 'Hair as a retrospective calendar of cortisol production—increased cortisol incorporation into hair in the third trimester of pregnancy', *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 32-7.

Kjærnes, U & Miele, M 2007, 'Attitudes of consumers, retailers and producers to farm animal welfare', in Unni Kjærnes, Mara Miele and Joek Roex (eds), *Welfare quality reports no. 2*, Cardiff University, School of City and Regional Planning, Cardiff.

Klaas, IC, Rousing, T, Fossing, C, Hindhede, J & Sorensen, J 2003, 'Is lameness a welfare problem in dairy farms with automatic milking systems?', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 599-604.

Kling-Eveillard, F 2007, 'Attitudes of French pig farmers towards animal welfare', *British Food Journal*, vol. 109, no. 11, pp. 859-69.

Kloosterman, P 1997, 'Claw care', in PR Greenough (ed), *Lameness in Cattle*, WB Saunders Co. Philadelphia, PA, p. 123.

Knierim, U, Irrgang, N & Roth, BA 2015, 'To be or not to be horned - Consequences in cattle', *Livestock Science*, vol. 179, pp. 29-37.

Knierim, U & Winckler, C 2009, 'On-farm welfare assessment in cattle: validity, reliability and feasibility issues and future perspectives with special regard to the Welfare Quality[®] approach', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 451-8.

Koren, L, Mokady, O, Karaskov, T, Klein, J, Koren, G & Geffen, E 2002, 'A novel method using hair for determining hormonal levels in wildlife', *Animal Behaviour*, vol. 63, no. 2, pp. 403-6.

Korom, FJ 2000, 'Holy cow! The apotheosis of Zebu, or why the cow is sacred in Hinduism', *Asian Folklore Studies*, vol. 59, no. 2, pp. 181-203.

Kothari, BL & Mishra, N 2002, *Gaushalas, gosadans, pinjarapoles, pasture land and fodder development*, Ministry of Agriculture, Government of India, New Delhi.

Kotni, VVDP 2012, 'Prospects and problems of Indian rural markets', *ZENITH International Journal of Business Economics & Management Research*, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 200-13.

Krawczel, PD, Hill, CT, Dann, HM & Grant, RJ 2008, 'Effect of stocking density on indices of cow comfort', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 91, no. 5, pp. 1903-7.

Krug, C, Haskell, MJ, Nunes, T & Stilwell, G 2015, 'Creating a model to detect dairy cattle farms with poor welfare using a national database', *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, vol. 122, no. 3, pp. 280-6.

Kruse, CR 1999, 'Gender, views of nature, and support for animal rights', *Society and Animals*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 179-98.

Kumar, H, Sharma, D, Singh, J & Sandhu, K 2005, 'A study on the epidemiology of brucellosis in Punjab (India) using Survey Toolbox', *Revue Scientifique et Technique - Office International des Epizooties*, vol. 24, pp. 879-85.

Kumar, M 2008, 'Therapeutic Studies on Ceftiofur Sodium and Antioxidants in Subclinical Mastitis in Cows', MVSc thesis, Lala Lajpat Rai University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Hisar, India.

Kumar, PP & Sangwan, AK 2010, 'Comparative prevalence of subclinical bovine anaplasmosis under different cattle management systems in Haryana', *Haryana Veterinarian*, vol. 49, pp. 1-5.

Kumar, R, Singh, S, Malik, P & Prakash, B 2009, 'Improvement and conservation of Hariana cows under Gaushala managemental system', *Indian Journal of Animal Sciences*, vol. 79, no. 7, pp. 732-4.

Kumar, V, Reddy, VP, Kokkiligadda, A, Shivaji, S & Umapathy, G 2014, 'Non-invasive assessment of reproductive status and stress in captive Asian elephants in three south Indian zoos', *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, vol. 201, pp. 37-44.

Kumari Bhat, A & Dhruvarajan, R 2001, 'Ageing in India: Drifting intergenerational relations, challenges and options', *Ageing and Society*, vol. 21, no. 5, pp. 621-40.

Lanier, JL, Grandin, T, Green, RD, Avery, D & McGee, K 2000, 'The relationship between reaction to sudden, intermittent movements and sounds and temperament', *Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 78, no. 6, pp. 1467-74.

Lean, IJ 2001, 'Association between feeding perennial ryegrass (Lolium perenne cultivar Grasslands Impact) containing high concentrations of ergovaline, and health and productivity in a herd of lactating dairy cows', *Australian Veterinary Journal*, vol. 79, no. 4, pp. 262-4.

Leaver, JD 1999, 'Dairy cattle', in R Ewbank, F Kim-Madslien & CB Hart (eds), *Management and welfare of farm animals - The UFAW Handbook*, 4th edn, Universities Federation for Animal Welfare (UFAW), Wheathampstead, UK, pp. 495-509.

Leeb, C, Main, D, Whay, H & Webster, A 2004, 'Bristol welfare assurance programme-Cattle assessment', University of Bristol, UK, viewed 15 February 2016, http://www.vetschool.bris.ac.uk.

Lefcourt, AM & Schmidtmann, ET 1989, 'Body temperature of dry cows on pasture: environmental and behavioral effects', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 72, no. 11, pp. 3040-9.

Lensink, B, Fernandez, X, Cozzi, G, Florand, L & Veissier, I 2001, 'The influence of farmers' behavior on calves' reactions to transport and quality of veal meat', *Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 79, no. 3, pp. 642-52.

Leonard, FC, O'Connell, J & O'Farrell, K 1994, 'Effect of different housing conditions on behaviour and foot lesions in Friesian heifers', *The Veterinary Record*, vol. 134, no. 19, pp. 490-4.

Lievaart, JJ & Noordhuizen, JPTM 2011, 'Ranking experts' preferences regarding measures and methods of assessment of welfare in dairy herds using Adaptive Conjoint Analysis', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 94, no. 7, pp. 3420-7.

Lifshin, U, Greenberg, J & Sullivan, D 2018, 'Religiosity and support for killing animals: Evidence of a curvilinear relationship', *Anthrozoö*s, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 695-709.

Linke, K, Rückerl, I, Brugger, K, Karpiskova, R, Walland, J, Muri-Klinger, S, Tichy, A, Wagner, M & Stessl, B 2014, 'Reservoirs of Listeria species in three environmental ecosystems', *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 80, no. 18, pp. 5583-92.

Linstone, HA & Turoff, M 1975, *The Delphi method: Techniques and applications*, 1st edn, Addison-Wesley Publishing, Boston, Massachusetts.

Lischer, CJ, Ossent, P, Räber, M & Geyer, H 2002, 'Suspensory structures and supporting tissues of the third phalanx of cows and their relevance to the development of typical sole ulcers (Rusterholz ulcers)', *Veterinary Record*, vol. 151, no. 23, p. 694.

Llamas-Lamas, G & Combs, D 1991, 'Effect of forage to concentrate ratio and intake level on utilization of early vegetative alfalfa silage by dairy cows', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 74, no. 2, pp. 526-36.

Loberg, J, Telezhenko, E, Bergsten, C & Lidfors, L 2004, 'Behaviour and claw health in tied dairy cows with varying access to exercise in an outdoor paddock', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 89, no. 1, pp. 1-16.

Lodrick, DO 1981, *Sacred cows, sacred places: Origins and survivals of animal homes in India*, University of California Press Berkeley.

Lodrick, DO 2005, 'Symbol and sustenance: Cattle in South Asian culture', *Dialectical Anthropology*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 61-84.

Loftus, RT, MacHugh, DE, Bradley, DG, Sharp, PM & Cunningham, P 1994, 'Evidence for two independent domestications of cattle', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA, 29 March*, vol. 91, pp. 2757-61.

Lorentzon, S 2005, 'Hygiene Studies in Cubicle Cowsheds with different Floor Systems in the Passages', MSc thesis, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden.

Lourdusamy, S 1983, 'Book Review of Sacred cows, sacred places - origins and survivals of animal homes in India', *Anthropos*, vol. 78, no.5/6, pp. 297-8.

Lürzel, S, Barth, K, Windschnurer, I, Futschik, A & Waiblinger, S 2018, 'The influence of gentle interactions with an experimenter during milking on dairy cows' avoidance distance and milk yield, flow and composition', *Animal*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 340-9.

Macbeth, BJ, Cattet, MR, Obbard, ME, Middel, K & Janz, DM 2012, 'Evaluation of hair cortisol concentration as a biomarker of long-term stress in free-ranging polar bears', *Wildlife Society Bulletin*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 747-58.

Main, D, Kent, J, Wemelsfelder, F, Ofner, E & Tuyttens, F 2003, 'Applications for methods of onfarm welfare assessment', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 523-8.

Main, D, Mullan, S, Atkinson, C, Bond, A, Cooper, M, Fraser, A & Browne, W 2012a, 'Welfare outcomes assessment in laying hen farm assurance schemes', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 389-96.

Main, D, Rogerson, I, Crawley, M, Avizenius, J, Fraser, A & Mullan, S 2012b, 'Welfare outcomes assessment in dairy farm assurance schemes', *Cattle Practice*, vol. 20, pp. 142-5.

Main, D, Webster, A & Green, L 2001, 'Animal welfare assessment in farm assurance schemes', *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section A-Animal Science*, vol. 51, no. S30, pp. 108-13.

Main, DCJ, Mullan, S, Atkinson, C, Cooper, M, Wrathall, JHM & Blokhuis, HJ 2014, 'Best practice framework for animal welfare certification schemes', *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, vol. 37, no. 2, pp. 127-36.

Main, DCJ, Whay, HR, Leeb, C & Webster, AJF 2007, 'Formal animal-based welfare assessment in UK certification schemes', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 233-6.

Mandel, R, Whay, HR, Klement, E & Nicol, CJ 2016, 'Invited review: Environmental enrichment of dairy cows and calves in indoor housing', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 99, no. 3, pp. 1695-715.

Mandi, K, Subash, S, Singh, NP & Koloi, S 2018, 'An analysis of constraints faced by the Gaushalas in Karnataka state', *Journal of Entomology and Zoology Studies*, vol. 6, no. 5, pp. 787-91.

Manfreda, KL, Bosnjak, M, Berzelak, J, Haas, I & Vehovar, V 2008, 'Web surveys versus other survey modes: A meta-analysis comparing response rates', *International Journal of Market Research*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 79-104.

Manning, L, Chadd, S & Baines, R 2007, 'Key health and welfare indicators for broiler production', *World's Poultry Science Journal*, vol. 63, no. 01, pp. 46-62.

Manoharan, T 2013, *Expert system for cattle and buffalo*, Directorate of Extension Education, Tamil Nadu Agricultural University, Coimbatore, Tamil Nadu., viewed 5th September 2018 2018, http://www.agritech.tnau.ac.in/expert_system/cattlebuffalo/aboutus.html.

Manson, Fa & Leaver, J 1988, 'The influence of concentrate amount on locomotion and clinical lameness in dairy cattle', *Animal Production*, vol. 47, no. 02, pp. 185-90.

Marsden, PV & Wright, JD 2010, *Handbook of Survey Research*, 2nd edn, Emerald Group Publishing Limited, Bingley, UK.

Mason, G & Mendl, M 1993, 'Why is there no simple way of measuring animal welfare?' *Animal Welfare*, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 301-19.

Maton, A, Daelemans, J & Lambrecht, J 2012, '*Housing of animals: construction and equipment of animal houses*', vol. 6, Developments in Agricultural Engineering, Elsevier Science Publishers, Amsterdam.

Matthews, LR 2008, 'Methodologies by which to study and evaluate welfare issues facing livestock systems of production', *Animal Production Science*, vol. 48, no. 7, pp. 1014-21.

Mazurek, M, McGee, M, Minchin, W, Crowe, MA & Earley, B 2011, 'Is the avoidance distance test for the assessment of animals' responsiveness to humans influenced by either the dominant or flightiest animal in the group?', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 132, no. 3–4, pp. 107-13.

McDaniel, B, Verbeek, B, Wilk, J, Everett, R & Keown, J 1984, 'Relationships between hoof measures, stayabilities, reproduction and changes in milk yield from first to later lactations', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 67, pp. 198-9.

McDowell, RE 1972, *Improvement of livestock production in warm climates*, W.H. Freeman and Company, San Francisco.

McGrath, N, Walker, J, Nilsson, D & Phillips, C 2013, 'Public attitudes towards grief in animals', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 33-47.

Meisenberg, G, Rindermann, H, Patel, H & Woodley, MA 2012, 'Is it smart to believe in God? The relationship of religiosity with education and intelligence', *Temas em Psicologia*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 101-21.

Mellor, D 2012, 'Animal emotions, behaviour and the promotion of positive welfare states', *New Zealand Veterinary Journal*, vol. 60, no. 1, pp. 1-8.

Mellor, D, Patterson-Kane, E & Stafford, KJ 2009, *The Sciences of Animal Welfare, UFAW Animal Welfare Series*, John Wiley & Sons, Oxford, UK.

Mellor, DJ & Beausoleil, NJ 2015, 'Extending the 'Five Domains' model for animal welfare assessment to incorporate positive welfare states', *Animal We*lfare, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 241-53.

Mellor, DJ & Reid, CSW 1994, 'Concepts of animal well-being and predicting the impact of procedures on experimental animals', in G Osmond (ed), *Australian and New Zealand Council for the Care of Animals in Research and Teaching*, *Improving the Well-being of Animals in the Research Environment*, South Australia, pp. 3-18.

Mench, JA, Sumner, DA & Rosen-Molina, JT 2011, 'Sustainability of egg production in the United States—The policy and market context', *Poultry Science*, vol. 90, no. 1, pp. 229-40.

Mendl, M, Burman, OH, Parker, RM & Paul, ES 2009, 'Cognitive bias as an indicator of animal emotion and welfare: emerging evidence and underlying mechanisms', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 118, no. 3, pp. 161-81.

Mendl, M, Burman, OH & Paul, ES 2010, 'An integrative and functional framework for the study of animal emotion and mood', *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, vol. 277, no. 1696, pp. 2895-904.

Menke, C, Waiblinger, S, Fölsch, D & Wiepkema, P 1999, 'Social behaviour and injuries of horned cows in loose housing systems', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 243-58.

Metz, J & Bracke, M 2003, 'Assessment of the impact of locomotion on animal welfare', *Proceedings of the 54th Annual Meeting of the European Association for Animal Production Rome*, Italy, 31 August – 3 September, European Association of Animal Production, pp. 31-8.

Miller, R, Kuhn, M, Norman, H & Wright, J 2008, 'Death losses for lactating cows in herds enrolled in dairy herd improvement test plans', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 91, no. 9, pp. 3710-5.

Millman, ST, Johnson, AK, O'Connor, AM & Zanella, AJ 2009, 'Animal welfare and epidemiology—across species, across disciplines, and across borders', *Journal of Applied Animal Welfare Science*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 83-7.

Mir, ZR, Noor, A, Habib, B & Veeraswami, GG 2015, 'Attitudes of local people toward wildlife conservation: A case study from the Kashmir Valley', *Mountain Research and Development*, vol. 35, no. 4, pp. 392-400, 9.

Mishra, AK 2001, 'Factors affecting returns to labor and management on U.S. dairy farms', *Agricultural Finance Review*, vol. 61, no. 2, pp. 123-40.

Mohanty, I, Senapati, MR, Jena, D & Palai, S 2014, 'Diversified uses of cow urine', *International Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 20-2.

Moran, J 2012, *Managing high grade dairy cows in the tropics*, CSIRO Publishing, Collingwood, Victoria.

Morse, D 1995, 'Environmental considerations of livestock producers', *Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 73, no. 9, pp. 2733-40.

Moya, D, Schwartzkopf-Genswein, K & Veira, D 2013, 'Standardization of a non-invasive methodology to measure cortisol in hair of beef cattle', *Livestock Science*, vol. 158, no. 1, pp. 138-44.

Mullan, S, Browne, WJ, Edwards, SA, Butterworth, A, Whay, HR & Main, DC 2009, 'The effect of sampling strategy on the estimated prevalence of welfare outcome measures on finishing pig farms', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 119, no. 1, pp. 39-48.

Mullatti, L 1995, 'Families in India: Beliefs and realities', *Journal of Comparative Family Studies*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 11-25.

Mülleder, C, Troxler, J, Laaha, G & Waiblinger, S 2007, 'Can environmental variables replace some animal-based parameters in welfare assessment of dairy cows?', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 153-6.

Mülleder, C, Troxler, J & Waiblinger, S 2003, 'Methodological aspects for the assessment of social behaviour and avoidance distance on dairy farms', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 579-84.

Mulvany, P 1981, '6.5 Dairy cow condition scoring', *BSAP Occasional Publication*, vol. 4, pp. 349-53.

Munksgaard, L, De Passillé, AM, Rushen, J, Thodberg, K & Jensen, MB 1997, 'Discrimination of people by dairy cows based on handling', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 80, no. 6, pp. 1106-12.

Munksgaard, L, DePassillé, AM, Rushen, J, Herskin, MS & Kristensen, AM 2001, 'Dairy cows' fear of people: Social learning, milk yield and behaviour at milking', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 73, no. 1, pp. 15-26.

Munoz, M, Bennett, G, Ahlström, C, Griffiths, H, Schukken, Y & Zadoks, R 2008, 'Cleanliness scores as indicator of Klebsiella exposure in dairy cows', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 91, no. 10, pp. 3908-16.

Murray, L 2018, 'To protect and improve: developing the "Sacred Cow" in India', *Anthropology Now*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 13-24.

Nadal, D 2017, 'Cows caught in the crossfire', Religions of South Asia, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 83-106.

Nair, J 1986, 'Many faces of drought', Economic and Political Weekly, vol. 21, no. 18, pp. 767-9.

Napolitano, F, Grasso, F, Bordi, A, Tripaldi, C, Saltalamacchia, F, Pacelli, C & De Rosa, G 2005, 'On-farm welfare assessment in dairy cattle and buffaloes: evaluation of some animal-based parameters', *Italian Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 223-31.

Napolitano, F, Knierim, U, Grasso, F & De Rosa, G 2009, 'Positive indicators of cattle welfare and their applicability to on-farm protocols', *Italian Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 8, pp. 355-65.

Narayanan, Y 2018, 'Cow protection as 'Casteised Speciesism': Sacralisation, commercialisation and politicisation', *South Asia: Journal of South Asian Studies*, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 331-51.

Narayanan, Y 2019a, ' "Cow I "s a mother, mothers can do anything for their children!" Gaushalas as landscapes of Anthropatriarchy and Hindu patriarchy', *Hypatia*, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 195-221.

Narayanan, Y 2019b, 'Jugaad and informality as drivers of India's cow slaughter economy', *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, vol. 51, no. 7, pp. 1516-35.

Nash, CGR, Kelton, DF, DeVries, TJ, Vasseur, E, Coe, J, Heyerhoff, JCZ, Bouffard, V, Pellerin, D, Rushen, J, de Passillé, AM & Haley, DB 2016, 'Prevalence of and risk factors for hock and knee injuries on dairy cows in tiestall housing in Canada', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 99, no. 8, pp. 6494-506.

Newberry, RC 1995, 'Environmental enrichment: Increasing the biological relevance of captive environments', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 229-43.

Norberg, P 2012, 'Effects of rubber alley flooring on cow locomotion and welfare', MSc thesis, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden.

Norring, M, Manninen, E, de Passillé, AM, Rushen, J & Saloniemi, H 2010, 'Preferences of dairy cows for three stall surface materials with small amounts of bedding', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 93, no. 1, pp. 70-4.

Novak, MA, Hamel, AF, Coleman, K, Lutz, CK, Worlein, J, Menard, M, Ryan, A, Rosenberg, K & Meyer, JS 2014, 'Hair loss and hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenocortical axis activity in captive rhesus

macaques (Macaca mulatta)', *Journal of the American Association for Laboratory Animal Science*, vol. 53, no. 3, pp. 261-6.

Nyman, A-K, Waller, KP, Bennedsgaard, TW, Larsen, T & Emanuelson, U 2014, 'Associations of udder-health indicators with cow factors and with intramammary infection in dairy cows', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 97, no. 9, pp. 5459-73.

O'Connor, CE & Bayvel, ACD 2012, 'Challenges to implementing animal welfare standards in New Zealand', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 397-401.

O Callaghan, K, Cripps, P, Downham, D & Murray, R 2003, 'Subjective and objective assessment of pain and discomfort due to lameness in dairy cattle', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 605-10.

O'Driscoll, KKM, Schutz, MM, Lossie, AC & Eicher, SD 2009, 'The effect of floor surface on dairy cow immune function and locomotion score1', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 92, no. 9, pp. 4249-61.

Oetzel, GR 2004, 'Monitoring and testing dairy herds for metabolic disease', *Veterinary Clinics of North America: Food Animal Practice*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 651-74.

Olmos, G, Mee, J, Hanlon, A, Patton, J, Murphy, J & Boyle, L 2009, 'Peripartum health and welfare of Holstein-Friesian cows in a confinement-TMR system compared to a pasture-based system', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 467-76.

Olver, A 1942, 'Animal husbandry in India', *Journal of the Royal Society of Arts*, vol. 90, no. 4614, pp. 433-51.

Ongley, ED, Xiaolan, Z & Tao, Y 2010, 'Current status of agricultural and rural non-point source Pollution assessment in China', *Environmental Pollution*, vol. 158, no. 5, pp. 1159-68.

Otis, JD, Keane, TM & Kerns, RD 2003, 'An examination of the relationship between chronic pain and post-traumatic stress disorder', *Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development*, vol. 40, no. 5, pp. 397-405.

Otten, N, Rousing, T, Houe, H, Thomsen, PT & Sørensen, JT 2016, 'Comparison of animal welfare indices in dairy herds based on different sources of data', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 207-15.

Overton, M, Moore, D & Sischo, W 2003, 'Comparison of commonly used indices to evaluate dairy cattle lying behavior', *Proceedings of the Fifth International Dairy Housing Conference, Fort Worth, Texas, USA, 29-31 January,* American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers, Michigan, p. 125.

Pahangchopi, D, Singh, RV, Singh, SV, Das, P, Sharma, D, Sardana, T, Kumar, N, Chaubey, KK & Gupta, S 2014, 'Evaluation of cattleand Indian Bisontype antigens of Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis for diagnosis of Bovine Johne's Disease using 'indigenous ELISA' and AGPT', *Indian Journal of Experimental Biology*, vol. 52, no. 12, pp. 1182-5.

Panda, A & Kumar, A 2006, 'Environmental pollution caused by stray animals in Palampur City, Himachal Pradesh', *Compendium of the 5th Annual Conference of the Indian Association of Veterinary Public Health Specialists, Palampur, 12-14 October*, Indian Association of Veterinary Public Health Specialists, pp. 28-9.

Pandey, K 2011, 'Socio-economic status of tribal women: A study of a transhumant Gaddi population of Bharmour, Himachal Pradesh, India', *International Journal of Sociology and Anthropology*, vol. 3, no. 6, p. 189.

Park, K 2011, *Park's Textbook of Preventive and Social Medicine*, Banarsidas Bhanot Publishers, Jabalpur, Madhya Pradesh, India.

Patbandha, T, Swain, D, Pathak, R, Mohapatra, S & Sahoo, S 2016, 'Photoperiodic manipulation for augumentation of dairy animal performance', *International Journal of Science, Environment and Technology*, vol. 5, no. 6, pp. 4594-601.

Patel, NB, Saiyed, LH, Rao, TKS, Ranjeetsingh, R, Modi, RJ & Sabapara, GP 2013, 'Status and constraints of dairying in the tribal households of Narmada valley of Gujarat-India', *Animal Science Reporter*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 83-9.

Patel, SJ, Patel, MD, Patel, JH, Patel, AS & Gelani, RN 2016, 'Role of women gender in livestock sector: A review', *Journal of Livestock Science*, vol. 7, pp. 92-6.

Patil, AP, Gawande, SH, Nande, MP & Gibade, MR 2009, 'Assessment of knowledge level of dairy farmers in Nagpur district and the co-relation between socio-economic variables with their training needs', *Veterinary World*, vol. 2, no. 5, pp. 199-201.

Pattnaik, B, Subramaniam, S, Sanyal, A, Mohapatra, JK, Dash, BB, Ranjan, R & Rout, M 2012, 'Foot-and-mouth disease: global status and future road map for control and prevention in India', *Agricultural Research*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 132-47.

Penev, T, Manolov, Z, Borissov, I, Dimova, V, Miteva, T, Mitev, Y & Kirov, V 2013, 'Investigations on friction coefficients of cow hooves with different dairy farm floor types', *Agricultural Science and Technology*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 305-8.

Peric, T, Comin, A, Corazzin, M, Montillo, M, Cappa, A, Campanile, G & Prandi, A 2013, 'Hair cortisol concentrations in Holstein-Friesian and crossbreed F1 heifers', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 96, no. 5, pp. 3023-7.

Peter, RJ, Van den Bossche, P, Penzhorn, BL & Sharp, B 2005, 'Tick, fly, and mosquito control— Lessons from the past, solutions for the future', *Veterinary Parasitology*, vol. 132, no. 3, pp. 205-15.

Peterse, D 1986, 'Claw measurements as parameters for claw quality in dairy cattle', *Proceedings of the Fifth International Symposium on Disorders of Ruminant Digit*, *Dublin, Ireland, 24-25 August*, pp. 87-91.

Philipot, JM, Pluvinage, P, Cimarosti, I, Sulpice, P & Bugnard, F 1994, 'Risk factors of dairy cow lameness associated with housing conditions', *Veterinary Research*, vol. 25, no. 2-3, pp. 244-8.

Phillips, C 2002, 'The welfare of dairy cows', in C Phillips, *Cattle Behaviour and Welfare*, 2nd edn, Blackwell Science Ltd, Oxford, UK, pp. 19-20.

Phillips, C, Izmirli, S, Aldavood, J, Alonso, M, Choe, B, Hanlon, A, Handziska, A, Illmann, G, Keeling, L, Kennedy, M, Lee, G, Lund, V, Mejdell, C, Pelagic, V & Rehn, T 2011, 'An international comparison of female and male students' attitudes to the use of animals', *Animals*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 7-26.

Phillips, C & Morris, I 2000, 'The locomotion of dairy cows on concrete floors that are dry, wet, or covered with a slurry of excreta', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 83, no. 8, pp. 1767-72.

Phillips, C & Morris, I 2001, 'The locomotion of dairy cows on floor surfaces with different frictional properties', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 84, no. 3, pp. 623-8.

Phillips, CJC 1990, 'Adverse effects on reproductive performance and lameness of feeding grazing dairy cows partially on silage indoors', *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, vol. 115, no. 2, pp. 253-8.

Phillips, CJC 2009, 'Housing, handling and the environment for cattle', in CJC Phillips (ed.), *Principles of Cattle Production*, CABI, Wallingford, UK, pp. 95-128.

Phillips, CJC 2010, Principles of Cattle Production 2nd edn, CABI, Cambridge, MA, USA.

Phillips, CJC 2018, Principles of Cattle Production, 3rd edn, CABI, Cambridge, MA, USA.

Phillips, CJC, Beerda, B, Knierim, U, Waiblinger, S, Lidfors, L, Krohn, CC, Canali, E, Valk, H, Veissier, I & Hopster, H 2013, 'A review of the impact of housing on dairy cow behaviour, health and welfare', in A Aland & T Banhazi (eds), *Livestock Housing; Modern management to ensure optimal health and welfare of farm animals*, Wageningen Academic Publishers, Wageningen, The Netherlands, pp. 221-32.

Phillips, CJC, Chiy, PC, Bucktrout, MJ, Collins, SM, Gasson, CJ, Jenkins, AC & Paranhos da Costa, MJR 2000, 'Frictional properties of cattle hooves and their conformation after trimming', *Veterinary Record*, vol. 146, no. 21, pp. 607-9.

Phillips, CJC, Coe, R, Colgan, M, Duffus, C, Ingoldby, L, Pond, M & Postlethwaite, S 1998, 'Effect of hoof characteristics on the propensity of cattle to slip', *Veterinary Record*, vol. 142, no. 10, p. 242.

Phillips, CJC, Izmirli, S, Aldavood, SJ, Alonso, M, Choe, BI, Hanlon, A, Handziska, A, Illmann, G, Keeling, L, Kennedy, M, Lee, GH, Lund, V, Mejdell, C, Pelagic, VR & Rehn, T 2012, 'Students' attitudes to animal welfare and rights in Europe and Asia', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 87-100.

Phillips, CJC & McCulloch, S 2005, 'Student attitudes on animal sentience and use of animals in society', *Journal of Biological Education*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 17-24.

Platz, S, Ahrens, F, Bahrs, E, Nüske, S & Erhard, MH 2007, 'Association between floor type and behaviour, skin lesions, and claw dimensions in group-housed fattening bulls', *Preventive Veterinary Med*icine, vol. 80, no. 2, pp. 209-21.

Plesch, G, Broerkens, N, Laister, S, Winckler, C & Knierim, U 2010, 'Reliability and feasibility of selected measures concerning resting behaviour for the on-farm welfare assessment in dairy cows', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 126, no. 1, pp. 19-26.

Popescu, S, Borda, C, Sandru, CD, Stefan, R & Lazar, E 2010, 'The welfare assessment of tied dairy cows in 52 small farms in North-Eastern Transylvania using animal-based measurements', *Slovenian Veterinary Research*, vol. 47, no. 3, pp. 77-82.

Poria, Y, Butler, R & Airey, D 2003, 'Tourism, religion and religiosity: A holy mess', *Current Issues in Tourism*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 340-63.

Potterton, S, Green, M, Harris, J, Millar, K, Whay, H & Huxley, J 2011a, 'Risk factors associated with hair loss, ulceration, and swelling at the hock in freestall-housed UK dairy herds', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 94, no. 6, pp. 2952-63.

Potterton, S, Green, M, Millar, K, Brignell, C, Harris, J, Whay, H & Huxley, J 2011b, 'Prevalence and characterisation of, and producers' attitudes towards, hock lesions in UK dairy cattle', *The Veterinary Record*, vol. 169, no. 24.

Powell, DM & Bullock, EVW 2014, 'Evaluation of Factors Affecting Emotional Responses in Zoo Visitors and the Impact of Emotion on Conservation Mindedness', *Anthrozoös*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 389-405.

Prasad, S, Ramachandran, N & Raju, S 2004, 'Mortality Patterns in Dairy Animals under Organized Herd Management Conditions at Karnal India', *Tropical Animal Health and Production*, vol. 36, no. 7, pp. 645-54.

Probst, J, Neff, AS, Hillmann, E, Kreuzer, M, Koch-Mathis, M & Leiber, F 2014, 'Relationship between stress-related exsanguination blood variables, vocalisation, and stressors imposed on cattle between lairage and stunning box under conventional abattoir conditions', *Livestock Science*, vol. 164, pp. 154-8.

Purcell, D, Arave, CW & Walters, JL 1988, 'Relationship of three measures of behavior to milk production', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 307-13.

Räber, M, Lischer, CJ, Geyer, H & Ossent, P 2004, 'The bovine digital cushion – a descriptive anatomical study', *The Veterinary Journal*, vol. 167, no. 3, pp. 258-64.

Rajapaksha, E & Tucker, CB 2014, 'How do cattle respond to sloped floors? An investigation using behavior and electromyograms', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 97, no. 5, pp. 2808-15.

Ramanjeneya, S, Sahoo, SC, Pathak, R, Kumar, M, Vergis, J, Malik, SVS, Barbuddhe, SB & Rawool, DB 2019, 'Virulence potential, biofilm formation, and antibiotic susceptibility of Listeria monocytogenes isolated from cattle housed in a particular Gaushala (Cattle Shelter) and organized farm', *Foodborne Pathogens and Disease*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 214-20.

Ramaswamy, V & Sharma, HR 'Plastic bags–Threat to environment and cattle health: A retrospective study from Gondar City of Ethiopia', *The IIOAB Journal*, vol. 2, no. 1, 7-12.

Randall, LV, Green, MJ, Chagunda, MGG, Mason, C, Archer, SC, Green, LE & Huxley, JN 2015, 'Low body condition predisposes cattle to lameness: An 8-year study of one dairy herd', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 98, no. 6, pp. 3766-77.

Randhawa, G 2010, 'Cow urine distillate as bioenhancer', *Journal of Ayurveda and Integrative Medicine*, vol. 1, no. 4, p. 240.

Ranjhan, SK 1997, *Nutrient requirements of livestock and poultry*, 2nd edn, Indian Council of Agricultural Research, New Delhi, India.

Redbo, I 1990, 'Changes in duration and frequency of stereotypies and their adjoining behaviours in heifers, before, during and after the grazing period', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 26, no. 1-2, pp. 57-67.

Regula, G, Danuser, J, Spycher, B & Wechsler, B 2004, 'Health and welfare of dairy cows in different husbandry systems in Switzerland', *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, vol. 66, no. 1, pp. 247-64.

Relun, A, Lehebel, A, Chesnin, A, Guatteo, R & Bareille, N 2013, 'Association between digital dermatitis lesions and test-day milk yield of Holstein cows from 41 French dairy farms', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 96, no. 4, pp. 2190-200.

Rigalma, K, Duvaux-Ponter, C, Barrier, A, Charles, C, Ponter, A, Deschamps, F & Roussel, S 2010, 'Medium-term effects of repeated exposure to stray voltage on activity, stress physiology, and milk production and composition in dairy cows', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 93, no. 8, pp. 3542-52.

Roche, JR, Friggens, NC, Kay, JK, Fisher, MW, Stafford, KJ & Berry, DP 2009, 'Body condition score and its association with dairy cow productivity, health, and welfare', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 92, no. 12, pp. 5769-801.

Rodríguez-Lainz, A, Hird, DW, Carpenter, TE & Read, DH 1996, 'Case-control study of papillomatous digital dermatitis in Southern California dairy farms', *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 117-31.

Rosa, GD, Napolitano, F, Grasso, F, Pacelli, C & Bordi, A 2005, 'On the development of a monitoring scheme of buffalo welfare at farm level', *Italian Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 4, no.2, pp. 115-25.

Rouha-Mülleder, C, Iben, C, Wagner, E, Laaha, G, Troxler, J & Waiblinger, S 2009, 'Relative importance of factors influencing the prevalence of lameness in Austrian cubicle loose-housed dairy cows', *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, vol. 92, no. 1, pp. 123-33.

Rouha-Mulleder, C, Palme, R & Waiblinger, S 2010, 'Assessment of animal welfare in 80 dairy cow herds in cubicle housing - animal health and other animal-related parameters', *Wiener Tierarztliche Monatsschrift*, vol. 97, no. 9-10, pp. 231-41.

Rousing, T, Bonde, M, Badsberg, JH & Sørensen, JT 2004, 'Stepping and kicking behaviour during milking in relation to response in human–animal interaction test and clinical health in loose housed dairy cows', *Livestock Production Science*, vol. 88, no. 1, pp. 1-8.

Rousing, T, Bonde, M & Sørensen, JT 2001, 'Aggregating welfare indicators into an operational welfare assessment system: a bottom-up approach', *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section A-Animal Science*, vol. 51, no. S30, pp. 53-7.

Rousing, T, Jakobsen, IA, Hindhede, J, Klaas, IC, Bonde, M & Sørensen, JT 2007, 'Evaluation of a welfare indicator protocol for assessing animal welfare in AMS herds: researcher, production advisor and veterinary practitioner opinion', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 213-6.

Roussel, AJ 1990, 'Fluid Therapy in Mature Cattle', *Veterinary Clinics of North America: Food Animal Practice*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 111-23.

Roussel, AJ 2014, 'Fluid therapy in mature cattle', *Veterinary Clinics: Food Animal Practice*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 429-39.

Rushen, J 2003, 'Changing concepts of farm animal welfare: bridging the gap between applied and basic research', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 81, no. 3, pp. 199-214.

Rushen, J, Chapinal, N & de Passille, AM 2012, 'Automated monitoring of behavioural-based animal welfare indicators', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 339-50.

Rushen, J & De Passillé, A 2006, 'Effects of roughness and compressibility of flooring on cow locomotion', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 89, no. 8, pp. 2965-72.

Rushen, J, de Passillé, AM, von Keyserlingk, MA & Weary, DM 2008, 'Stockmanship and the Interactions between people and cattle', in J Rushen, AM de Passillé, MAG von Keyserlingk, DM Weary (eds), *The Welfare of Cattle*, Springer, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp. 229-53.

Rushen, J, Munksgaard, L, de Passillé, AMB, Jensen, MB & Thodberg, K 1998, 'Location of handling and dairy cows' responses to people', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 55, no. 3, pp. 259-67.

Rushen, J & Passillé, AMBd 1992, 'The scientific assessment of the impact of housing on animal welfare: A critical review', *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 72, no. 4, pp. 721-43.

Rushen, J, Pombourcq, E & Passillé, AMd 2007, 'Validation of two measures of lameness in dairy cows', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 106, no. 1–3, pp. 173-7.

Rushen, J, Taylor, AA & de Passillé, AM 1999, 'Domestic animals' fear of humans and its effect on their welfare', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 65, no. 3, pp. 285-303.

Russell, E, Koren, G, Rieder, M & Van Uum, S 2012, 'Hair cortisol as a biological marker of chronic stress: current status, future directions and unanswered questions', *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, vol. 37, no. 5, pp. 589-601.

Rutherford, K, Langford, F, Jack, M, Sherwood, L, Lawrence, A & Haskell, M 2008, 'Hock injury prevalence and associated risk factors on organic and nonorganic dairy farms in the United Kingdom', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 91, no. 6, pp. 2265-74.

Ryan, EB, Fraser, D & Weary, DM 2015, 'Public attitudes to housing systems for pregnant pigs', *PLoS ONE*, vol. 10, no. 11, pp. e0141878-e.

Saberwal, VK, Gibbs, JP, Chellam, R & Johnsingh, AJT 1994, 'Lion-human conflict in the Gir forest, India', *Conservation Biology*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 501-7.

Sabia, Q & Saxena, HM 2014, 'Estimation of titers of antibody against Pasteurella multocida in cattle vaccinated with Haemorrhagic Septicemia alum precipitated vaccine', *Veterinary World*, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. 224-8.

Sadiq, MB, Ramanoon, SZ, Mansor, R, Syed-Hussain, SS & Shaik Mossadeq, WM 2017, 'Prevalence of lameness, claw lesions, and associated risk factors in dairy farms in Selangor, Malaysia', *Tropical Animal Health and Production*, vol. 49, no. 8, pp. 1741-8.

Saha, A & Jain, D 2004, 'Technical efficiency of dairy farms in developing countries: A case study of Haryana state, India', *Indian Journal of Agricultural Economics*, vol. 59, no. 3, p. 588.

Sandgren, CH, Lindberg, A & Keeling, LJ 2009, 'Using a national dairy database to identify herds with poor welfare', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 523-32.

Sandøe, P, Nielsen, BL, Christensen, LG & Sørensen, P 1999, 'Staying good while playing God-The ethics of breeding farm animals', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 8, pp. 313-28.

Sandøe, P & Simonsen, H 1992, 'Assessing animal welfare: where does science end and philosophy begin?' *Animal Welfare*, vol. 1, no. 4, pp. 257-67.

Sarjokari, K, Kaustell, KO, Hurme, T, Kivinen, T, Peltoniemi, OA, Saloniemi, H & Rajala-Schultz, PJ 2013, 'Prevalence and risk factors for lameness in insulated free stall barns in Finland', *Livestock Science*, vol. 156, no. 1-3, pp. 44-52.

Sarkar, A, Dhara, K, Ray, N, Goswami, A & Ghosh, S 2007, 'Physical characteristics, productive and reproductive performances of comparatively high yielding Deshi Cattle of West Bengal, India', *Livestock Research for Rural Development*, vol. 19, no. 9.

Sarkar, R & Sarkar, A 2016, 'Sacred Slaughter: An Analysis of Historical, Communal, and Constitutional Aspects of Beef Bans in India', Politics, *Religion & Ideology*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 329-51.

Sato, S 1984, 'Social licking pattern and its relationships to social dominance and live weight gain in weaned calves', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 25-32.

Sato, S, Sako, S & Maeda, A 1991, 'Social licking patterns in cattle (Bos taurus): influence of environmental and social factors', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 3-12.

Satterlee, D, Roussel, J, Gomila, L & Segura, E 1977, 'Effect of exogenous corticotropin and climatic conditions on bovine adrenal cortical function', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 60, no. 10, pp. 1612-6.

Saunders, WHM 1982, 'Effects of cow urine and its major constituents on pasture properties', *New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 61-8.

Schatz, P, Boxberger, J & Amon, T 1996, 'Eine vergleichende Analyse des TGI-200: 1994 und des TGI-35L: 1995 zur Beurteilung der Tiergerechtheit von Milchviehhaltungssystemen', *Die*, vol. 3, pp. 76-83.

Schell, CJ, Young, JK, Lonsdorf, EV, Mateo, JM & Santymire, RM 2017, 'Investigation of techniques to measure cortisol and testosterone concentrations in coyote hair', *Zoo Biology*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 220-5.

Schmied, C, Boivin, X & Waiblinger, S 2008, 'Stroking different body regions of dairy cows: Effects on avoidance and approach behavior toward humans', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 91, no. 2, pp. 596-605.

Schofer, E & Meyer, JW 2005, 'The worldwide expansion of higher education in the twentieth century', *American Sociological Review*, vol. 70, no. 6, pp. 898-920.

Schreiner, D & Ruegg, P 2003, 'Relationship between udder and leg hygiene scores and subclinical mastitis', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 86, no. 11, pp. 3460-5.

Schubach, KM, Cooke, RF, Brandão, AP, Lippolis, KD, Silva, LGT, Marques, RS & Bohnert, DW 2017, 'Impacts of stocking density on development and puberty attainment of replacement beef heifers', *Animal*, vol. 11, no. 12, pp. 2260-7.

Scorrano, F, Carrasco, J, Pastor-Ciurana, J, Belda, X, Rami-Bastante, A, Bacci, ML & Armario, A 2014, 'Validation of the long-term assessment of hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal activity in rats using hair corticosterone as a biomarker', *The FASEB Journal*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 859-67.

Scott, EM, Nolan, AM & Fitzpatrick, JL 2001, 'Conceptual and methodological issues related to welfare assessment: a framework for measurement', *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section A-Animal Science*, vol. 51, no. S30, pp. 5-10.

Scott, GB & Kelly, M 1989, 'Cattle cleanliness in different housing systems', *Farm Building Progress*, vol. 95, pp. 21-4.

Seabrook, MF 1984, 'The psychological interaction between the stockman and his animals and its influence on performance of pigs and dairy cows', *Veterinary Record*, vol. 115, no. 4, pp. 84-7.

Sejian, V, Lakritz, J, Ezeji, T & Lal, R 2011, 'Assessment methods and indicators of animal welfare', *Asian Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 301-15.

Serpell, JA 2004, 'Factors influencing human attitudes to animals and their welfare', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 145-51.

Serpell, JA 2005, 'Factors influencing veterinary students career choices and attitudes to animals', *Journal of Veterinary Medical Education*, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 491-6.

Shahid, MQ, Reneau, JK, Chester-Jones, H, Chebel, RC & Endres, MI 2015, 'Cow- and herd-level risk factors for on-farm mortality in Midwest US dairy herds', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 98, no. 7, pp. 4401-13.

Sharma, A, Kennedy, U & Phillips, C 2019a, 'A novel method of assessing floor friction in cowsheds and its association with cow health', *Animals*, vol. 9, no. 4, p. 120.

Sharma, A, Kennedy, U, Schuetze, C & Phillips, CJC 2019b, 'The welfare of cows in Indian shelters', *Animals*, vol. 9, no. 4, p. 172.

Sharma, A, Schuetze, C & Phillips, CJC 2019c, 'Public attitudes towards cow welfare and cow shelters (Gaushalas) in India', *Animals*, vol. 9, no. 11, p. 972.

Sharma, DK, Joshi, G, Singathia, R & Lakhotia, RL 2010, 'Fungal infections in cattle in a Gaushala at Jaipur', *Haryana Veterinarian*, vol. 49, pp. 62-3.

Sharma, KK, Kalyani, IH, Kshirsagar, DP & Patel, DR 2015, 'Determination of Herd Prevalence of Brucellosis using Rose Bengal Plate Test and Indirect ELISA', *Journal of Animal Research*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 105-8.

Sharpes, DK 2006, 'India, land of scared bull and cow', in DK Sharpes (ed.), *Sacred bull, holy cow: A cultural study of civilization's most important animal*, Peter Lang Publishing Inc., Broadway, New York, USA, pp. 207-14.

Sheriff, MJ, Krebs, CJ & Boonstra, R 2010, 'Assessing stress in animal populations: do fecal and plasma glucocorticoids tell the same story?' *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, vol. 166, no. 3, pp. 614-9.

Simoons, FJ 1973, 'The sacred cow and the constitution of India', *Ecology of Food and Nutrition*, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 281-95.

Simoons, FJ 1974, 'The purificatory role of the five products of the cow in Hinduism', *Ecology of Food and Nutrition*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 21-34.

Simoons, FJ 1978, 'Traditional use and avoidance of foods of animal origin: A culture historical view', *Bioscience*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 178-84.

Simoons, FJ, Simoons, FI & Lodrick, DO 1981, 'Background to understanding the cattle situation of India: The sacred cow concept in Hindu religion and folk culture', *Zeitschrift für Ethnologie*, vol. 106, no. 1/2, pp. 121-37.

Sinclair, M & Phillips, CJC 2019, 'Asian livestock industry leaders' perceptions of the importance of, and solutions for, animal welfare issues', *Animals*, vol. 9, no. 6, p. 319.

Singh, B 2005, 'Harmful effect of plastic in animals', *The Indian cow: The Scientific and Economic Journal*, vol. 2, no. 6, pp. 10-8.

Singh, B, Ghatak, S, Banga, H, Gill, J & Singh, B 2013, 'Veterinary urban hygiene: A challenge for India', *Revue Scientifique et Technique - Office International des Epizooties*, vol. 32, pp. 645-56.

Singh, B, Gumber, S, Randhawa, S & Dhand, N 2004a, 'Prevalence of bovine tuberculosis and paratuberculosis in Punjab', *Indian Veterinary Journal*, vol.81, no.11, pp. 1195-6.

Singh, D 1946, 'The reorganisation of Gaushalas and Pinjrapoles in India', *RSA Journal*, vol. 94, no. 4720, p. 477.

Singh, S 1998, 'Incidence of lameness in dairy cows and buffaloes in Punjab State', *The Indian Veterinary Journal*, vol. 75, pp. 51-3.

Singh, S, Bist, B & Chauhan, R 2004b, 'Seroprevalence of brucellosis in a gaushala of Mathura district and its public health significance', *Journal of Immunology and Immunopathology*, vol. 6, no. supp1, pp. 131-2.

Singh, S, Prabhakar, S, Singh, S & Ghuman, S 1998, 'Incidence of lameness in dairy cows and buffaloes in Punjab State', *The Indian Veterinary Journal*, vol. 75, pp. 63-5.

Singh, SK & Bist, B 2009, 'Isolation and identification of Brucella Abortus from cattle of Gaushala and its antibiotics sensitivity', *The Indian Cow: The Scientific and Economic Journal*, vol. 6, no. 21, pp. 9-11.

Singh, SV, Singh, PK, Kumar, N, Gupta, S, Chaubey, KK, Singh, B, Srivastav, A, Yadav, S & Dhama, K 2015, 'Evaluation of goat based 'indigenous vaccine' against bovine Johne's disease in endemically infected native cattle herds', *Indian Journal of Experimental Biology*, vol. 53, no. 1, pp. 16-24.

Singh, U, Kumar, A, Beniwal, B & Khanna, A 2008, 'Evaluation of breeding values of Hariana bulls under organized farms', *The Indian Journal of Animal Sciences*, vol. 78, no. 4.

Sogstad, Å, Fjeldaas, T & Østerås, O 2005, 'Lameness and claw lesions of the Norwegian red dairy cattle housed in free stalls in relation to environment, parity and stage of lactation', *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, vol. 46, no. 4, p. 203.

Solanki, D 2010, 'Unnecessary and cruel use of animals for medical undergraduate training in India', *Journal of Pharmacology & Pharmacotherapeutics*, vol. 1, no. 1, p. 59.

Solano, L, Barkema, HW, Pajor, EA, Mason, S, LeBlanc, SJ, Zaffino Heyerhoff, JC, Nash, CGR, Haley, DB, Vasseur, E, Pellerin, D, Rushen, J, de Passillé, AM & Orsel, K 2015, 'Prevalence of lameness and associated risk factors in Canadian Holstein-Friesian cows housed in freestall barns', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 98, no. 10, pp. 6978-91.

Somvanshi, R 2006, 'Veterinary medicine and animal keeping in ancient India', *Asian Agri-History*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 133-46.

Sood, P 2005, 'Effect of lameness on reproduction in dairy cows', PhD thesis, Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana, India.

Sood, P & Nanda, AS 2006, 'Effect of lameness on estrous behavior in crossbred cows', *Theriogenology*, vol. 66, no. 5, pp. 1375-80.

Sørensen, JT & Fraser, D 2010, 'On-farm welfare assessment for regulatory purposes: Issues and possible solutions', *Livestock Science*, vol. 131, no. 1, pp. 1-7.

Sørensen, JT, Sandøe, P & Halberg, N 2001, 'Animal welfare as one among several values to be considered at farm level: the idea of an ethical account for livestock farming', *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section A-Animal Science*, vol. 51, no. S30, pp. 11-6.

Sotohira, Y, Suzuki, K, Sano, T, Arai, C, Asakawa, M & Hayashi, H 2017, 'Stress assessment using hair cortisol of kangaroos affected by the lumpy jaw disease', *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science*, vol. 79, no. 5, pp. 852-4.

Spoolder, H, De Rosa, G, Horning, B, Waiblinger, S & Wemelsfelder, F 2003, 'Integrating parameters to assess on-farm welfare', *Animal welfare*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 529-34.

Spoolder, HA, Burbidge, JA, Lawrence, AB, Simmins, PH & Edwards, SA 1996, 'Individual behavioural differences in pigs: intra-and inter-test consistency', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 49, no. 2, pp. 185-98.

Sprecher, D, Hostetler, D & Kaneene, J 1997, 'A lameness scoring system that uses posture and gait to predict dairy cattle reproductive performance', *Theriogenology*, vol. 47, no. 6, pp. 1179-87.

Sreedhar, S & Sreenivas, D 2015, 'A study on calf mortality and managemental practices in commercial dairy farms', *Livestock Research International*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 94-8.

Sreenivasa, BP, Mohapatra, JK, Pauszek, SJ, Koster, M, Dhanya, VC, Tamil Selvan, RP, Hosamani, M, Saravanan, P, Basagoudanavar, SH, de los Santos, T, Venkataramanan, R, Rodriguez, LL & Grubman, MJ 2017, 'Recombinant human adenovirus-5 expressing capsid

proteins of Indian vaccine strains of foot-and-mouth disease virus elicits effective antibody response in cattle', *Veterinary Microbiology*, vol. 203, pp. 196-201.

Srinivasan, S, Easterling, L, Rimal, B, Niu, XM, Conlan, AJK, Dudas, P & Kapur, V 2018, 'Prevalence of Bovine Tuberculosis in India: A systematic review and meta-analysis', *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, vol. 65, no. 6, pp. 1627-40.

Sserunjogi, B & Kaur, P 2016, 'Spatial and temporal dynamics of bovine wealth in India: An economic analysis', *Indian Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 69, no. 5, pp. 571-80.

Stalder, T & Kirschbaum, C 2012, 'Analysis of cortisol in hair–state of the art and future directions', *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, vol. 26, no. 7, pp. 1019-29.

Staples, J 2018, 'Appropriating the cow: beef and identity politics in contemporary India', in K Bhushi (ed), *Farm to fingers: The culture and politics of food in contemporary India*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp. 58-79.

Steiner, B, Thalmann, C & Keck, M 2008, 'Mechanical refurbishment of solid concrete floor surfaces: development and evaluation of new methods', *Agricultural and biosystems engineering for a sustainable world, Hersonissos, Crete, Greece, 23-25 June,* International Conference on Agricultural Engineering, Hersonissos, pp.23-5.

Stevenson, MA & Lean, IJ 1998, 'Descriptive epidemiological study on culling and deaths in eight dairy herds', *Australian Veterinary Journal*, vol. 76, no. 7, pp. 482-8.

Strauch, D & Ballarini, G 1994, 'Hygienic Aspects of the Production and Agricultural Use of Animal Wastes1', *Journal of Veterinary Medicine*, Series B, vol. 41, no. 1-10, pp. 176-228.

Su, B & Martens, P 2017, 'Public attitudes toward animals and the influential factors in contemporary China', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 239-47.

Subramaniam, S, Pattnaik, B, Sanyal, A, Mohapatra, JK, Pawar, SS, Sharma, GK, Das, B & Dash, BB 2013, 'Status of foot-and-mouth disease in India', *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, vol. 60, no. 3, pp. 197-203.

Sunder, J 2019, 'Religious Beef: Dalit literature, bare life, and cow protection in India', *Interventions*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 337-53.

Sundrum, A 1997, 'Assessing livestock housing conditions in terms of animal welfare - possibilities and limitations', in JT Sorensen (ed.), *Livestock Farming Systems*, vol. 89, pp. 238-46.

Sundrum, A, Andersson, R & Postler, G 1994, *Tiergerechtheitsindex-200, 1994: ein Leitfaden zur Beurteilung von Haltungssystemen*, Bonn, Köellen.

Surbhi, SG, Sangwan, AK & Sangwan, N 2018, 'Determination of efficacy of commercial acaricides against Ornithodoros savignyi ticks collected from Haryana', *Journal of Entomology and Zoology Studies*, vol. 6, no. 5, pp. 237-9.

Swierstra, D, Braam, C & Smits, M 2001, 'Grooved floor system for cattle housing: Ammonia emission reduction and good slip resistance', *Applied Engineering in Agriculture*, vol. 17, no. 1, p. 85-90.

Taggar, RK & Bhadwal, MS 2008, 'Incidence of tuberculosis in a heterogenous cattle herd', *North-East Veterinarian*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 14-5.

Takooshian, H 1998, 'Opinions on animal research: Scientists vs. the public', *Psychologists for Ethical Treatment of Animals Bulletin*, vol. 7, pp. 5-9.

Tallo-Parra, O, Manteca, X, Sabes-Alsina, M, Carbajal, A & Lopez-Bejar, M 2015, 'Hair cortisol detection in dairy cattle by using EIA: protocol validation and correlation with faecal cortisol metabolites', *Animal*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 1059-64.

Tamney, JB 1980, 'Functional Religiosity and Modernization in Indonesia', *Sociology of Religion*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 55-65.

Telezhenko, E, Bergsten, C, Magnusson, M, Ventorp, M & Nilsson, C 2008, 'Effect of different flooring systems on weight and pressure distribution on claws of dairy cows', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 91, no. 5, pp. 1874-84.

Telezhenko, E, Magnusson, M & Bergsten, C 2017, 'Gait of dairy cows on floors with different slipperiness', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 100, no. 8, 6494-503.

Ter Wee, E, Wierenga, H & Smits, A 1989, *Claw and leg disorders in cattle in relation to the design and construction of floors*, Instituut voor Veeteeltkundig Onderzoek Schoonoord, IVO-report B-345, The Netherlands.

Thakur, S, Varma, SK & Goldey, PA 2001, 'Perceptions of drudgery in agricultural and animal husbandry operations: a gender analysis from Haryana State, India', *Journal of International Development*, vol. 13, no. 8, pp. 1165-78.

Thoen, C, LoBue, P & de Kantor, I 2006, 'The importance of Mycobacterium bovis as a zoonosis', *Veterinary Microbiology*, vol. 112, no. 2, pp. 339-45.

Thomsen, PT & Baadsgaard, NP 2006, 'Intra-and inter-observer agreement of a protocol for clinical examination of dairy cows', *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, vol. 75, no. 1-2, pp. 133-9.

Thomsen, PT & Houe, H 2006, 'Dairy cow mortality. A review', *Veterinary Quarterly*, vol. 28, no. 4, pp. 122-9.

Thomsen, PT, Kjeldsen, AM, Sørensen, JT & Houe, H 2004, 'Mortality (including euthanasia) among Danish dairy cows (1990–2001)', *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, vol. 62, no. 1, pp. 19-33.

Thornton, PK 2010, 'Livestock production: recent trends, future prospects', *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, vol. 365, no. 1554, pp. 2853-67.

Tiwari, R, Sharma, MC & Singh, BP 2009, 'Animal feeding and management strategies in the commercial dairy farms', *Indian Journal of Animal Sciences*, vol. 79, no. 11, pp. 1183-4.

Touma, C & Palme, R 2005, 'Measuring fecal glucocorticoid metabolites in mammals and birds: the importance of validation', *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, vol. 1046, pp. 54-74.

Tucker, CB & Weary, DM 2004, 'Bedding on Geotextile Mattresses: How Much is Needed to Improve Cow Comfort?', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 87, no. 9, pp. 2889-95.

Tucker, CB, Weary, DM & Fraser, D 2003, 'Effects of Three Types of Free-Stall Surfaces on Preferences and Stall Usage by Dairy Cows', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 86, no. 2, pp. 521-9.

Turner, S & Dwyer, C 2007, 'Welfare assessment in extensive animal production systems: challenges and opportunities', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 16, no. 2, p. 189.

Tyagi, RPS & Singh, J 2012, *Ruminant surgery: A textbook of the surgical diseases of cattle, buffaloes, camels, sheep and goat*, vol. 20, CBS Publishers and Distributors, Delhi, India.

Umapathy, G, Deepak, V, Kumar, V, Chandrasekhar, M & Vasudevan, K 2015, 'Endocrine profiling of endangered tropical chelonians using non-invasive fecal steroid analyses', *Chelonian Conservation and Biology*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 108-15.

United Nations Development Programme 2016, *Human Development Report - 2016*, United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), New York, USA.

United States Department of Agriculture 2008, *Part II: Changes in the US dairy cattle industry*, *1991-2007*, Fort Collins: USDA-APHIS-VS, CEAH, pp. 57-61.

Upadhyay, RC, Hooda, OK, Aggarwal, A, Singh, SV, Chakravarty, R & Sirohi, S 2013, 'Indian livestock production has resilience for climate change', *Proceedings of the National Training on Climate Resilient Livestock & Production System, National Dairy Research Institute, Karnal, 18 November – 1 December,* Karnal, India, pp. 1-10.

Utaaker, KS, Chaudhary, S, Bajwa, RS & Robertson, LJ 2018, 'Prevalence and zoonotic potential of intestinal protozoans in bovines in Northern India', *Veterinary Parasitology: Regional Studies and Reports*, vol. 13, pp. 92-7.

Uttam, S, Singh, B, Chaudhary, JK, Bassan, S, Kumar, S & Gupta, N 2015, 'Analysis of morbidity and mortality rate in bovine under village conditions of Uttar Pradesh', *The Bioscan*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 585-91.

Valde, J, Hird, D, Thurmond, M & Osterås, O 1996, 'Comparison of ketosis, clinical mastitis, somatic cell count, and reproductive performance between free stall and tie stall barns in Norwegian dairy herds with automatic feeding', *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 181-92.

Valpey, KR 2020, 'Surveying the cow care field', in KR Valpey (ed) *Cow care in Hindu animal ethics*, The Palgrave Macmillan Ethics Series, Palgrave Macmillian, Cham, pp. 109-65.

van der Tol, PPJ, Metz, JHM, Noordhuizen-Stassen, EN, Back, W, Braam, CR & Weijs, WA 2005, 'Frictional Forces Required for Unrestrained Locomotion in Dairy Cattle', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 88, no. 2, pp. 615-24.

Van Dorp, TE, Dekkers, JCM, Martin, SW & Noordhuizen, JPTM 1998, 'Genetic parameters of health disorders, and relationships with 305-day milk yield and conformation traits of registered olstein cows', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 81, no. 8, pp. 2264-70.

Vandenheede, M & Bouissou, MF 1993, 'Sex differences in fear reactions in sheep', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 39-55.

Vanderhasselt, RF, Goethals, K, Buijs, S, Federici, J, Sans, E, Molento, C, Duchateau, L & Tuyttens, F 2014, 'Performance of an animal-based test of thirst in commercial broiler chicken farms', *Poultry Science*, vol. 93, no. 6, pp. 1327-36.

Vanhonacker, F, Verbeke, W, Van Poucke, E & Tuyttens, FAM 2008, 'Do citizens and farmers interpret the concept of farm animal welfare differently?', *Livestock Science*, vol. 116, no. 1, pp. 126-36.

Vasseur, E, Gibbons, J, Rushen, J & de Passillé, AM 2013, 'Development and implementation of a training program to ensure high repeatability of body condition scoring of dairy cows', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 96, no. 7, pp. 4725-37.

Večeřa, M, Falta, D, Filipčík, R, Chládek, G & Lategan, F 2016, 'The Effect of low and high cowshed temperatures on the behaviour and milk performance of Czech Fleckvieh cows', *Annals of Animal Science*, vol. 16, no. 4, p. 1153-62.

Veissier, I & Boissy, A 2007, 'Stress and welfare: Two complementary concepts that are intrinsically related to the animal's point of view', *Physiology & Behavior*, vol. 92, no. 3, pp. 429-33.

Verbeke, W 2009, 'Stakeholder, citizen and consumer interests in farm animal welfare', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 325-33.

Vermunt, J 1990, 'Lesions and structural characteristics of the claws of dairy heifers in two management systems', M.Sc. Thesis, University of Saskatchewan, Canada.

Vermunt, J & Greenough, P 1995, 'Structural characteristics of the bovine claw: horn growth and wear, horn hardness and claw conformation', *British Veterinary Journal*, vol. 151, no. 2, pp. 157-80.

Vermunt, JJ 2007, 'One step closer to unravelling the pathophysiology of claw horn disruption: For the sake of the cows' welfare', *The Veterinary Journal*, vol. 174, no. 2, pp. 219-20.

Viksten, S, Visser, E, Nyman, S & Blokhuis, H 2017, 'Developing a horse welfare assessment protocol', *Animal Welfare, vol.* 26, no. 1, pp. 59-65.

Vokey, FJ, Guard, CL, Erb, HN & Galton, DM 2003, 'Observations on Flooring and Stall Surfaces for Dairy Cattle Housed in a Free-Stall Barn', in KA Janni (ed.), *Fifth International Dairy Housing Conference*, Fort Worth, Texas, USA, pp. 165-70.

von Keyserlingk, MAG, Barrientos, A, Ito, K, Galo, E & Weary, DM 2012, 'Benchmarking cow comfort on North American freestall dairies: Lameness, leg injuries, lying time, facility design, and management for high-producing Holstein dairy cows', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 95, no. 12, pp. 7399-408.

von Keyserlingk, MAG, Martin, NP, Kebreab, E, Knowlton, KF, Grant, RJ, Stephenson, M, Sniffen, CJ, Harner, JP, Wright, AD & Smith, SI 2013, 'Invited review: Sustainability of the US dairy industry', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 96, no. 9, pp. 5405-25.

Waiblinger, S 1996, Die Mensch-Tier-Beziehung bei der Laufstallhaltung von behornten Milchkühen, Fachgebiet Nutztierethologie und Artgemäße Tierhaltung, Gesamthochschule Kassel, Witzenhausen.

Waiblinger, S, Boivin, X, Pedersen, V, Tosi, M-V, Janczak, AM, Visser, EK & Jones, RB 2006, 'Assessing the human–animal relationship in farmed species: A critical review', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 101, no. 3, pp. 185-242.

Waiblinger, S, Knierim, U & Winckler, C 2001, 'The development of an epidemiologically based on-farm welfare assessment system for use with dairy cows', *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section A-Animal Science*, vol. 51, no. S30, pp. 73-7.

Waiblinger, S & Menke, C 2003, 'Influence of sample size and experimenter on reliability of measures of avoidance distance in dairy cows', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 585-9.

Waiblinger, S, Menke, C & Coleman, G 2002, 'The relationship between attitudes, personal characteristics and behaviour of stockpeople and subsequent behaviour and production of dairy cows', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 79, no. 3, pp. 195-219.

Waiblinger, S, Menke, C & Fölsch, DW 2003, 'Influences on the avoidance and approach behaviour of dairy cows towards humans on 35 farms', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 84, no. 1, pp. 23-39.

Waiblinger, S, Mülleder, C, Schmied, C & Dembele, I 2007, 'Assessing the animals' relationship to humans in tied dairy cows: between-experimenter repeatability of measuring avoidance reactions', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 143-6.

Wasilewski, A 2003, 'Friendship in ungulates? Sociopositive relationships between non-related herd members of the same species', PhD thesis, Fachbereich Biologie, Philipps-Universität Marburg.

Weary, DM & Taszkun, I 2000, 'Hock Lesions and Free-Stall Design', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 83, no. 4, pp. 697-702.

Weary, DM & von Keyserlingk, MAG 2017, 'Public concerns about dairy-cow welfare: how should the industry respond?', *Animal Production Science*, vol. 57, no. 7, pp. 1201-9.

Weaver, J, Batho, H, Münstermann, S & Woodford, J 2019, *OIE PVS Evaluation Mission Report - India*, World Organisation for Animal Health OIE, Paris France

Webb, N & Nilsson, C 1983, 'Flooring and injury—an overview', in SH Baxter, MR Baxter & JAD MacCormack (eds), *Farm animal housing and welfare*, Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp. 129-36.

Webster, AJF 2001, 'Farm Animal Welfare: the five freedoms and the free market', *The Veterinary Journal*, vol. 161, no. 3, pp. 229-37.

Webster, J 2005, 'The assessment and implementation of animal welfare: theory into practice', *Revue Scientifique et Technique - Office International des Epizooties*, vol. 24, no. 2, p. 723.

Wechsler, B, Schaub, J, Friedli, K & Hauser, R 2000, 'Behaviour and leg injuries in dairy cows kept in cubicle systems with straw bedding or soft lying mats', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 69, no. 3, pp. 189-97.

Welfare Quality 2009, *Welfare Quality[®] assessment protocol for poultry (broilers, laying hens)*, Welfare Quality[®] Consortium, Lelystad, The Netherlands.

Welfare Quality[®] 2009, *Welfare Quality[®] assessment protocol for cattle*, Welfare Quality Consortium, Lelystad, The Netherlands; ISBN, EAN 978-90-78240-04-4.

Wells, S, Trent, A, Marsh, W & Robinson, R 1993, 'Prevalence and severity of lameness in lactating dairy cows in a sample of Minnesota and Wisconsin herds', *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, vol. 202, no. 1, pp. 78-82.

Wemelsfelder, F 2007, 'How animals communicate quality of life: the qualitative assessment of behaviour', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 16, p. 25.

Wemelsfelder, F, Hunter, TEA, Mendl, MT & Lawrence, AB 2001, 'Assessing the 'whole animal': A free choice profiling approach', *Animal Behaviour*, vol. 62, pp. 209-20.

Wemelsfelder, F & Lawrence, AB 2001, 'Qualitative assessment of animal behaviour as an on-farm welfare-monitoring tool', *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section A-Animal Science*, vol. 51, pp. 21-5.

Wemelsfelder, F & Mullen, S 2014, 'Applying ethological and health indicators to practical animal welfare assessment', *Revue Scientifique et Technique - Office International des Epizooties*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 111-20.

Wester, VL, van der Wulp, NRP, Koper, JW, de Rijke, YB & van Rossum, EFC 2016, 'Hair cortisol and cortisone are decreased by natural sunlight', *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, vol. 72, pp. 94-6.

Whay, H, Main, D, Green, L & Webster, A 2003a, 'Animal-based measures for the assessment of welfare state of dairy cattle, pigs and laying hens: consensus of expert opinion', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 205-17.

Whay, H, Main, D, Green, L & Webster, A 2003b, 'Assessment of the welfare of dairy cattle using animal-based measurements: direct observations and investigation of farm records', *Veterinary Record*, vol. 153, no. 7, pp. 197-202.

Whay, HR, Main, DC, Green, LE & Webster, AJ 2003c, 'Assessment of the welfare of dairy cattle using animal-based measurements: direct observations and investigation of farm records', *Veterinary Record*, vol. 153, no. 7, pp. 197-202.

Whay, HR, Main, DCJ, Green, LE & Webster, AJF 2003d, 'Assessment of the welfare of dairy cattle using animal-based measurements: direct observations and investigation of farm records', *Veterinary Reco*rd, vol. 153, no. 7, p. 197.

Winckler, C, Brinkmann, J & Glatz, J 2007, 'Long-term consistency of selected animal-related welfare parameters in dairy farms', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 197-9.

Winckler, C, Buehnemann, A & Seidel, K 2002, 'Social behaviour of commercial dairy herds as a parameter for on-farm welfare assessment', *Proceedings of the 36th International Congress of the International Society for Applied Ethology, Wageningen, 6-10 August,* Wageningen Publishers, Wageningen, The Netherlands, p. 86.

Winckler, C, Capdeville, J, Gebresenbet, G, Hörning, B, Roiha, U, Tosi, M & Waiblinger, S 2003, 'Selection of parameters for on-farm welfare-assessment protocols in cattle and buffalo', *Animal Welfare*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 619-24.

Winckler, C & Willen, S 2001, 'The reliability and repeatability of a lameness scoring system for use as an indicator of welfare in dairy cattle', *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section A-Animal Science*, vol. 51, no. S30, pp. 103-7.

Windschnurer, I, Boivin, X & Waiblinger, S 2009, 'Reliability of an avoidance distance test for the assessment of animals' responsiveness to humans and a preliminary investigation of its association with farmers' attitudes on bull fattening farms', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 117, no. 3–4, pp. 117-27.

Windschnurer, I, Schmied, C, Boivin, X & Waiblinger, S 2008, 'Reliability and inter-test relationship of tests for on-farm assessment of dairy cows' relationship to humans', *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, vol. 114, no. 1–2, pp. 37-53.

Wise, M, Armstrong, D, Huber, J, Hunter, R & Wiersma, F 1988a, 'Hormonal Alterations in the Lactating Dairy Cow in Response to Thermal Stress1', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 71, no. 9, pp. 2480-5.

Wise, M, Rodriguez, R, Armstrong, D, Huber, J, Wiersma, F & Hunter, R 1988b, 'Fertility and hormonal responses to temporary relief of heat stress in lactating dairy cows', *Theriogenology*, vol. 29, no. 5, pp. 1027-35.

Woo, AK 2010, 'Depression and Anxiety in Pain', Reviews in Pain, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 8-12.

Wood, J, Holder, J & Main, D 1998, 'Quality assurance schemes', *Meat Science*, vol. 49, pp. S191-S203.

Wood, MT 1977, 'Social grooming patterns in two herds of monozygotic twin dairy cows', *Animal Behaviou*r, vol. 25, pp. 635-42.

Yadav, DK 2007, 'Ethno-veterinary practices: A boon for improving indigenous cattle productivity in Gaushalas', *Livestock Research for Rural Development*, vol. 19, pp. 1-5.

Yadav, DK & Vij, PK 2010, 'Inventorization of Gaushala resources and their use in breed improvement and conservation programmes', *Indian Journal of Animal Sciences*, vol. 80, no. 4, pp. 343-5.

Yang, HZ, Lan, J, Meng, YJ, Wan, XJ & Han, DW 1998, 'A preliminary study of steroid reproductive hormones in human hair', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular biology*, vol. 67, no. 5-6, pp. 447-50.

Yates, D, Moore, D & McCabe, G 1999, *The practice of statistics*, 1st edn, W.H Freeman Company, New York. USA.

Yogesh, B, Khan, TA, Dohare, AK, Kolekar, DV, Nitin, W & Singh, B 2013, 'Analysis of morbidity and mortality rate in cattle in village areas of Pune division in the Maharashtra state', *Veterinary World*, vol. 6, no. 8, pp. 512-5.

Zaaijer, D & Noordhuizen, J 2003, 'A novel scoring system for monitoring the relationship between nutritional efficiency and fertility in dairy cows', *Irish Veterinary Journal*, vol. 56, no. 3, pp. 145-52.

Zeeb, K 1983, 'Locomotion and space structure in six cattle units', in SH Baxter, MR Baxter & JAD MacCormack (eds), *Farm animal housing and welfare*, Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, Aberdeen, pp. 129-36.
Zerzawy, B 1989, 'Haltungsbedingte, adspektorisch und palpatorisch erfassbare Krankheiten und Abgangsursachen von Milchkühen in Abhängigkeit von den Stallverhältnissen im Liegeboxenlaufstall', Dissertation Veterinary Medicine, Justus-Liebig-Universität Gießen, Germany.

Zurbrigg, K, Kelton, D, Anderson, N & Millman, S 2005a, 'Stall dimensions and the prevalence of lameness, injury, and cleanliness on 317 tie-stall dairy farms in Ontario', *The Canadian Veterinary Journal*, vol. 46, no. 10, p. 902.

Zurbrigg, K, Kelton, D, Anderson, N & Millman, S 2005b, 'Tie-stall design and its relationship to lameness, injury, and cleanliness on 317 Ontario dairy farms', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 88, no. 9, pp. 3201-10.

Appendices

Appendix 1: Animal-based	parameters used for the assessment	t of welfare of cows in Indian shelters
--------------------------	------------------------------------	---

Parameter	Description	Scales and Scores
General temperament (Café et al.	Visual examination	0-docile, 1-aggressive
2011)		
Cow Comfort Index (CCI)	Proportion of cows in a stall or shed that were	
(Krawczel et al. 2008)	lying down	
Stall Standing Index (SSI) (Krawczel	Proportion of cows in a stall or shed that were	
et al. 2008)	standing	
	Cows that were standing at the feeding manger	0- touched
	were approached at the front at a rate of one step	1- 0 to 50 cm
Avoidance Distance (AD)	per second, starting at 2 m from the manger. The	2- 51 to 100 cm
(de Vries et al. 2014)	distance between the assessor's hand and the	3->100 cm
	cow's head was estimated at the moment the	
	cow moved away and turned its head	
Lactation		0- Non-lactating
		1- Lactating
Body Condition Score (BCS)	A cow with a score of ≤ 1.25 was considered	1 to 5 with increments of 0.25.
(Edmonson et al. 1989: Thomsen &	emaciated, $1.5-2$ thin, $2.25-3.75$ normal and 4	
Baadsgaard 2006)	or more obese	
	Visual examination	
		1- not lame (smooth and fluid movement)
		2- mildly lame but not observable easily (an imperfect gait but able to
· .		freely move with a mildly arched back)
Lameness Score	1 to 5 scale	3- moderately lame (able to move but not freely, with an arched
(Flower & Weary 2006; Sprecher et	Visual examination	back)
al. 1997)		4- lame, with inability to move freely with and asymmetrical gait and
		abnormal head movement
		5-severely lame (severely restricted in movement, requiring
		considerable encouragement to move, and a severely arched back)
~ .		0- Normal claws
Claw overgrowth	Visual examination	I- Mild claw overgrowth
(Huxley & Whay 2006c)		2- Moderate claw overgrowth
		3- Severe claw overgrowth.

Rising behavior (Chaplin & Munksgaard 2016; Rousing et al. 2004))	All cows lying in the shelter were coaxed to get up with use of a minimum amount of force. If the presence of the assessor did not evoke rising they were given one or two gentle slaps on the back, followed by a break of 5 s, then more slaps with slightly more force if required, up to a maximum of 30 s	 Normal (smooth and a normal sequence of rising behaviour Easy but slightly interfered (smooth movement with slight twisting of the head but with normal sequence of rising process Uneasy with effort (sudden movement and difficulty in rising with awkward twisting of the head and neck but following a normal sequential rising process Abnormal (uncharacteristic sequence of a rising event) refused to get up
Rising restrictions (Huxley & Whay 2006b)	As a result of shelter facilities by visual inspection	 0-Unrestricted (cow is able to rise as if it were in a pasture) 1-Mild restrictions (cow is able to modify standing to rise comfortably as it lunges sideways and not forwards) 2- Cow takes time to rise and hits shed fixtures or fittings while rising 3-Dog sitting posture adopted while standing or make multiple attempts before able to rise.
Hock joint swellings (Wechsler et al. 2000; Whay et al. 2003)	Visual examination	 1- mild swollen joint 2- medium swollen joint 3- severely swollen joint
Hock joint hair loss and ulceration (Wechsler et al. 2000; Whay et al. 2003)	Visual examination	 0- no hair loss or ulceration 1- mild hair loss or ulceration <2 cm² 2- medium hair loss or ulceration (approx. 2.5 cm²) 3- severe hair loss or ulceration >2.5 cm²
Carpal joint injuries (Wechsler et al. 2000)	Visual examination	0- no skin change 1- hairless 2- swollen 3- wound(s)
Dirtiness of the hind limbs, udder and flanks (Whay et al. 2003)	By visual inspection of the cows from both sides (left and right) and from behind	 no dirtiness mildly dirty (small soiled areas of dirtiness with no thick scabs) medium dirtiness (large soiled areas but with < 1 cm thick scabs of dung) severely dirty (large soiled areas with > 1cm thick dung scabs)
Body hair loss (Whay et al. 2003)	Visual inspection	0—absence of hair loss;1—mild; 2—medium; 3—severe
Body Coat condition (Huxley & Whay 2006a)	Visual examination	 1- dull and short 2- shiny and short 3- dull and hairy

Ectoparasitism (Popescu et al. 2010)	Visual examination	 Absence of ectoparasites Mild infestation – no lesions (not easily visible by naked eye but on tactile perception in the neck region Moderate-mild infestation visually observable ectoparasites or immature forms or eggs in the neck, groin, peri rectal, tail root and switch regions Severe-Visually observation of mature ectoparasites all over the body especially regions mentioned in score 3
Lesions from shelter furniture (Huxley & Whay 2006c)	Visual examination	 0- normal (no lesions present) 1- small area of hair loss 2- moderate area of hair loss and/or thickening of the skin 3- severe (a large area of hair loss and /or breakage of the skin
Skin lesions / Integument alterations (Leeb et al. 2004)	Visual examination	 0- normal (no apparent lesions) 1- mild hair loss (< 2 cm²) 2- moderate (> 2 cm² hair loss and inflamed skin) 3- severe (a large > 4 cm² area of hair loss with extensive skin inflammation and breakage)
Teat and udder condition	Visual inspection	 Normal teats and udder Dry udder and teats Teat cracks Warts on teats and udder Acute lesions on the teats and udder Chronic lesions on teats and udder
Skin tenting time (Roussel 2014; Constable 2003; Jackson & Cockcroft 2008)	Visual examination by skin pinch of the cervical region of neck	$1-\leq 2$ seconds 2->2 seconds $3-\geq 6$ seconds
Oral lesions	Visual examination	0- absent, 1-present
Neck lesions (Kielland et al. 2010)	Visual examination	 no observable skin change hair loss swollen closed wounds (hematomas or closed abscesses) open wounds
Ocular lesions (Coignard et al 2013)	Visual examination	0- absent, 1-present
Nasal discharge (Coignard et al 2013)	Visual examination	0- absent, 1-present
Hampered respiration (Coignard et al 2013)	Visual examination	0- absent, 1-present
Vulvar discharge (Coignard et al 2013)	Visual examination	0- absent, 1-present

Rumen Fill Score (Zaaijer & Noordhuizen 2003)	Visually by standing behind the cow on the left side and observing the left para lumbar fossa between the last rib, the lumbar transverse processes and the hip bone	 1- the para lumbar fossa is empty, presenting a rectangular cavity that is more than a hand's width behind the last rib and a hand's width under the lumbar transversal processes 2- the para lumbar fossa forms a triangular cavity with a width about the size of a hand behind the last rib, but less than this under the lumbar transverse processes 3- the para lumbar fossa forms a cavity less than a hand's width behind the last rib and about a hand's width vertically downwards from the lumbar transverse processes and then bulges out 4- the para lumbar fossa skin covers the area behind the last rib and arches immediately outside below the lumbar transverse processes due to a bloated rumen 5- the rumen is distended and almost fills up the para lumbar fossa; the last rib and the lumbar transverse processes are not visible.
Diarrhoea (Coignard et al. 2013)	Visual examination	0—absent, 1—present
Fecal consistency (Zaaijer & Noordhuizen 2003)	Visual inspection	 1- thin and watery and not truly recognizable as feces 2- thin custard-like consistency, structurally recognizable as feces, splashing out wide upon falling on the floor 3- thick custard-like consistency, making a plopping sound while falling on the floor and a well-circumscribed pad which spreads out and is about 2 cm thick 4- stiff with a heavy plopping sound while falling on the floor and a proper circumscribed pad with visible rings and minimal spreading out 5- hard fecal balls like horse feces

Appendix 2

Record Sheet for Resource-based measures for cows in Gaushalas

Gaushala Name & Code: _____

Parameter	Scale	Recording	Remarks
Type of Housing	Freestall, Tiestall, Loose,		
	Tether, No housing, Other		
Type of Flooring	Brick, Concrete, Bitumen,		
	Earthen, Other		
Type of Roof	Portal, Flat, Sloped, Other		
Number of Stalls			
Inlet/Outlet/Shed			
Design			
Number of Water			
Points			
Types of Water	Trough, Bowl, Natural		
Points	water-body, Other		
Type of bedding			
Presence of Dung in	Y/N and %		
Lying Area/Bedding			
and Percentage			
Presence of Dung in	Y/N and %		
Passages and			
Percentage			
Presence of Standing	Y/N		
Urine in Lying			
Area/Bedding			
Presence of Standing	Y/N		
Urine in Passages			
Presence of Mould	Y/N		
in Feed Trough			
Dustiness of Feed in	Very dusty, Dusty, Not		
the trough	dusty		

1. Shed Levels measurements/Recordings

Moisture Level of	Wet, Moist, Dry	
feed in the Trough		
Dimensions of Each	- Lth/Br/Dpth	
Water Point	Circumference/Diam/Depth	
Appearance of Each	- Clear	
Water Point	- Hazy	
	- Opaque	
Algae/Moss in Each	- Y/N	
Water Point		
Dimensions of Shed	Meters	
Length of Tether	Meters	
Area of Movement	m ²	
around Tether		
Height to Eaves	Meters	
6-point thickness of	Cm	
Bedding		
Moisture of Bedding	Wet, Moist, Dry	
Water Run-off in	Y/N	
Bedding/Lying Area		
Gradient of	Lth %, Br %	
Bedding/Lying Area		
by spirit-level		
Gradient of Passages	Lth %, Br %	
by spirit-level		
Frictional Force of	N	
Passages by spring-		
balance		
6-point Light	Lumens	
Intensity using		
phone-app/ Time of		
Day		

Three Noise	Decibels	
Measurements using		
phone-app		
Dry Bulb	° F/°C	
Temperature/Wet	Hour: Minutes	
Bulb Temperature		
and Time of Day		

2. <u>Yard level measurements/Recordings</u>

Parameter	Scale	Recording	Remarks
Type of Flooring	Brick, Concrete,		
	Bitumen, Earthen,		
	Other		
Number of Water			
Points			
Types of Water Points	Trough, Bowl, Natural		
	water-body, Other		
Presence of Dung and	Y/N and %		
Percentage			
Presence of Standing	Y/N		
Urine			
Dimensions of Each	- Lth/Br/Depth		
Water Point	- Diam/Depth		
	-		
	-		
Appearance of Each	- Clear		
Water Point	- Hazy		
	- Opaque		
	-		
Algae/Moss in Each	- Y/N		
Water Point			
Dimensions of Yard**	Meters		
Frictional Force of	N		
Passages by spring-			
balance			

Three Noise	Decibels		
Measurements using			
phone-app			
No. of trees in the			
yard			
Feed trough			
Dimensions			
Gradient by spirit	Longitudinal		
level			
	Horizontal		
3. Questionnaire to	Shelter Manager	<u> </u>	

Question	Scale	Answer	Notes
Number of animals in			
housing area			
Type of water source	Human potable, Tap		
	water, Natural water-		
	body, Other		
Is water given ad lib	Y/N		
Access to pasture	hours/day		
Access to yards	hours/day		
Frequency of scraping			
housing areas			
Method of scraping			
housing areas			
Any other area			
scraped/cleaned?			
Time of feeding or	-		
Frequency of feeding	-		
each type of feed	-		

	-	
	-	
	-	
Quantity given per	-	
number of animals of	-	
each type of feed	-	
	-	
	-	
	-	
Type of Processing of	-	
each type of feed	-	
	-	
	-	
	-	
	-	

Appendix 3

Survey of public perception about cow welfare and gaushalas in India CODE

1. Your gender

- o Male
- o Female
- Other

2. Your age?

- o 18-25 years
- 26-35 years
- o 36-45 years
- o 46-55 years
- 56-65 years
- 66 years and above

3. Your religion?

- o Hinduism
- o Islam
- o Sikhism
- Christianity
- o Zoroastrianism
- o Judaism
- o Buddhism
- \circ Jainism
- Confucianism
- Shintoism
- \circ Taoism
- o Bahai'
- o I do not follow any religion
- o Atheism
- Any other religion _____

4. To what extent do you consider yourself religious?

- a. Not religious at all..... \Box
- b. Not very religious..... \Box
- c. Moderately religious.... □
- d. Very religious.....□

5. What is your ethnic group?

- a. Indo-Aryan.....
- b. Dravidian.....
- c. Mongoloid..... D

d. Others.....

6. What is your highest level of education?

- No formal education
- \circ Under 10th standard
- \circ 10th standard pass
- o Senior secondary/ 10+2Diplomate
- o Graduation
- Post-graduation

7. Your marital status is?

- o Single
- o Married
- o Widowed
- o Other
- o Divorced

8. How many children do you have?

- o One
- o Two
- o Three
- o Four
- Five or more
- No children

9. Do you mind asking what your annual income is?

- o 10000 -25000 INR
- o 25001- 50000 INR
- o 50001-75000 INR
- o 75001-100000 INR
- o 100001-500000 INR
- 500001-1000000 INR
- 1000001- 5000000 INR
- 500001-1000000 INR
- Above 10000000 INR

10. How would you describe the place where you live?

- o Urban (City)
- Sub-urban (Suburb)
- Country town (Tehsil/Taluka)
- o Village

11. As a child did you grow up having contact with cows in your home or nearby?

- o Yes
- o No

Now, I am going to ask you about gaushala visits.

12. Are you aware of the ______ gaushala which is located near your home (location?)

a) Yes

b) No

13. How often do you visit your local gaushala?

- a. Once a day
- b. Once a week
- c. Once in 15 days
- d. Once a month
- e. Once in 6 months
- f. Once a year
- g. Less than once a year,
- h. I've never visited it

14. List the following in order of declining importance for which gaushalas are established (from 1, most important to 6, least important) List here:

i.	Welfare
ii.	Milking
iii.	Breeding
iv.	Attract funding from rich
v.	Profit
vi.	Religious purpose
14. W	hy do you visit gaushalas?
a)	Religious reasons
a) b)	Feed the cows
c)	Educational reasons
d)	Examine cow welfare standards
e)	Leisure, I or my family enjoy seeing the cows
f)	Buy cow products
g)	Others, please specify

Now I am going to ask you questions about your attitude towards gaushalas and cows in them.

15. What do you understand by the term the "welfare of cows"?

Keyword(s)

16. Which is best for unwanted cows?

- a) Gaushalas
- b) On the streets
- c) Export to neighbouring state or country
- d) Slaughter
- e) All equal

18. Circle the following in declining order of cow welfare from 1 -3, where 1 means best for welfare and 3 means worst for welfare of the cows?

- a) Housed in gaushalas 1 2 3
- 2 2 b) Roaming in the streets 1 3
- c) Slaughter 1 3

19. On your gaushala visit, which is your favourite type of cow?

- a. Local Indian Breeds
- b. Cross breeds
- c. Jersey
- d. Holstein
- e. All are favourites
- f. Others, please list

20. To what extent does the community have an equal responsibility to each cow type?

- a) Greater responsibility to local Indian breeds
- b) Equal responsibility to all cows
- c) Greater responsibility to exotic breeds

21. On a scale of 1-5, how important is it for cows to be able to go to gaushalas, where 1 is not

important at all and 5 is very important?

1

I-----I

3

Strongly	Unimportant	Nether unimportant or	Important	Strongly
unimportant	2	important	4	Important
1		3		5

5

22. To what extent do you agree that cows should be kept in gaushalas?

1) For reasons of tradition/culture,

Strongly agree	Agree	Nether disagree or agree	Disagree	Strongly disagree
1	2	3	4	5

2) For animal welfare reasons,

Strongly agree	Agree	Nether disagree or agree	Disagree	Strongly disagree
1	2	3	4	5

3) For breeding purposes,

Strongly agree	Agree	Nether disagree or agree	Disagree	Strongly disagree
1	2	3	4	5

4) For milk production purposes.

ſ	Strongly agree	Agree	Nether disagree or agree	Disagree	Strongly disagree
	1	2	3	4	5

Please provide a level of agreement (1=strongly agree, 2=agree, 3 neither agree nor disagree, 4=

disagree, 5=strongly disagree) for each

23. What is the maximum number of cows that *should* be housed together in your local

gaushala for acceptable animal welfare?

- a) Less than 50
- b) 50-100
- c) 100-150
- d) 150-200
- e) Above 200
- f) Above 500
- g) Above 1000
- **h**) As per the space available

24. On a scale of 1-5, do you feel the gaushala near here gives adequate shelter to the cows?

Strongly disagree	Disagree	Nether disagree or agree	Agree	Strongly agree
1	2	3	4	5

25. On a scale of 1-5, do you feel the gaushala around your place gives adequate food and water to the cows?

Strongly disagree	Disagree	Nether disagree or agree	Agree	Strongly agree
1	2	3	4	5

26. On a scale of 1-5, do you feel the gaushala near here gives adequate freedom to move

about and socialize with other cows?

Strongly disagree	Disagree	Nether disagree or agree	Agree	Strongly agree
1	2	3	4	5

27. On a scale of 1-5, do you feel the gaushala near here giving adequate provision of bedding,

flooring and lying down to the cows?

Strongly disagree	Disagree	Nether disagree or agree	Agree	Strongly agree
1	2	3	4	5

28. On a scale of 1-5, do you feel the gaushala near here treating the sheltered cows

humanely?

Strongly disagree	Disagree	Nether disagree or agree	Agree	Strongly agree
1	2	3	4	5

29. On a scale of 1-5, do you feel the gaushala near here giving adequate veterinary care to the cows?

Strongly disagree	Disagree	Nether disagree or agree	Agree	Strongly agree
1	2	3	4	5

31. How do you support this gaushala? Please circle all that apply

- a) Financially
- b) Morally
- c) Donating food/ supplies
- d) Volunteering my time to assist
- e) All of these

32. Do you have any issues with the gaushala?

- o Yes
- o No

33. If Yes: What are the most important issues are you experiencing? Please list in order of

declining importance.

- a) Offensive odours
- b) Flies and mosquitos
- c) Noise
- d) Traffic
- e) Waste management
- f) Conflicts with staff
- g) Other

Appendix 4

Survey of the Managers on welfare of cattle in shelters (gaushalas) in India

Gaushala Name & Code:

Screening questions

1. Does this gaushala have a minimum of 30 animals?

- a. Yes
- b. No

2. Which of the following are admitted to this gaushala?

- a) Infertile
- b) abandoned
- c) infirm
- d) old cows
- e) Stray cows
- f) All of these
- g) Other

3. What religious connection does it have?

- a) Jain
- b) Hindu
- c) Sikh
- d) Other

4. When was this gaushala established? ______

PART 1- Demographics

1. Please indicate your gender

- a. Male.....
- b. Female.....□

2. In what type of area have you lived for most of your life?

- a. Urban (city).....
- b. Sub Urban (Suburb)..... \Box
- c. Country town (Tehsil/Taluka)
- d. Village

3. Please indicate your age range

- a. 18-25.....
- b. 26-35....□
- c. 36-45..... □
- d. 46-55..... □
- e. 56-65.....
- f. Over 65..... □

4. Please indicate your education level

- a. No formal education..... \Box
- b. Below 10^{th} class.....
- c. 10^{th} class (Higher secondary) \Box
- d. 10 + 2 (senior secondary) ... \Box
- e. Diplomate......
- f. Graduand..... □
- g. Post-graduand....□h. Other, if any□
- n. Other, 11 any

5. Which religion do you follow?

- a. Bahai' Faith..... 🗆
- b. Buddhism.....
- c. Caodaism.....
- d. Chinese folk religion \Box
- e. Chondogyo..... 🗆
- f. Christianity..... D
- g. Confuciansim..... D
- h. Hinduism.....
- i. Islam.....□
- j. Jainism......
- k. Judaism.....□l. Shinto....□
- 1. Shinto.....□ m. Sikhism....□
- n. Taoism......
- o. I don't follow a religion□
- p. Atheism
- q. Other (please specify)

6. To what extent do you consider yourself religious?

- e. Not religious at all.....□
- f. Not very religious...... \Box
- g. Moderately religious.... □
- h. Very religious......

7. Please indicate which job role best describes your involvement in the gaushala

a.	Work directly with the animals		
b.	Team Leader: Supervise people who work directly with the animals.		
c.	Business owner		
d.	Business Manager		
e.	Farmer	. 🗆	
f.	Veterinarian who treats animals' hands on		
g.	Veterinarian working for the Government as an advisor		
h.	Other, if any	•	

8. Please indicate your level of understanding of gaushalas

a.	Expert	
b.	Good knowledge	
c.	Some knowledge	
d.	Little knowledge	
e.	No knowledge	

9. How did you gain your knowledge about cow welfare in gaushalas?

a.	Formal qualifications – relevant degree, training course	
b.	Farm employment – hands on experience	
C	Personal interest – internet journals, newspaper articles, television	
с.	reisonar interest internet, journais, newspaper articles, television	
С.	programmes	
d.	programmes Friends and acquaintances	

10. Please indicate the type of animal welfare organisation you have been involved with other than this gaushala

a.	Gaushala		
b.	Dairy industry		
c.	Animal Welfare organisation	•••	
d.	Other	🗆	
e.	None]

11. Please indicate the type of animal welfare activity you have been involved with in addition to managing this gaushala

a)	Activism		
b)	Advocacy		
c)	Administration		
d)	Policy making		
f.	Feeding street/stray animals	□	
g.	Humane Education	. 🗆	
h.	None		

12. Please indicate how long you have been working in the field of animal welfare

a.	Less than 1 year
b.	2-3 Years
c.	3-5 Years
d.	5-9 Years
e.	10-15 Years
f.	More than 15 Years.

13. Please indicate how long you have been working in this gaushala

a)	Less than 1 year	
b)	2 – 3 Years	
c)	3 – 5 Years	
d)	5 – 9 Years	
e)	10 – 15 Years	
f)	More than 15 Years	

PART 3 – Complementary data

1. No. of cattle entering the gaushala

- a) In last 3 months _____
- b) In last 6 months
- c) In last 1 year
- d) No records kept

2. Total milk yield of the gaushala/ day

- a) _____ litres/day
- b) No records kept

3. No. of lactating cows in the gaushala

- a) _____ cows
- b) No records kept

4. Approximate proportion of horned animals

_____%

5. No. of males and female animals in the gaushala

- a) Bulls
- b) Cows
- c) Heifers
- d) Bullocks
- e) Male calves (6 month or less)
- f) Female calves (6 month or less)

6. If calves are born in the gaushala, what do you do with the calves?

a) Male calves

i) Sell

ii) Donate

iii) Rear

b) Female calves

i) Sell

ii) Donate

iii) Rear

7. Vaccination status of the animals

- a) Vaccinated
- b) Non-vaccinated
- c) Some vaccinated, some not

8. If vaccinated, vaccinated against which diseases -

9. If vaccinated how many times vaccination done

- a) one a year
- b) twice a year
- c) thrice a year
- d) four times a year
- e) No regular schedule followed
- f) Never done

10. Deworming status of the animals

- a) Dewormed
- b) Non-dewormed
- c) Some dewormed, some not

11. If dewormed how many times deworming done

- a) one a year
- b) twice a year
- c) thrice a year
- d) four times a year
- e) No regular schedule followed
- f) Never done

12. If ectoparasiticidal treatment given?

- a) one a year
- b) twice a year
- c) thrice a year
- d) four times a year
- e) No regular schedule followed
- f) Never done

13. Veterinarian in the gaushala: In house / Visiting (If visiting how frequent)

- a) Daily
- b) Weekly
- c) Fortnightly
- d) Monthly
- e) On call

14. No. of workers in the gaushala: Male _____ Female _____

15. Training of animal workers is done

- a) Induction training done
- b) Not done at all
- c) Trained workers inducted

16. Maintenance of records in the gaushala: List of records

- i) Milk yield
- ii) Calving/Reproduction

- iii) Health Records
- iv) Veterinary provisions/inventory
- v) Mortality
- vi) Feeding
- vii) Sales

17. Sale of livestock products

- a) Milk: Yes / No
- b) Dung: Yes / No
- c) Urine: Yes / No
- d) Carcass: Yes/No

18. Do you have a biogas production system?

- a) Yes
- b) No

19. Who runs the administration of the gaushala?

20. Rank any of the following which are funding sources, in declining order of importance

a)	State Government	
b)	Central Government	
c)	Both the central and state government	
d)	Trust	
e)	Philanthropy	
f)	Temple Trust	
g)	Foreign Funding	
h)	Others, if any	

21. Is the gaushala affiliated to AWBI?

- a) Yes
- b) No
- 22. Mortality rate in the gaushala ______ deaths/year

23. Rank any of the following which are the causes of death?

a)	Old age			
b)	Debility			
c)	Malnutrition			
d)	Disease			
e)	Brought in moribund state			
f)	Others			
24. What does 'cow welfare' mean to you?				
Key words				

25. Do you feed colostrum to the calves? Yes / No. If Yes, then

- i) To male calves
- ii) To female calves

iii) To both

26. When do you feed colostrum to the calves?

- i) Immediately after birth
- ii) After 6 hours of birth
- iii) After 12 hours
- iv) After 24 hours
- v) After 48 hours

27. Do you separate the calf from the mother after birth?

- i) Yes
- ii) No

28. What is the feeding regime of your gaushala? (Schedule and formulation)

29. How do you manage the male calves born in the gaushala?

- i) Maintain them in the gaushala for rearing as breeding bulls
- ii) Sell them
- iii) Donate them
- iv) Castrate other than those kept for breeding

30. How much time is spent by the animals outdoors in the yard or in the grazing land in a day?

- i) Not sent out at all
- ii) 1-2 hours
- iii) 2-4 hours
- iv) 4-6 hours
- v) More than 6 hours

31. Is breeding of cows done in the gaushala?

- i) Yes
- ii) No

32. If yes to Q.31, then what type of breeding?

- i) Indiscriminate
- ii) Natural breeding from a bull present in gaushala
- iii) Artificial insemination

33. What is the purpose this breeding?

- i) Breed improvement/improvement
- ii) Improve productivity
- iii) No purpose

34. Are the funds received by the gaushala audited regularly?

- i) Yes, always
- ii) Sometimes
- iii) No

35. How long the workers are working in the gaushala?

- i) 6 months
- ii) 1 year

- iii) 2 years
- iv) 3 years
- v) More than 3 years
- vi) Keep on leaving frequently

36. How long you are working in the gaushala (manager)?

- i) Less than 1 year
- ii) 1-2 years
- iii) 3-5 years
- iv) More than 5 years

37. Do people come for volunteering in the gaushala?

- i) Yes, regularly
- ii) No
- iii) Occasionally

38. What type of voluntary work is done?

- 39. Are there any animal enrichment measures in place in the gaushala?
- 40. Are there any biosecurity measures in place in the gaushala? Introduction of new animals

Disposal of carcasses

Isolation room for animals suffering from infectious diseases

- 41. Was there any disease outbreak in 5 years in the gaushala? If yes, what was it?
- 42. Is there any hierarchy of animals in the animal groups and how is it controlled?
- 43. Is there any public relation or outreach activity done by the gaushala involving the local community?

44. Is the gaushala located in a drought prone or flood prone area/ disaster prone area?

- i) Yes
- ii) No

45. Are there any disaster preparedness plans in place?

46. Are the records of visitors maintained?

47. What is the purpose of visit of the visitors?

48. Is the the feeding of animals by the visitors monitored by the management?

49. How is the Disposal of dung carried out?

- 50. How is the Handling/disposal of urine done?
- 51. Are dung/urine utilized as value-added resources?

52. Are there loading and unloading ramps for cows in the gaushala?

53. Is animal experimentation allowed in the gaushala?

54. Part -3 Attitudes

	Strongly	Disagree	Neither	Agree	Strongly
	Disagree		Disagree		Agree
			or Agree		
1. The welfare of the cattle in this					
gaushala is satisfactory.					
2. The welfare of the cattle in the					
gaushala is important to me.					
3. I feel that my knowledge of animal					
welfare is adequate.					
A The feed the cettle receive at this					
4. The feed the cattle feedive at this					
gausnala is adequate.					
5. I am willing to adopt measures that					
will improve the welfare of the cattle, if					
it was provided to me.					
-					
6. The local community financially					
supports this gaushala.					
7. The local community morally supports					
this gaushala.					
8. The government financially supports					
this gaushala.					
• The covernment morelly supports this					
9. The government morally supports this					
gausnala.					
10. I intend to make improvements to the					
welfare of the cattle in my care.					
11. In the past I have tried to make					
improvements to the welfare of the					
animals in my care.					
12. The staff at this gaushala have a close					
relationship with the cattle.					
1					



UQ Research and Innovation Director, Research Management Office Nicole Thompson

Animal Ethics Approval Certificate

04-Aug-2016

Please check all details below and inform the Animal Welfare Unit within 10 working days if anything is incorrect.

Cattle		Adults	Mix	Pound/Refuge	1620	1620	
Subspecies	Strain	Class	Gender	Source	Approved	Remaining	
Summary							
Location(s):		Other International Loca	ation				
Other Staff/Students:		Arvind Sharma, Uttara Kennedy Kennedy, Catherine Schuetze					
Group:		Production and Companion Animal					
Funding Body:							
Approval Dura	tion:	04-Aug-2016 to 04-Aug	-2017				
Previous AEC N	Number:	SVS/CAWE/214/16/					
AEC Approval Number:		SVS/CAWE/314/16/INI	ΟΙΛ				
Title:		Development and valida	tion of welfare i	ndices for Indian cattl	e in shelters		
Chief Investigat	tor:	Professor Clive Phillips, Animal Welfare and Ethics					
Activity Details							

Permits

.

Provisos

The AEC has directed that the CI nominate a person to provide reports and monitor the project on behalf of the Committee. This person must have sufficient knowledge of the proposed work to be undertaken to enable monitoring as per The Code (Section 2.6.11 & 2.6.12).

Approval Details

Description	Amount	Balance
Cattle (Mix, Adults, Pound/Refuge)		
4 Aug 2016 Initial approval	1620	1620

Animal Welfare Unit UQ Research and Innovation The University of Queensland Cumbrae-Stewart Building Research Road Brisbane Qld 4072 Australia +61 7 336 52925 (Enquiries) +61 7 334 68710 (Enquiries) +61 7 336 52713 (Coordinator) animalwelfare@research.uq.edu.au uq.edu.au/research

Page 1 of 2

THE U	NIVERSITY OF QUEENSLAND
Institutional Human Research Ethics Approval	
Project Title:	Public and Stakeholder Opinion on the Welfare of Indian Cattle in Shelters (Gaushalas)
Chief Investigator:	Prof Clive Phillips
Supervisor:	None
Co-Investigator(s):	Dr Arvind Sharma, Dr Catherine Schuetze
School(s):	School of Veterinary Science
Approval Number:	2016001243
Granting Agency/Degree:	UQ PhD student grant; Humane Society International, Australia; Universities Fund for Animal Welfare, UK
Duration:	30th September 2017
Note: if this approval is for amendments to a originally submitted, then the researchers mi Information Sheets & Consent Forms as a re Name of responsible Com University of Queensland This project complies with th <i>Ethical Conduct in Human R</i> experimentation on humans Name of Ethics Committee Dr. Frederick Khafagi Chairperson University of Queensland Registration: EC00457	n already approved protocol for which a UQ Clinical Trials Protection/Insurance Form was ust directly notify the UQ Insurance Office of any changes to that Form and Participant usuit of the amendments, before action. mittee: Human Research Ethics Committee B the provisions contained in the <i>National Statement on</i> <i>Research</i> and complies with the regulations governing terpresentative: Human Research Ethics Committee

Appendix 7





ANIMAL WELFARE BOARD OF INDIA Ministry of Environment, Forests and Climate Change, Govt. of India

<mark>भारतीय जीव जन्तु कल्याण बोर्ड</mark> (पर्यावरण, वन और जलवायु परिवर्तन मंत्रालय, भारत सरकार)

MAJ. GEN. (Retd.) Dr. R. M. KHARB, AVSM CHAIRMAN

To whom it may concern

This is to confirm the support of the Animal Welfare Board of India (AWBI) for the research project titled "Development and validation of welfare indices for Indian cattle in shelters (Gaushalas) to improve cattle welfare". This project is very much relevant for the improvement of the welfare of abandoned / stray cattle sheltered in the Gaushalas in India as such AWBI is pleased to confirm its involvement and support for this innovative research study. The recommendations arising from this study be communicated to the Board for the furtherance of the goal of improvement of cattle welfare in Indian Gaushalas.

This is to confirm that the Animal Welfare Board of India hereby accords permission to Dr Arvind Sharma, Veterinary Officer, Department of Animal Husbandry, Government of Himachal Pradesh presently pursuing his PhD at the School of Veterinary Science, The University of Queensland, Australia, under the supervision of Prof. Clive Phillips and Dr Catherine Schuetze, and Dr Uttara Kennedy to visit the cattle shelters (Gaushalas / Gosadans / Pinjarapoles) located in India for undertaking his field research for his PhD.

All concerned Gaushala managers, trustees and caretakers in various States which are being visited by the research team are requested to give every assistance and cooperation for this research project by allowing the team access while visiting their Gaushalas in gathering information being requested by the visiting team.

Dated: 22nd April, 2016

MAJ. GEN.(Dr.)R.M.KHARB, AVSM (Retd.) Chairman, AWBI

AWBI : Post Box No. 8672, 13/1, 3rd Seaward Road, Valmiki Nagar, Thiruvanmiyur, Chennai - 600 041. E-mail : awbi@md3.vsnl.net.in / animalwelfareboard@gmail.com Website : www.awbi.org Tel. : +91 44 24571024 / 24571025, Fax : +91 44 24571016